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Member of the cooperative financial services networkMember of the cooperative financial services network

in € million 2007 2006

Financial performance

Operating income1 1,277 2,092

Impairment losses on loans and advances -209 -335

Profit before taxes 1,068 2,067

Group net profit 897 1,859

Cost-income ratio2 (in percent) 53,6 52,3

Asset position

Assets

Loans and advances to banks 67,531 62,441

Loans and advances to customers 106,307 100,072

Financial assets held for trading 130,025 132,272

Investments 72,957 76,255

Investments of insurer 47,376 44,451

Other assets 7,141 6,193

Liabilities

Deposits from banks 57,935 57,705

Amounts owed to other depositors 77,595 72,675

Debt certificates including bonds 62,996 75,887

Financial liabilities held for trading 163,196 147,865

Technical provisions 45,324 42,298

Other liabilities 13,288 14,414

Total equity 11,003 10,840

Total assets 431,337 421,684

Regulatory capital ratios3

By  
SolvV

By 
 Principle I

Total capital ratio (in percent) 10.2 12.6

Tier 1 capital ratio (in percent) 7.7 9.7

Derivative financial instruments

Nominal volume 1,329,753 1,198,428

Positive fair values 16,695 14,715

Average number of employees 24,210 24,055

Key Figures

DZ BANK Group

¹   Gross operating income (net interest + fee and commission net income + gains and losses on financial assets + gains 
and losses on investments + gains and losses on measurement of financial instruments + income from insurer + other 
operating income) less administrative expenses

²   Adjusted for special items in 2007 (write-downs to securities portfolios as a result of the financial market crisis 
amount ing to € -957 million) and in 2006 (impact on earnings due to disposal of branches of the former norisbank AG 
by TeamBank amounting to € -132 million)

³   With the introduction of the Solvency Ordinance on January 1, 2007, the German supervisory authority no longer 
requires the calculation of BIS ratios under the new BASEL II framework. Comparative figures shown are therefore the 
details as at Dec. 31, 2006 on the basis of Principle I (KWG).

DZ BANK Group:
Partner to the cooperative banking group

The DZ BANK Group is part of the German cooperative finan-

cial services network, which comprises around 1,230 local co-

operative banks and is one of Germany’s largest private-sector 

financial services organizations as measured by consolidated 

assets. Within the cooperative financial services network, DZ 

BANK AG functions as a central institution for around 1,000 

cooperative banks and their 12,000 branch offices and as a 

corporate bank with an increasingly international focus, espe-

cially on Europe.

The DZ BANK Group includes Bausparkasse Schwäbisch 

Hall, DG HYP (Deutsche Genossenschafts-Hypothekenbank), 

DZ BANK International, DZ PRIVATBANK Schweiz, R+V Ver-

sicherung, TeamBank, Union Investment Group, VR LEASING 

and various other specialized service providers. With their 

strong brands, the companies of the DZ BANK Group are 

central pillars of the cooperative financial services network’s 

financial products and services. Cooperation among the 

DZ BANK Group companies makes it possible to optimize the 

network’s market offerings for the benefit of the cooperative 

banks and their base of around 30 million customers.

This combination of banking, insurance, and asset manage-

ment services has a long and successful tradition in the coop-

erative financial services network. All the DZ BANK Group’s 

specialized service providers offer highly competitive, first-

class products at reasonable prices within their specific areas 

of expertise. As a result, cooperative banks in Germany are 

able to offer their customers a complete range of outstanding 

financial services.
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3Letter to Shareholders

Looking back over the financial year, the DZ BANK Group can 

reflect on a year of encouraging operational business perform

ance. The individual companies of the DZ BANK Group were 

able to assert themselves within a challenging competitive envi

ronment, as can be seen by their successes in sales, for example 

in certificates, funds, savetobuild and insurance products.

We achieved this positive operational business performance 

 despite the difficult background conditions affecting the entire 

financial sector. Within a few months last year, the subprime 

mortgage crisis which originated in the United States had grown 

into a major disturbance for the international financial markets. 

The extent of this turmoil was unprecedented, and the com

plexity and degree of its impact could not have been predicted 

ahead of time. Its effects will continue to demand the  attention 

of the financial sector this year. What we are now  experiencing 

represents a lesson for bankers. 

The earnings performance of the DZ BANK Group reflects the 

situation on the financial markets. The DZ BANK Group’s income 

before taxes declined to € 1,068 million compared to € 2,067 

Letter to Shareholders

million in 2006. The group annual net profit was € 897 million, 

down from the previous year’s figure of € 1,859 million. 

A large portion of the disturbance came from the valuation ad

justments on bank bonds. These portfolios largely support our 

task of serving as a central institution for the local cooperative 

banks and our  liquidity management function for the DZ BANK 

Group and have a good credit rating. Our consistent risk man

agement is paying off once again in this regard. This is also par

ticularly noticeable in risk pro visioning in the group’s lending 

operations, which amounted to € 209 million for the finan

cial year, almost 38 percent lower than the 2006 figure (€ 335 

million). 

We are in a good position to cope with these temporary 

 charges. The sustainability of our business model as a diversified 

 financial services group has proven itself once again. We also 

enjoy a comfortable liquidity position, which we largely owe to 

our intensive and trusting cooperation with the local coopera

tive banks.

Despite the impact from the financial market crisis, our com

mission payments and bonuses from the DZ BANK Group for 

the cooperative financial services network rose to € 1,730 bil

lion. This represents an increase of € 88 million on the previous 

year. In addition, the Board of Managing Directors proposed to 

pay out the same dividend per share in 2007 as for 2006, which 

amounts to a total payout of € 151 million. 

These figures clearly illustrate that our business with the cooper

ative banks is the cornerstone of our efforts. The cooperative fi

nancial services network is our top priority. Fitting into this focus 

is our new “AKZENT  Invest” certificates brand which we are us

ing to distribute DZ BANK AG’s certificates. It provides a further 

outstanding example of the cooperation which exists between 

companies of the DZ BANK Group and the cooperative banks. 

Using this brand – and in a similar fashion as was accomplished 

with “easyCredit” in consumer finance – together we tapped 

into a key highgrowth market for the cooperative financial ser

vices network. This is why we have dedicated an entire section 

in our Annual Report to this success story (pages 27 to 30).

Additionally, during the past financial year we reorganized the 

Dear Shareholders,

Wolfgang Kirsch (Chief Executive Officer)
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real estate business activities in the DZ BANK Group, making 

them fit for the future in the cooperative financial services net

work. We bundled all the consumer home finance activities in 

the DZ BANK Group at Bausparkasse Schwäbisch Hall, while at 

the same time creating a foundation for DG HYP to establish a 

successful market presence in the future with its restructuring 

as a commercial real estate lender. The initial challenges we are 

facing may be painful now, but we are convinced that we have 

created a sustainable basis for DG HYP to thrive within an at

tractive business segment which is also vital for the cooperative 

financial services network. 

The initiatives launched by DZ BANK AG in 2007 in Investment 

and Corporate Banking are developing well. We have reevaluat

ed them within the context of the financial markets and decided 

to continue to pursue these projects consistently and with few 

adjustments. We are confident that we can boost these areas 

with a substantial amount of additional business. The introduc

tion of our customer support system “Pro Customer” will help 

us in this regard as will our research, which again received sev

eral awards in 2007. 

Our main focus continues to be on strengthening the coopera

tive financial services network. As an organization with access 

to 30 million customers in Germany, the cooperative financial 

services network has huge potential. The challenges  presented 

by increasingly tougher competition, especially from  foreign pro

viders, are however prompting us to take action. The DZ BANK 

Group will provide as much support as it possibly can to the local 

cooperative banks in meeting these challenges. These  measures 

include more intense marketing in dense urban centers and  

expanding the card business. We can also better tap into the in

Dr. Thomas DuhnKracK and lars hilleWolfgang Kirsch (Chief Executive Officer) 

Wolfgang Köhler franK WesThoff
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creasingly significant Private Banking market segment together 

with the local banks. The amalgamation of the private banking 

activities of the DZ BANK Group into DZ Private Wealth Manage

mentgesellschaft S.A. in Luxembourg is the first key step in ac

complishing this objective. 

Overall it became clear in 2007 that only banks which have a 

sound business model will be able to compete. Our business 

model is ready to meet the future due to its diversification and 

thanks to much more intensive coordination between the indi

vidual companies of the group and cooperation with the local 

cooperative banks. My fellow Board Members and I are confi

dent that it will succeed.

We could not have overcome the great challenges of the past 

financial year without the enormous efforts of our employees, 

and on behalf of the Board of Managing Directors, I would like 

to extend my sincere thanks to them. 

In 2007 we also began developing a mission statement for 

DZ BANK AG. I can already report on our initial results: all par

ticipants named our membership in the cooperative  financial 

services network, with its access to 30 million customers in Ger

many, as a key distinguishing factor. We are confident that this 

process of drafting a mission statement will contribute to prog

ress both internally and externally: internally by promoting a cor

porate culture characterized by mutual appreciation, and exter

nally through a clearer understanding of our own  positioning in 

the market. The events for the management of DZ BANK AG in 

Karlsruhe and the DZ BANK Group in Montabaur, which were 

organized for the first time in 2007, (photo in the Network Bal

ance section on page 42) also made an important contribution 

to this process. 

We are convinced that in order to withstand the competition we 

need a successful balance between our corporate objectives and 

employee interests. We took an important step in this area in 

2007. DZ BANK AG was awarded the “Career and Family” audit 

certificate from the Hertie charitable foundation for its family

friendly human resources policy. We will continue to build upon 

this competitive advantage. We want to position ourselves in 

the market as an attractive employer for qualified employees.

Friedrich Wilhelm Raiffeisen, who founded the first cooperative 

banking association in Germany in 1864, once said: “What is 

impossible for an individual can be accomplished by many.” In 

spite of any historical upheaval which has occurred in the past, 

we are certain that this cooperative principle is even more rel

evant than ever as we look forward to celebrating our 125th 

anniversary this year. We hope we can work together with the 

local cooperative banks in continuing to make this a distinctive 

principle of business and society in Germany and Europe. 

Yours faithfully,

Wolfgang Kirsch

Chief Executive Officer

albrechT merz

DieTrich VoigTlänDer
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cates House of the Year” public poll for the fifth time in a row, 

which is awarded by a consortium of publications including Zer

tifikateJournal, WELT, WELT am SONNTAG and Deutsche Börse.

aKzenT invest certificates take the market by storm

However, quality also has to be tangible for the private inves

tor. In a fragmented market with over 100,000 investment cer

tificates, transparency and guidance are the main factors which 

private investors use to make decisions. With the AKZENT  Invest 

brand, DZ BANK has become the first issuer in Germany to 

create a product brand for certificates and structured bonds. 

AKZENT Invest stands for qualityassured and highvalue struc

tured investment products as an attractive alternative to direct 

investments in equities, bonds or commodities. The response 

has been overwhelming: 95 percent of all cooperative banks are 

now using the AKZENT Invest brand for their privatelabel issues.

Since October 1, 2007, a broadbased advertising campaign has 

been running on television, in the print media and at points of 

sale (POS), with the tagline “Which type of investor are you?” 

Targeted at a wide range of investors, the campaign is aimed at 

convincing them of the benefits offered by AKZENT Invest certif

icates from the cooperative banks. The TV spots were broadcast 

on all key channels to raise brand awareness quickly among a 

wide range of private investors. Advertisements in national daily 

newspapers and in business and news magazines accompanied 

the TV campaign. In addition, the campaign is being continued 

at the cooperative banks’ POS.

new products for even more diversity

In the financial year, a number of products and product varia

tions were launched on the market. For example, one  completely 

new product is Rohstoff Plus Garant, a  guarantee certificate with 

DZ BANK

  Marketable and innovative products

   Bolstering the market potential of the cooperative 

banks

   Financial products and services in the cooperative 

financial services network 

Private customers and securities-related products 
and services

certificates carve out market position

DZ BANK continued to prove its competitiveness in 2007 in the 

growth market of certificates alongside the cooperative financial 

services network. DZ BANK was once again the market leader 

for guarantee certificates and in an outstanding second place 

overall. Sales rose by 22 percent yearonyear. There is a reason 

behind this success – consistent implementation of our quality 

strategy. Noteworthy examples of this strategy include the certi

fication of the product development process (TÜV quality seal), 

the systematic involvement of the cooperative banks and private 

customers in product selection and design, tailored support ser

vices for cooperative banks and their client advisors as well as 

comprehensive investor information. As a result of these efforts, 

DZ BANK and the cooperative financial services network again 

won several honors in 2007, including first place in the “Certifi

Bank business segment: Successful  
among the competition through strong brands

The primary mission of the Dz banK group is to bolster the market potential of the cooperative banks, which it accom-

plishes by offering competitive and innovative products at reasonable prices. The critical success factor in this business 

model as a financial services provider is close coordination and collaboration between Dz banK and the companies of 

the Dz banK group.
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which investors can participate in  fluctuating commodity mar

kets. Existing products were also developed to benefit investors, 

including the successful MaxiRend  family, which was expand

ed to include an additional variation, the  MaxiRend OptiStart. 

“OptiStart” means that investors can have an optimum starting 

value during the first three months. There are plans for many 

more products and product variations over the coming year. For 

taxfocused investors, capital gains tax was the primary focus in 

the interest segment during 2007. As a result, classic lowinter

est bonds and DZ BANK Cobold Plus bonds were particularly 

successful.

The product range for the liabilities side of the cooperative 

banks was also expanded successfully. After the successes in 

sales of structured bearer bonds in the preceding years, Mein

ZinsKonto was an innovative product solution for increasing cus

tomer deposits – in addition to custody business – which was 

implemented at the cooperative banks. This accountbased in

vestment product is distinguished by a higher rate of guaran

teed interest in comparison to the fixedterm deposit offers of 

other banks. It provides cooperative banks the option of offer

ing an attractive, innovative deposit product which is flexible for 

customers in the time deposits segment. By allowing individual 

banks considerable flexibility in its setup (including conditions, 

term, volume, timing, name, etc.), this product helps individual 

banks improve their own liabilities.

comprehensive strategy for successful marketing

Existing workshops for planning the securitiesrelated business 

of DZ BANK and Union Investment have been expanded upon 

the request of numerous local cooperative banks to include 

 other areas of the commission business. In May 2007, a pilot 

project to help in developing comprehensive planning of the 

commission business for all specialized service providers active in 

the investment business was launched in coordination with the 

Retail and Private Banking Business Segment Advisory Council. 

The basis for the project was the existing planning approach. 

The objective of the “financial services planning workshop” is to 

support the local cooperative banks both within the context of 

quantitative sales planning and in decisionmaking for key mar

keting aspects for the following year. The pilot project began at 

four cooperative banks in November.

Another key topic was the implementation of the Markets in 

Financial Instruments Directive (MiFID). In close coordination 

and cooperation with MiFID project partners of the coopera

tive financial services network, DZ BANK prepared a comprehen

sive implementation package. The main themes are the order 

process, the bestexecution obligations imposed by MiFID, and 

posttrading transparency. The new requirements were also ful

ly integrated into the corresponding infrastructures (dwpbank, 

computing centers and internally). As a result of this integration 

    DZ BANK’s quality strategy for asset 

management given top marks by 

the market and by customers

   With AKZENT Invest, the cooperative 

network gains a competitive edge

awards for Dz banK 
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and the accompanying training, hotlines and other support ser

vices, implementation of the legal regulations was smooth and 

on schedule. The execution principles of DZ BANK, which dem

onstrate a level of detail far exceeding the market standard, also 

played an important role in MiFID implementation. In the pro

cess, the numerous adjustments to the market and price models 

of the German regional stock exchanges were evaluated, incor

porated in a timely manner and integrated technically.

Providing the VRVorsorgeStatus retirement planning report 

throughout all of Germany, including integrating the sales work

stations of the computing center FIDUCIA IT AG, Karlsruhe, 

(FIDUCIA) with “agree BAP” and those of GAD eG, Münster, 

(GAD) with “bank21,” has been completed. At the same time, 

information and training materials which have proven effective 

in practice are being used for sales support. The regional acad

emies have integrated the topic of “retirement planning con

sultation with VRVorsorgeStatus” in the training they offer. In 

cooperation with regional associations, twelve local cooperative 

banks took part in a successful pilot phase of this project. 

Ongoing competitive pressure also made an impact on the mar

ket share of the cooperative financial services network. Since 

2006, DZ BANK has expanded its selection of marketing support 

services for the cooperative banks. For example, there are mod

ules for designing sales campaigns, comprising three compo

nents: first, various scorecards which allow for comprehensive 

customer identification and which can help target customers 

who are likely to leave the bank or customers who have a strong 

affinity for certificates. This type of scoring helps to expand the 

customer base and to use sales resources in a more systematic 

manner. With both existing and new customers, employing a 

systematic and tailored approach to the customer can result in 

improved sales results. From the perspective of the local coop

erative banks, what stands out is the high percentage of funds 

transferred by customers from other banks.

Dz banK successful as a bank for banks

DZ BANK gained six new cooperation banks in Germany for its 

comprehensive range of products and services. With this accom

plishment, DZ BANK has once again proven its capability as a 

bank for banks. 

As for efforts abroad, we followed up on our successful market 

debut in Austria, Hungary and Italy. In addition, a new platform 

solution helped link existing cooperation banks outside Ger

many more closely to DZ BANK. This strategic implementation 

was accompanied by more appearances by DZ BANK at bank

ing events such as at the investor fair in Vienna, the GL Forum in 

London and the Finance Forum in Zurich. The response has been 

overwhelmingly positive.

range of services for sales platforms expanded

The expansion of the “agree®/bank21” platform along the 

 entire sales process chain supports local cooperative banks and 

specialized service providers in achieving their business objec

tives over the long term. The strategic competitive advantages 

of a holistic application platform are the primary focus and will 

be further expanded through the addition of efficient processes 

designed to create value:

–  attractive design for the platform to make it appealing even  

to lessexperienced users

–  simple operation, attractive user interface, uniform  design, 

“completeness” and accurate content as the basic 

prerequisites

–  no data redundancies, smooth transitions between  processes, 

reducing entries by targeted use of customer information 

(for example risk classification) in bank portfolio 

–  promoting crossselling both within the local coopera

tive banks and between the local cooperative banks and 

the specialized service providers, developing and expanding 

“ automated” stimulus management and signal processing

–  creating integrated processes between the local cooperative 

banks and the specialized service providers

–  consistent use of bank data and data of the specialized service 

providers in a targeted approach to customers and customer 

support

–  designing efficient processes through high data quality and 

 extensive process automation

Having integrated R+V with RUVIS online and BSH with BSH

Top in the VAP sales workstation, now two other companies 

in the group are moving toward integration into the VAP sales 
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workstation implemented throughout Germany. DZ BANK and 

Union Investment are integrating their securities functionality 

in close cooperation with WGZ BANK under the name GENO 

Securities (based on GENO Broker) in agree® BAP and bank21. 

This move was requested by nearly 80 percent of the coopera

tive banks, according to DZ BANK’s customer satisfaction survey. 

With GENO Securities, advisors at the cooperative banks can ac

cess valuable information for individual customer support: they 

can identify sales trends, prepare customer appointments and 

receive important current customer and marketrelated infor

mation. In addition, they are now also able to enter customer 

orders in DepotB (thirdparty securities accounts) and Union

Depot as well as track the development of customer securities 

accounts. These functions will be integrated in the future and 

linked to other options in order to make VAP even more useful.

Capital market activities

In 2007, especially during the second half of the year, the Bank 

was affected by developments on the international money 

and capital markets. Due to the turbulence in the global credit 

markets originating in the US market for subprime mortgages, 

credit spreads on the capital market widened significantly. 

Spreads for ABS and financial securities were revised upwards 

considerably. But even covered bonds – and especially papers 

from foreign issuers – were unable to escape this trend. Despite 

the uncertainty on the capital markets, however, DZ BANK’s 

customer business experienced positive growth.

Trading activities awarded again

The strong position and price expertise of DZ BANK in the capi

tal market business provide clear evidence of consistently out

standing placements on the most important electronic trading 

platforms. For many months DZ BANK has headed the list of 

banks in the floating rate note business on Market Axess, the 

leading platform for bank and corporate bonds. For covered 

bonds, DZ BANK ranks among the top 3 out of almost 30 insti

tutions evaluated by the Trade Web trading system. The hit ratio 

significantly exceeds the average and attests to the quality of 

the prices set.

In addition, as part of the customer survey conducted by “Risk 

Magazin Deutschland”, banks and institutional customers from 

Germanspeaking regions of Europe confirmed that DZ BANK 

provides excellent services in the derivatives business. In the 

overall category of interest, credit, FX and equity derivatives, 

DZ BANK placed second within a participant field which in

cluded all major banks and investment banks. The fact that it 

achieved this outstanding ranking for the third time in a row 

clearly demonstrates DZ BANK’s consistent level of high quality 

in matters of expertise, service, and competitive pricing. 

In the area of structured products, DZ BANK also maintains a 

leading position. Reflecting the importance of this business seg

ment, targeted measures were taken to bolster trading capabili

ties with regard to innovation and implementation speed (time 

to market). 

The bank’s strategy of investing in developing the commodities 

asset class, begun two years ago, is now bearing fruit. Commo

dities have increasingly become the focus of institutional and 

private investors, and as a result, revenues and income from 

these products have experienced aboveaverage growth.

new bond issues very successful internationally

In terms of new issues, during the first half of the year the 

covered bonds asset class was the focus of business activities. 

DZ BANK received mandates from issuers in the UK, Finland, 

Ireland and France for the first time. Combined with the steady 

stream of mandate business from Germany and Spain, the bank 

was able to expand its leading international position.

serious customer focus for institutional customers

In the difficult market environment of the second half of the 

year DZ BANK was once again able to demonstrate its custom

er focus toward institutional investors. It guaranteed reliable 

price quotes even when markets were uncertain. Accompanied 

by an advisory approach which takes both regulatory require

ments and the bottom line into account, the bank was able to 

offer customers successful, comprehensive solutions which went 

above and beyond the product range itself. 
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business activities with corporates further expanded

The focus of the money market business was on expanding the 

liabilities business. As a result, average total bank deposits were 

increased. A key driver of this development was the solidity of 

the cooperative financial services network against the backdrop 

of the uncertainty resulting from the crisis on the financial mar

kets. The heightened demand for mediumterm and longterm 

interest rate hedging was driven by the increase at the short end 

of the interest rate curve. Revenues from interest rate derivatives 

rose slightly. 

Since the VR Cross Selling model was introduced three years 

ago, 300 local cooperative banks have provided their corpo

rate customers with instruments from DZ BANK for hedging 

foreign exchange, interest and commodity risks. In doing so, 

DZ BANK serves as a trading partner in accordance with the 

Minimum Requirement for Risk Management (MaRisk), while 

the customer relationship and responsibility for it remains with 

the local cooperative banks. In the financial year, the commis

sions paid to the local cooperative banks from VR Cross Selling 

transactions rose considerably. The successful VR Cross Selling 

model served as a basis for expanding this business approach 

to other customer and product groups in the year under review. 

For project financing, syndicated credit and leveraged buyouts, 

the customer receives interest rate and foreign exchange hedg

ing from DZ BANK in line with the principle of “onestop shop

ping.” With this attractive offer, the bank was able to tap into 

new customer segments such as real estate customers and local 

authorities.

cooperative network business has continued success

Under conditions such as an unchanged flat interest rate curve 

and the upheaval on the capital market, increased diversification 

of income sources continued to be a central issue in the primary 

banks’ own securities accounts operations in 2007. By applying 

its unique advisory concept, DZ BANK was once again able to 

provide significant added value for the cooperative banks’ own 

business. A total of more than 750 allbank consultations were 

conducted, 72 related to the Asset Allocation segment. In addi

tion, numerous seminars and training sessions on the topics of 

controlling and risk management took place at the academies of 

the cooperative associations.

In July 2007 DZ BANK successfully completed the fourth and 

largest VRCircle securitization transaction. As part of this trans

action, commercial claims on 88 SME corporate borrowers with 

a total volume of € 245 million were securitized. In all, 33 co

operative banks took advantage of this offer from DZ BANK. 

As a result of all four VRCircle transactions which have taken 

place up to now, a total credit volume of almost € 1 billion has 

been securitized. Due to the purely synthetic nature of the risk 

transfer, the basic business with customers remains complete

ly unaffected on the balance sheet – as opposed to the type of 

true sale of credit assets to financial investors which has recently 

come in for some criticism. 

international activities bolstered

International customer business, which includes investors from 

50 different countries, continued to produce the same good re

sults as the previous year. The focus of the business is on sales 

of European corporate bonds and financials as well as ABS prod

ucts, assetliability management, and structured interest prod

ucts. In addition to banks, asset managers, pension funds and 

insurance providers, central banks and international institutions 

as well as selected corporate customers make up the customer 

base. In the key market of Italy, a branch was opened in Milan 

during the financial year. In a further step, trading and sales ac

tivities in Asia were stepped up at the Hong Kong and Singa

pore locations, which will serve as the base for acquiring new 

customer groups. Emerging market activities were realigned 

with the objective of offering tailored solutions in all the capi

tal market’s key interest products to customers in the regions of 

eastern Europe, Russia and the Middle East, along with institu

tional investors in the western European emerging markets.

expansion of group-wide funding 

In the financial year, groupwide refinancing was  systematically 

expanded through Global Treasury. Various products  guarantee 

a needsbased refinancing model for group companies. Im

proved coordination and consolidation of groupwide cash flows 
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help save on transaction and risk capital costs, which in turn 

 improves the profitability of the group.

new structure for short-term refinancing 

In the financial year, collateralized and uncollateralized money 

market trading was combined into a single homogeneous unit. 

This step was taken to accommodate the market trends of the 

last few years, the significant increase in collateralized business, 

the introduction of BASEL II, and the changing market  behavior 

of money market participants. The flexible use of all uncollat

eralized and collateralized money market instruments from a 

 central point allows for an optimum approach to the special 

challenges faced by liquidity management.

liquidity balancing function for local cooperative banks

Average money market deposits at the local cooperative banks 

reached their highest levels in 2007 over previous years, due 

to the turmoil on the financial markets. The brisk demand for 

longterm refinancing was met and expanded upon. Use of 

the cooperative banks’ securities through the securities lending 

product increased once again in the financial year. As a result, 

the refinancing basis at DZ BANK has improved and the local 

cooperative banks have gained additional income. 

Research and Economics

The diverse range of publications in the Research and Economics 

division for the cooperative banks has been very well received. 

In 2007, around 760 banks took advantage of one of the three 

research subscription packages (“Hausmeinung”) for target

groupspecific advice. That is more than threefourths of all pri

mary banks in the area serviced. With a decreasing number of 

banks due to merger activity, market penetration has increased 

even further.

Demonstrating expertise 

The Research division has defined its objective as supporting the 

cooperative banks in their business and strengthening custom

er loyalty. It accomplished this goal through numerous custom

er and member events at the banks and at national symposia 

put on by DZ BANK. An outstanding highlight was the eleventh 

“ Investment Dialogue” event held in Frankfurt for which Re

search had specialist responsibility.

equity research regularly ranked top

In 2007, DZ BANK’s Equity Research once again received multi

ple top awards for its analysis of German corporations. 

These honors confirm both the expertise and the consistently 

high quality of DZ BANK’s equity recommendations. The firms 

Starmine, AQ and ISfA evaluate the recommendations and earn

ings forecasts of all national and international banks. Based on 

the evaluations by the Swiss company ISfA, a subsidiary of the 

Swiss Financial Analysts Association, DZ BANK Research received 

the highest number of top rankings for 2006 for German equi

ties by market segments and sectors. The British company AQ 

ranked DZ BANK number one for its recommendations of the 

300 largest European corporations in six out of seven quarters, 

while the American firm Starmine put DZ BANK in first place for 

DAX recommendations. 

use of research in international sales

The high quality of equity research in general, and especially 

our outstanding international position in the analysis of Ger

man corporations, forms the basis for DZ BANK to step up its 

activities in equity sales to institutional customers. In 2007, the 

team was therefore expanded to take research sales outside 

Germanspeaking countries back under its own control as part 

of the growth initiative for Investment Banking. Fixed Income 

Research and Economics Research have also shifted the focus of 

their work toward supporting international business, especially 

in Asia. 
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VR-Mittelstand 

DZ BANK provides the corporate customer business of the local 

cooperative banks with a number of needsbased services which 

support efficient and comprehensive marketing and risk transfer. 

Nevertheless, the strict principle of subsidiarity still applies; re

gional marketing remains with the local cooperative banks.

strengthening the corporate customer business

Market share in the corporate customer business does not yet 

reflect the partnership role played by the cooperative banks in 

regard to SMEs. With consistent division of labor at the level 

of product management, processes and marketing, the coop

erative financial services network is meeting the challenges of 

continued fierce competition. The aim of the SME market of

fensive is to strengthen the corporate customer business as a 

key pillar alongside the private customer business, as well as to 

increase the cooperative network’s market share over the long 

term. To serve the local cooperative banks even more efficient

ly – and with a focus on the needs of the bank and potential of 

the relevant market – DZ BANK is adapting its service concept in 

the corporate customer business. As a pure subsidiary partner, 

the VRMittelstand division is concentrating on the core target 

group of the local cooperative banks, meaning it is focused on 

expanding business with companies with an annual revenue of 

up to € 100 million. As part of this effort, the range of services 

for smallerscale businesses is being expanded and the coop

erative network initiative “VR FinanzplanMittelstand” is being 

promoted.

credit at the heart of customer relationship

Credit has been and continues to be at the heart of the SME 

corporate customer business, and as such a key product, it is of 

fundamental importance for the entire business relationship. Ex

tending credit on a joint basis through the cooperative financial 

services network allows local cooperative banks to acquire both 

customers and noncustomers whose credit needs exceed the 

riskbearing capacity of an individual bank. A sectorbased credit 

analysis helps in processing credit transactions professionally and 

transparently, even in complex cases.

Position consolidated in development loan business

The tailored integration of business development programs in 

financing is fast becoming a key competitive advantage both in 

terms of expertise and market visibility. 

Regional business development specialists support local coop

erative banks in their marketing with special knowhow, the 

 offer of a business development loan analysis and topicrelated 

campaigns (ranging from succession planning to innovation and 

solar energy). The introduction of an information platform for 

EU subsidies and streamlined processing procedures for business 

development loans reflect the special importance of this seg

ment to the cooperative financial services network.

brisk demand for risk transfer products

For their risk transfer needs, local cooperative banks have access 

to largely standardized and processoptimized products such as 

StandardMeta, AgrarMeta or Förderkredit Plus. Rising volumes 

and unit sales attest to the growing interest in credit risk and 

portfolio management by individual banks. While the products 

and processes undergo continual improvement, the increase in 

the amount limit at the beginning of 2007 and the extension of 

the term has led to continued dynamic growth.

special quotas promote competitiveness

In the financial year, DZ BANK provided the local cooperative 

banks with an advantageous refinancing quota which they can 

utilize for five to ten years. This funding package was available 

only for financing SME customers. 
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active interest management on course for success

In 2007, DZ BANK continued to develop its range of products 

for active management of interest change and currency risks 

(VR CrossSelling) in a targeted manner, which we were glad to 

see has met with growing interest from customers of the local 

cooperative banks. The number of cooperative banks using this 

type of active management in their business with corporate 

customers is increasing steadily, which allows substantial com

mission income to be generated in turn. The successful develop

ment of this segment helps DZ BANK to expand its function and 

position as a complementary product supplier through innova

tive offerings such as instruments for hedging commodity prices.

service concept refined

For local cooperative banks who want to grow their corporate 

customer business, DZ BANK has made special resources avail

able. As part of the flagship banking concept, a range of efforts 

and activities has been planned jointly. With implementation 

of those efforts already showing very positive results, the tai

lored service approach is being further refined. This ensures that 

DZ BANK will gear its range of services in SME corporate cus

tomer business under the requirements of its mandate as a sub

sidiary partner to the primary banks. Through a diverse range of 

training courses, workshops, advisor days, and work experience 

exchanges, DZ BANK is highlighting this role in the cooperative 

financial services network, which operates on the principle of di

vision of labor.

Credit

In the financial year, DZ BANK pursued its objective in the Credit 

division with determination by optimizing lending risk through 

 efficient and effective processes. There were three key develop

ments in the credit portfolio during the financial year: a rapid 

decline in the restructuring and liquidation portfolio, very en

couraging growth in loans and advances to customers in the tra

ditional lending business related to rapidly rising new business 

with corporate customers, and finally, a significant expansion in 

the securitiesrelated business. All of this was accompanied by a 

very encouraging trend in individual loan loss provision, far be

low expectations.

The restructuring and liquidation portfolio was once again sig

nificantly reduced, and the volume of loan defaults in the fi

nancial year was cut by more than half. Compared with the top 

values recorded in 2003, the reduction is more than twothirds. 

The restrained credit risk policy of the last few years has also 

been vindicated: the rate of new defaults in the healthy port

folio remains stable at a low level. Particularly noteworthy is the 

result that the ratio of the defaulted portfolio to the perform

ing portfolio is gradually normalizing after several years of hard 

work toward this goal.

In the financial year, the growth trend in the traditional credit 

business continued after a reversal occurred for the first time 

in all market segments during 2006. We were able to raise the 

number and volume of reauthorized loans considerably.

In the Structured Finance division, growth continues to be rapid. 

Where the German SME business is concerned, the meta busi

ness jointly operated with the local cooperative banks was sig

nificantly expanded and high repayment levels were more than 

compensated for. 

As in preceding years, there was strong growth evident in the 

securities business in the financial year. This business has tradi

tionally been characterized by very good credit ratings and high 

volumes. The financial market crisis had only a limited impact on 

this segment, with very few value corrections needed in the low 

twodigit million range where there was a correlation to default 

risk.

In the financial year, individual loan loss provisions into the two

digit millions (net) were released. Contributing factors were 

releases based on successful restructuring work and low allo

cation needs for newly identified defaults from the healthy port

folio. As a result, DZ BANK is now reaping the rewards of the 
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 measured risk policy which has been in place over the last few 

years. In the mediumterm the net allocation to individual loan 

loss provision is likely to approximate standard risk costs. 

In the financial year, the organizational structure of risk manage

ment was further adapted to changed conditions. The focus of 

the final structure was on competitive cost efficiency and effec

tive risk analysis. 

The processes, methods and instruments used in credit risk man

agement were also refined in the financial year. Among them 

were an additional BASEL IIcompliant rating procedure for ac

quisition financing and the expansion of efficient data quality 

management – especially in relation to lending collateral. Activi

ties begun in 2006 were also further systematically optimized. 

Concrete examples include the Group Credit Risk Management 

Working Group, group limit management in the IT systems and 

workflow support for credit processing. In addition, the new 

and much more convenient VRBankenPortal “RatingDesk” 

appli ca tion went into operation and now offers valueadded 

services for the cooperative sector’s specialized service providers 

and  local cooperative banks. 

Providing targeted support for business growth will continue to 

be a priority. In this respect it will be important to accommodate 

the requirements of the sales segments with the right mix of 

risk tolerance, resource expansion, additional qualifications and 

cost reduction while staying focused in the medium term on the 

 credit risks associated with the business. The normalization of the 

risk situation and the findings of the last few years thus  allowed 

for expansion of the credit rating limits in the SME corporate cus

tomer credit business with the primary banks, based on a bal

anced consideration of concentration risk and default risk. 

Corporate Finance

sector specialization and capital market expertise as factors 

for success

The Corporate Finance division covers the traditional corporate 

customer business with large and mediumsized German com

panies, along with the Mergers & Acquisitions advisory service. 

At the Frankfurt, Hamburg, Munich, Oldenburg and Stuttgart 

locations, nine customer advisory teams ensure that corporate 

customers have access to a wide range of qualified products 

and services. The segment has a market presence in the follow

ing selected sectors:

– commerce, consumption, logistics, life science

– automobiles, mechanical engineering, energy

– financials, IT, telecommunications, construction

– media

– food and agriculture 

The continued success of the “Corporate Finance Partner” ser

vice approach demonstrates that the strategy of sector speciali

zation, when paired with deep product and capital market 

knowhow, is exactly the right one. The comprehensive range of 

products – from traditional lending to highly complex structured 

financial solutions all the way to the financial services  products 

from the cooperative financial services network – meets the 

high standards of customers, which in turn leads to a positive 

trend in business. 

On the earnings side, this was reflected in the success of pay

ment transaction products (growth of 31 percent) and money 

market investment products (growth of 28 percent). 

In order to implement their growth strategies, companies need 

financially stable and skilled financing partners. DZ BANK has 

been working together closely with large and mediumsized 

German companies for many years. In the financial year as well, 

innovative financing concepts made a definitive contribution to 

corporate customers’ ability to achieve many important  future 

investments, which was also reflected in the growth of loan 

payments. 

Although the lending business had to struggle with declines 

in margins, credit income did rise again. This increase is the 

result of higher loan payments and numerous new customer 

relationships.

expansion of the corporate customer direct business 

In the second half of 2007, advisory capacity was increased and 

more customer support teams were established. The objective 

was to create a broader base for DZ BANK’s successful corporate 
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customer direct business with large and mediumsized compa

nies which have revenues of at least € 100 million.  Within this 

context, additional locations in Hanover and Nuremberg were 

planned for 2008.

Apart from organic growth, the emphasis is on increasing the 

possibilities for working with cooperative financial services part

ners, particularly in the areas of asset management, leasing, 

insurance, and equity/mezzanine capital. To further increase 

earning potential, the selection of promissory notes is to be 

expanded.

mergers & acquisitions still positive

The market environment for Mergers & Acquisitions remained 

consistently positive during 2007. In particular, attractive refi

nancing options for financial investors and liquid strategic inves

tors made for a large number of M&A transactions. Among large 

and mediumsized companies, the market segment relevant for 

M&A activities, numerous company owners and groups took ad

vantage of favorable purchase prices for a sale or spinoff.

DZ BANK profited from this positive market environment with 

a total of 13 transactions concluded which occurred in  industry 

focus areas such as healthcare and pharmaceuticals. As a re

sult, several nursing homes, a nursing home chain and a  medical 

technology company were sold at a premium. In addition, a fair

ness opinion was prepared for the planned merger of  Sanacorp 

eG with CERP, Rouen, while the compulsory public offer of 

CURA AG to the shareholders of Maternus/YMOS was success

fully seen through to its end. In the meantime, DZ BANK advised 

the shareholders of several large and mediumsized compa

nies on selling to strategic investors as well as REWE Deutscher 

Supermarkt KGaA Group about the spinoff of its factoring 

activities.

In 2008 a decline is expected in the M&A volume for the large

volume market segment which has up to now been largely the 

domain of private equity companies. In the large and medium

sized companies M&A segment, the number of company acqui

sitions and sales will remain nearly the same.

Structured Finance

The Structured Finance division increased quantity, volume, and 

revenues for its transactions in the financial year. The product 

range includes tailored financing solutions. Through its branches 

in London, New York, Hong Kong, and Singapore and through 

nine foreign representative offices, Structured Finance is active 

in all the world’s key financial centers as well as in major emerg

ing markets.

acquisition & leveraged finance increases transactions

DZ BANK was able to consolidate its market position in 2007. 

With teams in Frankfurt, New York, and London, DZ BANK is 

 directly represented in all the key markets. 

In the financial year, the Acquisition & Leveraged Finance unit 

provided ongoing support for more than 60 transactions, which 

also allowed it to further cement its role as mandated lead 

 arranger or underwriter. The market correction triggered by the 

financial market crisis in the leveraged loan market led to an im

proved situation regarding margins and structures in the second 

half of the year, while higher risks from unsold surpluses were 

not in evidence.

The focus remains decisively on Germany, SME transactions and 

a continued riskconscious expansion of the portfolio.

Setting up a team in Hong Kong in the coming financial year 

is intended as the first step toward tapping into the promising 

Asian market.

international finance & syndication successful despite finan-

cial market crisis

Notwithstanding an extremely volatile market environment 

which was shaken by events such as the financial market  crisis 

in the US, the International Finance & Syndication product field 

consolidated its position as financing arranger and reliable bank

ing partner. For example, in the third quarter a syndicated loan 

in the amount of € 400 million for VR LEASING AG was very 

successfully planned and placed. Though it was the first syndi
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cated loan ever for a German leasing company, the borrower 

enjoyed an extremely positive reaction from investors, as was 

seen in the substantial oversubscription to the placement.

The international portfolio of uncommitted loans was further 

diversified and expanded. Credit quality and profitability were 

maintained at a high level. Along with additions of northern and 

western European countries and the new Eastern European EU 

member countries, the portfolio was expanded to include coun

tries in the Gulf region and the most important industrial and 

emerging markets of Asia. While the primary focus was on syn

dicated loans, increased structuring and placement expertise led 

to additional earnings through fee income.

export finance in difficult political environment 

DZ BANK participated in the continued success of German ex

ports in the financial year. Using federally insured framework 

agreements, financing was granted for numerous customer ex

port transactions. The achievement lay not in taking on larger 

risks but rather in intelligently structuring transactions. In 2007 

DZ BANK focused on Russia, India, Kazakhstan and Cuba.

As the concentration of corporate risks relative to bank and gov

ernment risks continues to grow, associated residual risks are 

being increasingly absorbed by more complex financing struc

tures. Examples include additional collateralization through 

countersupplies of marketable commodities, including export

ing financing on a countertrading basis and/or the inclusion 

of private insurance. In this segment, DZ BANK continued to 

strengthen its position as one of the leading banks in Germany. 

The decline in margins on both bank and government risks and 

corporate financing continued.

The Export Finance Team which has now been established in 

Singapore contributed to a considerable pickup in transactions 

in the key growth market of southeast Asia, one which is impor

tant for the German economy. This development was proof of 

the structuring expertise in this market as well.

Trade finance grows continually in emerging markets

For the Trade Finance product unit, the growth trend of the pre

vious year continued in the shortterm commercial business, 

especially in the export letter of credit business, which mainly 

affected volume. In terms of regions, Asia, eastern Europe and 

Africa, and to an increasing degree the Middle East and Lat

in America, were the main contributors to growth. To further 

promote the documentary business, DZ BANK invested in new 

settlement software and will phase out old settlement struc

tures over the course of 2008. Subsequently a workflowbased 

settlement procedure will be implemented, which will stream

line processes and result in efficiency gains. The new settlement 

software will also allow for an electronic connection between 

the local cooperative banks and corporate customers. For trade 

finance as represented by bilateral and syndicated loans, higher 

financing volumes were in higher demand with a trend toward 

terms of more than one year. 

Based on the high liquidity in the international credit market, 

borrowers with good credit ratings increasingly received more 

favorable financing conditions. A crossproduct acquisition 

 approach guaranteed a balanced risk/income profile for each 

customer relationship. The effects of the financial market crisis 

have resulted in financing conditions stabilizing due to investor 

reluctance in the last third of the year, and in some regions they 

have even improved.

structured Trade finance boosts customer base

The performance in the Structured Trade Finance department 

was also characterized during the past year by a continuing  

decline in margins in the key target markets, particularly Russia 

and Brazil. An additional factor was the sharp devaluation of the 

US dollar relative to the euro. Commodities prices turned out  

to be volatile as  expected but, taken on average for the year, 

remained at the relatively high level of the previous year, which 

was due mainly to steady high demand. As a result, during 

2007 there was higher investment activity among many com
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modities producers and in turn there was an increase in demand 

for credit. DZ BANK used this trend as a means to expanding its 

own customer base. 

Project finance increases business volume

In the financial year, the Project Finance product unit saw an in

crease in business volume worldwide. The lineup of the unit, 

which is present in all world regions, ranged from energy and 

crude oil/natural gas extraction to infrastructure projects. In the 

largely stable US market, the financial market crisis has hardly 

had any effect up to this point. In Asia the unit expanded its 

role as a finance arranger, with the positive impact of its suc

cess to be felt over the next few financial years. With its Euro

pean team, the product segment is active in the EMEA region 

( Europe, Middle East, Africa), especially in Germany, and also in 

the emerging market for publicprivate partnership.

asset securitization group expands credit volume and  transactions

The framework for the financing special purpose vehicle 

 Autobahn Funding Company LLC, Delaware increased from 

US$ 4 billion to US$ 6 billion. In this segment, DZ BANK con

cluded 15 transactions in the financial year, almost doubling the 

number of transactions compared to 2006. 

Foreign branches

DZ BANK’s branches in London, New York, Hong Kong and 

Singapore only partially continued the excellent results of the 

preceding year in the financial year, due to difficult market 

conditions.

The new branch in Milan, which began business operations in 

early 2007, had a good start. The existing range of services de

rived from sales activities for fixed income products and equi

ties is expected to be supplemented in 2008 by setting up more 

units. 

The London branch again expanded its activities in the Struc

tured Finance segment. The expert teams established in 2006 

for acquisitions and project financing achieved a significantly 

higher business volume in the financial year. The same applied 

to the International Finance business segment in which the ini

tial customer segment Financial Institutions served as the point 

from which contacts with European corporate customers were 

developed. The new team established on October 1, 2007, for 

equity sales will benefit as a result. The Loan Syndication unit 

has received many German and international mandates for cor

porate customers, institutional customers, and also projectre

lated transactions. Of particular note is the nomination received 

once again from Euroweek as the best arranger bank for Ger

man transactions. However, treasury activities in London suf

fered from the worldwide turbulence on the securities markets. 

Although there were no defaults, DZ BANK made significant 

 allowances based on a marktomarket valuation. 

The New York branch celebrated its 30th anniversary during the 

financial year. Its main activities continued to be in treasury, se

curitization, structured trade financing, and project financing. 

Its market position within the NAFTA countries was an advan

tage to the branch and helped increase its results, in particular 

in the securitization business and in trade finance transactions. 

In pro ject financing the branch was again able to gain attractive 

 arranger mandates along with a foothold in infrastructure. 

The Hong Kong branch continued its organic growth and es

tablished a capital market sales team with six members who are 

driving business activities forward. This team has been extremely 

successful from the very beginning and has completed lucrative 

deals with leading Chinese banks. As in the preceding year, the 

International Finance unit contributed to a large extent to stabi

lizing and strengthening the revenue base by participating in fi

nancing transactions with selected financial institutions and top 

firms in the region. In project financing, DZ BANK cemented its 

market position as the mandated lead arranger in Asia. Trade fi

nance activities were characterized by continual growth, helped 
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Cooperation was also stepped up in the fund and securities pro

cessing segment. At the request of the local cooperative banks, 

DZ BANK and Union Investment together with WGZ BANK are 

integrating their functionality under the name of GENO Wert

papiere in agree® BAP and bank21. The basis for it is GENO 

 Broker. Together with FIDUCIA, GAD and Union Investment, this 

will create a nationally uniform process. 

With the development of the new data supply, R+V Versiche

rung made a further contribution to supporting the sales process 

at the local cooperative banks. Since 2007, it has provided data 

for sales management for the first time in the data warehouse of 

both the cooperative computing centers, FIDUCIA and GAD.

But the many investments for increasing the earning power of 

the DZ BANK Group also require strict cost management, es

pecially savings which offset an increase in costs. The DZ BANK 

Group plans to keep IT costs stable over the medium term.

As part of the largescale internal “Program 200,” for example, 

a decision was made to limit annual IT expenditure and admin

istrative expenses to € 200 million. By introducing this parame

ter, DZ BANK hopes to contribute to a positive cost trend at the 

l ocal cooperative banks.

A subproject of this program is outsourcing IT production which 

was completed according to plan in the financial year. Desk

top Services, which includes maintenance and support for PCs, 

printers and the required standard software, were also given to 

external service providers during the financial year. Both of these 

measures made a significant contribution to stabilizing costs in 

the entire group over the short and medium term. 

The design for a redefined IT architecture framework and the 

implementation of its components was also successfully com

pleted during the financial year, ensuring a uniform IT architec

ture management system within DZ BANK based on clearly de

fined principles.

in part by increasing demand from customers of the local co

operative banks for liquidity in Hong Kong or through partner 

banks in China.

With the granting of a wholesale license from the central bank 

in Singapore, the branch there fulfilled the prerequisites for an 

expansion of business activities in the local currency. In addition, 

organizational restructuring measures and the establishment of 

additional business units set the course for continued growth. 

Noteworthy within this context is the grouping of sales, structur

ing and trading activities into one competence center, Capital 

Markets Asia. In the original business segments, Structured Trade 

& Commodity Finance continued to profit from the strong de

mand for commodities and the related need for financing. Due 

to the generally healthy economic situation, the same  applied 

to export financing and International Finance. In the financial 

year this team received over a dozen mandates as lead arranger 

from financial institutions, companies and public and semipublic 

entities.

Process management

Activities in the IT/Organization division in 2007 were focused 

on continuing to improve organizational and technical support 

for the local cooperative banks.

Back in 2003, DZ BANK along with the computing centers FIDU

CIA and GAD jointly developed a national uniform integration 

platform for the sales of network products at the local coopera

tive banks. Known as VAP, this sales workstation has been con

tinually enhanced and in 2007 it gained additional functionality. 

A different IT application, VR VorsorgeStatus, periodically shows 

customers how their financial situation will look in retirement 

age by taking their retirement provision products from the co

operative financial services network into account. Since 2007 

VR VorsorgeStatus has been available to local cooperative banks 

throughout Germany.
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addition, DZ BANK not only offers the local cooperative banks 

innovative base products but also a diverse range of solutions 

and advisory services. As such, it is supporting the strategic ob

jectives that have been set for the cards business in the coopera

tive financial services network and contributing to the success of 

the sales initiatives of the local cooperative banks. 

This modular system is opening up entirely new prospects: for 

an individual approach to customers, it is possible to offer co

branding or RegioCards with special valueadded services and 

designs, for example for members as well as regional designs 

without additional valueadded services. To implement these 

plans, DZ BANK has a comprehensive advisory package avail

able whose modules provide customized support to sales in card 

services. In preparing this package, all aspects which could con

tinually increase the business success of the local cooperative 

banks were taken into consideration: from tools for precalcu

lating and recalculating the coverage contribution and net cash 

value to controlling and management of retail sales all the way 

to  numerous training opportunities. 

The marketing and sales program developed with DG VERLAG 

and the cooperative central institutions for the FIFA World Cup 

in Germany 2006™ was a huge success. That is why an extend

ed event program named “Active Fever” was carried over into 

2007. In the meantime a unique card design for the UEFA EURO 

2008™ in Austria and Switzerland is being created for Master

Card, and the introduction of a Golf Fee Card is also underway. 

international prepaid card 

Currently preparations are being made for the issue of a prepaid 

card – i.e., a card which needs to be “filled” with funds before 

it can be used. This card is cobranded with the international 

card organizations (Visa and MasterCard) to ensure that it can 

be used internationally. Using the “card on account” concept, 

the prepaid card will be fully integrated in banking procedures 

and appropriate mechanisms will be put in place for marketing 

and customer support as well as combating money laundering. 

Credit card processing and payments

Debit card strategy with three new products

Numerous factors in 2007 necessitated a review of the debit 

card strategy of the cooperative financial services network: the 

single euro payments area (SEPA) for payment transaction ser

vices in Europe, continuing declines In transaction fees for cross

border payments in Europe, and increasing interdependency 

with the credit card business.

DZ BANK and the cooperative financial services network are re

sponding to these challenges with a threeproduct strategy: the 

VR ServiceCard for customers who use the cards exclusively for 

payment transactions within their own bank; the VR BankCard 

Cirrus and VR BankCard Plus, which allow for international cash 

withdrawals; and the VR BankCard Maestro and VRBankCard 

V PAY as a premium debit card product featuring  various ser

vices. DZ BANK employees are now presenting the local co

operative banks with the opportunities and options resulting 

from this product segmentation. The full range of differentia

tion  options will be available to the interested local coopera

tive banks starting from fall 2008 and will be accompanied by 

appropriate measures on the part of the cooperative network’s 

specialized service providers.

new modular system in credit card business

The competition in the credit card business also did not ease to 

any degree in 2007, and it required becoming even more flex

ible in terms of the services related to the credit card in order to 

better meet specific customer needs. That is why DZ BANK re

vised its product range and designed an individually customiz

able combination of card services. Innovative theme and lifestyle 

cards in designs of the customer’s choice were added in 2007 to 

the triedandtested classic and gold credit cards.

The new options for individual product design for the local co

operative banks and their customers have been wellreceived. In 
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The primary target group is teenagers and young adults who 

cannot or do not want to have a credit card. This new prepaid 

card gives them a payment method which they can use world

wide. The issue of the prepaid card is being tested as part of a 

pilot project at the start of 2008, and the Germanywide rollout 

is planned for spring 2008.

new corporate customer card “mastercard corporate”

In the credit card business, corporate customers represent a  

particularly attractive target group. Since they generate higher 

card revenues on average, a range of new and expanded  

services for corporate customers in the credit card business  

is being prepared. An initial pilot project of DZ BANK is the  

issue of the corporate customer card “MasterCard Corporate”  

along the lines of the established “Visa Business” card. As part  

of this pilot project, in 2008 other services and features will  

be tested and a Germanywide rollout is being planned for  

fall 2008.

s e P a – single euro Payments area

On January 28, 2007, SEPA transfer was introduced in the co

operative financial services network, representing the first step 

in creating a uniform euro payments area. The changes and 

preparation needed were completed by DZ BANK together with 

the payment transactions provider Equens. Through a variety of 

events, the local cooperative banks were prepared for the SEPA 

launch and provided with informational material for their em

ployees and customers. Experts from DZ BANK are also helping 

to organize many corporate customer events locally in order to 

highlight DZ BANK’s proven capability in payment processing. 

DZ BANK will promote the introduction of the SEPA direct debit 

to ensure its early adoption. In addition, together with Equens, 

DZ BANK is developing and offering a series of addon services. 

These services will make it easier for customers of the local co

operative banks and their own customers to adapt to the new 

SEPA products, such as the new direct debit procedure.

Furthermore, DZ BANK plans on other addon services beyond 

the new SEPA standard. These “valueadded services” for the 

local cooperative banks and their customers are to be intro

duced in the 2008 financial year, with the aim of streamlining 

processes and interfaces for customers of the local cooperative 

banks and their own customers with other business partners 

significantly. In concrete terms, the result should be both an im

provement and automation of payment procedures as well as 

optimization of liquidity related to those payments which could 

take the form of fully automated electronic invoice processing, 

for example. 

In the future, the local cooperative banks will be able to iden

tify both opportunities and potential risks in the payments, 

card and cash segments and use them to increase profitability 

accordingly.

increased volume of international payments

The increase of export and imports in 2007 had a direct im

pact on the number of crossborder transactions. EU standard 

payments executed on behalf of the local cooperative banks 

in 2007 rose to 80 percent of all crossborder payment orders. 

DZ BANK made approximately 14 percent of the payments out

side of Europe. Compared to 2006, there were increases in the 

absolute units in both segments.

Optimizing existing processes and procedures to generate add

itional synergies was a key task in the financial year. The objec

tive is enhancing the competitive capability of the local coopera

tive banks with highquality services at reasonable prices, along 

with products and highquality consulting services.

“giropay” as the new online payment procedure

“giropay” is a new online payment procedure for purchasing 

goods and services online which was developed within the Ger

man credit services sector. Through DZ BANK, which serves as 

the acquirer for “giropay”, the local cooperative banks have 
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 access to a new and innovative product for online payments. 

They can offer their merchant partners in ecommerce “ giropay” 

as an  attractive service for processing secure payments on the 

Internet, which also provides them a competitive advantage.

Every merchant on the system can offer this convenient pay

ment procedure to a large number of end customers. In the 

fourth quarter of 2007, DZ BANK piloted a giropay acquiring 

service for the local cooperative banks’ merchant partners as 

well as their own merchant partners and involved them in the 

rollout. With the combined transactions from DZ BANK, the lo

cal cooperative banks benefit from better terms and are reward

ed with a commission for a relatively small amount of work. 

harmonization of single european market in the post-trading 

segment of the securities business

The guideline on markets for financial market instruments was 

the first step for harmonizing the single European market in the 

securities business. The European Commission is taking another 

step now toward the completion of a single European market 

in the posttrading segment of the securities business. In the 

Giovannini Reports, 15 barriers were identified as causes for the 

high transaction costs in crossborder business in comparison to 

the intranational securities business. The initiative on market 

infrastructure and stock exchanges or “Code of Conduct” was 

initiated by the EU Commission; to accompany it there will be 

a multiyear examination of transaction prices in the securities 

business as part of the OXERA study. At the same time, there 

will be reviews of the feasibility of the ECB project TARGET2 

 Securities and the expansion of the new MiFID market trans

parency provisions to other securities. 

These measures have an impact on efficiency, costs and moni

toring in the posttrading segment – particularly the crossbor

der securities business – of DZ BANK. For the purpose of creat

ing a single European market in the securities segment, the EU 

Commission is also pursuing further initiatives in asset manage

ment and in the crossborder exercise of shareholder rights. 

system change in securities settlement imminent

As part of the standardization process in the strategic activity of 

processing services in the securities business, DZ BANK is serving 

as lead manager in the preparation of the system change from 

WVS to WP2. For securities processing, over 1,200 local coop

erative banks and DZ BANK and WGZ BANK access the current 

system WVS for their own business. The system change for the 

entire cooperative financial services network should bring about 

significant process improvements and gains in efficiency in the 

network.

DZ BANK Ireland

  Expansion of international lending business

  Capital increase for securing further growth

  Successful project realizations

Dublinbased DZ BANK Ireland plc reported total assets of over 

€ 7.3 billion for the financial year. The increase in total assets 

by 13 percent shows another year of dynamic growth. From 

an  operational point of view, the business performance of 

DZ BANK Ireland was satisfactory last year. 

international lending business

With its focused business model, DZ BANK Ireland’s concentra

tion is on lending which is closely linked to the capital market. 

In the lending business, the primary participants are borrowers 

with excellent credit ratings such as banks, multinational cor

porations and governments. The international lending business 
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was also systematically expanded in the financial year. To sup

port continued growth, capital was increased by € 50 million at 

the end of 2007 through the issue of a lower tier 2 bond.

The turbulence on the international financial markets during the 

second half of the year led to a drastic widening of credit spread 

levels across various types of securities, which also had an im

pact on the valuations of the securities held by DZ BANK Ireland. 

However, due to the excellent quality of the securities portfolio, 

these declines based on market conditions are only temporary.

encouraging investor interest in refinancing

To refinance its lending operations, DZ BANK Ireland relies on 

the international money and capital markets and operates an 

active repo business. The bank also has a USD 2 billion euro 

commercial paper (ECP) program. The success of the French cer

tificates of deposit (“Certificats de Dépôt” – CD) program with 

a volume of € 2 billion, launched by DZ BANK Ireland in 2005, 

continued in the financial year. Despite the turbulent market de

velopment in the second half of the year, DZ BANK Ireland was 

able to meet its liquidity requirements successfully.

Projects

As part of its BASEL II project, in its capacity as a member of the 

DZ BANK Group, DZ BANK Ireland intends to apply the i nternal 

ratingsbased approach (IRBA) to fulfill the capital adequacy 

guideline. DZ BANK Ireland passed the necessary IRBA autho

rization check by the German supervisory authority during the 

 financial year.

In 2007 the implementation of the Murex System in DZ BANK 

 Ireland also took place. With its implementation, the bank can 

now adjust its risk positions, pricing and liquidity management 

to be consistent with the rest of the DZ BANK Group.

DZ Equity Partner

  Equity capital investor for SMEs

   Close cooperation in corporate customers 

business segment

  Market offensive in Austria

The Frankfurtbased private equity business of DZ Equity  Partner 

GmbH continued on its dynamic course in the financial year. 

With a total of 19 transactions and a new business volume of 

around € 105 million, it built on the success of previous years. 

In the financial year, DZ Equity Partner further expanded its suc

cessful cooperation with VRMittelstand in the corporate cus

tomers segment and opened a branch in Austria.

competitive edge enhanced

With its establishment of a branch in Vienna, DZ Equity  Partner 

is meeting the requirement to be competitive: corporate cus

tomers are not the only ones confronting an evercloser inte

gration between the Austrian economy and Germany. As in 

Germany, DZ Equity Partner Austria is striving to capture a lead

ing position for small and smaller mid cap transactions. In con

trast to nonfundfinanced private equity companies, DZ Equity 

 Partner allows longer holding periods for investments, which in 

turn fosters sustainable development for companies. DZ Equity 

 Partner now has a stake in several Austrian companies with high 

potential. 
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successful cooperation with Vr-mittelstand

Sales activities were stepped up in cooperation with DZ BANK’s 

corporate customer advisors. In the financial year, DZ Equity 

Partner acquired over 70 percent of its transactions from the co

operative financial services network. 

Overall, the collaboration among the local cooperative banks, 

the VRMittelstand division of DZ BANK and DZ Equity Partner 

enabled the corporate customer business in SME financing to be 

expanded systematically. This development reflects the increase 

in the referral commissions paid to the local cooperative banks, 

which rose by more than 150 percent.

VR Kreditwerk

  Germany’s largest loan factory

   Successful takeover of development loan 

business from DZ BANK

  New solutions for lending business

As the largest loans processing company in Germany, VR Kredit

werk AG together with its subsidiary Kreditwerk Hypotheken

Management GmbH, Mannheim, manages a portfolio of around 

8 million loan and building and loan savings agreements. 

The credit factory of the cooperative financial services 

 network

VR Kreditwerk provides processing services on behalf of the co

operative sector’s specialized service providers and cooperative 

banks which would like to have lower and more flexible pro

cessing costs in their lending operations in the long term. With 

a bank advisory service, local cooperative banks can make use of 

Kreditwerk’s knowhow on the basis of a consultation, without 

making a decision to outsource. With the Kreditwerk subsidiary 

HypothekenManagement, the processing and advisory exper

tise of Kreditwerk is also available for financial services outside 

of the cooperative financial services network. 

range of services successfully expanded

Effective January 1, 2007, Kreditwerk took over business devel

opment loan processing from DZ BANK. With this step, Kredit

werk systematically expanded its range of services in process

ing for the cooperative banks and strengthened its position as 

a service provider while also moving into small business lending 

oper ations. The goal of taking over the business development 

loan business without incurring any losses in quality or produc

tivity was fulfilled in the financial year to the utmost satisfaction 

of all parties involved.

strategic partner in lending business

 

In light of growing challenges as well as increasing competition 

and margin pressure in the lending business, Kreditwerk is in 

evergreater demand as a strategic partner for its processing and 

advisory service offering. Together with the cooperative banks, 

solutions are developed to consolidate the market position of 

local cooperative banks in the lending business. For example, 

banks can offer standardized home finance over the Internet 

with attractive conditions and streamlined, automated loans 

processing. This service was developed on behalf of several co

operative banks and as part of a partnership with the comput

ing center FIDUCIA. The integration of the Kreditwerk service 

with FIDUCIA systems in turn enables an efficient process which 

 allows banks to tap into this new sales channel without costly 

and timeconsuming process implementation or having to pro

vide additional staff. Following the successful conclusion of the 

pilot project which was begun in 2007, the service will be made 

accessible in 2008 to other local cooperative banks. 
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restructuring in hamburg 

The strategic realignment of DG HYP toward commercial real 

 estate finance and the consolidation of private real estate fi

nance in the DZ BANK Group at Bausparkasse Schwäbisch Hall 

made it necessary to realign Kreditwerk operations at the Ham

burg location. In the future, Kreditwerk will process home fi

nance at the Schwäbisch Hall location in addition to the existing 

building and loan portfolio on behalf of Bausparkasse. Future 

processing of the remaining DG HYP contracts will be done on 

the loan processing platform of HypothekenManagement since 

the reduction of the order volume at this location precludes the 

need for a selfcontained retail platform in Hamburg. Kreditwerk 

will negotiate with employee representatives in 2008 the pro

cedure for adjustments to the processing capacity in Hamburg 

which are required as a result of the change. In the future, the 

Processing business segment for cooperative banks will be oper

ated and further developed in Hamburg.

VR LEASING

  SMEs reliant on leasing

  Trend toward regrouping in credit financing

  Service at point-of-sale in higher demand

The VR LEASING Group is a specialized provider for innova

tive SMEoriented financing solutions. With its modular prod

uct portfolio, it covers the entire spectrum of sales and invest

ment financing, from leasing and loans and purchase financing 

to factoring. This range of options is rounded out by many other 

services.

In the successful financial year, the focus was on leveraging mar

ket and cost potential for the long term. Along the way, the 

group expanded its new business, optimized internal processes 

and in turn reduced costs. 

New business for sales and investment financing was signifi

cantly up yearonyear by 18.1 percent at € 4.68 billion. Around 

157,000 contracts demonstrate increasing market penetration in 

Germany and in central and eastern Europe. It is also becoming 

clear that VR LEASING is taking on an increasingly larger role for 

SMEs in corporate financing.

Business with the cooperative financial services network was 

also very successful. With around € 1.4 billion, the local cooper

ative banks supplied more than onethird of the new business 

volume. In addition, factoring revenue generated by the equity 

investment company VR FACTOREM rose 6.8 percent to € 1,391 

million. This increase occurred only as a result of close coopera

tion with the local cooperative banks. 

As the market leader in terms of units, VR LEASING continued to 

work on optimizing processes relating to lending decisions and 

processing. Its objectives were greater efficiency and productiv

ity. Playing a  central role in this regard was the online tool VR 

LeasyOnline, which VR LEASING employs to support the cooper

ative banks. This tool allows the banks to make a simple calcula

tion for leasing offers, including drawing up a contract for up to 

€ 125,000. In the financial year, the revenue in this area rose by 

114.5 percent yearonyear to € 57.4 million. 

Online processing is not just gaining importance in bankme

diated business. The pointofsale for financing transactions is 

increasingly shifting to merchants and manufacturers. As a re

sponse, VR LEASING further expanded the Internetbased leas

ing and loan offer system LUKAS in the vehicle segment. Sales 

partners in the automotive sector  benefit from rapid process

ing for purchasing and sales financing. A combined value for all 

authorized loan applications of almost € 27.5 million in a data 

period of 6 months shows how high the potential is for further 

growth in this segment.
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DVB Bank AG

  The global transport finance specialist

   Flourishing new business in Asset Finance –  

66 percent of the deals with lead role

   Investment Management continues to be very 

 successful

DVB Bank AG, Frankfurt am Main, (DVB) is a specialized bank 

focused on transport finance and is considered one of the lead

ing advisory banks and financing institutions worldwide. It of

fers its customers integrated financial and advisory services in 

the segments of shipping, air transport, and land transport on 

rail and road. The strong market position of DVB in internation

al transport finance once again received a number of honors. 

Among them was the distinction conferred on the land trans

port business segment when it was named “Rail Finance House 

of the Year 2007”. 

The worldwide unique strategic focus of DVB led again in 2007 

to a new record result. In addition to 256 new credit trans

actions, of which up to 66.0 percent were carried out as lead 

mandate, investment management once again contributed to 

this successful business trend. This segment is an arranger in 

shipping, air transport, cruise ships, along with equity capital in

vestments for customers in the transport sector for inter modal 

equipment, and administers funds for investors active in the 

transport sector. 

DVB grants only loans which are collateralized by financed 

transport carriers such as ships, airplanes, locomotives and rail

way carriers. For the valuation of these assets, internal research 

plays a decisive role. Despite strong competitive pressure, DVB 

also continued its proven strategy of riskappropriate pricing in 

2007. DVB maintained conservative collateralization structures 

throughout the year without suffering any credit problems. 

From a longterm point of view, the world transport segment 

was and remains a growth market, though it runs through 

 cycles which are dependent on the development of the world 

economy. DVB’s lending policy is, however, never cyclical. It 

is supported by an advanced risk management system using 

a special internal rating model for the credit portfolio which 

is  tailored to the worldwide transport finance business and is 

based on the Advanced Approach in accordance with BASEL II. 

In 2007 numerous projects were initiated and completed: in 

 Zurich, DVB established ITF International Transport Finance 

 Suisse AG for the acquisition of syndicated transport finance 

loans in the interbank market. By taking over the majority 

stake of the British engine service provider TES Aviation, DVB 

strengthened its unique aviation platform. The acquisition of a 

large leasing fleet of shipping containers was an additional mile

stone for expanding investment management activities. Further

more, the shipping division of DVB developed a new organiza

tional structure in 2007 which was introduced at the beginning 

of 2008. Following its implementation, Shipping Finance will no 

longer have a regional structure but will instead be concentrat

ed in a total of ten shipping sectors. Individual sector teams will 

operate worldwide from various locations in the DVB network 

and have more representation in places where the main players 

in their respective industries are located. The background of this 

innovative arrangement, which is unique in the world, is DVB’s 

philosophy that risks should be spread out more widely than 

before across different shipping segments and regions. In add

ition, DVB determined that individual customer needs could be 

addressed better with industryspecific service. The new organi

zational structure comes into play here and will lead to more in

depth expertise in the individual industries – paired with a global 

view of each of the sectors.
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ReiseBank

   € 1.2 billion foreign currency revenue

   Leading role in Germany in business with 

travel payment media 

  2 million cash transfers handled

ReiseBank AG, Frankfurt am Main, is the cooperative financial 

services network’s specialist service provider in foreign currency, 

precious metals and traveler’s checks (SER), worldwide overthe

counter cash transfer in partnership with Western Union as well 

as cash management. It is one of Germany’s leading players in 

the travel payment media business.

ser products and euro under one roof

In the financial year, ReiseBank sold off the rest of its foreign 

branches to concentrate all its available resources on the coop

erative financial services network. With ReiseBank having taken 

over DZ BANK’s foreign currency, precious metals and traveler’s 

checks operations, dealing and distribution are now under one 

roof. As a result, ReiseBank supplies the cooperative banks di

rectly with SER products and euros. Almost 900 local coopera

tive banks and Sparda banks now take advantage of ReiseBank’s 

highquality and lowcost processing services. In addition to this 

banktobank business, ReiseBank also supplies banks’ end cus

tomers directly with SER products. In 2007, over 480 coopera

tive banks participated in ReiseBank’s mailorder service.

99 branches with € 1.2 billion volume in foreign currency

In the financial year, ReiseBank saw a volume of € 1.2 billion 

in foreign currency processed in 99 branches. It also complet

ed just under 2 million cash transfers. In selected regions, it ex

panded its cash transfer network coverage in cooperation with 

local banks. 

cash management a very promising business

In the financial year ReiseBank operated 241 of its own ATMs 

and other terminals, which performed 5.5 million trans actions 

in all. Various banking partners and other businesses have 

been working successfully with ReiseBank for a long time in 

cash management. The complete range of services – from ATM 

placement to overall operational management including all cash 

services, has been established for several years in the market, 

even including 189 toll terminals.
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Mr Hille, stock markets have always been 

subject to wild fluctuations. The massive 

losses on stock markets in January 2008 

proved this once again. What does this 

mean for the certificates business?

Being first: AKZENT Invest   
establishes itself on the market.
DZ BANK Board Member Lars Hille, aged 44, is responsible among other things for AKZENT 
Invest, the new and first German product brand for certificates. He was closely involved in  
establishing the bank’s certificate business in the cooperative financial services network where 
the bank is now one of the top 3 providers on the German market.

Lars Hille, Member of the Board of Managing Directors of DZ BANK: “With AKZENT Invest, DZ BANK – in partnership with the 

cooperative banks – has established the first quality brand on the German certificates market, providing transparency and guidance 

for investors.” 

Lars Hille: In the current market envi

ronment, as after 2001, investors are 

increasingly looking for products with 

capital protection. The additional upside 

of certificates is that they offer excellent 

alternatives to direct investments in equi

ties, bonds or commodities, irrespective 

of whether markets are rising, static or 

even falling. Even certificates with equi

ties as underlyings are highly attractive. 

AKZENT Invest Special

Akzent Invest certificates are neither offered by or through the U.S. offices, branches or subsidiaries of DZ BANK nor by or through the U.K. offices, branches or subsidiaries of DZ BANK. AKZENT Invest 
 certificates are neither offered in the United States nor in the United Kingdom. AKZENT Invest certificates are neither available to U.S. investors nor to investors in the United Kingdom.
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They offer enormous potential returns, 

but with a lower risk than a direct invest

ment in equities. The certificates market 

is actually booming: in 2006, assets in

vested in derivatives, i.e. in certificates, 

options and other structured financial 

products, totaled 110 billion euros, which 

means they more than doubled compared 

to 2005 (44.6 billion euros). According to 

the German Deri vatives Association, 2007 

saw a further 12 percent rise to some 

135 billion euros, which means that cer

tificates have clearly overtaken securities 

mutual funds which account for some 

650 million euros in investment volume.

Was that also the reason why DZ BANK 

launched AKZENT Invest in 2006, as the 

first independent product brand for 

certificates?

Firstly, it is a successful tradition to po

sition strong brands under the umbrel

la of the cooperative financial  services 

network. Secondly, we analyzed the 

market carefully and looked at all our 

options. It was interesting to note that 

among all competitors, communication 

for certificates, involving detailed prod

uct information, was geared exclusive

ly towards the target group of investors 

who were already familiar with certifi

cates. There was therefore a lack of com

munication for broad tiers of inves tors. 

This prompted us to develop a brand 

that would establish itself as the first 

quality brand on the German certificates 

market and would also provide trans

parency and guidance for investors.

Quality and transparency are two im por

tant words. What do you mean by them?

To us, they mean that we offer our inves

tors targetoriented and easytocommu

nicate products with a high quality level 

that establishes confidence in our brand 

and strengthens it over the long term. 

As one of the market leaders in certifi

cates in Germany, we see it as a respon

sibility that we take very seriously.

Sounds good, but how do you imple

ment this quality level in practical terms?

Let me give you an example: As Ger

many’s premier issuing house, DZ BANK 

had its entire product development pro

cess inspected and certified by TÜV Süd  

for the first time in 2005. The test 

seal, certifying compliance with indus

trial standard ISO 9001, guarantees 

comprehensive quality management 

from the product conception stage to 

the measures of client satisfaction.

And why is the transparency of your 

products so important to you?

I would like to quote two figures: at 

the end of January 2007, there were 

more than 280,000 derivative invest

ment products traded on the market, of 

which 150,000 were investment certifi

cates. This made it more and more diffi

cult for private investors to get a proper 

overview, and they struggled to choose 

a suitable product due to this diversity.

 

And is this where you would like to 

provide investors and  custom ers with 

guidance?

Exactly. We are mainly concentrating on 

quality products that are relatively easy  

to explain. This is why we do not take on 

every new investment idea, but continu

ally improve our existing range of prod

ucts – with a special focus on certificates 

with capital guarantee and partial guar

antees, which are highly relevant for 

customers of the cooperative banks.

And is that enough?

No. For even greater transparency – prin

cipally on the private clients’ market too 

– we are involved with other providers 

in associations and initiatives. The Ger

man Derivatives Association developed 

a code of practice that, among other 

things, sets out fairness regulations for 

trading. And the Association is also push

ing for the standardization of technical 

terms for describing certificates in secu

rities prospectuses. We actively support 

Akzent Invest certificates are neither offered by or through the U.S. offices, branches or subsidiaries of DZ BANK nor by or through the U.K. offices, branches or subsidiaries of DZ BANK. AKZENT Invest 
 certificates are neither offered in the United States nor in the United Kingdom. AKZENT Invest certificates are neither available to U.S. investors nor to investors in the United Kingdom.
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this independent organization in its work 

and take its recommendations on board.

Does this sit well with customers?

In 2007, 96 percent of private label issues, 

i.e. certificates that are in the name of the 

relevant cooperative banks, were issued 

through AKZENT Invest. In the same year, 

DZ BANK was chosen as certificates house 

of the year for the fifth time in a row by 

the readers of WELT, WELT am SONN

TAG and the ZertifikateJournal. We were 

also named best issuer of partial protec

tion certificates in 2007 by Focus Money.  

So yes, I think this does sit well with 

customers. 

And yet you are trading with an invest  

ment form that is still very difficult for 

many to access. What strategies did you 

look at to tackle this issue?

We worked with professional part

ners to develop a compelling market

ing concept geared towards a broad 

target group, i.e. all private investors.

All private investors?

Yes! Based on a comprehensive analy

sis of the competition and market re

search results, our communication 

strategy takes account of the fact that 

each person has their own ideas about 

their investments, which means that 

we should target individuals carefully.

And has it paid off?

Yes! Our new campaign pays tribute to 

this idea, and very simply and effective

ly reaches a large swathe of potential 

 investors on an individual and product

oriented basis. The brand promotes its 

products directly at the point of sale 

(POS), the cooperative banks. We also 

use all available media channels: from 

 television and advertising campaigns 

throughout Germany to appropriate 

implementation at the point of sale, we 

guarantee that our message is widely 

spread, giving us the positive advertising 

impact that we need. We are continuing 

to expand our market share and are ex

tremely motivated to produce the perfect 

symbiosis of product and advice quality.

A great deal has been happening with 

the AKZENT Invest brand in the past  

few months.

2007 was an impressive year for the 

AKZENT Invest brand with a sales volume 

of 4.5 billion euros. But we started with 

the challenging aim of establishing it as 

the premier certificates brand  on the 

 German market, and according to the 

latest market research, this is exactly 

what it has become. Our first advertis

ing impact evaluation showed that more 

than 50 percent of respondents remem

bered the campaign, and more than 20 

percent were actually familiar with the 

brand. All in all, the results confirm that 

the campaign has had a particularly posi

tive effect on the Volksbanken Raiffeisen

banken brand. Many banks have certifi

cates, but we were and are still the first 

to combine this new product cate gory 

under one brand and under one uniform, 

standardized brand identity. And the  

latest figures show that we have been 

successful at doing precisely this. We 

are by far the market leader for guaran

tee certificates with 36.1 percent and 

the number two in the overall certificates 

market at 17.6  percent. Of the 135 billion 

euros assets invested in certificates, more 

than 20 billion euros are accounted for by 

AKZENT Invest. I am particularly pleased 

about this, and am confident that the 

brand can keep building on this position.

Mr Hille, thank you very 

much for your time.

Lars Hille: “Our marketing concept is 

geared towards a broad target group 

– all private investors!”
“With a sales volume of 
4.5 billion euros, 2007 was 
an impressive year for the 
AKZENT Invest brand.”

“In 2007, DZ BANK was 
chosen by investors as certifi
cates house of the year for 
the fifth time in a row.”

AKZENT Invest Special

Akzent Invest certificates are neither offered by or through the U.S. offices, branches or subsidiaries of DZ BANK nor by or through the U.K. offices, branches or subsidiaries of DZ BANK. AKZENT Invest 
 certificates are neither offered in the United States nor in the United Kingdom. AKZENT Invest certificates are neither available to U.S. investors nor to investors in the United Kingdom.
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At the top for five years: we are the “certificates house of the 

Year 2007”! As in the previous four years, DZ BANK was voted 

number one in a public poll carried out by ZertifikateJournal, 

WELT, WELT am SONNTAG and the Deutsche Börse.

In March 2007, DZ BANK was named “best issuer of Partial Pro-

tection certificates” by Focus Money. 

In 2008, DZ BANK was also named “best  issuer of guarantee 

certificates” by Focus Money, Zertifikateweb and an  

expert jury.

DZ BANK awards
DZ BANK and our AKZENT Invest product brand received numerous awards on behalf of the cooperative financial 
services network. Awards that strengthen us in our brand strategy and also motivate us for the future.

    Best Issuer of 

Partial Protection 

Certificates 2007

    Number 1  

ZertifikateAward

    Best Issuer of 

Guarantee 

 Certificates 2008

Outstanding equity research

We have also received numerous awards for our equity research 

which recognize the excellence of our analysts and confirm our 

approach. And because our Research department is part of the 

TÜVcertified product development process, the knowhow here 

is also channeled into developing the certificates.

Capital

    Best recommendations  

for European equities    

    Best recommendations for European second-tier stocks     

    Best recommendations within the Germany Länder 

 category for standard and second tier stocks    

    Second-best recommendation for DAX stocks

Handelsblatt

    The best brokers

    The best analysts by  

equity recommendations

   The best analysts by profit forecasts

Börsen-Zeitung

    Best profit forecast DAX stocks

    Best profit forecasts small/mid caps

    Fourth-best research house

    Second-best analyst/best sector team (absolute)

    Fourth-best recommendations DAX (absolute)

    Fourth-best recommendations  

small/mid caps (absolute)

Akzent Invest certificates are neither offered by or through the U.S. offices, branches or subsidiaries of DZ BANK nor by or through the U.K. offices, branches or subsidiaries of DZ BANK. AKZENT Invest 
 certificates are neither offered in the United States nor in the United Kingdom. AKZENT Invest certificates are neither available to U.S. investors nor to investors in the United Kingdom.
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Retail business segment:
Important source of revenue in the cooperative 
financial services network
Despite a very difficult global market environment, the Dz banK group was able to increase the benefits it brings to the 

local cooperative banks in the retail business segment during the financial year, especially through the union investment 

group as a competence center for asset management; Dzi as an innovative private banking provider in the cooperative 

network; and Dz PriVaTbanK (schweiz) ag as a service provider for the Dz banK group in the zurich financial center.

Union Investment Group

   Market leader in funds-based Riester retirement 

products

   Institutional business grew higher than average by 

14 percent

  High quality in portfolio management

In 2007, the Union Investment Group marked 51 years in op

eration and added another successful chapter to its history: no 

other German asset management company has demonstrat

ed as strong a record of success and growth over the last few 

years. Despite a very difficult global market environment, the 

group once again recorded a significant increase in assets under 

management of 10 percent to €175 million in the financial year 

thanks to superior performance and the continual broadening 

of the customer base. In connection with this increase, Union 

Investment remained a strong source of revenue in the coopera

tive financial services network and was able to continue to ex

pand the benefits it brings to the local cooperative banks. 

Union Investment’s outstanding performance and excellent ser

vice were also confirmed by the trade press, such as the finan

cial magazine “Capital” which for the sixth time in a row gave 

the asset manager its top rating, also naming it the best Ger

man fund management company in 2007.

Private client business boosted by product innovations

Union Investment saw a significant increase in new business 

with private clients in the financial year. At € 9.1 billion, net 

sales rose several times over compared to the previous year, 

 mostly as a result of solutionoriented product innovations. 

 Consequently, sales of new products came to € 3.2 billion in 

 total, of which € 2.2 billion alone was paid into new guarantee 

funds. With a market share of 34 percent, Union Investment is 

a leader in stable value funds. It is also market leader with the 

money marketlike UniOpti4 which netted € 12.4 billion last 

year, making it the top selling mutual fund in Germany. Another 

product with a successful launch was UniProfiAnlage, a lifecycle 

fund for  asset structuring. Since its marketing launch in April, 

UniProfiAnlage has proven itself against the competition in 

2007, and with € 612 million in new business, is the most suc

cessful product in its asset class.

market leader in investment-funds-based riester savings 

products

Similar to the UniProfiAnlage, UniProfiRente stands for simple 

and easily understandable retirement planning solutions. With 

the emotive advertising campaign using the slogan “Bring your 

boat safe to harbor”, the fundsbased Riester products be

came market leaders within a very short time. With 1.51 mil

lion UniProfi Rente agreements under contract, Union Invest

ment’s market share is nearly 80 percent. Over 480,000 new 

Riester savers chose the multipleawardwinning statesupport

ed UniProfi Rente retirement plan in the past financial year alone. 

This significant increase in the number of customers is proof 

that the implementation of the solution provider concept by 

Union  Investment has been successful. 
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institutional business grew higher than average by 14 per-

cent

The assets managed by Union Investment for institutional inves

tors grew by 14 percent in the financial year, above the average 

market rate, to rise to € 72.6 billion. New investors accounted 

for no less than 65 percent of new business. The important ex

pansion of the customer base was the result of focused acquisi

tion and increased cooperation with consultants. For Union In

vestment, the crucial factor for new business with institutional 

investors was its strong expertise in risk management. In the fi

nancial year, around 40 percent of net inflows were achieved in 

this area. Investors were mainly interested in a number of varia

tions of the IMMUNO asymmetric value assurance concepts. 

Union PanAgora Asset Management GmbH, the joint venture 

with PanAgora, Boston, has meanwhile also successfully estab

lished itself in the field of structured asset management and 

continued to add many wellknown institutional customers. As 

the specialist for quantitative investment strategies in the Union 

 Investment Group, it almost doubled its assets under manage

ment over the past three years and now manages approximately 

€ 12 billion in total, making Union PanAgora one of the fastest 

growing institutional asset managers in Germany. 

high quality portfolio management 

Union Investment’s top class portfolio management is reflected 

in the stable outperformance of its range of funds. Performance 

results for 2007, particularly for equity funds, were excellent with 

an increase of 8.6 percent. But Union Investment also achieved 

aboveaverage results compared to the competition over longer 

time periods, as confirmed by independent experts, such as 

Morningstar or Feri, where Union Investment is listed in the top 

3 fund management companies in Germany in their ranking of 

investment companies. Even ratings agencies such as Standard 

& Poors (S&P), which also look at the quality of management 

as well as performance, confirm Union Investment’s outstand

ing performance. At the end of 2007, a total of 28 funds were 

given a rating by S&P, of which 11 were AA.

Trend reversal in open-end real estate funds

The ongoing weakness in openend real estate funds since 2004 

seems to have been overcome, as investments in firstclass loca

tions began to pay off. Classic funds like UniImmo: Europe and 

UniImmo: Germany managed to increase their yields thanks to 

successful portfolio sales. The real estate markets are picking up, 

and this asset class is also benefiting from fluctuating demand 

for other traditional formats such as equity and bond funds. 

Openend real estate funds from Union Investment made a posi

tive contribution to profit in the financial year with net sales of 

€ 471 million.

foreign business gaining more prominence

To continue the growth course in institutional business of the 

past few years, Union Investment will be focusing more on gain

ing foreign customers, particularly in Asian markets. With this 

in mind, a joint venture was set up in Hong Kong in April 2007 

with the Bank of East Asia (BEA) which is one of the top firms 

in the Asian banking market. In this strategic alliance, Union 

Investment has taken responsibility for portfolio management 

with its proven asset management expertise. The alliance cre

ates a highly competitive local asset management entity that 

not only fulfills the high requirements of global portfolio man

agement expertise, but also demonstrates the required business 

size for a successful market presence in Asia. The entire Union 

Investment Group benefits from being physically close to the 

growth markets of the future, while also enhancing its portfolio 

management expertise with Asian markets.
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DZ Private Wealth Managementgesellschaft S.A.

   Linked private banking offering in the cooperative 

financial services network

   Management of private banking activities in the 

DZ BANK Group

  Significant earnings and cross-selling potential

For the cooperative banking group, business with affluent pri

vate clients is critical to competitive advantage. It makes an im

portant contribution to reducing individual banks’ dependence 

on interest margins while also offering considerable earnings 

and crossselling potential. At the same time, analyses and dis

cussions with the local cooperative banks show that there are 

significant strategic challenges for private banking products and 

services of the cooperative financial services network relative to 

the competition:

–  Raising the profile of the cooperative banking organization 

among potential clients for private banking

–  More efficient expansion of core competencies and tailored 

range of customer services at the local cooperative banks and 

in the DZ BANK Group as well as its bundled services for banks

–  Greater integration of activities within the DZ BANK Group 

and with the activities of the cooperative banks

–  Stepping up marketing measures.

To achieve the objective of significantly increasing market share, 

the DZ BANK Group will direct its efforts toward meeting these 

challenges. Services, production and marketing in the private 

banking offering from the DZ BANK Group will be coordinated 

and managed by a newly established company going forward 

– DZ Private Wealth Managementgesellschaft S.A, based in 

Luxembourg. 

The management holding company, which holds the shares of 

DZ BANK in the private banking units in Luxembourg and in 

Switzerland, will take on a coordinating management function 

and take responsibility for the binding implementation of a uni

form marketing strategy. It will consolidate and develop pro

cesses and activities in sales and product development while co

ordinating comparative advantages of expertise and location. In 

addition, it will work on further optimizing the market presence 

of the group in the Private Banking business line. 

DZ BANK International

  Successful, innovative investment concepts

   High satisfaction rating among LuxCredit 

customers certified in study by TÜV Saarland

  Significant growth in fund business

In the 30 years since its founding, DZ BANK International (DZI) 

has proven its expertise in international private banking, invest

ment funds, lending and treasury operations and obtained sat

isfactory earnings. Its success is due to close cooperation with 

over 1,100 local cooperative banks and private and corporate 

customers both within and outside of the cooperative financial 

services network.

successful private banking

DZI once again demonstrated its expertise as an innovative pri

vate banking provider in the cooperative financial service net

work by issuing 50 innovative special funds for affluent private 

clients. Customers can individually create their own taxadvan

taged funds by selecting a custom fund composition to reflect 
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their personal investment strategy. As a result of concentrating 

on these high net worth individuals (HNWI), who can also be 

served by the growing subsidiary DZ BANK International Singa

pore, the average volume under management rose again. In the 

 currency investment business, currency asset manager STAR

PLAN Top Callgeld provided a higher volume of business. 

For the affluent clients of the cooperative financial services net

work whose relationship manager is at the local cooperative 

banks, DZI was able to maintain its position as a competence 

center for the decentralized asset management product called 

Private Portfolio Strategy (PPS). With the newly issued sustain

ability portfolio, PPS investors will be able to benefit in the 

 future from the increasing success of environmental and climate 

protectionrelated products on the world market and from com

panies with environmentallyfriendly manufacturing methods. 

renowned foreign currency lending 

The LuxCredit foreign currency loan from DZI enjoys a good 

reputation in Germany, as was documented in a recent repre

sentative study by TÜV Saarland. In the survey, 1,100 respon

dents gave LuxCredit an overall rating of 1.84 on a scale from 

1 to 5. The customer advisors of the German cooperative banks 

received a rating of 1.74, bringing them to the top of the cat

egory. Around 95 percent of the respondents rated the foreign 

currency loan as having a better interest rate than financing in 

euros. 

creative fund solutions in demand by fund issuers 

Luxembourg’s location provisions and general conditions, com

bined with the expertise and innovative fund concepts of DZI 

and its subsidiary IP Concept promoted sustainable development 

in the investment fund business segment. As a result, 82 new 

fund mandates were obtained and the volume under manage

ment rose by over 12 percent to more than € 35 billion. The 

increase is based on close cooperation with the cooperative 

sector’s specialized service providers, especially the Union Invest

ment Group. 

DZ PRIVATBANK Schweiz

  Significant rise in customer assets

   Swiss private banking solutions a success 

for SME customers 

  Growth through new commission model

DZ PRIVATBANK (Schweiz) AG is the DZ BANK Group’s center of 

expertise in the quintessential Zurich financial center. The coop

erative financial services network’s own private bank serves as 

a partner for the cooperative banks and their customers for all 

international wealth management issues – from Union Invest

ment’s SwissRubinum and UnionSchweizDepot products and 

management mandates to highquality addon services. As a 

private bank, DZ PRIVATBANK Schweiz is already playing a cen

tral role in the group’s affluent client business segment, which 

is becoming increasingly important in strategic terms. Together 

with WGZ BANK, the bank operates a representative office in 

Düsseldorf.

The corporate customer as a wealthy private client 

The private bank significantly increased its volume of as

sets under management in the financial year. Around 38,000 

customers with assets of around CHF 9 billion put their trust in 

the service quality of DZ PRIVATBANK Schweiz. One particularly 

successful area was the comprehensive advisory service for 

corporate customers. The decentralized cooperative business 

model, where cooperative banks traditionally enjoy a close 

relationship with SMEs, paid off here. Within the context of this 

cooperation, in the past year it was again successfully proven 



35Retail Business Segment

that the cooperative financial services network could hold its 

own among the competition for large and complex mandates, 

along with succession planning or even relocation advice. 

new and secondary banking relationships in focus

The successes of 2007 also show that the special structure of DZ 

PRIVATBANK Schweiz, which does not require any investment 

from the cooperative banks and for the most part does not re

quire extra time or expense, is suited to banks of any size. Mar

keting efforts continue to focus on secondary banking relation

ships whose potential in wealth management is either not yet 

known, not yet leveraged or has not been covered by competi

tors. It is precisely in this customer segment that the DZ BANK 

Group’s envisaged growth in the evermoreimportant private 

banking business segment can be achieved. Cooperation with 

DZ PRIVATBANK Schweiz is not only enhancing expertise but 

is also supplying the banks with concrete added value through 

customer loyalty, a tailored range of additional services and re

curring commission income.

new commission model increases network benefit

The Swiss bank cooperates with around 80 percent of the Ger

man cooperative banks. The commission model introduced in 

2007 guarantees even more transparency and a successorient

ed approach. Sales partners achieved a benefit in the amount of 

around CHF 33 million for the cooperative financial services net

work, which was another disproportionately large increase. 

TeamBank

  Pioneer with easyCredit Fairness Package

   Consumer finance specialist in the cooperative 

financial services network

  Growth for partner banks

With the easyCredit Fairness Package, TeamBank AG Nürnberg 

has taken a significant step forward in the consumer business. 

The cooperative partner banks not only have access to the ex

clusive and most wellknown brandname products in the sec

tor but since November they also have access to unique services 

which can be reviewed objectively and were bundled into a Fair

ness Package. As such TeamBank is encouraging a paradigm 

shift in this segment: in the consumer finance business, as in 

other sectors, it is not only the price that matters but more im

portantly the service itself.

Partnership and flexibility

The Fairness Package is based on two pillars: partnership and 

flexibility. As part of the ongoing discussion about rising bank

ruptcies in German private households, easyCredit forgoes a le

gal bankruptcy proceeding with customers who are having diffi

culties making payments, as long as the customers show at least 

a minimum willingness to cooperate. No other provider on the 

market offers this sense of partnership yet.

With easyCredit from the local cooperative banks, the  customer 

has flexibility to respond to a changing financial situation. 

For example, special repayments and refinancing are possible 

 options. If customers want to return the loan within the first 

month, they can use the extra long return right of one month.
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Differentiation in a highly competitive market

With the Fairness Package, consumer finance offered by the 

local cooperative banks differs considerably from the compe

tition and ensures future growth. In fact, the competition be

came even tougher in the financial year. One factor was that 

the entire consumer finance market took a breather after years 

of continuous growth: at the end of the year it had a volume 

of € 129.3 billion in comparison to € 130.6 billion at the end of 

2006.

Meanwhile, numerous new German and international competi

tors swarmed into the German market, having been attracted 

by the growth of the past years. Most of them used the strategy 

of appealing to the customer on the basis of price, which had a 

negative impact on established market participants.

full steam ahead for partner banks

This trend did not concern the over 900 easyCredit partner 

banks, whose portfolio rose in the financial year from € 2.6 bil

lion to € 3.1 billion, equivalent to a rise of some 20 percent. 

They are supported by TeamBank not only as a product service 

provider but also as a process service provider, for example in 

marketing. As such, easyCredit, with a brand recognition fac

tor of nearly 80 percent, remained the most wellknown prod

uct in the sector by a wide margin. Additionally, the partner 

banks were able to invest in local marketing measures through 

a marketing premium to increase the local presence of easy

Credit. Last but not least, sales training courses at the partner 

banks helped consolidate their position in the consumer finance 

business.
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Bausparkasse Schwäbisch Hall

  Market leadership extended

  Home savings loan allocations at record high 

  Growth in international business

The overall conditions for the savetobuild and consumer home 

finance business in Germany have changed drastically in the past 

few years. The elimination of the state subvention for homeown

ers and the delayed integration of owneroccupied real estate 

into subsidy schemes for private retirement provision have caused 

uncertainty among consumers. On top of that, there have been 

structural shifts in the residential construction sector. Though new 

construction is no longer at the forefront of home buying activity, 

an increasing number of households and the rising amount of liv

ing space needed per person make 300,000 new homes per year 

a necessity. In particular, nonnew properties are becoming more 

important. Investments in existing buildings have risen consider

ably, which affects both purchasing and modernization efforts 

for older apartments and houses. About threefourths of private 

homes in Germany are more than 25 years old, which means 

there is a great need for modernization and renovation. The focus 

now – which also relates to the discussion about climate change 

and the steep increase in energy costs – is on investments in im

proving energy  efficiency and environmental quality.

Real Estate Finance business segment:
Bundling consumer home finance

Customer behavior is changing as well: they expect firstclass ser

vice and compelling products on favorable terms. Direct and on

line banks, mobile sales and banks from outside Germany are en

croaching steadily on the business segments of the branch bank 

networks. This phenomenon can be observed especially in con

sumer home finance, which is an important anchor product for 

acquiring and retaining customers. The market position of the co

operative financial services network in consumer home finance is 

under serious competitive pressure. At the same time, the coop

erative partner banks are raising their standards for cooperation 

with the cooperative sector’s specialized service providers.

more added value for the cooperative financial services 

network

Bausparkasse Schwäbisch Hall anticipated these changes  early 

on and responded accordingly. Measures such as employee 

qualifications, increasing productivity, expanding the sales net

work, acquiring new customers and the related increase in 

market share for the cooperative network are all intended to 

enhance Bausparkasse’s added value for the cooperative finan

cial services network. With the systematic further development 

of sales and marketing as part of the corporate strategy called 

PRIMUS, in 2007 the foundation was laid to support the coop

erative banks even more effectively in addressing their regional 

markets. At the same time, Bausparkasse’s field staff has been 

tasked with working harder to leverage market potential more 

effectively alongside the banks.

bundling consumer home finance

Bundling of consumer home finance within the DZ BANK Group 

at Bausparkasse Schwäbisch Hall is a logical step in strengthen

in 2007, consumer home finance within the Dz banK group was bundled at bausparkasse schwäbisch hall, a logical step 

in strengthening the competitive position of the cooperative financial services network for the long term. schwäbisch 

hall plans to successfully expand this business segment together with the cooperative banks.
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ing the competitive position of the cooperative financial services 

network for the long term. The local banks are the regional ex

pertise centers of the cooperative financial services network for 

consumer home finance. Schwäbisch Hall sees itself exclusively 

as a subsidiary service provider to the banks. In addition to its 

sales expertise and strong brand, Bausparkasse brings an attrac

tive range of products, comprehensive market support and effi

cient processing services through Kreditwerk to the table. 

Bausparkasse’s expanded range of services in consumer home 

finance is strictly complementary and has a subsidiary orienta

tion, which means that banks can find an appropriate solution 

from Schwäbisch Hall for any of their customers’ requirements. 

However, the local bank decides exclusively, while consider

ing the local market requirements, if they would like to take 

advantage of the products and which ones to use. In addition 

to traditional savings loans for consumer home finance, they 

can also select from triedandtested instant financing products 

“Fuchs  Modernisierung” and “Fuchs Wohnbau” which are simi

lar to home savings loans and have terms of between 10 and 

30 years. These financing options are now available as forward 

models. A new addition to the product range is an attractive 

showcase product called “Fuchs TOPZins,” along with the an

nuity loan “Fuchs BauDarlehen” as a complementary prod

uct. Financing not covered by the cooperative financial services 

network can be referred to partners through a special financing 

portal.

Schwäbisch Hall was named for the first time in 2007 as the 

most customeroriented lending institution in Germany and has 

had the top position for years as the most customerfriendly 

building and loan insititution. Schwäbisch Hall is compelling to 

its own employees as well: as a “Top Employer” it ranks among 

the 20 best employers in Germany.

market share further expanded

Bausparkasse Schwäbisch Hall gained additional market share 

and extended its market leadership in the financial year. With 

872,000 contracts and a volume of € 27.4 billion, the new 

building and loan business fell just short of the previous year’s 

closing level by just 3.2 percent. Market share rose from 28.5 

to 29 percent. As at December 31, 2007, Schwäbisch Hall had 

6.6 million customers with seven million home savings contracts 

for a total volume of € 198 billion. In the home finance business 

segment, home savings loans rose again for the first time after 

many years of declines, by 34 percent to € 2 billion.

Schwäbisch Hall’s home savings loan allocation of € 11 bil

lion was the  highest of all time. In the home finance business 

segment, credit  volume reached € 9.6 billion ( 9.4 percent), 

twothirds of which Schwäbisch Hall referred to the coopera

tive banks as part of crossselling efforts. The background was 

the slump in residential construction: As a result of the elimina

tion of the state subvention for homeowners and the increase 

in valueadded tax, in 2007 all completed construction declined 

by 9 percent to 225,000 residences. In the supplementary provi

sion business segment, retirement provision products from the 

cooperative  banks and investment funds and insurance prod

ucts from the cooperative sector’s specialized service provid

ers Union Investment and R+V were brokered with a volume of 

€ 6.2 billion. This was 5 percent more than in the previous year. 

The number of products from the cooperative banks and the 

specialized service providers which were sold by the sales force 

of Bausparkasse Schwäbisch Hall was 370,000. Commission in

come for the cooperative banks from savetobuild brokering 

was € 246 million, almost the same as the previous year. On top 

of that there was a product cash value of almost € 90 million 

from crossselling.

growth outside germany continues

Bausparkasse Schwäbisch Hall’s international business increased 

significantly in 2007. The affiliated companies in the Czech Re

public, Slovakia, Hungary, Romania and China expanded their 

leading positions in their respective countries. In total  almost 

700,000 home savings agreements worth € 7.3 billion went 

 under contract (+23.8 percent). The foreign affiliated build

ing and loan asso ciations now have 3.4 million customers with 

3.9 million agreements worth € 37.5 billion. The volume of 

home finance brokered abroad increased by 24.9 percent to 

€ 1.7 billion. The number of crossselling agreements conclud

ed climbed 11 percent to over 200,000. Cooperative partners 

abroad also include Union Investment and R+V. Around 25,000 

agreements were referred to them in 2007 (+80 percent). Busi

ness in China will be expanded in cooperation with China Con

struction Bank Corporation.
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DG HYP

  Focus on commercial real estate finance

   Service offering for the local cooperative banks 

further developed

  Growth and expansion continuing

DZ BANK reorganized and optimized the Real Estate Finance 

business line in 2007. As a result, DG HYP will be focusing on 

commercial real estate lending going forward. As a commercial

lyoriented real estate finance bank in the cooperative financial 

services network, DG HYP supports the local cooperative banks 

with a tailored range of services and is expanding the direct 

financing business with real estate investors in Germany and 

abroad. DG HYP is successfully continuing the municipal and 

government financing business. Consumer home finance within 

the DZ BANK Group was bundled at Bauspar kasse Schwäbisch 

Hall as at January 1, 2008.

established market position further expanded

The commercial real estate finance operations of DG HYP al

ready enjoy an established position in the key German economic 

hubs today. The decentralized structure of six real estate finance 

centers in Hamburg, Berlin, Düsseldorf, Stuttgart, Frankfurt am 

Main and Munich forms the basis for a positive trend in this 

business segment. This nationwide coverage also benefits the 

1,250 local cooperative banks which are the direct contact for 

SME investors, with their knowledge of the regional market and 

customers. As an advisor and product supplier, DG HYP supports 

the local cooperative banks in their cooperation with SME cus

tomers and regional market development. It has an inter national 

presence, with representative offices in London and New York.

growth in commercial real estate finance

DG HYP successfully continued the expansion course of the last 

few years in commercial real estate lending. In the financial year, 

new and extension business in commercial real estate finance 

exceeded the previous year’s level by 36 percent with € 3.2 bil

lion. DG HYP turned in particularly good performance interna

tionally. In international lending, the representative offices in 

London and New York and the centrally managed European 

oper ations in France and Scandinavia contributed to the encour

aging trend.

bundling consumer home finance at bsh

The new loan and extension business of DG HYP in consumer real 

estate finance stood at € 1.4 billion as at December 31, 2007, 

and as such remains under the 2006 level (€ 1.8 billion). It was 

thus logical to bundle consumer home finance at Bausparkasse to 

strengthen the competitive position of the cooperative financial 

services network over the long term.

leader in municipal lending business

In the financial year, the business activities of DG HYP in the mu

nicipal lending business remained at a high level. The coopera

tive network’s real estate finance bank is the leader in this busi

ness segment and is among the largest providers in Germany. 

Around 45 percent of all German local authorities already avail 

themselves of DG HYP’s services. The new and extension loan 

business volume in the original municipal credit business was 

€ 2.1 billion as at the reporting date. For the financial year, DG 

HYP reported total  assets of € 83.3 billion (2006: € 85.6 billion).
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R+V Versicherungen

  Market share gained in all classes of business

  Corporate customer operations expanded

  High financial strength confirmed

competitive advantage through the cooperative network

Its integration in the cooperative financial services network is 

R+V’s greatest competitive advantage. Using the local coopera

tive banks as a sales channel and thus having direct access to 

German SMEs, R+V continued its course for success in 2007.

r+V’s growth significantly outpaces market

With premium growth of 3.9 percent, the R+V Group achieved 

premium income of € 9.3 billion in the financial year, while Ger

man primary insurers gained 4.2 percent. The main growth 

 drivers were personal insurance policies. In investments, R+V 

benefited from the performance of the equity markets due to 

its high equity weighting, which was above the market average. 

Overall the company’s quality was convincing: Standard & Poor’s 

gave R+V an excellent “A+” rating for the third time in a row.

Insurance business segment: 
High performance proven

r+V in demand as retirement provision specialist 

In the financial year, R+V’s life and pension insurance was con

vincing due to innovative products and outstanding sales capa

bilities. The result was premium growth of 4.3 percent to € 4.9 

billion. The retirement provision specialists of the cooperative 

financial services network again received very good evaluations. 

The independent industry service rating agency “map report” 

gave R+V life insurance top marks once again. 

With around 3.5 million agreements, private retirement provi

sion is the largest business segment. A wide selection of retire

ment insurance options ranging from taxadvantaged products 

to innovative fundlinked life insurance provides many areas for 

potential growth. Attractive new products were added as well:

–  GarantieRentePflegePlus combines a private retirement pen

sion with an option for longterm daily care benefit. 

–  VRRürupRente, a new fundlinked retirement insurance, is 

 offered by R+V along with the specialized service provider 

Union Investment. The product links the earnings potential of 

a capital investment in funds with a pension guaranteed for 

life from the start of retirement.

innovative products for occupational pension provision 

In the German market for occupational pension provision, R+V 

occupies third place. With all five governmentdefined imple

mentation methods, innovative addon products and a compre

hensive range of services, R+V offers solutions specially designed 

for SMEs. Its dynamic growth of 16 percent shows that R+V is 

on the right track:

–  With R+V ErfolgsRente, a company’s employees can partici

pate in its success. 

secure and attractive retirement provision products, insurance solutions tailored to customer needs, a good price-perfor-

mance ratio, strong product ratings, high financial strength as well as fast and premium-appropriate claims adjustment. 

in 2007 r+V once again proved its capability and achieved an outstanding position over competitors. With a premium 

increase of 4.2 percent in germany, r+V distanced itself from the stagnation in the rest of the german insurance busi-

ness and gained market share in all classes of business.
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–  The R+V combination model uses all tax and businessrelated 

advantages for its corporate customers by  outsourcing pen

sion provisions to Versorgungskasse  genossenschaftlich orien

tierter Unternehmen (VGU) e.V. and R+V Pensionsfonds AG. 

healthcare reform offers growth opportunities

Through the German law to strengthen competition introduced 

during the last healthcare reform, the German legislature made a 

huge impact on the business model of private insurance. Howev

er, many of the regulations must still be spelled out by legis lators. 

R+V saw the changed business model in terms of new opportuni

ties for growth. As a result R+V Krankenversicherung once again 

outperformed the market in Germany in the financial year (10.8 

percent growth). 

r+V’s property and casualty insurance outdistances the 

market

R+V’s property and casualty insurance is significantly outpacing 

the market. While the sector lost premiums, R+V continued its 

growth course in Germany with premium growth of 3.6 percent 

to € 3.35 billion. This trend was especially noticeable in vehicle 

insurance. While the sector as a whole expected premium de

clines, R+V increased its premium income by 2.8 percent. The 

fastsellers in other composite classes were the combined poli

cies which combine several risks together in one agreement. In 

this way R+V grew much faster than the market in the liability, 

property and legal protection segments. What is proving to be 

increasingly advantageous for corporate customers and banks is 

the systematic integration of insurance into the lending process 

and credit insurance business itself. This can save a customer’s 

existence. And the bank profits both from additional income 

from the insurance business, as well as from lower risk provi

sioning. In the banks/credit business segment, a healthy econo

my and BASEL II were additional factors for continued growth. 

market leader through new products for new risks

There are several reasons for the successful course of growth in 

property/casualty insurance over the last few years. On the one 

hand, every year R+V brings insurance products to the market 

which immediately respond to the changes in the law. Examples 

include:

–  the AGGPolice which covers risks for entrepreneurs in accor

dance with the new General Equal Treatment Act;

–  the R+VNaturschutzPolice which covers corporate liability as 

described in the new environmental damage law. 

At the same time, existing products are always adapted to re

flect the most recent requirements, for example:

– the new corporate policy or

–  the R+V provision loan FIX & FLEX with free residential build

ing insurance included for the first two years.

R+V has also achieved successful growth by tapping into new 

business segments and expanding them into areas of expertise 

such as in the field of technical insurance and regenerative ener

gies. R+V is the market leader in the insurance of biogas plants. 

In the financial year, R+V was able to demonstrate its high per

formance capability once again: the storm Cyril alone caused 

damages amounting to € 140 million for R+V in Germany. De

spite the increased costs it caused, the combined ratio remained 

significantly under 100 percent. This example shows that regular 

optimization of processes does pay off. The expenditure for ad

ministration of R+V property/casualty insurers continued to re

main below the market average.

challenges in 2008

Dealing with legislators and the competition will always require 

intelligent solutions from R+V, which is why R+V has already 

begun early on preparing for the new German Insurance Con

tract Law (VVG). Although it will not go into effect until 2009, 

R+V will already begin settling claims in the liability and property 

lines in 2008 in accordance with the new law. With the reform 

of the Insurance Contract Law, legislators are mainly pursuing 

three goals: increased consumer protection, a fairer balancing 

of interests between insurance companies and their customers 

and a modernization of life insurance. The main focus for R+V 

in 2008 will be measures to enhance cooperation between the 

banks and the banks’ sales of insurance products. 
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Top Management Meeting in September 2007 at Montabaur Castle: with the theme “Tapping into potential growth together”, the discussions among the 

Board of Managing Directors and top managers from companies of the DZ BANK Group were focused among other things on the paramount importance of 

cooperative network business.

Most of the benefits that the DZ BANK Group offers are in 

forms that cannot be expressed as quantifiable cash flows. In 

fact, DZ BANK and the cooperative network’s specialized service 

providers continually work on refining their products and ser

vices. This efficient division of labor in the cooperative financial 

services network has allowed the DZ BANK Group, along with 

the local cooperative banks and other cooperative banks, to be

come the largest financial services group in Germany. Strong 

brands such as easyCredit and Union Investment, Bausparkasse 

Schwäbisch Hall, R+V Versicherung and other specialized service 

providers add to the longterm market viability of the coopera

tive banks.

The following Network Balance provides an overview of the 

selected services of the DZ BANK Group for the cooperative 

banks. Other examples can be found in the segment reporting 

on pages 6 to 41.

Achieving more together – the DZ BANK Group 
supports the cooperative banks
The cooperative banks are the Dz banK group’s most important customers. That is why they are the special focus of the 

activities, products and services offered by Dz banK and the network’s specialized service providers. This close relation-

ship is based on the cooperative subsidiarity principle. The Dz banK group’s highest priority is supporting the coopera-

tive banks in their market development. 
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selected services of the Dz banK group for cooperative banks

a) Products and services for private and corporate customers 

Private pension provision With products from R+V Versicherung, the cooperative banks benefited in the financial year from new 

business totaling € 2.0 billion in life insurance/pensions. Among the most successful were R+V Garantie

RentePflegePlus, products designed for individual banks from the creative plus line and the new  

joint product of R+V Versicherung and Union Investment: VRRürupRente. In asset management, R+V 

Versicherung is offering fundlinked annuity insurance for individual asset portfolios. 

During 2007, Union Investment and the cooperative financial services network was once again the top 

seller in the Riester retirement products market, with market share in the Riesterpromoted fund savings 

plans of around 83 percent. Among the UniProfiRente/4P agreements alone, the cooperative banks 

gained about 480,000 new contracts despite tough competition. Union Investment passed the 

milestone of 1.5 million agreements in its portfolio of policies.

Occupational pension 

provision

R+V Versicherung offers products in all five governmentdefined implementation methods for occupa

tional pension provision. It rounds out this selection with customized solutions for covering parttime 

work for older employees and working life models, profit sharing, and industry solutions. The income 

for R+V Versicherung from new occupational retirement premiums in 2007 totaled € 470 million. 

Another great success in 2007 was the R+V combination model for pension fund management services 

which numerous cooperative banks used themselves. In 2007 Union Investment also offered DynaCom 

in the fundslinked occupational pension direct sales segment and the fund solution UniLebensWert for 

working lifetime accounts.

AKZENT Invest 

certificates

Since October 2007, DZ BANK has been promoting the product brand AKZENT Invest with a broad

based media campaign in order to support the cooperative banks in their marketing. With the question 

“Which type of investor are you?” they appeal to a broad range of investors. In guarantee certificates, 

DZ BANK and the cooperative banks are the clear market leader with 36.2 percent (as at September 

2007), and in all certificates they are number two in the market. In 2007, the sales volume of AKZENT 

Invest certificates reached a total of € 4.3 billion (22 percent growth yearonyear).

A modular offering for managing sales campaigns supports the marketing activities of the cooperative 

banks. It contains scorecards for identifying customers, for example, those with an affinity for certifi

cates – with high success rates and new money rates – or customers at risk of switching to another 

bank, tailormade coaching concepts (together with SHT Training) all the way to targeted expansion of 

sales expertise at the point of sale.

Innovative bank products To strengthen the liabilities side of the cooperative banks’ balance sheet, DZ BANK developed 

 MeinZinsKonto, an innovative accountbased deposit product with aboveaverage guaranteed interest, 

as an innovative complement to the successfully structured bearer bonds (securities variant).

Research In the financial year, numerous top awards for equity analysts or for equity analyses confirmed the 

expertise of DZ BANK Research. All research results are available to the cooperative banks through 

VRBankenPortal. Almost 900 banks made use of at least one of the various research packages during 

2007. With a decreasing number of banks due to merger activity, the market penetration increased 

further.

Funds With the taxadvantaged money marketlinked fund UniOpti4 launched in 2006, Union Investment saw 

new cash inflows of € 12.4 billion in the financial year, an average of about € 1 billion per month. The 

portfolio has a value of € 15.2 billion. As at the end of the financial year, Union Investment adminis

tered 4.6 million securities custody accounts for cooperative bank customers.
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selected services of the Dz banK group for cooperative banks

The InstitutionalOptiCash fund set up in December 2006 for corporate customers generated net 

inflows of € 1.0 billion in 2007 and now has fund assets of over € 1.1 billion. It is a taxadvantaged 

fund with a money marketlinked yield profile.

In the financial year, the series of institutional public funds for corporate customers of the cooperative 

banks was enhanced by the addition of SustainableBalancePlus, a guarantee fund with a sustainability 

approach.

In the current total of four funds which were issued for corporate customers, € 1.9 billion is now being 

managed among various asset classes.

R+V Versicherung offers – partially in cooperation with Union Investment – fundlinked insurance 

policies. With new premium income of € 726 million, R+V achieved record earnings in this segment 

during 2007.

Private Banking DZ PRIVATBANK (Schweiz) AG in Zurich, DZ BANK International S.A. in Luxembourg and DZ BANK in 

Singapore together service the needs of over 59,600 affluent private clients of the cooperative banks 

with invested assets totaling over € 10.4 billion. These three private banking units contributed bonuses 

and commissions amounting to over € 34.9 million to the cooperative banks. 

Under the PPS asset management program, more than 340 cooperative banks work together with 

DZ BANK International. A volume of just under € 1.5 billion was managed locally for around 8,800 

private customers. 

Around 6,200 cooperative bank customers invested over € 740 million in the STARPLAN currency 

investment vehicle from DZ BANK International.

Effective as at December 31, 2007, DZ BANK transferred its shares in DZ BANK International S.A. and 

DZ PRIVATBANK Schweiz to the new DZ Private Wealth Managementgesellschaft S.A., based in 

Luxembourg. This company will have a coordinating management function and ensure the binding 

implementation of the strategies devised by the Private Banking Working Group.

Private mortgage lending The new business with mortgage lending previously processed through DG HYP is being transferred to 

Bausparkasse Schwäbisch Hall as at January 1, 2008. This step means that the cooperative banks will 

have a marketleading partner at their side who provides them with the entire range of products for 

private real estate finance.

Building society 

operations

During 2007, Bausparkasse Schwäbisch Hall signed up 872,000 home savings agreements with a total 

volume of € 27.4 billion in cooperation with the cooperative banks. Market share rose from 28.5 to 

approximately 29 percent and the cooperative banks earned € 246 million in commission income.

During 2007 the cooperative banks were again able to take a good threequarters of Bausparkasse 

Schwäbisch Hall’s total home finance of € 9.6 billion onto their own books. The cooperative banks 

profited from the strong brand of “Schwäbisch Hall,” attractive products and nationwide sales and 

marketing support.

As part of crossselling efforts, mobile sales by Bausparkasse Schwäbisch Hall supplied a total of 

370,000 products to the cooperative banks and the cooperative sector’s specialized service providers. 

Consumer finance With the easyCredit Fairness Package, TeamBank AG Nürnberg has initiated a paradigm shift as a 

consumer finance specialist in the consumer business. As the only provider, the cooperative partner 

banks offer the best conditions: Germany’s longest return right, flexibility for customers through special 

repayments and refinancing and foregoing legal proceedings when customers have difficulties making 

payments, as long as the customer is willing to cooperate. The deciding factor in this segment is not 

just the price but also the customer service that comes with it.
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selected services of the Dz banK group for cooperative banks

Foreign currency lending In the foreign currency lending segment, DZ BANK International has built a portfolio of around 25,000 

joint transactions with cooperative banks with a total value of € 5.2 billion. This business has brought 

the cooperative banks income of over € 48.2 million from bonuses and commissions.

Provision/insurance 

business

In total around seven million customers place their trust in the performance capability of R+V 

 Versicherung, making it one of the leading German insurance providers. The company is outpacing  

the industry in all lines of business.

In addition to its successful new products in pension provision, R+V Versicherung has also brought 

numerous product innovations to the market in liability and property insurance. The AGGPolice, for 

example, protects corporate customers against claims arising from the new General Equal Treatment 

Act (AGG). 

In the vehicle insurance line, R+V Versicherung is the thirdlargest provider in Germany and has created 

very flexible products and services with its new basic and premium rates. In credit insurance, R+V 

Versicherung confirmed its strong market position. In terms of insurance for renewable energy plants, 

R+V Versicherung offers a diverse range of solutions and has compelling expertise in this area.

Market data 

management

DZ BANK AG developed the Historical Market Database (HDB), an application which provides the 

cooperative banks throughout the country with qualityassured, managementrelevant market data 

through VR Control. The networkwide use of this centrally available market data will result in a better 

means of comparison, less need for communication and lower costs.

Joint credit business In 2007 the number of new business applications rose by 1,569 with a volume of € 4.2 billion, which 

represents a onethird increase in volume. Of these applications, threefourths were approved by 

DZ BANK. There were 516 standard meta credit applications with a volume of € 236 million. Optimiza

tion of workflow software and in the products (standard meta: doubled upper credit limit to € 2 million; 

lowered limit rating to 3C) assisted this expansion.

Commercial real estate 

finance

DG HYP is a commerciallyoriented real estate finance bank in the cooperative financial services network 

and a partner of the local cooperative banks in the commercial real estate lending business. Through its 

decentralized structure with six real estate finance centers in Hamburg, Berlin, Düsseldorf, Stuttgart, 

Frankfurt am Main and Munich it already has an established market position. As a result, its commercial 

real estate lending business developed very positively in the financial year and rose 36 percent from the 

previous year to € 2.4 billion.

Local authority loans In the financial year, the business activities of DG HYP in the local authority lending business remained 

at a high level. The new and extension business volume in original lending to local authorities was € 2.1 

billion. This result hinged on referrals through the local cooperative banks, for whom lending is an 

important component of their business relationship with the local authorities.

Development loans As at January 1, 2007, Kreditwerk took over development loan processing on behalf of DZ BANK. In the 

financial year, approximately 63,000 development loans with a total volume of around € 4.5 billion 

were granted. Almost all cooperative banks used the automated development loan processing. Through 

technical improvements in GENOSTAR, the introduction of a database for EU subsidies and especially 

through several targetgrouporiented sales campaigns, DZ BANK put the foundation in place in 2007 

for expanding this business segment. 

VR CrossSelling Over 250 cooperative banks work together with DZ BANK to offer their corporate customers access to 

products for interest rate and exchange rate management. Distributed fee and commission income 

increased yearonyear by almost 30 percent to around € 3.7 million, confirming the proven success of 

this business model. 
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selected services of the Dz banK group for cooperative banks

Leasing and factoring The movables leasing business referred by the local cooperative banks increased by over 18 percent in 

2007, indicating the level of demand from the SME sector for alternative financing strategies. The 

highest rate of increase was seen in the information and communication technology segment with a 

new business volume of € 113.3 million (27.2 percent). For investment goods it was € 621.2 million 

(22.8 percent). The factoring revenues generated by VR FACTOREM increased by almost seven percent 

to € 1,390 million. This increase was due among other things to the introduction of FACTORINGprimo, 

which offers attractive conditions for the sale of accounts receivable from sales and services for 

companies with an annual revenue of at least € 500,000. To support cooperation with the cooperative 

banks, VR LEASING hosts eleven VR  LEASING days together with the cooperative associations. With 

over 470 participants, this is the largest event in the cooperative financial services network for corporate 

customer advisors and demonstrates the increasing interest from banks in complementary financial 

services.

Mergers & acquisitions For larger SMEs, DZ BANK offers tailored solutions with its M&A advice on corporate sales and 

acquisitions, mergers and joint ventures and MBI/MBO. Last financial year, sales of companies for four 

customers of local banks were successfully concluded.

Private equity DZ Equity Partner concluded 19 new business partnerships with an investment volume of € 105 million 

in 2007. The cooperative financial services network initiated over 70 percent of the transactions and 

more than 50 percent of the transaction volume. The cooperative banks received commissions totaling 

€ 0.5 million for their efforts. 

International business As part of the “Regional Acquisition Model for Business Abroad” (RAMA) DZ BANK currently provides 

support to about 5,600 customers of 280 cooperative banks in their international activities – almost 

20 percent more than in 2006. 

b) capital market operations 

Securitization In July 2007 DZ BANK successfully conducted the fourth VRCircle transaction for risk transfer of 

commercial credit risk in the cooperative network. The 33 participating cooperative banks brought in a 

total of 88 SME borrowers with an uncovered loan volume of € 74.2 million. The total credit volume 

securitized through this platform was nominally just under € 1 billion.

Support/consulting for 

local banks’ ownac

count investing

DZ BANK supported the cooperative banks in their ownaccount investing with approximately 1,350 

consultations in the area of interest risk/liabilities management and through 25 credit portfolio analyses. 

Over 100 banks took advantage of the strategic asset allocation consultation, which helps optimize the 

asset structure and leverage potential for returns. Asset Allocation became more important with the 

prevailing flat interest rate structure curve. 

945 local banks used the GENOSAVE system to manage their ownaccount trading portfolios (98 

percent market share by total assets).

Market compatibility 

control

Currently 529 cooperative banks use the “Market Compatibility Control Online” application which 

provides them with a way to demonstrate to their auditors that they have properly outsourced the task 

of monitoring market compliance for their prices.

Institutional funds/

collective proprietary 

investments 

572 local banks invested a total volume of € 4.4 billion in the institutional funds issued together with 

Union Investment for the purpose of managing and more broadly diversifying their ownaccount 

investments. 
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selected services of the Dz banK group for cooperative banks

Liquidity management The turmoil on the money and capital markets during the second half of the year had a longterm 

impact on the banks’ planning situation and led to challenging liquidity situations, even in the coopera

tive financial services network. DZ BANK was always available to affiliated banks as a reliable partner for 

managing their liquidity.

Securities lending Riskfree income generation through securities lending has become an established practice at the 

banks. The volume of securities loaned in 2007 was over € 8 billion.

c) Processing services

Card processing In 2007 DZ BANK rolled out the new and innovative “New credit cards in a modular system” card 

product for retail customers throughout Germany. Product placement was actively conducted with 

22 customer events, 54 partner training sessions and inhouse training sessions in the cooperative 

banks and with events which are part of the premium package. These measures are complemented by  

a comprehensive advisory service. The objective of the advisory services is to increase the profitability  

of the card portfolio over the long term and deepen existing customer relationships through successful 

sales efforts.

Payments processing The financial year was characterized by preparations for SEPA and a comprehensive information and 

communication offensive for employees and corporate customers of the cooperative banks. A total of 

550 corporate customer analyses and 170 employee training sessions took place at the cooperative 

banks. The payments key data package (standard and premium package), which serves as the basis for 

determining the actual situation and deriving further marketing measures of a bank in the payments 

segment, was expanded further and is already being employed at around 20 percent of the banks being 

serviced.

Securities processing Securities and custody account transactions at the cooperative banks are processed centrally through 

DZ BANK or its service provider dwpbank. In 2007 the bank generated € 45.3 million in added value 

through central processing of custody account transactions. In total there were 2.4 million custody 

accounts administered at DZ BANK and its service providers in 2007.

GENO securities Following in the steps of R+V Versicherung with RUVIS online and BSH with BSHTop, Union Investment 

and DZ BANK are now also integrated in the nationally uniform VAP sales workstation, thus rounding 

off the group’s financial services offering. Many securities functionalities are now available in coopera

tion with WGZ BANK under the name of GENO Wertpapiere (based on GENO Broker) in agree® BAP 

and bank21.

Brokerage DZ BANK’s entire product range is tradable via the new cooperative marketplace of GENOX. The result 

is a diversified product range of over 7,000 securities to meet a range of customer needs.

In close cooperation with the MiFID project of the cooperative financial services network, DZ BANK has 

provided a comprehensive implementation package for the cooperative banks. This package comes with 

various training courses, hotlines and extensive support.

Processing As the creditprocessing factory of the cooperative financial services network, Kreditwerk continued 

providing processing services in 2007 for cooperative banks and some companies of the DZ BANK 

Group. It processed around 872,000 home savings applications and 166,000 new loans on behalf of 

Bausparkasse Schwäbisch Hall.
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human resources work in the Dz banK group in 2007 

The human resources efforts in the companies of the DZ BANK 

Group continued to impress in the financial year with their 

 diverse array of attractive services for employees. Alongside 

needsbased continuing education, the expansion of manage

ment development and support for highpotential candidates, 

the topics of worklife balance and health management were 

the focus of human resources development throughout the 

companies. The DZ BANK Group’s good positioning as an at

tractive employer was highlighted by the awards and prizes it 

received.

a selection of awards and prizes

The attractiveness of the DZ BANK Group is reflected in its wide 

range of training and development programs. Additional mar

keting activities, stepping up groupwide talent management, 

and joint activities for promoting companyspecific potential are 

 being planned. 

Recognizing potential – promoting employees –  
combining strengths

continuing education opportunities within the companies

Employee qualification continued to be a very high priority at 

all companies in the financial year. The concepts are based on 

the corporate objectives for the entire group and each of the 

 respective strategies in human resources development: 

In the financial year, Dz banK concentrated on the expansion of 

management development, professional change management 

and a needsbased management of qualification activities. The 

internal range of continuing education is closely tied to the busi

ness activities, and as such, covers a large portion of the special

ist  divisions’ needs. A new topic area was international training 

(inter cultural training, training sessions conducted in the English 

language, and bankspecific training with international topics).

In the financial year, the Vr leasing Group invested in building 

up expertise for its expanded product portfolio as a specialized 

provider for SME financing solutions. The topics involved ranged 

from leasing and the lending business to purchase financing, all 

the way to factoring and current sectorspecific knowledge. 

union investment focused on its triedandtested potential anal

yses, for example in the form of management audits, to ensure 

the targeted and effective development of its staff. In addition 

to this development program, an interdisciplinary training  series 

entitled “UniKompetenz” designed for transferring knowledge  

within the company rounded out the continuing education 

 offered. “UniKompetenz” already won two awards in the pre

vious year from separate independent specialist juries, the 

Deutscher Personalwirtschaftspreis for human resources man

agement and the MUWIT (Mitarbeiter und Weiterbildung im 

Trend) continuing education award. In both cases it was placed 

third. In addition, Union Investment offered employees numer

ous  opportunities for personal and methodical development 

with its internal seminar program.

“individually strong. successful together.” That was the motto of the Dz banK group’s human resources efforts in the 

financial year. The increase in networking has made a positive impact, and as a result cooperation has increasingly 

become a factor in success. To this end, the group coordination circle was expanded to include the cross-divisional 

 function of human resources.
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Teambank tripled its training budget in 2007 and developed 

the Fit for Future program to provide continual support for the 

change processes with activities focused both on technical train

ing and interpersonal development. Close to 90 percent of em

ployees took advantage of this training opportunity.

The schwäbisch hall group offers a comprehensive seminar 

program for internal and field staff through inhouse company 

Schwäbisch Hall Training GmbH. This training provides employ

ees with successful inductions and further training for all differ

ent types of tasks. A new feature of the program is SPIRIT which 

is geared towards upandcoming talent, helping train 60 par

ticipants in 2007.

At Dg hYP, human resources policy topics came back into focus 

in 2007 in connection with the planned restructuring as a com

mercial real estate finance bank. Key focus points in continuing 

education were credit topics such as BASEL II and international 

account balancing, along with English. Conduct and IToriented 

training opportunities rounded out the qualification portfolio. 

r+V not only provided a comprehensive human resources de

velopment program to its employees, which also includes spe

cial talent development programs for management and project 

managers and encouraging potential, but the company also in

vested in almost 4,800 trainer event days for employees of the 

primary banks which focused on topics such as insurance prod

ucts, advisory services and sales. For the eLearning product to 

support “Fit for Value” valueoriented corporate management, 

human resources development was awarded the Comenius 

Medal for outstanding multimedia products.

management development at a high level

Management development is a key priority at all the companies. 

Programs are fundamentally geared toward the specific require

ments of various management situations and tailored to each 

hierarchy level: 

Dz banK has programs for both new and experienced manag

ers: A program for all new managers is the “New to Manage

ment” program in which participants receive systematic support 

in their first months as managers through workshops, coaching 

and an online tool. The same applies to experienced managers 

when they take on a new position. In addition, a twoyear man

agement program was launched throughout the bank in coop

eration with Malik Management Zentrum St. Gallen for the two 

hierarchy levels Head of Group and Head of Department. 

Several years ago, the schwäbisch hall group established vari

ous potential groups tailored to target groups, management 

levels and functional areas in the company. In addition, special 

measures for promoting management skills are available. The 

systematic selection, promotion and support of upandcoming 

Workforce
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management talent and managers contribute significantly to 

corporate development. Bausparkasse earned second place in 

the nationwide “Chief Learning Officer” human resources de

velopment competition.

At Vr leasing the implementation of new management prin

ciples were at the forefront in 2007 as part of change processes. 

For this implementation all managers started a program which 

provided the appropriate knowledge and concrete management 

methods according to hierarchy level. An integrated 360degree 

feedback system allowed participants to reflect on their man

agement behavior and to change it effectively.

union investment successfully concluded the “Planning Manage

ment” project for establishing a valueoriented management 

approach, including management guidelines, and received sec

ond place from the Deutscher Personalwirtschaftspreis 2007 for 

this example of best practices. 

Since 2002, managers at all levels at r+V have received further 

training to improve their qualifications in partnership with Ma

lik Management Zentrum, St. Gallen. In addition to the yearly 

key issues, managers also have access to “toolbox seminars” 

for individual further qualification. Since 2007 field staff man

agers have had the opportunity to become certified as ADG 

sales managers (Academy of German Cooperatives). R+V has 

around 4,000 field staff employees with permanent employ

ment contracts.

Promoting potential ensures strategic succession planning

Employees who demonstrate exceptional performance, commit

ment and talent receive special support in the entire DZ BANK 

Group which allows them to prepare for a diverse range of new 

challenging tasks. At one level, the result is optimum succession 

planning for filling strategically important specialist or manage

ment positions, while employees with high potential also form 

a longterm relationship with the companies of the DZ BANK 

Group. There are many activities in place for constantly adapt

ing individual programs to changing needs and developing them 

further. 

Diverse training programs for developing up-and-coming 

talent

The DZ BANK Group is distinguished by a very diverse program 

for developing upandcoming talent. The opportunities for 

 motivated employees just starting their careers range from initial 

professional training to master’s and trainee programs, and all 

the way through to doctoral programs.

The table on page 51 provides an overview of measures to pro

mote upandcoming talent in the DZ BANK Group. A cru

cial element in this process is recruiting appropriate candidates 

and providing them with needsbased training to improve their 

qualifications in a development program. The companies of the 

DZ BANK Group are then able to fill specialist and management 

positions with talented employees from among their own ranks.

marketing at colleges and universities

The most important measures include recruiting events and tar

geted job fair activities. In 2007 DZ BANK and the specialized ser

vice providers R+V Versicherung, Union Investment, Bausparkasse 

Schwäbisch Hall, DG HYP, DZ BANK International and VR Kredit

werk were represented at a joint stand at the university gradu

ate job fair in Cologne. The human resources divisions of the 

DZ BANK Group deepened and expanded their existing partner

ships with regional colleges and universities in 2007.

Dz banK career Prize 2007

In 2007 DZ BANK awarded the 6th annual DZ BANK Career 

Prize in cooperation with the Handelsblatt and Handelsblatt 

Junge Karriere publications. The award announcement was 

 divided into the two categories of “master theses/dissertations 

(university/college)” and “bachelor theses/dissertations (BA)” 

to reflect the new European standard with its duallevel college 

system. A total of 129 final papers from 83 colleges and pro

fessional academies were received. 
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Training and development programs of the Dz banK group

Dz banK bsh1
union  

investment Vr leasing Dg hYP r+V Teambank
Dz banK 
internat. Kreditwerk1

Training programs

Bank officer • • • • •

Office communication specialist • • •

Office specialist •

Real estate specialist •

Insurance and finance specialist •

Dialogue marketing specialist •

IT specialist • •

Investment fund specialist •

bachelor programs

Banking2 • • • •

Business administration, specialized in 
insurance2 •

Services marketing2 •

Business information technology2 • • • •

Business administration3 • • •

Business information technology3 • •

Information technology2 • •

Insurance and Finance4 •

Bachelor of Arts in Business 
Administration4 •

Bachelor of Insurance Practice5 •

BEST Bachelor in Management and 
Finance (ADG Montabaur) •

Part-time 
degree/certificate programs

Investment certificate from  
Chamber of Commerce •

Leasing certificate from  
Chamber of Commerce •

Banking certificate from Chamber of 
Commerce, business economist • •

Insurance certificate from  
Chamber of Commerce •

Insurance business economist, DVA5 •

master’s programs • • •6

Trainee programs • • • • • • • •

legal clerks/interns • • • • •

Doctoral programs •

internship programs (incl. for  
students writing thesis) • • • • • • • • •

1  The training programs are conducted jointly for Bausparkasse Schwäbisch Hall and Kreditwerk.
2 University of cooperative education
3 Frankfurt School of Finance & Management
4 University of applied sciences
5 Deutsche Versicherungsakademie (German insurance academy)
6 Individual cases
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international human resources work to prepare for new 

 challenges

Growing internationalization is presenting new challenges for 

the DZ BANK Group. Responding to these challenges requires 

adequate measures for human resources development – espe

cially a willingness to accept change and an ability to adapt to 

an intercultural environment – but it also offers attractive oppor

tunities for employees. The responsibility for human resources 

work at all international locations of DZ BANK was transferred 

to the Human Resources division of DZ BANK in the function of 

Global Head.

numerous measures for work-life balance

Nowadays it is crucial for companies to gain the loyalty of com

mitted and highperforming employees by offering them em

ployee and familyfriendly incentives.

Since 2007 Dz banK and union investment have been offering 

emergency childcare for their employees’ children in addition to 

their regular childcare; the Schwäbisch Hall Group has provided 

access to professional childcare in its own company kindergar

ten since as far back as 1970.

In 2007 Dz banK expanded its incentives to help employees 

with their work/life balance, and in August 2007 it received the 

“familyfriendly” certificate from the charitable Hertie Founda

tion as part of its “Career and Family” audit. 

In addition to the options already established, the schwäbisch 

hall group offers an extension of the statutory parental leave 

(three years) to a total of four years. In the event of a family 

member falling ill, an unpaid caretaker leave of up to two years 

is available. Bausparkasse Schwäbisch Hall is also one of the first 

companies in Germany which has constructed a senior service 

center for its employees.

Full time/part time employees in the DZ BANK Group 2007
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health management for a proper work-life balance

Successfully balancing work and life is equally beneficial to both 

employees and companies and forms the foundation for the 

success of individuals and companies. The human resources di

visions of the individual companies continued to provide their 

 employees with numerous preventative health services in 2007, 

including attractive company sports, health checks and anti

stress programs.

In 2007 Dz banK launched an occupational rehabilitation pro

gram as a oneyear pilot project. Employees who are partici

pating in the program help to develop their own individual, 

 measures for reintegrating back into working life after recover

ing from a longterm illness.
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I. Business Performance 

1. Overall economic conditions 

The economic upturn continued in the financial year under 

review, although with less impetus than in the previous year. 

Gross domestic product (GDP) in 2007 grew by 2.5 percent 

adjusted for price, compared with 2.9 percent the year before.

Global economic growth remained robust, primarily due to 

the continued strong growth and dynamism of the Asian 

economies. 

On the other hand, growth in the United States slowed towards 

the end of 2007. The rising incidence of private mortgage 

defaults, particularly on mortgages with minimal collateral ex-

tended to borrowers with poor credit, was initially limited to the 

mortgage sector in the US but then became a worldwide crisis 

on the financial markets by the middle of the year. The difficul-

ties enveloping the real estate market in the United States and 

the accompanying turmoil in the international financial markets 

began to dampen US consumer demand towards the end of 

2007, the main driver of the US economy. 

With positive earnings growth and a robust volume of orders, 

gross capital investments in capacity by German companies 

contributed significantly to economic growth. Investment in 

plant and machinery grew by more than 8 percent. Construction 

investment grew by 2 percent in 2007, driven by industry and 

public sector projects. However, the level of private residence 

construction suffered during the financial year following the 

withdrawal of first time buyer allowances In Germany and an 

increase in sales tax. 

Despite the significant appreciation of the euro against the US 

dollar, demand for exports remained lively, supporting the Ger-

man economy as a whole. 

Private consumption, -0.4 percent on the year before, was re-

strained, dampened by the increase in sales tax which went into 

effect on January 1, 2007.

The increased tax revenues resulting from the upturn in 

economic activity allowed the German Federal government to 

report a balanced budget for the first time since German reuni-

fication (based on the Maastricht criteria), providing the latitude 

needed to stabilize public finances going forward. 

2. Developments in the banking and financial 
services industry

In 2007, the banking sector was again characterized by a high 

level of competition, while the second half of the year was 

overshadowed by the turbulence which, though originating in 

a crisis limited to the US mortgage lending sector, soon had a 

significant effect on the domestic financial market.

Foreign banks continued their efforts to increase their busi-

ness in the German domestic market during the reporting year, 

which intensified existing competition between German banks 

in the traditional banking business.

Following very positive operating results in the first half of the 

reporting year, the uncertainty caused by rising default rates in 

the consumer mortgage market in the United States, particularly 

in the subprime segment catering to borrowers with poor credit, 

soon spread to other debt instruments, unnerving investors 

on a large scale. Given the international character of financial 

 markets, the effect was not been limited to US markets, and 

even caused a painful shortage of liquidity in Germany. 

The US Fed and the European Central Bank intervened to 

provide additional liquidity to lending instititions, but could not 

restore investors’ lost confidence. The resulting correction – 

even if temporary – to prices for securities held by banks limited 

their scope for earnings. 

Group Management Report
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banking groups by a significant margin, which in turn means 

widely diversified support and a strong base of support within 

the population as a whole. The cooperative banks are in turn 

DZ BANK’s key shareholders.

Close cooperation within the cooperative financial services 

network as significant stabilizing factor

The most important task of DZ BANK and its subsidiaries is 

to help local cooperative banks become more effective and 

efficient. To facilitate this, the companies of DZ BANK offer Ger-

many’s local cooperative banks competitive financial products 

and services from a central point, making those products more 

cost-effective. DZ BANK Group provide financial services focused 

on retail banking, capital market and corporate customer 

products, as well as processing services. These financial products 

and services are offered to customers by the cooperative banks 

via their extended branch network of approximately 14,000 

branches, as well as electronically. As the cooperative banks use 

products placed by the DZ BANK on average 90 percent of the 

time, this is an indicator that the cooperative banks are pleased 

with the selection of products and services on offer. Reflecting 

its dual origins in commerce and cooperation, the cooperative 

financial services network makes the most of dividing its focus 

between customer satisfaction, the necessity of continuous in-

novation and intense dialogue among all stakeholders. 

Customer focus and competitiveness

Ensuring long term customer satisfaction, in particularly the sat-

isfaction of the cooperative bank’s customers and members who 

represent the most significant of DZ BANK’s domestic custom-

ers, has traditionally enjoyed a high profile among DZ BANK’s 

priorities.

For this reason the DZ BANK, in its role as central bank for the 

cooperative banks, carried out a new customer satisfaction 

survey in 2007, involving over 730 institutions. The results of 

the survey has confirmed DZ BANK’s current strategy. 90 per-

3. The DZ BANK Group and the cooperative banks 
in a challenging capital market environment

DZ BANK AG Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank, Frankfurt 

am Main (DZ BANK), and its subsidiaries have traditionally un-

dertaken the task of supporting the cooperative banks – in the 

sense of enhancing customer value for members and customers, 

both domestically and internationally. The cooperative banks 

and DZ BANK Group work together closely to achieve this aim. 

The two-way supportive relationship is a traditional character-

istic of the cooperative financial services network, and was a 

significant factor in providing stability within the cooperative 

financial network during a turbulent year 2007 for the capital 

markets – with an all time high on the DAX indices on the one 

hand, and the subprime crisis on the other.

The mainstays of the cooperative financial services network 

are the customers of the cooperatives, the cooperative banks, 

and DZ BANK and its subsidiaries. The 1,230 German coopera-

tive banks have approximately 30 million private and corporate 

customers in all. An additional 5 million private and corporate 

customers are served internationally, in particular in central and 

southeastern Europe, Italy and Spain. Of our domestic custom-

ers, more than half – approximately 16 million – have subscribed 

cooperative shares and are thus not only our customers but also 

our shareholders. This gives the cooperative financial services 

network the largest number of shareholders of all German 

Against the backdrop of the general level of economic growth 

during the year, gross operating income in the areas of credit 

business not affected by the financial market crisis showed a 

positive overall trend, although net interest income was im-

pacted by the continued pressure on margins in lending due to 

the competitive market environment.

Administration expenses and impairment losses remained stable 

both as a result of conservative risk management policies as well 

as cost-saving measures initiated last year.
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cent of participating cooperative banks stated that they were 

satisfied, very satisfied or extraordinarily satisfied with DZ BANK. 

Further, the cooperative banks’ satisfaction with their contact at 

DZ BANK, for example in terms of the accessibility and profes-

sionalism of their contact, was well above average. Comments 

and suggestions for improvements have already been imple-

mented by DZ BANK, and measures have been taken to further 

improve the cooperative banks’ satisfaction with the products 

and services offered. After all, providing outstanding products 

depends on two factors: ongoing feedback, and systematic 

investment in research and development.

By continuously refining its products and services, DZ BANK aims 

to assist the cooperative banks in stabilizing or expanding their 

market share. In contrast to the generalizing trends of the 1980s 

and 1990s, today niche providers are the ones gaining market 

share. With the support of DZ BANK, the cooperative banks 

are able to meet this challenge, securing and expanding their 

market share in Germany and in Europe. DZ BANK cannot and 

will not be satisfied with what has been achieved in the past. To 

the contrary – DZ BANK assumes that there is significant growth 

potential to be realized from cultivation of existing customer 

relationships. DZ BANK and DZ Group companies will continue 

to support the cooperative financial services network and the 

foreign cooperative partner companies in order to unlock this 

potential.

Financial products for private clients and  

SME corporate customers

A core competence of DZ BANK is its ability to support coopera-

tive banks with the financial services they need for their retail and 

Cycle model of the cooperative financial network
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to gain market leadership in the fund-based “Riester” retirement 

products market.

In private banking, DZ BANK and the financial services network 

continue to lead the market in the sale of guarantee certificates, 

and occupy second place in terms of sale of certificates. The high 

level of customer satisfaction with DZ BANK’s certificates resulted 

in the Bank being awarded “issuer of the year” – for the fifth time 

running in a public poll organized by trade journals. To help pri-

vate investors find their way through the over 100,000 certificate 

issues on offer, DZ BANK has become the first issuer in Germany 

to launch a product label program – the AKZENT Invest label – for 

certificates and structured bonds. This product labeling program 

was supported by a marketing campaign in fall 2007. The label 

had achieved wide recognition by the end of 2007; with over 

95 percent of private label issues made by the cooperative banks 

using the AKZENT invest label.

At the end of 2007 DZ BANK bundled all domestic and foreign 

private banking activities into one company, DZ Private Wealth 

Managementgesellschaft S.A., Luxembourg. This allows im-

proved coordination of the products on offer, standardization of 

processes, and a uniform market image. As a result, the coopera-

tive financial network is in a better position to increase its market 

share in the private banking sector. This restructuring will create 

growth both by making use of existing market opportunities as 

well as by gaining new customers.

The Group’s real estate finance segment was also restructured 

and bundled at the start of 2008. The Bausparkasse Schwäbisch 

Hall AG (BSH), Schwäbisch Hall is now the single competence 

center for real estate finance within the network. DZ BANK is 

confident that BSH will achieve its objective of expanding this seg-

ment. BSH has again been crowned the most customer friendly 

home loan and savings association in Germany, and can build 

on existing market leadership, an attractive product offering and 

excellent service quality. Since the start of 2008 the Deutsche 

corporate customers, in particular for SMEs. These include prod-

ucts such as retirement plans, asset management, private banking, 

home loan and savings, insurance, consumer credit, leasing and 

SME business services.

In the past year, various institutions within the DZ BANK Group 

have successfully combined their expertise into combined prod-

ucts, or “Kombiprodukte,” particularly in the area of personal 

retirement plans. For example, R+V Versicherung AG, Wiesbaden 

(R+V), and Union Asset Management Holding AG, Frankfurt am 

Main (Union Asset Management Holding), have used their joint 

expertise to offer a diverse range of funds-based retirement plans, 

each with a different investment focus. One example of this is the 

“VR-RürupRente” retirement plan, a plan which takes advantage 

of the state pension plan subsidy for the insured customer, and 

combines this with a fund investment and a guaranteed lifetime 

pension determined at retirement date. Another example is an 

advisory tool called “VR-VorsorgeStatus” which was created in 

2007 in close cooperation between all the group companies and 

the cooperative IT service providers. VR-VorsorgeStatus was de-

veloped by the cooperative banks to provide their customers with 

a concrete projection of expected future returns from their retire-

ment plans. With this product, possible deficits can be determined 

with a high level of accuracy. The forecasts cater for all existing 

retirement provisions made by the customer. A particular feature 

of VR-VorsorgeStatus is that it not only includes retirement plans 

which originated within the cooperative financial services net-

work, but includes arrangements from other institutions as well. 

Also in 2007 the foundation was laid for the use of life insurance 

products based on certificates for retirement planning purposes. 

This product combines insurance, asset management and invest-

ment banking expertise, and will enable the DZ BANK cooperative 

financial services network to continue playing a leading role in the 

German market for private retirement plans in the future. 

An advertising campaign with the slogan “Feather your nest” was 

a great success for Union Asset Management Holding, helping it 
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Genossenschafts-Hypothe ken bank AG, Hamburg (DG HYP), has 

been the shared competence center for commercial real estate 

financing, both domestic and foreign. This has given DG HYP a 

clear focus, distinguishing it from BSH, after a planned merger 

with Münchener Hypothekenbank eG, Munich (MHB), did not 

take place.

TeamBank AG Nürnberg, Nuremberg (TeamBank), is not yet mar-

ket leader in consumer credit, but has that aim in its sights. Given 

that the “easyCredit” brand is well recognized and supported by 

over 900 partner banks within the network and with approximate-

ly 60 easyCredit shops, TeamBank is making good progress. 

DZ BANK is also playing a leading role with innovative products in 

the credit card business. In late 2007, DZ BANK launched the first 

German V PAY debit card. This is a debit card with a particularly 

high security standard, which enables the user to make payments 

and withdraw cash throughout Europe and which is also compat-

ible with the SEPA (Single Euro Payments Area) standard European 

payments system in force from the beginning of 2008. In addition, 

DZ BANK is preparing for the imminent launch of a prepaid card, 

which can be used based on a cash balance paid up on the card. 

Targeted users for the prepaid card are primarily young customers 

and young adults who do not have a credit card but do require a 

card which can be used world wide and online.

On the basis of DZ BANK’s success in Germany with its innovative 

financial products, in particular in retail banking, DZ BANK de-

cided to promote selected products internationally, particularly in 

markets with a comparable structure. In 2007 DZ BANK opened a 

branch in Milan, Italy, and purchased a share in Credito Cooperativo 

del Nord Est SpA (CC BANCA), Trento/Italy, and successfully initiated 

the financial business there, where Union Asset Management 

Holding and R+V (with Assimoco SpA) have already been success-

ful for a number of years.

DZ BANK Group

1,230 cooperative banks

Instit
utional customers and corporate customers (worldwide)

30 million 

customers
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(within and beyond 
the financial network)

DZ BANK Group: worldwide market access for cooperative banks, institutional customers and corporate customers
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In retail banking, DZ BANK not only supports the cooperative 

banks with its product portfolio, but also plays an important role 

in planning and strategy development for the cooperative financial 

services network, often in close cooperation with banking associa-

tions. For example, starting in 2007, DZ BANK has been participat-

ing in a joint network project with the aim of increasing margins 

within the network, with an initial focus on retail banking. The 

object is to address increasing competition in this segment as a 

result of new entrants, as well as changing customer behavior, 

which has been primarily characterized by a lower level of loyalty 

to the customer’s “own” bank. DZ BANK, together with the 

Federal Association of German Cooperative Banks (BVR), Berlin, 

is playing a coordinating role in this project. The project focuses 

on a small number but highly effective measures in order to avoid 

unnecessary complexity.

One key element of the project is the “financial services planning 

workshop”, initiated by DZ BANK with the support of the financial 

services network. In these workshops, DZ BANK Group supports 

the cooperative banks in quantitative planning and in determining 

the key elements of marketing strategy for the coming years.

Also in 2007, DZ BANK Group founded a focus initiative aimed 

at marketing in Germany’s urban areas, in a joint project with the 

BVR and several pilot project cooperative banks. This initiative 

is in response to the continuing demographic shift in Germany 

from rural to urban areas. Approximately 30 million people live in 

15 of the largest 22 urban areas, a development which had not 

been adequately addressed within the financial services network. 

Whereas the cooperative banks had a 30 percent market share in 

rural areas, their market share is below 10 percent in some urban 

areas. Urban areas thus represent a significant potential growth 

market for the cooperative network, and the initiative is designed 

to address this potential. A specially designed product/service 

portfolio will be developed for the urban areas, and customers 

from rural areas will be offered help with their banking needs 

when they move to urban areas.

As mentioned previously, DZ BANK’s customer satisfaction sur-

vey for its corporate customers identified a number of areas 

where action was needed. As a result, DZ BANK has invested in 

improvements to its services for SME enterprises, and supported 

the cooperative banks with numerous tailored marketing and risk 

transfer offerings. DZ BANK is committed to the strict principle of 

subsidiarity, which means that it respects and supports the primary 

independence of the cooperative banks in the marketplace. Ac-

cordingly DZ BANK only makes direct contact with the customer 

when a cooperative bank is not willing or able to offer a particular 

service or product. As in previous years, the focus In 2007 was on 

the “meta” lending business, under which syndicated loans and 

other risk transfer instruments are deployed with the cooperative 

banks to leverage the strength of the network in the corporate 

sector.

In this way, DZ BANK is able to help the cooperative banks extend 

loans In the corporate customer market on a scale which would 

otherwise exceed the risk capacity of a single cooperative bank 

acting alone. Further, DZ BANK has integrated its advisory services 

more closely with other business client specialists within the 

group. Collaboration with VR LEASING AG, Eschborn (VR LEASING), 

was particularly successful, with VR LEASING being able to con-

tribute its specialist know-how in sales and investment financing 

to the benefit of SME customers. 
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Institutional and corporate business as gateway to the capital 

market and as innovation driver for the financial services 

network 

DZ BANK is the gateway to the capital market for the coopera-

tive banks, and provides them with products for asset and capi-

tal management, in particular the management of the banks’ 

own deposits (Depot A) and risk management.

General bank management was the primary theme in 2007, 

driven by continued flat interest rate curves and the crisis on 

the capital markets. Accordingly, the Bank’s advisory role was 

particularly significant in this period. In the year under review, 

the Bank was consulted on more than 750 occasions regarding 

bank and asset allocation matters, and also provided a large 

number of seminars and training sessions with a particular 

focus on financial control and reporting, to assist the coopera-

tive banks in their risk management processes. The cooperative 

banks additionally drew heavily on DZ BANK for credit portfolio 

consulting as a result of capital market turbulence. Targeted 

investment in alternative investment forms were reviewed and 

utilized to assist with risk diversification.

As part of an investment banking growth initiative, the Bank’s 

domestic primary equity market business and business with 

institutional customers were expanded, which enabled the Bank 

to take advantage of market opportunities.

The traditional strength of DZ BANK in capital markets again led 

to recognition in the form of industry awards. For an extended 

period the DZ BANK led the list of banks on “Market Axess,” 

the leading industry platform for bank and corporate bonds in 

the floating rate note business for bank and commercial paper. 

DZ BANK was regularly among the top 3 of 30 participating 

institutions in the “Trade Web” trading system for covered 

bonds. In 2007, as last year, DZ BANK was rated highly in “Risk 

Magazin Deutschland“ customer satisfaction ratings for its 

performance in derivatives over competition from major interna-

tional banks and investment firms. 

At the product level, DZ BANK is the market leader in structured 

products. DZ BANK reported outstanding sales and earnings in 

commodities – raw material and metals trading based products, 

and again recorded a significant increase in the volume of cov-

ered bond placements.

The VR-CrossSelling product was again a success in 2007. This 

product enables corporate customers to hedge currencies, 

interest rates and raw material risks. It is also one factor which 

has helped DZ BANK develop relationships with larger German 

corporations and with SME enterprises. DZ BANK’s manifold 

efforts to gain new customers for the cooperative network have 

thus paid off in this regard as well.

Securities research has supported DZ BANK in capital market 

products, with its the comprehensive offering of publications in 

great demand by the cooperative banks. The Bank’s research as-

sociates have frequently supported the cooperative banks with 

presentations and cross-regional events. As in previous years, 

the quality of our research analyses has been recognized in the 

form of several top independent industry awards in particular 

for German and European equity research.

The use of research for institutional customers involved in 

international business also grew, supporting the previous year’s 

positive results with international customers from the sale of 

European commercial and bank paper, ABS products, and struc-

tured interest rate products as well as in asset and capital man-

agement. The experience gained from regular cooperation with 

the cooperative banks was of great help in this achievement, 

as was the creation of additional sales teams in the new Milan 

branch and the expanded capital market teams in Singapore 

and Hong Kong, reflecting the continued international expan-

sion of DZ BANK’s investment banking arm.
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Processing services and the advantage of scale

DZ BANK provides comprehensive payment, securities and loan 

transaction processing services, known as transaction banking, 

primarily to the cooperative financial services network. In order 

to maximize the volume of overall business and thereby reduce 

individual transaction costs, DZ BANK also offers these services 

outside the network and in some cases combines operations 

with third parties. As a result, DZ BANK Group is a German mar-

ket leader in processing services. As a result, the Bank continues 

to play an active role in the consolidation process under way in 

the payments processing business, both nationally and at the 

European level.

Payments processing and card payment processing services are 

performed by Equens N.V., Utrecht (Equens), Utrecht. Equens 

was formed in 2006 as a result of the merger of Transaktions-

institut für Zahlungsverkehrsdienstleistungen AG, Frankfurt am 

Main, the processing services subsidiary of DZ BANK, with In-

terpay Nederland B.V. of the Netherlands. In 2007 Equens used 

the implementation of SEPA standards to expand its customer 

base in order to achieve greater economies of scale, and to 

provide processing services more competitively. As an example 

of this, Fortis Bank S.A., Brussels, Belgium, and OP Bank Group, 

Helsinki, Finland, have transferred their payment processing to 

Equens. The opening of a representative office in Finland should 

help gain additional business in Scandinavia. A cooperation 

agreement has been made with Seceti S.p.A., Milan, Italy, a 

subsidiary of the Italian credit union banking group ICBPI, with 

the objective of facilitating international payments processing, 

particularly with Italy. On the product side, in 2007 Equens 

has pushed forward with the implementation of SEPA direct 

debits, and has begun a pilot project for payment of small value 

transactions via mobile phone in its continued efforts to develop 

innovative and competitive products.

Deutsche WertpapierService Bank AG, Frankfurt am Main 

(dwpbank), ownership of which is shared between the coopera-

tive financial services central banks and the Sparkassen Finance 

Group, is market leader with almost 9 million managed securi-

ties accounts. The dwpbank provided services to a large number 

of private and commercial banks as well as to the financial 

networks of its owners. As with Equens, in order to achieve 

economies of scale the dwpbank does not limit its operations 

to internal business units. For dwpbank, 2007 was a year of 

consolidation. By acquiring and rapidly integrating TxB Transak-

tionsbank GmbH an important step in the consolidation of the 

securities service market was achieved. Within the reporting pe-

riod, dwpbank was able to consolidate three securities process-

ing systems into a single, central IT platform, thereby achieving 

a central element of the consolidation strategy. 

VR Kreditwerk Hamburg - Schwäbisch Hall AG, Hamburg and 

Schwäbisch Hall (VR Kreditwerk), is responsible for the coopera-

tive network’s lending operations. Together with its subsidiary 

Kreditwerk Hypotheken-Management GmbH, Mannheim, 

which specializes in processing services for the financial services 

industry outside the cooperative network, it is Germany’s 

biggest lending outlet. In 2007 DZ BANK’s development loan 

processing was transferred to VR Kreditwerk, along with the 

network’s small business loan processing. VR Kreditwerk and 

the cooperative banks have developed a standardized private 

real estate construction financing system which can be promot-

ed by participating cooperative banks via the internet starting 

in 2008 once the pilot phase is over. With the restructuring of 

the DZ BANK’s real estate segment, including BSH and DG HYP 

as described above, VR Kreditwerk will establish itself as the 

competence center for loan and real estate mortgage transac-

tion processing within the financial services network from 2008 

onwards.
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Summary

Working closely with the cooperative banks, DZ BANK and its 

subsidiaries have continued to progress and innovate, respond-

ing to changing market conditions with new and improved 

structures, among other adaptations. Nevertheless, the effect 

of the international crisis on capital markets, and the one-off 

expenses incurred in restructuring the real estate segment to be 

more forward-looking have dampened an otherwise satisfactory 

business scenario. Adjusted for special items, gross operating 

income approximated last year’s level despite difficult market 

conditions. This result, together with a clearly structured busi-

ness model and the strategic direction given for all segments 

shows that the DZ BANK is on the right track to continue 

making a significant contribution to the development of the co-

operative financial services network. Not only does this include 

offering the cooperative banks innovative, competitive products 

and services, but DZ BANK Group will also continue to support 

the cooperative banks’ desire for continued mergers among the 

network’s regional banking associations, IT service providers, 

and local and central banks.
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4. Earnings performance 

Issuers of debentures traded on European Union (EU) exchanges 

are obliged to prepare their consolidated financial statements 

in accordance with IFRS (International Financial Reporting 

Standards) as endorsed by the EU, starting from the 2007 

financial year at the latest. The DZ BANK Group has successfully 

completed the process of conversion to IFRS on time. 

 

The DZ BANK Group’s key income statement figures for the 

period were as follows:

Gross operating income includes fee and commission net 

income, gains and losses on trading activities, other gains and 

losses on valuation of financial instruments, net income from 

insurance operations as well as other operating net income. 

For the entire group, gross operating income was € 3,862 mil-

lion. As a result of the crisis on the financial markets, this figure 

contains write-downs to the securities portfolios in the amount 

of € -957 million, of which € -776 million was incurred by 

DZ BANK. Within the group, these write-downs primarily relate 

to bank bonds (€ -585 million) and ABS instruments (€ -292 mil-

lion), the effect of which would be largely temporary, given the 

positive rating of DZ BANK’s ABS portfolio.

The amount of € 4,536 million disclosed for the previous year 

takes into account a reduction in earnings of € -129 million re-

lated to the sale of branches belonging to the former norisbank 

AG, Nuremberg, now TeamBank.

Income Statement

DZ BANK Group

2007 2006 Change

in € million in € million in %

Interest net income1 2,703 2,545 6.2

Impairment losses on loans and advances -209 -335 -37.6

Fee and commission net income 962 791 21.6

Gains and losses on trading activities -247 699 > 100.0

Gains and losses on investments -103 9 > 100.0

Other gains and losses on valuation of financial instruments -35 17 > 100.0

Net income from insurance operations 470 495 -5.1

Staff expenses -1,320 -1,258 4.9

Other administration expenses2 -1,265 -1,186 6.7

Administration expenses -2,585 -2,444 5.8

Gains and losses on non-current assets classified as held for sale and disposal groups – 310 -100.0

Other operating net income 112 -20 > 100.0

Profit before taxes 1,068 2,067 -48.3

Tax expense -171 -208 -17.8

Group net profit 897 1,859 -51.7

1 Including current income and expenses from profit sharing agreements
2 General and administration expenses, depreciation and impairments on intangible assets, property, plant and equipment, and investment property
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Adjusted for both the above special items in the amount of 

€ -957 million and € -129 million respectively, gross operating 

income in the financial year rose by € 154 million or 3.3 percent 

to € 4,819 million.

Administration expenses at DZ BANK Group rose by € 141 

million to € -2,585 million. The previous year’s figure contains 

a charge of € -3 million related to the branches of the former 

norisbank AG mentioned above.

Adjusted for the above special items in gross operating income 

and administration expenses, the cost-income ratio at DZ BANK 

Group increased slightly to 53.6 percent (2006: 52.3 percent).

In the financial year, profit before taxes was € 1,068 million, 

down from € 2,067 million in 2006. Adjusted for the above 

special items in gross operating income and administration 

expenses, earnings before tax declined by € 174 million of 

7.9 percent from the previous year.

The group net profit for the financial year was € 897 million 

(prior year: € 1,859 million). After deducting the minority inter-

est amounting to € 366 million and transferring € 380 million 

to reserves including retained earnings, a consolidated income 

from 2007 of € 151 million remains, reflecting the net income 

of DZ BANK. This will be distributed as dividend of € 0.13 per 

share. 

The detailed breakdown of the financial year results for the 

DZ BANK Group is as follows:

Interest net income at DZ BANK Group increased by 6.2 percent 

compared to 2006 to € 2,703 million. 

DZ BANK grew interest net income (excluding income from 

affiliates) by 21.8 percent despite competitive pressure on mar-

gins. The increased expenses from higher levels of subordinated 

liability were set off by additional receipts from early redemption 

penalties.

Interest income from credit and money market transactions 

contributed significantly to the Bank’s interest net income. A 

robust economy in Germany over the past year and the associ-

ated increase in corporate business activity and investment levels 

resulted in higher demand for credit products. Both in terms of 

overall volume of business and individual quantities, increases 

were registered in conventional syndicated loan products and 

the standard meta and agrar meta risk transfer products. 

To strengthen the competitive position of the cooperative banks 

in corporate banking, the second phase of the SME market-

ing offensive initiative was started. The strategic objective 

of the effort is to boost process and marketing to corporate 

SME customers in particular by applying the “VR Finanzplan 

Mittelstand” sales and customer relationships concepts as a 

means of building up corporate lending into a primary segment 

of the cooperative banks alongside private client banking. As 

one example, DZ BANK made refinancing funding available on 

favorable terms to the cooperative banks in a period of intense 

competition.

Volksbank and Raiffeisenbank customers were enthusiastic 

about the continued development of DZ BANK’s VR-CrossSelling 

product portfolio for managing interest and currency risks. As a 

result, there was a steady increase in the number of local coop-

erative banks using highly standardized business models in their 

transactions with corporate customers.

As a reliable, professional partner for corporate finance, 

DZ BANK was able to help corporate customers achieve an 

array of strategic investment goals. Due to an increase in both 

the size of transactions and the number of new customers, 

DZ BANK grew loan interest income despite continued intense 

competition. With the expansion of advisory capacity which 

began in the second half of last year, along with the creation of 

additional customer relationship teams, the DZ BANK’s corpo-

rate finance business will be a firmly established player in the 

marketplace. In 2008 additional business centers are planned in 

Hanover and in Nuremberg. 
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DZ BANK’s international portfolio of uncommitted loans was 

further diversified and expanded in 2007, with the emphasis on 

syndicated loans on the product side. In expanding the portfo-

lio, good credit quality and returns were maintained in the Gulf 

region and in both industrialized and emerging Asian econo-

mies. The conservative structuring of these transactions was one 

reason why the crisis on the financial markets had no negative 

impact on earnings in this area.

Also during the financial year, DZ BANK expanded its position 

in the acquisition financing market, increasing the number of 

acquisition financing transactions in which the bank took the 

leading role of mandated lead arranger or underwriter. 

In the product segment “Structured Trade & Export Finance” 

DZ BANK profited from the continued success of German 

exports and the continued general increase in international 

trade. DZ BANK financed a large number of export transactions 

– within the scope of Federal export guarantees – primarily to 

emerging markets. Last year’s growth of short term trade loan 

finance continued into 2007 primarily driven by demand from 

the growth markets in Eastern Europe and Asia, with additional 

noticeable growth from Latin America and Africa. 

Business with major commodity dealers and producers took on 

a higher profile during the financial year. In particular, increased 

levels of investment by commodity producers were recorded, 

adding to the demand for investment financing. Overall in 2007 

the DZ BANK was able to strengthen its position as one of Ger-

many’s leading banks for export finance.

DZ BANK recorded an increased level of project financing in fi-

nancial 2007 with a higher volume of new business worldwide, 

though the segment found its sector focus in the EMEA region 

(Europe, Middle East, Africa) in energy supply and infrastructure 

while the emphasis was on the nascent public-private partner-

ship (PPP) market in Germany.

BSH reported further growth in interest net income, mostly 

as a result of a long-term focus on product and financial 

management. 

Early on, BSH was able to gain a strong market position for its 

low-interest home loan and savings package called “Schwäbisch 

Hall Tarif Fuchs“. With the introduction of new home loan  

and savings tariffs with loan interest rates in particular adjusted 

to the general level of interest rates, BSH had already laid the 

foundation in prior years for competitive interest margins In the 

collective business, a prerequisite for maintaining and consoli-

dating its market leadership in an era of low interest rates and 

tough competition.

The higher share of home savings loans and loan products 

ushered in by the new rate structure resulted in a reduction of 

interest income from home savings loans. However, this reduc-

tion was more than compensated for by the lower interest rate 

paid on home savings deposits. 

Interest net income earned by DG HYP in the financial year was 

6.3 percent over the 2006 level. 

Private real estate financing also registered a decline in 2007, 

resulting from a general drop in demand for home loans. As a 

result the cooperative banks increased the level of mortgage 

financing in their own loan book and adjusted the volume of 

agency financing with DG HYP in line with the market. The 

volume of new and extended loans by DG HYP in private real 

estate finance amounted to € 1.4 billion, putting it -22.0 per-

cent lower than in 2006. 

Given this competitive situation, a stagnant market, and a 

significant drop in margins for private real estate finance, re-

structuring opportunities for this business were explored within 

the cooperative network. In response to market conditions, the 

real estate financing segment was restructured and its activities 

bundled in the DZ BANK Group so that BSH alone has been 

made responsible for all consumer home loan business from 
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January 1, 2008 onward. DG HYP will focus on commercial real 

estate financing going forward, along with municipal and state 

financing. 

In specific terms, the strategic plan is to focus DG HYP’s business 

on the primary and secondary commercial market. As the top-

performing commercial real estate bank within the cooperative 

financial services network, It will engage primarily in the direct 

financing business with investors both in Germany and interna-

tionally. With this new strategic orientation, however, the bank 

will still remain a key partner for the cooperative banks and 

support primary financial institutions with a portfolio of tailored 

products and services. 

DG HYP already enjoys an established reputation as a provider 

of commercial real estate financing in the important German 

financial centers of Hamburg, Berlin, Frankfurt am Main, Dussel-

dorf, Stuttgart and Munich. New and prolongation loan busi-

ness of € 3.2 billion in the financial year rose 36.0 percent above 

2006 levels (2006: € 2.4 billion). Foreign business, acquired 

through representative offices in New York and London as well 

as country desks in France and in Scandinavia again played a 

significant role in this growth.

In original municipal financing, new and loan extension business 

remained at a high level as expected, albeit not at the level of 

the prior year. Municipal financing requirements were lower as 

a result of the generally positive overall economic situation and 

the resulting higher levels of taxation income. New and exten-

sion loan business in original municipal lending was € 2.1 billion 

as at December 31, 2007.

DG HYP’s Credit Treasury segment is responsible for transactions 

and active portfolio management services. The effect of the cri-

sis on the financial markets led to stagnation in the market for 

structured products. As a result, in 2007 DG HYP invested only 

in selected transactions with a good risk-return profile. In light 

of these developments, the transaction volume on the credit 

and capital market was € 2.4 billion in the year under review, a 

13.0 percent decrease from the previous year’s level.

The interest net income of TeamBank declined as expected 

in the year under review. Adjusted for the sale of the branch 

business in the previous year, interest net income increased by 

25.7 percent. 

The sale of the branch business in 2007 was a significant mile-

stone in the process of strictly focusing on the cooperative bank 

installment loan business. The high profile of the “easyCredit“ 

brand was the driver behind the expansion of the easyCredit 

portfolio to € 4.6 billion (2006: € 4.0 billion). Over the course 

of the whole year, the company experienced an 18.5 percent 

increase in its customer base through its easyCredit product.

Following the successful completion of a pilot phase, the 

TeamBank pressed on with setting up easyCredit shops from 

October 2006 onwards, primarily in urban areas. This innova-

tive, customer orientated sales channel for installment credit has 

opened up new market opportunities for the cooperative bank 

network and successfully complements the traditional coopera-

tive outlets.

The number of easyCredit shops increased by 50 percent from 

38 to 57 outlets by the close of 2007. The market penetration 

achieved was a result of the TeamBank sales strategy, which is 

based on two factors: first, a territorial division into six regions 

that reflects the cooperative regional branch structure and 

second, on the existing affinity in the regional markets for an 

installment credit product.

At December 31, 2007, 914 of the approximately 1,230 coop-

erative banks were working together with TeamBank to market 

easyCredit. Customers with service requirements over and above 

that which is offered within the easyCredit product structure are 

referred to their local cooperative banks. At the same time, sales 

efforts by the partnering banks are reciprocated by easyCredit 

experts from TeamBank.
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The TeamBank business plan foresees the company achieving 

market leadership in consumer credit in 2010. To achieve these 

ambitious growth plans, TeamBank initiated multiple strategic 

initiatives aimed at products, processes/IT, brand expansion, 

along with training and qualifications measures. Under the slo-

gan “Germany’s fairest installment loan”, the existing product 

characteristics were refined and bundled as a “fairness pack-

age”. A cornerstone of this package is the “best price guaran-

tee”, which offers the consumer a comprehensive one-month 

return guarantee. 

Interest net income earned by the subgroup VR LEASING,  

increased significantly, by 12.7 percent during the financial year. 

VR LEASING Group (VR LEASING), the cooperative network’s 

specialist for innovative SME financing solutions, again grew 

the level of its new business volume, with domestic and foreign 

sales finance and investment finance, increasing by 18.1 percent 

to € 4.7 billion. Sales and investment finance includes leasing, 

lease purchase and investment loans. 

An impressive 157,000 new credit agreements documents 

increasing market penetration both in Germany as well as in 

Central and Eastern Europe. It also shows that VR LEASING 

is playing a more important role for small and medium sized 

businesses.

Domestic new business grew by 11.1 percent to € 2,344 mil-

lion. The most important sales channels in the domestic busi-

ness were the cooperative banks, who, with a contribution of 

€ 1,427 million, accounted for about 60 percent of new busi-

ness generated in Germany.

New business in machine leasing and in financing IT equip-

ment was especially robust. Machine leasing, at € 970.8 million 

increased by 17.0 percent, while IT equipment at € 410.4 million 

grew by 7.7 percent during the financial year. The increases in 

these sectors were substantially higher than the sectors’ market 

performance. New business in real estate leasing grew by 

3.6 percent despite an industry slowdown to € 287 million.

New international business of € 2,334 million represented 

26.2 percent growth. VR LEASING supports SME businesses 

especially when they enter foreign markets, and can now claim 

market leadership in the dynamic economies of Central and 

Eastern Europe. Russia, one of the 10 largest leasing markets in 

the world, is one of the 11 Central and Eastern European coun-

tries where VR LEASING maintains a presence. New business in 

Russia amounted to € 52.9 million, more than double the level 

in 2006. VR LEASING plans to expand by opening new offices in 

addition to its existing Moscow office in 2008. 

In close cooperation with the cooperative banks, VR FACTOREM 

GmbH, Eschborn, increased revenues by 6.8 percent to € 1.4 

bil  lion. The new product FACTORINGprimo offers SMEs with 

annual revenues of € 500,000 and above an attractive factor-

ing solution; this addresses demand from the cooperative banks 

for a factoring product targeted at customers with annual sales 

below € 1 million, hitherto the minimum level. As well as factor-

ing, VR LEASING offers centralized settlement via its subsidiary 

VR DISKONTBANK GmbH, Eschborn. Sales of € 6.6 billion were 

recorded in the reporting period. 

Measured by the number of individual contracts, VR LEASING is 

market leader and has considerable experience with the whole 

spectrum of transactions related to financing small and medium 

sized enterprises. With this know-how, VR LEASING is able to 

support the automation of its partners’ transaction processing. 

Supporting the sales networks of its partners is regarded as high 

priority at VR LEASING. Partners, particularly cooperative banks, 

as well as SME manufacturers and merchants, are provided in-

novative web based tools, enabling them in turn to serve their 

customers quickly, efficiently and professionally.

 

Standardization and optimization of processes, especially IT 

based systems, play a key role in providing the efficiency re-

quired to compete in these growth markets. 
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One example of this is the “VR LeasyOnline“ tool which is used 

by the cooperative banks for preparing leasing and lease pur-

chase agreements which can be handled over the counter for 

amounts up to € 125,000. 

Gross operating income at DZ BANK Group

in € million

2007 2006
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It is not only at the cooperative banks that online processing has 

become important. For financing transactions, the point of sale 

is shifting increasingly to manufacturers and merchants. As a 

means of enhancing its competitiveness, VR LEASING has 

extended the use of the internet-based LUKAS system in the 

vehicle leasing business, so that its sales partners in the 

automotive industry have the advantage of faster processing in 

purchase and sales leasing transactions. A credit facility of 

€ 36.5 million was made available for purchase financing in this 

way during the financial year. The increased number of end user 

contracts in the specialized loan financing areas was also a 

positive development. Its success showed that expanding the 

product portfolio for VR LEASING and its partners is paying off 

and that there is substantial potential for further growth.

Interest net income at the DVB subgroup increased significantly, 

by 21.9 percent. 

DVB Bank AG, Frankfurt am Main (DVB), one of the world’s 

leading specialists in transport finance, benefited from the over-

all buoyant economy in 2007 and from the continued expansion 

of the international transport sector. With new business growth 

of 21.0 percent to € 7.1 billion, along with tailored finance 

transactions, the company was more than able to compensate 

for the continued pressure on margins in the transport finance 

sector generally.

Over the past year DVB has continued to focus on expand-

ing all aspects of transport financing – shipping, aviation and 

land transport – following the strategic plan established after 

restructuring. With the acquisition of a majority holding in TES 

Aviation Services Limited, Cardiff, Great Britain, in July of 2007, 

DVB added the leading service provider for the management of 

aviation turbines to its aviation portfolio. Based on the success 

to date of the three special units – Container box unit, floating 

production group and cruise finance unit – it is planned to focus 

the shipping division on ten units, each of which to operate on 

a global basis. DVB Research will support DVB’s customers by 

bundling its knowledge of local market conditions with industry 

expertise.

In group investment management, DVB offers international in-

vestors a range of opportunities to invest in the transport sector. 

With the Deucalion Funds, investors can take equity holdings in 

airplanes, airlines, and other air transport projects. The objec-

tive of NFC Shipping Funds is concentrated on shareholdings 

and mezzanine financing in the shipping sector. The Intermodal 

Funds invest primarily in container, container infrastructure and 

container air freight. 

The “Rail Finance House of the Year 2007“ award highlights 

the market position achieved by DVB in international transport 

financing. 

Interest net income at DZI fell by 1.8 percent.

The Bank uses the advantages that Luxembourg provides for the 

benefit of the cooperative financial services network and for its 

private and institutional customers in private banking, invest-

ment funds and lending, and treasury. 
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Within the DZ BANK Group, it acts as competence center for 

currency financing and deposits within interest-dependent busi-

ness. The LuxCredit business of financing in foreign currency, 

which includes the cooperative banks’ refinancing as well as 

loans guaranteed by them, used the movements of the Swiss 

franc on currency markets as well as interest rate differences to 

benefit borrowers. In the balance sheet of DZI, the exchange 

rate effect resulted in a decrease in lending volume and accord-

ingly a reduction in interest net income. 

To make the product portfolio and the exclusive private bank-

ing sales channels available to DZ PRIVATBANK (Schweiz) AG, 

Zurich, (DZ PRIVATBANK Schweiz), and DZI available to custom-

ers of the cooperative banks and the cooperative network, the 

business activities of DZI and DZ PRIVATBANK Schweiz have 

been transferred and grouped under DZ Private Wealth Man-

agementgesellschaft S.A. based in Luxembourg-Strassen. With 

this step, a new holding structure has been established which 

will enable potential efficiency gains to be tapped through a 

unified management line as well as a focused market Image, 

while also boosting the sales potential of private banking as a 

growth market. 

Impairment losses on loans and advances amounted to 

€ -209 million and is lower than in 2006 (€ -335 million) by 

€ 126 million. This illustrates the well balanced credit risk policy 

and effectiveness of the group’s risk monitoring and controlling 

system. 

A significant proportion of the improvement was reported 

by DZ BANK itself, whose impairment losses improved from 

the previous year’s level of € -25 million by € 71 million to 

€ 46 million.

For new business, which grew domestically in all segments as a 

result of the positive economic climate, conservative risk limits 

and profitability criteria were binding. Again during this financial 

year, objectives were set and strictly followed such as to achieve 

an optimal credit risk policy as far as possible, based on cost 

 efficiency, competitive factors and targeted risk analysis. 

The implementation of successful credit risk management was 

primarily driven by higher quality control in credit management 

in accordance with the German Banking Act (KWG), Solvency 

and Liquidity Ordinances as well as the minimum requirements 

for risk management (MaRisk) in Germany. 

Further details are included in the DZ BANK Group Risk Report 

on pages 81 et. seq. of this management report.

Group fee and commission net income increased by 21.6 percent 

to € 962 million. 

The contribution of the securities business to fee and commis-

sion net income was distinctly higher than in 2006. Income from 

payment processing fell in comparison with 2006. The inter-

national business was again able to improve earnings slightly 

compared to the previous year, while contribution to operating 

income from the credit business improved significantly over 

2006. 

DZ BANK’s fee and commission net income increased by 7.6 per-

cent to € 185 million. The contribution to operating income 

from securities improved noticeably. Payment processing and the 

credit business also made increased contributions to operating 

income, while international business maintained income at the 

previous year’s level. 

Following losses on the financial markets in earlier years, the 

temporary declines on the exchanges in March 2007 encour-

aged potential investors to shy away from equities, while the 

additional momentum of the financial market crisis during the 

second half of the year also contributed to market jitters and a 

tangible increase in investor risk aversion. 

The negative effects of the mortgage crisis, although initially 

limited to the US, subsequently engulfed the bond market, 

whose appeal to investors had already been dampened by the 

flat interest rate curve.
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Under these circumstances customers preferred bonds with one 

or more cancellation options and simpler structured products on 

which DZ BANK earns lower commission rates. Placements were 

concentrated in traditional low-interest bonds, which attracted a 

high level of interest due to their tax advantages.

DZ BANK grew its fee and commission net income once more in 

the reporting year as a result of structuring acquisition financing 

arrangements and asset securitizations.

For the Asset Securitization Group based in New York but active 

in all the NAFTA countries, 2007 was marked by an expansion 

of transactions in original client business. Using the conduit 

called “Autobahn”, portfolios were securitized with clients as 

originator and refinancing done primarily through DZ BANK as a 

result of the current market environment.

By taking on leading roles such as mandated lead arranger 

or underwriter, DZ BANK affirmed its structuring and placing 

expertise in structured finance while increasing earnings in a 

risk-conscious manner. 

Using the “corporate finance partner“ approach, the success-

ful DZ BANK business model which combines sector specialists 

with product and capital market know-how in one team has 

been validated yet again as viable over the long term. With a 

comprehensive product offering ranging from traditional lend-

ing to complex structured finance solutions, through to financial 

products offered by the cooperative financial services network, 

the DZ BANK met the high standards of its customers while 

profiting from overall positive business performance.

In the SME market segment where DZ BANK primarily operates, 

both individual business owners and corporations used favor-

able M&A conditions in the early part of 2007 to accomplish 

planned sales or spin-offs. In healthcare and pharma, two of 

DZ BANK’s specialist sectors, the Bank was involved in 13 suc-

cessful transactions. In addition DZ BANK supported a compul-

sory offer by CURA AG, Berlin, to the shareholders of Maternus-

Kliniken AG, Hannover, and YMOS AG, Obertshausen, and 

REWE Deutscher Supermarkt KGaA, Mainz-Kastel, with the 

spin-off of its factoring business.

During the financial year the Union Investment Group increased 

its fee and commission net income by 18.3 percent. Included in 

this figure however is the release of a provision recognized in 

prior years by the Union Investment Group amounting to € 22 

million; the release of the provision followed the latest court rul-

ing of the Federal Tax Court in respect of the tax-free treatment 

of maturity related commissions. Excluding this one-off effect, 

fee and commission net income increased by 15.3 percent. 

The main reason for this increase in earnings during the year 

under review was a significant increase in assets under man-

agement, which increased by nearly € 16 billion due to very 

positive performance in net sales to € 175 billion at the end of 

2007. The superior yields achieved by funds managed by the 

companies of Union Investment Group played a key role in this 

development.

For equity investors, 2007 was a year in which investors 

achieved very different results depending on the region or sector 

where they were most involved. Funds invested in developing 

markets achieved the highest performance. Amongst devel-

oped countries, the German Share index powered ahead with 

22 percent growth, whereas Japanese and US equities – taking 

into account the exchange rate effect – were negative over the 

year. The financial market crisis exacted a heavy toll from mid-

2007 onwards. The banking sector in particular had to deal with 

unexpectedly high write-downs, which significantly dampened 

net income. In addition, the first negative effects on the US 

economy began to appear.

With these developments in traditional equity and bond asset 

classes in mind, Union Investment – one of Germany’s largest 

providers in private banking, with over 5 million investors – po-

sitioned itself and the cooperative banks as a solutions provider. 

At the heart of this positioning were product developments 
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tailored to customer requirements which offer the investor the 

opportunity to maintain principal as well as achieve comfortable 

returns. 

The competitive position achieved in the relatively new class of 

“stable value funds” confirmed the timeliness of this strategy, 

implemented successfully with the partner banks. 

Statistics published by the Federal Association of Investment 

and Asset Management Fund Managers (BVI) illustrates that 

the group has established itself as a leading solutions provider. 

In the asset classes “stable value funds” and “other securi-

ties” (which include tax-advantaged funds) Union Investment 

is market leader, with a significant lead over its competitors in 

terms of sales in 2007 and in terms of total amounts invested. 

“UniOpti4“, a tax-advantaged fund from Union Investment, 

has become the highest-volume fund in the company since its 

launch in fall 2006, achieving a fund volume of € 15.2 billion by 

the end of 2007.

Union Investment is also a market leader in the growing private 

retirement plan market. As the awareness of the need to make 

private retirement provisions grows – particularly in view of the 

dramatic demographic changes expected in the next years – 

there is increasing readiness amongst the population to do so. 

A higher profile for the Riester retirement plans, which are sub-

sidized by the state, along with the support of the cooperative 

banks, helped Union Investment achieve an extraordinary sales 

result. In total 480,000 new Riester packages were sold in 2007. 

With about 1.5 million contracts in the portfolio, Union Invest-

ment’s Riester funds product “UniProfiRente“ has an estimated 

market share of nearly 80 percent of all Riester-sponsored fund 

savings plans by the end of 2007. In addition, Union Investment 

joined with network partner R+V to launch a joint “Rürup” 

retirement product, thus enlarging its leading position as a 

provider of retirement plan solutions.

Union Investment also anticipates considerable growth ahead 

for real estate funds. The recovery of the real estate market and 

Union Investment’s restructured portfolio have combined to 

make Union’s product group of open real estate funds a highly 

attractive proposition. 

In the past year, Union Investment realigned its institutional 

business with an updated business model, improved customer 

acquisition and management, and changes in product policy 

which have boosted earning power in this operation and put it 

on a growth footing. Already, about 80 percent of new capital is 

being drawn from institutional customers outside the coopera-

tive network.

More than ten years’ experience with the dynamic, asymmetric 

“IMMUNO” stable value model, which utilizes recognized risk 

management standards and processes for optimizing risk man-

agement and performance, have proved invaluable in providing 

Union Investment a stable basis for developing and implement-

ing new funds concepts. With over € 22.2 billion of assets under 

management, Union Investment Group is the market leader in 

the stable value plan model for institutional investors. 

New institutional business in 2007, including advisory and asset 

management services totaled € 3.2 billion. Again a new record 

for total assets under management was set, with € 72.6 billion 

managed for institutional investors at December 31, 2007.

Union PanAgora Asset Management GmbH, Frankfurt am Main, 

a joint venture with PanAgora Asset Management Inc. in Boston 

grew steadily over the last year and added a number of top 

names to its list of institutional customers. The company, which 

is the Union Investment Group’s specialist for quantitative in-

vestment strategies, had about € 12 billion under management 

at December 31, 2007. 

The positive experience of working with leading partners was 

one important reason for Union Investment Group to bolster 

its international business; the fact that foreign business is 
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viewed increasingly positively by German issuers was another. 

For example, a joint venture was formed between Union As-

set Management Holding and the Hong Kong-based Bank of 

East Asia Limited, with the shared goal of establishing an asset 

management competence center for the Asian market in Hong 

Kong, and from there to move into selected East Asian markets 

such as China.

Increased freight and passenger transport in all transport cat-

egories was a result of the dynamic world economy during the 

financial year and helped the DVB subgroup achieve an increase 

in fee and commission net income, which grew by 18.1 percent. 

Increases were recorded in both in loan commissions for 

new syndicate commitments in transport finance, as well as 

corporate finance advisory fee and commission income. With 

increased demand from customers for tailored solutions in inter-

national transport finance, DVB benefited from its recognized 

expertise in structuring complex transactions.

In 2006, DVB established a dedicated team of specialists to 

enlarge its market position as a world-renowned asset financer. 

With this team, DVB has since provided support and advisory 

services to customers such as airlines, leasing firms, banks and 

investors with sub-leasing or leasing aircraft. 

In addition, a new subsidiary called “ITF International Transport 

Finance Suisse AG“ was formed in the third quarter to acquire 

tranches of syndicated loans in the inter-bank market under 

conditions where high standards with regard to cost and risk are 

met, in DVB’s target markets.

Fee and commission net income at DZ PRIVATBANK Schweiz 

increased by 7.7 percent compared to 2006, whereby 2006 was 

itself a very successful year. 

The increase was primarily a result of higher commissions fol-

lowing further growth in assets under management. In addition, 

the success of DZ PRIVATBANK Schweiz’s core securities advisory 

and management services business contributed to the Bank’s 

improved results.

Intensifying sales efforts in 2007, the Bank made progress in 

better leveraging the existing market potential in private bank-

ing to the benefit of the cooperative financial network.

Focused private banking marketing initiatives helped the Bank 

make significant progress toward developing and leveraging the 

cooperative banking network’s existing market potential by pro-

viding the network and its customers access to a wide range of 

Swiss banking services and tailored asset management services. 

DZI’s fee and commission net income increased by 20.5 percent 

over the reporting year. The volume of loans declined as a result 

of currency trading with the Swiss franc, which in turn led to 

lower commission expenses. In addition to the growth in DZI’s 

fee and commission net income, increased income generated in 

the securities businesses contributed to overall higher income. 

With boosted marketing efforts, higher volumes of private 

banking business and business with investment funds were 

achieved, resulting in the launch of over 100 new special funds. 

Conditions for launching special funds in Luxembourg have 

been improved with the passage of the Luxembourg Special 

Funds Act, which should enhance the appeal of this form of 

investment among the primary cooperative banks and their 

customers.

TeamBank’s fee and commission net income was significantly 

lower than in 2006; as a result of the expansion of the easy-

Credit business which led to higher commissions payable to the 

primary banks. The result was additionally affected by the sale 

of the branch network in 2006 to Deutsche Bank AG, Frankfurt 

am Main.

Both BSH and DG HYP make commission payments for con-

tracts sold by cooperative banks and sales staff.
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Accordingly BSH’s negative commission income increased by  

€ 3 million to € -162 million. 

BSH’s remarkable level of completed new home loans was 

almost at the extraordinary high levels achieved in 2006, and ac-

cordingly the commission expense arising from new business fell 

slightly. This positive effect was more than compensated for by 

the fee remission provision of the new home loan and savings 

tariffs.

The portfolio commission introduced in 2006 (€ 20 million) for 

cooperative banks was continued into 2007 at the same level. 

Overall the commissions payable to the cooperative banks for 

home loan and savings contracts have increased by 35 percent 

since 2002.

Focused cooperation with the network has contributed signifi-

cantly to maintaining the high level of BSH’s sales performance 

in all three areas of its core business. 

In the home loan and savings business BSH once again consoli-

dated its market leadership. With € 27.4 billion of new business, 

its market share increased to more than 29 percent.

Of the € 9.6 billion total mortgage loan volume, € 7.1 billion 

was brokered through the cooperative banks. This was con-

firmation of BSH’s leading role as the cooperative bank’s sales 

partner in the home loan and savings business.

In supplementary retirement planning, BSH’s volume of cross 

sales with cooperative banks’ products, Union Investment’s 

investment funds and insurance policies from R+V increased by 

5 percent to € 6.2 billion. The BSH sales force was particularly 

effective in selling retirement products provided by the coopera-

tive banks, with an overall year on year increase of more than a 

third.

The “PRIMUS” strategic project initiated in 2006 in close co-

operation with the network’s banks continued into 2007. This 

project is directed at leveraging the growth potential of BSH, the 

cooperative banks and the network, the focus being on utilizing 

the existing portfolio, gaining new clients from competitor’s 

home loan business and on acquiring new customers for the 

network, the central idea being to make more effective use 

of the Schwäbisch Hall sales team, and of the existing market 

potential of the cooperative banks.
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The current market crisis – arising from high levels of home loan 

default on subprime mortgages extended to borrowers with 

poor credit in the US real estate market – illustrates once again 

the strengths of Germany’s home loan financing system, with its 

emphasis on building equity.

In contrast to the US, the German model for a consumer home 

loan contract ensures that building advance equity is an inte-

gral part of the system, a system which has proved itself over 

decades and through all manner of economic conditions. The 

same applies to subordinated financing. Home loan and savings 

associations, as specialized second level financing institutions, 

are one the most important financial intermediaries and provid-

ers of real estate finance. The savings element of the home loan 

and savings contract supports the savings habit while promoting 

faster loan repayment, while through its low interest rates it 

provides stability for the overall financing arrangement. 

The home loan and savings product has come to take on 

increasing importance in the context of current demographic 

changes: the expected decline in the population as a whole will 

be accompanied by an increase in the number of households, 

especially single households and in households aged 50 and 

over.

At the same time new homes are in short supply – and are in-

creasingly expensive – given significant declines in construction 

levels. Given those facts, the pronounced trend toward urban 

living and refurbishing older real estate – often situated more 

centrally – is not surprising.

Research shows that approximately three quarters of all one 

and two family homes in Germany are more than 25 years old. 

The future of real estate finance will therefore be increasingly 

concentrated on modernizing and renovation projects. Interest 

in energy-saving projects will also grow, driven by the drastic 

increase in energy prices and the introduction of a legally man-

dated building energy certification requirement on October 1, 

2007. 

With the political discussion around climate change raising the 

profile of environmental issues, it is not surprising to learn from 

market research that half of all buyers of non-new homes reno-

vate their real estate after purchase.

Bundling DZ BANK Group’s home loan and savings finance 

activities within BSH from January 1, 2008 is a step aimed at 

strengthening the network’s competitive position over the 

long term. Such competence centers hold out the promise of 

improved market cultivation and penetration for the network. 

The cooperative banks can take advantage of BSH’s proven sales 

prowess, the powerful “Schwäbisch Hall“ brand, and an at-

tractive product portfolio, along with comprehensive marketing 

skills and transaction process support. 

BSH’s expanded product portfolio is complementary and follows 

the strict subsidiarity concept. This means that the local coop-

erative bank alone decides which BSH offers are appropriate to 

the local market. Apart from home savings loans, this generally 

includes traditional home loan-like immediate financing agree-

ments with repayment terms over 10 to 30 years. These financ-

ing models are now complemented by forward variants such 

as the flagship “Fuchs TOP-Zins” product as well as the “Fuchs 

BauDarlehen”, a complementary annuity loan product. 

The negative fee and commissions income which arose at least 

in part from DG HYP’s business model, improved from € 10 

million to € -36 million primarily as a result of lower commis-

sions payable to the cooperative banks on residential real estate 

mortgage referrals and to a lower level of Jumbo Pfandbriefe 

refinancing issues.

Gains and losses on trading activities posted a loss of € -247 

million, a significant deterioration compared to 2006 (2006: 

€ 699 million), primarily as a result of the effect of the financial-

market crisis on DZ BANK’s customer account trading activi-

ties in the context of its role as a central bank, which netted a 

€ -284 million (2006: € 659 million).
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DZ BANK, as one of the leading players in the market for deriva-

tives and certificates, sets high standards for quality and trans-

parency when it comes to meeting our customers’ expectations. 

As far back as 2005, DZ BANK was the first German financial 

services provider to implement TÜV-certified ISO 9001 quality 

standards – and receive the TÜV seal – for the process of devel-

oping new certificate and structured investment products.

The result of consistently following DZ BANK’s quality strat-

egy has been public recognition and affirmation. With the 

implementation of AKZENT Invest, the first quality stamp for 

certificates, used by 95 percent of all cooperative banks for their 

private label issues through public awards, brand awareness of 

investment products is now being achieved among end custom-

ers. DZ BANK is proud to have won first place in the consumer 

competition for “certificate issuer of the year”, presented by the 

trade magazines “Zertifikate-Journal“ and “Deutsche Börse“, 

along with the newspapers “WELT“, and “WELT am SONNTAG“ 

for the fifth time in succession.

Gains and losses on investments declined by € 9 million in 2006 

to a € -103 million in 2007, of which € -7 million was attribut-

able to changes in the fair value made in response to the crisis 

on the financial markets.

The decline in consolidated net profit from investments over the 

previous year is primarily attributable to higher realized losses 

from securities as well as a write-down by DZ BANK on its equity 

shareholding in NATIXIS S.A., Paris, in the amount of € -53 mil-

lion. In the previous year this line item was increased by the sale 

of equity investments and other non fixed-income securities.

Other gains and losses on valuation of financial instruments of 

€ -35 million included changes recognized in the balance sheet 

for valuation of financial instruments designated at fair value in 

the amount of € -49 million. Also included in this item are gains 

and losses on hedging transactions amounting to € -2 million 

and the gains and losses arising on derivatives not held for trad-

Though the markets turned In an extremely good performance 

through the first two quarters of 2007, in summer increasing 

default rates on insufficiently collateralized residential mortgag-

es extended to borrowers with poor credit in the United States 

led to the crisis on the financial markets. Turbulence ensued on 

the capital markets, even in Germany, as some banks’ subsidiar-

ies and special-purpose vehicles with direct or indirect exposure 

to the US subprime market were compelled to draw on their 

lines of credit unexpectedly. The resulting mutual distrust among 

financial institutions in the face of unexpected drawings made 

the liquidity crisis more acute. 

Within DZ BANK Group, DZ BANK’s portfolio of ABS securities 

and bank bonds were most affected by the rapid increase in 

spreads. Valuation losses reported under trading result amount-

ing to € -514 million on bank bonds and € -182 million on 

ABS securities and the associated decline in reported earnings 

should be a passing phenomenon in view of the positive ratings 

given to the DZ BANK’s ABS portfolio. Changes in the fair value 

in the period resulting from the crisis on the financial markets 

amounted to € -825 million for the group. 

DZ BANK’s special purpose entities “CORAL” and “Autobahn” 

are included in the consolidated financial statements and were 

refinanced almost entirely by DZ BANK.

In addition, DZ BANK’s secured position in the broad-based net-

work of cooperative banks gives it special scope for discretion-

ary judgement and refinancing where the supply of liquidity is 

concerned.

The DZ BANK and cooperative bank sales of structured retail 

securities products exceeded the high levels achieved in 2006. 

Marketing success was particularly notable for the MaxiRend 

products, its innovative variant MaxiRend OptiStart and the 

commodities certificate called Rohstoff-Zertifikat Plus Garant.
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ing of € 16 million. The extremely low level of gains and losses 

arising on hedging transactions reflects the excellent level of 

efficiency achieved in DZ BANK Group’s hedging accounting.

Other key items contained in Other gains and losses on valua-

tion of financial instruments include the securities portfolios of 

DG HYP with regard to write-downs in the amount of € -65 mil-

lion incurred on bank bonds and in the amount of € -60 million 

on ABS securities.

Net income from insurance operations decreased slightly to 

€ 470 million from the previous year’s level of € 495 million. This 

was broken down as follows:

Premiums earned increased to € 8,926 million (2006: € 8,637 

million). R+V was able to use the marketing and sales poten-

tial of the network to its advantage, particularly by increasing 

sales made through the cooperative banks; premiums increased 

by 4.1 percent to € 9,044 million. The German direct insurer 

thereby clearly surpassed the 0.2 percent average growth in the 

sector.

Performance at life insurance played a decisive role in achieving 

this growth. Operating expenses of insurer increased by 5.5 per-

cent to € -1,438 million as higher insurance premiums resulted 

in correspondingly higher commissions paid on sales. 

Benefit payments of € -9,271 million exceeded payments in 

2006 by 4.1 percent as a result of indemnification payments 

made following storm Kyrill and other major loss events. 

R+V’s expanding life and retirement business introduced an in-

novative new range of products to the growth market of private 

and company retirement planning products. To make the most 

of the significant growth potential in the retirement planning 

market, R+V is offering a wide range of retirement plans, from 

tax-driven products to new life policies tied to selected invest-

ment funds. For example, R+V introduced GarantieRente-Pflege-

Plus from April 2007, one of a range of combination products 

offering a private retirement plan with a nursing care insurance 

option. Meanwhile, a product such as VR-RürupRente, devel-

oped together with Union Investment, combines the growth 

possibilities of fund-based investment with the advantages of a 

guaranteed pension from the date of retirement. 

Despite tough competition – particularly price competition 

in motor vehicle insurance, the largest line of business – R+V 

brought in a higher volume of premiums in non-life insurance, 

especially compared to the industry as a whole. However, the 

volume of claims was high as a result of major loss events such 

as Hurricane Kyrill, mentioned above.

R+V’s health insurance premiums once again showed significant 

year on year growth, although planned health reforms may have 

a significant impact on the business model in the future.

Gains and losses on investments of insurer and other gains and 

losses of insurer increased in 2007 by 5.9 percent primarily as a 

result of higher investment volume. 

R+V’s excellent market position, its financial strength and risk-

balanced capital investment strategy, together with the coopera-

tive banks as main sales channel, were all grounds for Standard 

& Poor’s to renew its “A+“ rating in 2007.

The group’s administration expenses of € -2,585 million were 

5.8 percent higher than 2006, with other administrative expen-

ses increasing by 6.7 percent and staff expenses by 4.9 percent. 

Administration expenses at DZ BANK Group

in € million
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The expansion of the Union Asset Management Holding and 

DVB subgroups led to an increase in administration expenses 

of 11.6 percent and 20.5 percent respectively. The VR LEASING 

subgroup’s administration expenses also increased by 12.8 per-

cent as a result of their significant increase in new business. 

There was only a slight increase of 0.8 percent in other adminis-

tration expenses at TeamBank, despite a number of new strate-

gic initiatives, follow-up costs related to the sale of the branch 

network in 2006, and costs related to changing IT sytems. Re-

imbursement of these costs were stated under Other operating 

net income. While DZ BANK’s staff expenses declined slightly by 

1.1 percent, other administration expenses increased by 4.1 per-

cent as a result of the cost of strategic growth initiatives. 

In 2007, DZ BANK’s IT/Organization department’s main focus 

was on improving organizational and IT support for cooperative 

banks.

More functionality was added to “Vertriebsarbeitsplatz VAP“ 

(sales workspace VAP), an IT-based platform designed to ensure 

the uniform integration and marketing of the network’s prod-

ucts all over Germany. VAP was jointly developed with FIDUCIA 

IT AG, Karlsruhe, (FIDUCIA), and GAD eG, Münster, (GAD). A 

different application, VR VorsorgeStatus, provides customers a 

periodic report on how their financial status will develop over 

the years as covered by the retirement plans offered through 

network banks. This report is the product of close cooperation 

among all the contributing network banks and the cooperative 

data centers. Since 2007, VR VorsorgeStatus has been available 

nationally to all cooperative bank customers.

At the request of the cooperative banks DZ BANK, Union 

Investment and WGZ BANK combined their funds and securities 

processing under the name “GENO Wertpapiere“ in agree® BAP 

and bank21, based on “GENO Broker,” a proven IT support tool 

used by brokers at the cooperative banks in the securities busi-

ness. This has allowed FIDUCIA, GAD and Union Investment to 

establish a uniform national process.

By developing a new data supply, R+V made an additional con-

tribution to supporting the cooperative banks’ sales processes. 

For the first time, R+V made sales management data available 

through the data warehouse of both FIDUCIA and GAD.

In view of the many investments being made to improve group 

earnings, it is equally important to ensure that costs are kept 

under tight control. A key objective of the DZ BANK Group over 

the medium term is to keep IT costs stable.

As part of this process, a project to outsource IT production 

and desktop services (PC and printer service, standard software 

maintenance) was completed in 2007 as planned, helping sta-

bilize DZ BANK’s costs within a comprehensive internal manage-

ment program to manage and stabilize the Bank’s yearly IT and 

administration expenses both over the short and medium term. 

Another important goal for 2007 was achieved by revising 

the Bank’s IT architecture and components, thereby ensuring 

uniform IT architecture management based on clearly defined 

principles.

Gains and losses on non-current assets classified as held for sale 

and disposal groups in 2006 exclusively related to the € 310 

million realized from the sale of the branches of the former 

norisbank AG by TeamBank.

Other group operating net income increased by € +132 mil-

lion to € 112 million. This increase was primarily generated 

by DZ BANK, whose other operating net income improved 

markedly. The prior year’s figure included expenditure incurred 

following the purchase of property. In 2007, there was also a 

significantly lower level of restructuring expenses. 

TeamBank’s other operating net income increased by 

€ +162 million to € 34 million (2006: € -128 million). The 2006 

figure was dampened by recognizing a provision for market 

development outlays. The current year’s figure includes reim-

bursement for IT technical conversion costs and follow-up costs 

related to the sale of branches in 2006. 
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Adjusted for the special items in the group’s gross operating 

income and administration expenses mentioned above, the cost-

income ratio of the DZ BANK Group was 53.6 percent In 2007 

(2006: 52.3 percent). 

Tax expense in 2007 of € -171 million (2006: € -208 million) 

comprised current income tax expense of € 214 million (2006: 

€ 75 million) and income arising from deferred taxes of € 43 

million (2006: expense of € 133 million). The significantly lower 

amount of income taxes payable in 2006 compared to the 

current year is due to a corporation tax credit which, following 

changes in tax legislation as of December 31, 2006, was recog-

nized on the balance sheet at that date with a present value of 

€ 277 million.

5. Regulatory capital

At December 31, 2007, DZ Group’s regulatory capital is pre-

sented in accordance with the amended German Banking Act 

(KWG) requirements and Subsidiary to the Solvency Ordinance 

(SolvV) which came into force on January 1, 2007, while the fig-

ures as at December 31, 2006 are based on the previous KWG 

requirements. Regulatory capital of the DZ BANK Group as of 

December 31, 2007 was calculated  still on the basis of the indi-

vidual HGB financial statements of the consolidated companies.

 

DZ BANK Group’s tier 1 capital at December 31, 2007 amount-

ed to € 8,999 million (December 31, 2006: € 9,708 million). The 

decline in tier 1 capital as at December 31, 2007 from Decem-

ber 31, 2006 was primarily a result of changes in the scope of 

consolidation (€ -719 million), the interest of silent partners at 

DG HYP no longer being included (€ -421 million) as well as a 

change in the deduction method applied under KWG (€ -248 

million) which applied a 50 percent tier 1 capital deduction 

instead of a 100 percent deduction from total liable capital. An 

increase in tier 1 capital resulted primarily from an allocation of 

€ 535 million to retained earnings, as well as additional place-

ments of tier 1 capital instruments through DZ BANK Perpetual 

Funding (Jersey) Ltd., Jersey, St. Helier/Jersey as issuing platform 

with a total volume of € 78 million. 

Group tier 2 capital reached a level of € 2,863 million at Decem-

ber 31, 2007 (December 31, 2006: € 4,011 million), the reduc-

tion mainly results from changes of the consolidated group as 

well as capital participation rights and long-term subordinated 

debt no longer being utilizable as tier 2 capital.

The group had no tier 3 capital at December 31, 2007 or De-

cember 31, 2006.

Liable capital as measured for the purposes of the Solvency 

Ordinance amounted to € 11,862 million at December 31, 2007 

(December 31, 2006: € 13,361 million). The total SolvV capital 

ratio for the group was 10.2 percent (December 31, 2006: 

12.6 percent), while the tier 1 capital ratio of DZ BANK Group 

in accordance with the SolvV was 7.7 percent (December 31, 

2006: 9.7 percent). These ratios significantly exceeded the regu-

latory minimum requirements of 8.0 percent (total capital ratio) 

and 4.0 percent (tier 1 capital ratio) respectively.

DZ BANK Group’s risk capital management as well as the group’s 

management and controlling of liquidity risks are explained in 

detail on pages 85 et. seq. and 113 et. seq. of this manage-

ment report. Changes in the group’s cash flows from operating, 

investing, and financing activities in the year are presented in 

the group’s consolidated financial statements.

6. Segment results 

In the following table, DZ BANK Group’s profit before tax in 

the amount of € 1,068 million are broken down by segment as 

follows:

Bank € 186 million

Retail € 486 million

Real estate  € 283 million

Insurance                € 474 million

Other/consolidation effects € -361 million
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Income statements and details regarding the individual seg-

ments are presented in the notes to the consolidated financial 

statements (note 44).

7. Volume performance 

Total assets held by the DZ BANK Group increased as at Decem-

ber 31, 2007 by € 9.6 billion or 2.3 percent to € 431.3 billion. 

This growth in volume was led by a trend in the same direc-

tion at DZ BANK in the amount of an additional € 10.3 billion, 

to € 256.7 billion. Total assets at R+V Versicherung subgroup 

increased by € 3.1 billion and at DVB by € 2.1 billion.

Total assets of DZ BANK Group
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The notional amount of derivative financial instruments at the 

DZ BANK Group grew throughout the reporting period by 

€ 131.4 billion to € 1,329.8 billion. Positive fair value increased 

group-wide by € 2.0 billion to € 16.7 billion.

Loans and advances to banks by the DZ BANK Group rose by 

€ 5.1 billion or 8.2 percent to € 67.5 billion. While there was an 

increase of € 8.6 billion at DZ BANK, the loans and advances to 

banks at BSH decreased by € 0.9 billion and at DG HYP by € 0.6 

billion. While loans and advances to domestic banks increased 

slightly by € 1.3 billion or 2.3 percent to € 57.4 billion, loans 

and advances to foreign banks rose significantly, by € 3.8 billion 

or 60.2 percent to € 10.1 billion.

Loans and advances to customers by the DZ BANK Group rose 

by € 6.2 billion or 6.2 percent to € 106.3 billion, reflecting the 

growth in accounts receivable at DZ BANK as a result of the 

positive economic climate. New business grew by € 5.8 billion 

to € 25.1 billion under the consistent application of conserva-

tive risk limits and profitability criteria. Loans and advances 

to customers increased in tandem with business growth at 

VR LEASING subgroup as well as the DVB subgroup, by € 0.8 

billion respectively. By contrast, deposits owed to customers at 

DZI decreased by € 0.9 billion and at DG HYP by € 0.2 billion.

Financial assets held for trading were € 130.0 billion, a decrease 

of € 2.3 billion or 1.7 percent on the previous year’s level. The 

decline in receivables from money market transactions in the 

amount of € 5.9 billion to € 43.1 billion and a decrease in bonds 

by € 1.7 billion to € 63.1 billion was more than compensated 

for by an increase in positive fair values from derivative financial 

instruments, by € 2.0 billion to € 16.1 billion as well as growth 

in money market deposits by € 3.3 billion to € 4.3 billion.

Investments decreased by € 3.3 billion or 4.3 percent to € 73.0 

billion, primarily due to a decline of € 3.3 billion in the portfolio 

of bonds and other fixed income securities, to € 69.5 billion. 

Meanwhile, shares and other non fixed-income securities 

declined by € 0.3 billion to € 1.5 billion, lower than the previous 

year’s level (€ 1.8 billion).

At the end of the financial year, deposits from banks held by 

the DZ BANK Group were € 57.9 billion, exceeding the previous 

year’s level by € 0.2 billion or 0.4 percent. While DZ BANK and 

the DVB subgroup both registered an increase of € 1.3 billion, 

deposits from banks declined by € 1.3 billion at DG HYP and by 

€ 0.8 billion at BSH. Deposits from domestic banks increased by 

€ 0.4 billion or 0.8 percent, while deposits from foreign banks 

decreased by € 0.2 billion or 2.5 percent to € 6.4 billion.

Amounts owed to other depositors by the DZ BANK Group 

grew by € 4.9 billion or 6.8 percent to € 77.6 billion. Of that, 

amounts owed to domestic depositors increased by € 2.9 billion 

or 4.2 percent to € 72.3 billion, while amounts owed to foreign 

depositors grew by € 2.0 billion or 61.6 percent to € 5.3 bil-
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lion. Customer deposits at DG HYP and DZI increased by € 2.6 

billion and € 2.0 billion respectively, while deposits at DZ BANK 

declined by € 0.5 billion.

Debt certificates including bonds were € 63.0 billion at the end 

of the financial year (2006: € 75.9 billion). The decline of  

€ 12.9 billion or 17.0 percent from the previous year was primarily 

due to a change in debt certificates including bonds at DZ BANK 

(€ -7.8 billion) as well as at DG HYP (€ -4.0 billion). The portfolio 

of issued bonds decreased by 2.4 billion or 3.8 percent to  

60.3 billion, other debt certificates declined by € 10.5 billion or 

79.7 percent to € 2.7 billion.

Financial liabilities held for trading increased by € 15.3 billion or 

10.4 percent to € 163.2 billion. This increase was mainly a con-

sequence of growth in money market deposits of € 11.0 billion to 

€ 120.1 billion. DZ BANK contributed substantially to this trend 

in the group, with an increase of € 17.9 billion in its financial  

liabilities held for trading, to € 161.7 billion. By contrast, finan-

cial liabilities held for trading at DZI declined by € 1.3 billion to 

€ 3.0 billion.

Total equity stated by the DZ BANK Group, including minority 

interest, was € 11,003 million (2006: € 10,840 million). This 

figure includes an increase of € 380 million to retained earn-

ings, bringing them to € 3,332 million at the reporting date 

(December 31, 2006: € 2,952 million), along with a € +313 mil-

lion increase in minority interest, to € 3,484 million as well as 

an unchanged level of consolidated profit of € 151 million. 

The revaluation reserve declined during the financial year by 

€ 537 million to € 156 million, mostly as a result of a change in 

value to financial instruments held for sale. This change in value 

included write-downs – to be considered temporary in nature – 

of € -403 million to available for sale-portfolios as a result of the 

crisis on the financial markets.
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II. Risk Report

The risk reporting in the Management Report of the DZ BANK 

Group is in accordance with Art. 315 and 315a HGB (German 

Commercial Code) and in compliance with the German Ac-

counting Standards. In addition, DZ BANK Group adheres to the 

risk-related requirements of the International Financial Reporting 

Standards. We have made use of the option to report risk aris-

ing from financial instruments in the management report. This 

risk report includes the qualitative and quantitative risk informa-

tion required by IFRS 7, diclosures on credit risk especially on 

allowances for losses on loans and advances. The information 

on capital management is based on the requirements of IAS 1. 

Agreed maturity dates are analyzed in the notes to the consoli-

dated financial statement (note 79). 

The risk reporting section of the group management report 

includes parts of the qualitative supervisory risk reporting of 

the DZ BANK banking group pursuant Art. 26a of the German 

Banking Act (KWG) in conjunction with Art. 319 to 337 of 

the Solvency Ordinance. Quantitative regulatory risk report-

ing, including additional elements of qualitative regulatory risk 

reporting (“Pillar 3 reporting”) is published in a separate report 

on the website of DZ BANK.

1. Risk management system

Objectives

Targeted and controlled exposure to risk within the framework 

of certain target returns is an integral component of corporate 

management at DZ BANK Group. As dictated by the business 

model of DZ BANK Group, its business activities require the ca-

pability to identify, measure, assess, manage as well as monitor 

and control risks. Capital adequancy in relation to risk exposures 

is another important requirement to conduct business. In all 

activities, DZ BANK Group adheres to the basic principle that 

risks should only assumed to the extent necessary to achieve 

business goals.

DZ BANK Group has a group-wide risk management system that 

fulfills internal management standards and complies with legal 

requirements. All group companies of the DZ BANK Group are 

integrated into risk management from the standpoint of mate-

riality. The companies directly integrated into the risk manage-

ment system are assigned to segments, as defined per IFRS 8, as 

follows:

–  Bank segment: DZ BANK, DVB, DZ BANK Ireland and  

VR LEASING AG, Eschborn (VR LEASING).

–  Retail segment: DZI, TeamBank and Union Asset Management 

Holding.

– Real estate segment: BSH and DG HYP.

– Insurance segment: R+V.

Types of risk

Credit risk is the most significant type of risk for the DZ BANK 

Group. It arises in particular from group-wide activities in 

corporate banking and in investment banking as well as from 

retail-oriented lending. Market price risks arise especially in 

companies with substantial capital market investments and in 

those that conduct trading transactions. Equity risk results from 

stretegic investments and interests in companies. Insurance 

risk arises from the activities of R+V. Liquidity risks, operational 

risks and strategic risks are tied to all corporate activities and 

therefore significant for all companies involved in the group’s 

risk management.

Functional separation

The risk management of the DZ BANK Group is based on the 

various risk strategies agreed on by the Board of Managing 

Directors and is made up of risk management, risk control and 

internal audit. 

Risk management as an active function refers to the operational 

implementation of risk strategies in the decentralized risk-

bearing business units. The business units responsible for risk 

management make decisions regarding the intentional assump-

tion or avoidance of risks, within centrally defined framework 
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The tasks of Group Audit are assumed by internal audit at 

DZ BANK, especially coordinating inspections spanning more 

than one company, the implementation of which is the respon-

sibility of the respective internal audit of the group companies, 

and through the analysis of inspection reports from group 

companies with group-wide relevance. Cooperation between 

the internal audit of various companies at DZ BANK Group is 

regulated by special framework conditions.

Committees

The Group Coordination Committee ensures coordination among 

the key companies of the DZ BANK Group with the objective of 

consistent business and risk management, strategy development 

and capital allocation. It is the forum for the  so-called Strategic 

Planning Dialogue and is divided into four modules: financial 

planning, economic and regulatory planning, objective planning 

for commissions and bonuses to credit cooperatives and strate-

gic initiatives. In 2007, business segment strategies were added. 

Through the Strategic Planning Dialogue, integrated manage-

ment at DZ BANK Group is ensured by a process that balances 

opportunities with risks. Coordination on basic questions of 

company management, international activities, risk manage-

ment, IT, operational and resource strategy and of product and 

sales management lies primarily with the Board of Managing 

Directors members of DZ BANK and takes place in other com-

mittees which report to the Group Coordination Committee.

The Group Risk Committee is the central committee for corpo-

rate and risk management at DZ BANK Group. Among other 

responsibilities, it handles group-wide risk capital management 

and supports the Group Coordination Committee in basic 

questions. The committee, which meets quarterly, includes the 

DZ BANK board members in charge of Corporate Management, 

Risk Management and Investment Banking. In addition, board 

members of those group companies are represented which 

have a significant effect on the group’s risk profile. The Group 

Risk Committee has appointed the following working groups to 

facilitate preparatory work and the execution of management 

measures: 

conditions and risk limitations. The units responsible for risk 

management are separated from the units reporting to them 

both organizationally and functionally.

Risk controlling is responsible for the identification, assessment  

and measurement of risks as well as for monitoring limits. This  

involves the planning of upper loss limit. In addition, risk con-

trolling reports risks to the Board of Managing Directors, the 

subsidiaries and to the Supervisory Board. Risk controlling at 

DZ BANK coordinates risk measurement methods to be applied 

group-wide with risk controlling at the subsidiary level and 

ensures risk capital management for the group. A group-wide 

report is prepared by the parent company’s risk controlling func-

tion in cooperation with the subsidiaries covering the essential 

types of risk based on minimum standards and coordinated 

methods.

Both at DZ BANK and at the group subsidiaries, risk controlling 

is responsible for the transparency of assumed risks and ensures 

that the risk measuring methods employed are up-to-date. In 

addition, the individual companies’ risk controlling units monitor 

compliance with company-specific limits that the subsidiaries 

have set for themselves based on the risk capital assigned by the 

parent company. Furthermore, the Risk Controlling at DZ BANK 

and at the group companies is responsible for risk reporting at 

each company respectively.

Another element of the group-wide risk management system 

is internal audit, which assumes monitoring and control duties 

at DZ BANK and at key group companies. It systematically and 

regularly conducts risk-oriented reviews of compliance with 

regulatory requirements. Internal audit also monitors the func-

tionality and effectiveness of the risk management system and 

any corrections required by inspection findings. As a rule, inter-

nal audit at DZ BANK and at the other group companies reports 

directly to the Chairman of its Board. The special requirements 

defined in MaRisk regarding the structure of internal audit are 

fulfilled at DZ BANK and at the group companies affected. 
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–  The Group Risk Management Working Group supports the 

Group Risk Committee in all risk issues and in questions of 

risk capital management at DZ BANK Group. In addition, this 

working group is the central platform for the implementation 

of BASEL II, external risk reporting and group-wide strategic 

and operational planning.

–  The Group Accounting Methods Working Group advises the 

Group Risk Committee on topics such as accounting meth-

odology, regulatory law and with regards to group-wide tax 

management.

–  Group activities in credit risk management are centralized in 

the Group Credit Management Working Group. Managers from 

Risk Management and Credit from the key group companies 

are represented on this committee. The working group is 

responsible for the continuing development of group-wide 

harmonized business processes, organizational structures as 

well as the application and development of data processing 

systems in the lending business.

–  Group-wide liquidity management is the focus of the Market 

Working Group. In addition to planning and coordinating 

liquidity investments and own issues, the working group is 

tasked with internal refinancing.

–  On the DZ BANK level, the Treasury Committee is responsible 

for managing market price risk and liquidity risk.

The Group IT Committee, consisting of the Chief Information Of-

ficers from key group companies, supports the Group Coordina-

tion Committee in matters regarding IT strategy. This committee 

manages all IT activities at DZ BANK Group that affect multiple 

companies. In particular, the Group IT Committee decides on 

cooperation opportunities and identifies and leverages common 

synergies and launches joint projects. 

The Group Head Auditors Working Group meets semi-annually. 

On the basis of jointly defined framework conditions that have 

been approved by the respective boards, the themes of these 

meetings include coordinating group-wide audit subjects, plan-

ning group-wide audits and activities, a exchange of expertise 

in particular regarding current auditing developments, as well 

as the preparation of best practices for auditing. In addition, 

two expert working groups for IT and credit auditors have been 

established whose members also convene several times a year.

Risk reporting and risk manual

The Quarterly Group Risk Report is the primary tool used to 

report group and company-level risks to the Supervisory Board, 

the Board of Managing Directors, and the Group Risk Com-

mittee in addition, the Group’s Supervisory Board and Board of 

Managing Directors receive portfolio- and commitment-specific 

management information as part of the quarterly Group Credit 

Risk Report.

Additionally, reporting systems for all risk types are in place at 

DZ BANK and at all key group subsidiaries, to ensure concerning 

the materiality of risk exposure that decision-making and super-

visory bodies have transparent information on the risk profile of 

the risk units under their responsibility at all times.

The Group Risk Manual of DZ BANK Group, available to all em-

ployees, with comprehensive illustrations of methods, processes 

and responsibilities on group level, establishes the framework 

conditions for risk capital management. Additional risk hand-

books are also published for key subsidiaries, accounting for 

company-specific risk aspects.

Fundamental principles of measurement, limitation and  

hedging 

Economic capital

Economic capital is determined for credit risks, investment 

portfolio risks, market price risks, insurance risks, operational 

risks and strategic risks. As a principle, the risk capital required is 

calculated as value-at-risk with a holding period of one year. For 

the calculation, a confidence level of 99.90 percent is assumed, 

commensurate with DZ BANK Group’s rating. The risk capital re-
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quirement for each risk type is aggregated to the total economic 

capital of DZ BANK Group under consideration of diversification 

effects. An increase of the confidence level to 99.95 percent is 

planned for financial 2008.

Stress tests

The calculation of economic capital is complemented by the im-

pact analysis of extreme but possible scenarios. Such stress tests 

are especially useful to assess DZ BANK’s risk-bearing capacity, 

even under extreme market conditions and a difficult economic 

environment. The key risk types of the DZ BANK Group are 

regularly subjected to a wide range of stress tests. 

Given that its ability to pay directly affects the DZ BANK Group’s 

continuation of going concern, special emphasis is given to 

liquidity risk management. This is attested by daily-event-

based stress testing and the adjustment of the daily limitation 

according to the stress tests’ results. The stress testing follows 

expected and unexpected cash flows and liquidity reserve trends 

on a daily basis over a forecast period of 12 months. Further-

more, all expected cash flows are recorded and monitored as 

part of the measurement of total liquidity flows up until the 

date of the last payment.

Expected loss

To estimate transaction profitability and to prevent creeping 

capital consumption, the concept of default-caused expected 

loss is applied. The expected loss is determined for credit and 

money transactions and for security and derivative positions as 

part of the credit portfolio calculation. The basis for this calcula-

tion arise 1-year-default probabilities derived from historical loss 

data, taking into account business-specific peculiarities. Among 

other factors, the calculation of exposures that involve default 

risk also takes into account collateral, netting agreements and 

expected recovery rates on the basis of historical experience.

Volume-oriented credit risk management

Individual lending exposures are managed on the basis of on 

an analysis of the gross lending volume. As a rule, the review 

period corresponds to the monitoring cycle of a year. Problem 

loans are monitored more closely throughout the year. Volume-

oriented credit risk management is an essential component for 

the management of concentration risks in the lending business. 

Limitation principles

Limit systems are in place at DZ BANK Group to ensure that the 

risk-bearing ability of the group is ensured at all times. Depend-

ing on the type of transaction and risk, these can be risk limits 

or volume limits. While risk limits limit reduce exposures in all 

risk types measured with an economic model, volume limits are 

used complementarily for counterparty transactions. Further-

more, risk management is supported by limiting financial ratios.

Hedging objectives

The DZ BANK Group ensures that measured exposures do not 

exceed set volume and risk limits. This is accomplished through 

the targeted change of risk positions on the basis of an adjust-

ment to volume and risk structure of the underlying transaction. 

Furthermore, compliance with the fixed limits for credit transac-

tions is managed by a credit-rating-based selection of business 

partners. In addition, credit risks, market price risks, liquidity 

risks, insurance risks and operational risks are transferred to 

external counterparties by means of suitable hedging instru-

ments. As a rule, hedging is conducted in compliance with the 

respective strategic group guidelines as laid out in writing.

Limitations of the applied measurement principles 

The methods applied at DZ BANK to measure risk correspond to 

the latest findings and follow common practice in the banking 

sector. The results determined through risk models are suitable 

without restriction for the management of the group and its 

companies. The measurement principles are subject to a regular 

review both by risk controlling and by internal and external 

auditors. Despite careful development of models and regular 

controls, however, situations may still arise in which actual losses 

exceed risk model forecasts.
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2. Risk capital management

Strategy, organization and responsibility

Risk capital management is an integral component of corpo-

rate management at DZ BANK Group. Active management of 

economic capital adequacy on the basis of internal risk measure-

ment methods and regulatory capital adequacy requirements 

guarantee that the assumption of risks is consistent with the 

capital resources of the group at all time. 

The Board of Managing Directors at DZ BANK sets the corporate 

goals and capital resources of the DZ BANK Group according 

to return and risk considerations. The Board ensures the risk 

profile is appropriate relative to aggregate risk cover. DZ BANK 

is responsible for risk and capital management, as well as for 

maintaining the capacity to bear risk. Group companies monitor 

their risks independently as part of group-wide risk and capital 

management. Minimum requirements are defined for the de-

centralized management of risk on a group level.

Risk-adjusted profitability management

The costs of economic risk capital commitment are integrated 

into performance management at DZ BANK Group. The key 

figures used for this are the risk-adjusted performance measures 

such as economic value added (EVA) and return on risk adjusted 

capital (RORAC), which are calculated and reported on the basis 

of the need for economic risk capital and the upper loss limit.

Management of economic capital adequacy

Economic capital management at DZ BANK is based on internal 

risk measurement methods, which take all important types of 

risk into account. Credit risks, equity risks, market price risks, 

and insurance risks are measured with internal models on the 

basis of value at risk approaches and to a lesser extent with 

methods that express a comparable loss potential. The estima-

tion of loss potential from operational risks is done on group 

level with the standard regulatory approach. As a rule, quan-

tification of strategic risks is based on an empirical benchmark 

analysis.

The risk capital requirement at DZ BANK Group is an aggrega-

tion of risk types from all companies. Diversification effects 

among different types of risk within group companies are taken 

into consideration.

In the context of a risk-bearing capacity analysis, the require-

ment for risk capital is compared with aggregate risk cover. Ag-

gregate risk cover is made up of the capital reported on the bal-

ance sheet and from open and hidden reserves of the DZ BANK 

Group; they amounted to € 11,564 million for the financial year 

2007 (2006: € 10,990 million).The Board of Managing Directors 

based the upper loss limits for the year on those figures. 

The table on page 86 shows that the overall upper loss limit for 

the group for the financial year was € 9,631 million, virtually un-

changed from the previous year. The increase in upper loss limits 

for market price and equity risks, which is primarily attributable 

to the ongoing crisis on the financial markets since the middle 

of 2007, was compensated by limit reductions for other types 

of risk. The risk capital requirement of the DZ BANK Group de-

termined as at December 31, 2007 rose by round € 1.1 billion. 

Nevertheless, risks only utilized about 76 percent of the upper 

loss limit.

For the financial year 2008, the group has risk cover assets of 

€ 13,603 million; this corresponds to an increase of € 2,039 mil-

lion compared to 2007. 

At DZ BANK Group, standardized stress tests for the risk capital 

requirement are performed by the group companies themselves. 

Separate stress tests are carried out for each of the risk types 

that are part of risk capital management – credit risk, equity risk, 

market price risk, insurance risk, operational risk and strategic 

risk. The risk-type-specific stress tests are complemented by a 

stress scenario that increases the correlation between risk types. 

Internal models for measuring risk are also applied during the 

stress tests. The input parameters for risk measurement are 
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scaled to reflect extremely negative economic conditions. In 

addition to internal risk measurement methods, concrete losses 

from hypothetical crisis scenarios are calculated during the stress 

test for market price. Alongside the standardized stress test 

procedures, at DZ BANK crisis scenarios are constantly adapted 

according to current market data, which becomes especially 

important in crisis situations. 

The aggregation for risk types into a stress test result for all 

group companies and risk types according to the standardized 

method is performed similarly to risk measurement. None of the 

stress tests completed as of the reporting date of December 31, 

2007 came to the conclusion that the risk-bearing capacity of 

the DZ BANK Group would be impaired.

Management of regulatory capital adequacy

Regulatory solvency requirements are strictly adhered to for 

DZ BANK Financial Conglomerate, DZ BANK Banking Group and 

R+V Insurance Group, in addition to economic capital manage-

ment – the primary reference point for managing business 

activities.

DZ BANK Financial Conglomerate

The provisions of the European Financial Conglomerates  

Directive governs DZ BANK as a financial conglomerate. The 

expanded requirements imposed by the EU directive apply to 

conglomerates that have substantial operations in different sec-

tors of the financial services industry, and at the congolmerate 

level leads to a more precise assessment of risks related to eq-

uity capital, concentration of risks and intra-group transactions. 

The German financial services regulator (BaFin) has categorized 

the DZ BANK Group as a financial services conglomerate, with 

DZ BANK functioning as the holding financial services conglom-

erate company. The DZ BANK financial services conglomerate 

comprises the DZ BANK banking group and the R+V insurance 

group.

The financial services conglomerate solvency measure is the 

difference between the sum of the conglomerate’s qualifying 

equity and the sum of its solvency requirements. The resulting 

coverage ratio is required to be at least 100 percent. The calcu-

lations to determine its financial services conglomerate solvency 

measure, as of December 31, 2006, indicate that DZ BANK 

financial services conglomerate exceeds the minimum regula-

tory requirements. Projections made as part of equity capital 

manage ment as at December 31, 2007 indicate the coverage 

ratio will be well above the legal minimum of 100 percent.

DZ BANK Banking Group 

To calculate capital requirements (BASEL II pillar 1) in respect of 

credit risk, starting with the year 2007 DZ BANK Group applied 

the internal-ratings-based approach (Foundation IRB approach 

and IRB approach for retail exposures), and the standard ap-

Upper loss limits and risk capital requirement

Upper loss limit Risk capital requirement

in € million Dec. 31, 2007  Dec. 31, 2006 Dec. 31, 2007  Dec. 31, 2006

Credit risk 4,129 4,585 2,724 2,609

Equity risk 918 689 881 548

Market price risk 3,202 2,772 2,320 1,583

Insurance risk 1,400 1,785 1,196 1,262

Operational risk 745 779 590 563

Strategic risk 1,340 1,361 1,184 1,124

Total after diversification 9,631 9,708 7,282 6,203
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proach in respect of operational risk based on the German  

Banking Act (KWG) and the Solvency Ordinance. BASEL II – 

pillar 2, which governs regulatory review procedures, contain 

additional conditions for banks‘ risk management systems, for 

which implementation was completed in 2007. In this context, 

a group-wide integrated risk capital management system has 

been put in place which is a central element of the Group 

Coordination Committee‘s Strategic Planning Dialogue. The risk-

specific disclosure requirements arising from the International 

Financial Reporting Standards as well as the disclosure require-

ments (market discipline) imposed by the German Banking 

Act (KWG) and the Solvency Ordinance (BASEL II pillar 3) were 

implemented on a group-wide level during the financial year. As 

in past years, in 2007 DZ BANK continued to play a very active 

part in helping to shape and implement Germany’s response to 

BASEL II by working on the relevant BaFin committees.

Active management of regulatory capital adequacy at DZ BANK 

banking group is based on internal targets. The group performs 

an annual group-wide risk-weighted assets planning process 

as part of the Strategic Planning Dialogue in order to avoid 

unforeseen stress on these capital ratios and to ensure that any 

trend in the group’s credit risks, market price risks and opera-

tional risks as defined by the German Banking Act (KWG) and 

the Solvency Order is in line with overall strategy. This process 

ends with the specification of a group-wide planned regula-

tory capital requirement. Covering this need and executing the 

required issues is centrally coordinated by DZ BANK’s Treasury 

department.

At December 31, 2007, total regulatory capital held by 

DZ BANK Banking Group was determined to be € 11,862 mil-

lion (December 31, 2006: € 13,361 million, including a 

deduction from total tier 1 and tier 2 capital in the amount of 

€ 358 million). This figure contains total tier 1 capital (as per 

Art. 10a Para. 2a KWG) in the amount of € 8,999 million (2006: 

€ 9,708 million) as well as total tier 2 capital in the amount of 

€ 2,863 million (2006: € 4,011 million).

The decrease in tier 1 capital as at December 31, 2007 from 

the previous year’s reporting date is primarily due to changes in 

the scope of consolidation and the fact that equity investments 

by silent partners at DG HYP were no longer included, as well 

as a change in the calculation method prescribed by KWG for 

deducting tier 1 and tier 2 capital from total liable capital. Addi-

tions to tier 1 capital from allocations to retained earnings and 

additional placements of tier 1 bonds could not compensate 

for the overall decreases. The decline in tier 2 capital is mainly 

attributable to changes in the scope of consolidation as well as 

to the fact that some capital components (capital participation 

rights and longer-term subordinated liabilities) which had come 

due in 2007 were not replaced.

In relation to the types of risk specified in the law (credit risk, 

market price risk and operational risk) and including the sur-

charge or “floor” prescribed by Art. 339 para. 3 of the Solvency 

Ordinance, required regulatory capital was determined to be 

€ 9,309 million. This figure is valid for the entire regulatory 

scope of consolidation pertaining to the DZ BANK Banking 

Group. The credit risk and equity risk positions of DVB, DZ BANK 

Ireland and Union Asset Management Holding still had own 

resources as underlying assets according to the former Prin-

ciple I during the financial year. Required regulatory capital on 

the same reporting date in 2006 amounted to € 8,473 million. 

However, as the previous year’s figure was calculated on the ba-

sis of Principle I, a comparison with the current year’s figure can 

only be made to a certain extent. The increase in required equity 

was primarily due to the growth of volume in the credit business 

as well as the crisis on the financial markets.

At December 31, 2007 a total ratio of 10.2 percent (Decem-

ber 31, 2006: 12.6 percent) and a tier 1 capital ratio of  

7.7 percent (2006: 9.7 percent) was determined for the 

DZ BANK Banking Group, significantly higher than the  

pre scribed minimum values of 8.0 percent (total ratio) and 

4.0 percent (tier 1 capital ratio) respectively. The decline in the 

ratios is attributable both to the reduction in capital (base) as 

well as to the increased required regulatory capital.
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R+V Insurance Group

R+V uses the defined regulatory requirements for the solvency 

of insurance companies as the starting point for evaluating its 

overall risk position. All individual R+V insurance group subsid-

iaries satisfy these solvency standards even before their valuation 

reserves are taken into account. Extrapolating the capital market 

situation at the end of the financial year to December 31, 

2008, the solvency requirement is fulfilled. Calculating the 

adjusted solvency ratios of all the relevant R+V companies under 

the terms of the Insurance Supervision Act confirms that the 

insurance group as a whole also satisfies the regulatory group 

solvency requirements without reference to hidden reserves.

The EU Commission has been working for several years on a 

new model of insurance industry supervision under the working 

title Solvency II. The guidelines published in July 2007 contain 

the first specifications regarding the Three Pillar Concept. The 

central thrust of the EU’s approach is the holistic assessment and 

management of insurance providers’ risks and capital endow-

ment. As a result of its participation in the internal projects and 

working groups organized by the German industry association 

and BaFin, the R+V Group is in a good position to handle the 

coming challenges. This creates a foundation for success-

ful compliance with all the requirements that will flow from 

Solvency II. This includes active participation in the quantitative 

impact studies implemented as part of the regulatory Solvency II 

development. In addition, the R+V Group is working on the 

further development of the economic risk capital model of the 

R+V Insurance Group in order to meet future regulatory require-

ments for internal models. 

3. Credit risk

Definition and sources

Credit risk or default risk is the risk that one party to a finan-

cial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by 

failing to discharge an obligation. Credit risks can arise in both 

traditional credit business as well as in trading transactions. 

Traditional lending comprises forms of commercial lending 

including guarantees and warranties as well as external open 

commitments. In the context of credit risk management, trad-

ing transactions means the securities business – comprising 

securities from the banking book and trading book including 

promissory notes – as well as the derivative and money market 

business (including repurchase agreements).

Default risk on trading transactions occurs in the form of coun-

terparty risk and issuer risk. Counterparty risk has two compo-

nents: replacement risk and settlement risk. Replacement risk is 

the risk of a counterparty default when the bank has a trading 

position with that party which has a positive market value. A 

financial loss arises in case of default. Performance risk occurs 

on trading activities which are not settled timely. The risk arises 

that the counterparty does not fulfill its obligations, while the 

consideration has already been made by the bank. Issuer risk 

describes the risk that the issuer of a security does not meet 

its contractual obligations. A financial loss is then recorded by 

the owner of the security in the form of unpaid interest and 

redemption payments.

Default risk from traditional lending transactions arises primarily 

at DZ BANK, BSH, DG HYP, DVB, VR LEASING and TeamBank. It 

results from the specific business of each company, and accord-

ingly has different characteristics in terms of diversification and 

extend compared to the volume of business. Default risks from 

trading transactions arise specifically at DZ BANK, BSH and 

DG HYP.

Credit risk strategy

DZ BANK Group follows the strategy of “bundling strengths – 

one subgroup, one strategy”, with strict subsidiarity in its policy 

to promote the local cooperative banks. Business and risk policy 

is set for the group’s core business areas with credit exposure, 

based on their credit risk-bearing capability. This makes the 

credit risk strategy the foundation for credit risk management 

and reporting throughout the group, and ensures uniform  

handling of credit risks within the group.
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Lending is predominantly based throughout the group on the 

“VR rating”, a credit rating procedure which DZ BANK devel-

oped in cooperation with the BVR, the central organization of 

the cooperative banking group, and WGZ BANK. Both DZ BANK 

and its subsidiaries with material credit risk seek to maintain a 

good rating structure in their credit portfolios. The portfolios 

will continue to be characterized by a high degree of diversifica-

tion. For the individual credit transaction, risk-adjusted pricing 

of financing which takes into account both adequate standard 

risk costs and risk-adjusted economic capital costs is of decisive 

importance.

Organization and responsibility

As required by MaRisk (the minimum requirements for risk 

management promulgated by BaFin, the German Financial 

Supervisory Authority), responsibilities in the lending process 

are defined and documented in the organization’s manuals, 

from application to approval to processing, including periodic 

credit monitoring with regular credit rating. Authority levels are 

specified in authority rules which are based on the risk content 

of the credit transactions. Consolidating the organization of 

the group-wide credit process is the responsibility of the Group 

Credit Management working group.

Credit risk reporting

Established reporting and monitoring processes help provide 

timely information for decision makers on changes in the risk 

structure of the credit portfolio and are the basis for active 

manage ment of credit risks. 

As part of the reporting system, the Group Risk Committee is 

kept informed of the economic capital requirement for credit 

risks. In addition, internal reporting covers volume-oriented 

analysis of the portfolio structure based on key risk character-

istics such as country, industry and rating, both from a group 

point of view and for the individual companies. The report also 

includes information on individual commitments and individual 

risk provisions. The indicators resulting from this report are pro-

vided to senior management of DZ BANK and group subsidiar-

ies. The group reporting system is supplemented in the relevant 

subsidiaries by powerful credit portfolio reporting adapted to 

the needs of the company in question.

Rating systems

Use of the rating systems

Internal rating systems are at the heart of credit risk manage-

ment for companies in DZ BANK Group. Internal rating systems 

are used in the following areas:

–  The credit risk limit, which sets the upper limit for incurring 

credit risks, is defined as an internal rating.

–  The credit lines within which business partners are allowed 

to engage in credit or trading transactions subject to default 

risk with group companies are set primarily on the basis of the 

internal rating.

–  The coverage-oriented pre-analysis of loans carried out by 

client advisors in the course of acquiring new business is based 

on key cost determinants, i.e. the standard risk costs and 

economic capital costs involved in covering expected and un-

expected losses. Both cost components are based on internal 

ratings.

–  Approval authority for back office decision makers for credit 

applications depends on internal ratings.

–  In ex-post analysis of loans after the close of the transaction, 

the profit contribution of individual transactions, clients and 

profit centers is primarily affected (in a similar way to the 

pre-analysis) by standard risk costs and economic capital costs 

based on internal ratings.

–  During the term of the loan, internal ratings determine the 

extent to which credit ratings are monitored.

–  Specific loan loss allowance are planned on the basis of stan-

dard risk costs, which are primarily affected by internal ratings.

–  The risk of unexpected losses is measured with the help of 

credit value at risk systems, which are based on internal rat-

ings and the corresponding likelihood of default, together 

with other risk parameters. Internal ratings also play a central 
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role in default risk portfolio reporting.

–  The level of regulatory capital adequacy required by the 

regulatory authorities at DZ BANK Group has been determined 

since 2007 by the IRB approach based on internal ratings at 

DZ BANK Group.

Characteristics of the rating systems

The VR rating system standardizes rating methods and provides 

comparability of rating results within the cooperative finan-

cial services network. The VR rating is broken down by client 

segment, and is being extended in stages to all relevant client 

groups. The following section presents the key rating systems 

at DZ BANK. These rating systems have been approved by BaFin 

for regulatory equity calculations using the simple IRB approach. 

These rating systems differentiate among 25 rating classes in all, 

of which 20 classes are for non-defaulting business partners and 

five classes are for defaulting business partners.

The VR rating for larger SMEs is applied to the corporate asset  

class (in the narrow sense of the term). This rating system 

covers  the small and medium-sized enterprises which form the 

patronage with the characteristic for a central bank – of a small 

and medium size of enterprises. Among other applications, it 

is used in the Meta business of the DZ BANK Group with the 

cooperative banking institutions and their clients, and is also 

used uniformly in all these banks. A distinguishing feature of the 

development of the SME rating is the large number of records 

of defaulting and non-defaulting clients collected in the entire 

cooperative financial services network. Such an ideal scenario 

in terms of data allowed the good/bad analysis method to be 

selected. 

The VR rating for corporates is applied to national and interna-

tional major clients with sales over € 1 billion which come under 

the corporate asset class (in the narrow sense of the term). 

A distinguishing feature of the evolution of the major client 

rating system is the small number of defaulting clients. This 

particular data scenario matched the external rating method as 

development method. Under this approach, data was collected 

from numerous sets of annual financial statements for a large 

number of international companies from various industries with 

an external rating. 

 

The VR rating for banks is used for the financial institutions asset 

class. This rating system is applied to banks in all legal forms 

domiciled in Germany or abroad, independent of their size. 

The external rating method was chosen as the development 

method. Under this approach, data was collected for banks with 

external ratings worldwide. 

The VR rating for countries is used for the sovereign asset class. 

Given the international orientation of the DZ BANK Group, 

country rating is very important for risk-oriented management 

of group companies’ business. The country rating segment is 

concerned exclusively with rating central governments. The 

country segment is not concerned with rating central banks and 

other foreign public sector entities or international institutions. 

Under the rating system, which is again based on the external 

rating method, countries are divided into industrialized and 

developing nations. The rationale for the division is the different 

risk factors and the need for a different interpretation of factors 

relevant to credit quality in analyzing the ability and willingness 

to pay of industrialized and developing nations. 

The internal assessment approach is used to evaluate liquidity 

lines and credit enhancements in ABCP transactions. The expert-

based modeling technique was used for rating system design. 

In addition, other rating systems are used for regional and local 

governments, project financing and acquisition financing. Their 

use for calculating capital adequacy levels will be submitted to 

the authorities for approval.

GRC rating groups

As different rating systems are used by companies in DZ BANK 

Group as a result of different business focuses, risk classifica-

tions from the rating systems of individual companies are 

standardized by assigning them to a system of rating groups 



91Group Management Report
Risk Report

approved by the Group Risk Committee (GRC). The GRC rating 

groups are applied in the internal DZ BANK Group credit report. 

The rating classes from the rating systems used by the group 

companies are assigned to the GRC rating groups on the basis 

of the likelihood of default:

Rating Desk

The VR rating systems are also available to DZ BANK subsidiar-

ies. Where cost-benefit considerations preclude technical imple-

mentation of these rating systems in the subsidiaries, ratings are 

transferred from DZ BANK. A ratings desk handles this transfer 

of ratings, which are then used by the subsidiaries in their credit 

processes.

Pricing in the lending business

To ensure profitability in the lending business, standard risk 

costs are calculated in the course of managing individual 

transactions in wide areas of the group. These are used to cover 

average expected default losses on borrowers. The aim is to 

ensure that the net risk provision is covered in the long term 

average by standard risk costs charged, in the sense of actuarial 

consideration.

Apart from standard risk costs, implied capital costs based on 

the economic capital requirement are integrated into DZ BANK 

coverage calculations. This makes possible risk-adjusted interest 

on fixed capital, which is used to cover unexpected losses from 

the lending business. The concept of economic capital costs 

replaced the previous calculation of equity costs in 2007.

Due to the decentralized management structure of DZ BANK 

Group companies, the concepts of individual transaction 

manage ment at group companies depend on the specific fea-

tures of the products and transactions involved.

Economic credit portfolio management

Portfolio models

Under economic credit portfolio management, a distinction is 

made between expected losses from individual transactions 

and unexpected losses from the credit portfolio. Calculation of 

expected loss for each individual transaction avoids creeping 

erosion of equity. The majority of group companies carry out the 

necessary identification of rating-related standard risk costs.
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Portfolio models are then used to quantify the unexpected 

losses on credit portfolios of group companies on the basis of 

value-at-risk. Credit value at risk describes the risk of unex-

pected losses from failure to meet contractually agreed payment 

obligations by business partners. Credit portfolio models are 

used to measure credit value at risk which take into account 

concentration in terms of industries and individual borrow-

ers along with the rating structure of the credit portfolio as a 

whole. This includes default and liquidation risks from both 

lending transactions.

The offset amount of default risks in the risk model for trad-

ing transactions as part of economic capital management is 

calculated for issuer risk as fair value. In the replacement risk, 

transactions are measured similarly to setting limits – that is, by 

a benchmark add-on method based on simulations in addition 

to the fair value of the derivative. In contrast to limit setting, 

the expected value is used uniformly for all transactions over an 

assumed one-year horizon.

Asset securitization

The DZ BANK Group uses securitization as an additional instru-

ment of credit portfolio management as well as to optimize the 

risk-return ratio. The primary goal of securitization is to relieve 

pressure on economic and regulatory capital. 

DZ BANK functions as originator, sponsor and investor in 

connection with its securitization activities. From the regula-

tory point of view, the bank is currently the originator of two 

synthetic transactions, while as a sponsor DZ BANK is support-

ing 36 current transactions. The securities which DZ BANK is 

holding as investor are of secondary importance overall. Besides 

these activities the CeDeOs securitization platform has been 

established for synthetic CDOs and has already been used for a 

transaction (DYNASO 2007-1).

DZ BANK also acts as arranger and placer in securitization trans-

actions of the DZ BANK Group and the cooperative financial 

services network, with DG HYP generally filling the origina-

tor function. Besides multi-seller transactions used as a risk 

management tool by the primary banks, securitization serves 

as an alternative refinancing instrument for the Volksbank and 

Raiffeisenbank institutions.

Besides purchasing and selling securitized mortgage portfolios, 

the securitization activities of DG HYP also include the use of 

asset securitization to hedge its own portfolios. Besides its role 

as investor and originator, DG HYP utilizes its competence in this 

field to provide advisory services in portfolio management to 

third parties.

VR LEASING is currently involved in the following transactions as 

servicer: LEAGUE 2004, LEAGUE 2005 Series 1, LEAGUE 2005 

Series 2 and CORAL Purchasing. DG HYP is currently acting 

exclusively as originator.

Risk management of lending exposures

Management of default risks from traditional lending trans-

actions

Volume-oriented credit portfolio management

During the financial year, procedures and processes for uniform 

measurement and management of the credit portfolio were 

further developed as part of volume-oriented credit portfolio 

management. The management and control system as imple-

mented meets the requirements of MaRisk. Country risk is 

managed by setting limits for individual countries at the level of 

the DZ BANK Group.

Commitment and limit management

General limits are set for individual business partners and 

borrower entities. This applies both to the relevant group 

companies and at group level generally. The Group Credit 

Management working group ensures that credit exposures are 

consolidated at group level.

Suitable early warning processes are implemented in group 

companies with significance for the group’s credit risk as a basis 

for timely limit monitoring. DZ BANK has also established pro-

cesses for dealing with overdrafts. Key group subsidiaries have 
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comparable processes adapted to the needs of their individual 

business model.

The group credit risk report shows the 20 largest lending expo-

sures by various risk aspects. The presentation includes both a 

group overview and reports for the individual companies.

Management of default risks from trading transactions

Measurement of default risks from trading transactions

Replacement and performance risks at DZ BANK arise primarily 

from the trading business of DZ BANK. Issuer risks result from 

the trading activities and investment business of DZ BANK and 

the group companies BSH and DG HYP.

Replacement risk is calculated primarily on the basis of fair 

value and the add-on of the individual transaction. The add-on 

allows for specific risk factors and maturities. At counterparty 

level, netting agreements and collateral agreements are used to 

mitigate risk, provided they are legally enforceable. For perfor-

mance risk the amount recognized for the counterparty risk is 

the payment due, i.e. the actual amount to be paid to DZ BANK 

by the counterparty. Performance risk is recognized for an as-

sumed performance period. The issuer risk calculated at group 

level is calculated for the trading books of DZ BANK, BSH and 

DG HYP on the basis of the fair value of a security holding. The 

investment holdings of group companies are shown at carrying 

amount in the risk calculation.

Limit management of default risks from trading transactions 

To limit the default risk from trading transactions, DZ BANK has 

established a volume-oriented limit system. Replacement risk is 

managed by a limit structure broken down into maturity bands. 

A daily limit is set to manage performance risk. For issuer risk, a 

rating-based general or individual limit is set for each issuer. The 

other material group companies have comparable limit systems. 

A uniform method of measuring and monitoring default risks 

from trading transactions at DZ BANK is enabled by a central, 

IT-supported limit management system which is connected to all 

relevant trading systems. The group’s trading exposures are also 

consolidated in this IT system.

As in the traditional lending business, adequate early warning 

and overdraft processes have been established for the trad-

ing business. The member of the Board of Managing Directors 

responsible for risk monitoring is sent a daily list of trading 

limit overruns as part of the reporting to MaRisk standards. A 

monthly report is produced for the total default risk from trad-

ing transactions on the basis of exposures.

Credit risk mitigation

Collateral strategy and hedged items

In line with the DZ BANK Group’s credit risk strategy, client 

credit quality is the basis for the lending decision; collateral has 

no effect on the borrower’s rating. Depending on the structure 

of a transaction, however, collateral can be of material signifi-

cance for the risk evaluation of a transaction. In the case of 

medium or long term investment credits, there is a basic expec-

tation that the investment will act as collateral for the loan. For 

export or structured trade financing, there is also a minimum 

level of security from public or private (export) credit insurance 

or assignment of claims under the export contracts or of title in 

the goods as security.

Hedged items in the traditional lending business encompass the 

commercial lending business, including bonds and guarantees 

as well as external loan commitments. Protection of underlying 

transactions against default risks is ensured on a case by case 

basis by obtaining traditional collateral. Derivatives are used 

to hedge against interest risks in individual cases. With regard 

to replacement risk, hedged items are transactions which can 

be entered into as hedgeable under a master agreement (ISDA 

Master Agreement or German Master Agreement). Transac-

tions which cannot be brought under a master agreement are 

not hedged. The only form of collateral is cash and government 

bonds. In issuer risk, credit derivatives are used to hedge bonds 

and also subordinated securities from the same borrower. Col-

lateral from the credit derivative is offset against the hedged 

entity (“reference entity”) or the guarantor entity.
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Types of collateral

DZ BANK Group uses all forms of traditional loan collateral. 

These include specifically mortgages on residential and commer-

cial properties, guarantees (bonds, guarantees, letters of com-

fort, life insurance policies), financial security (cash deposits at 

other banks, certain fixed-interest securities, shares and interests 

in funds), assigned receivables (global and individual assignment 

of trade receivables) and tangible collateral. For recognition 

under the Solvency Ordinance, privileged mortgages, guaran-

tees and financial collateral are used. Currently, receivables are 

not acknowledged under regulatory regulations recognized and 

physical collateral only to a minor extent.

Collateral for trading transactions is exchanged in DZ BANK in 

a margining process on the basis of master agreements. The 

margining process is a daily monitoring process with technical 

support which ensures adequate cover for the trading port-

folio. Collateral is reflected in a separate IT system. For credit 

derivatives, guarantors or counterparties are mainly financial 

institutions.

Exchange of collateral is contractually agreed with counterpar-

ties. Conclusion and execution of contracts are covered by 

DZ BANK collateral policy. This specifies contract parameters 

such as the quality of collateral, frequency of exchange and 

minimum exchange and exempt amounts. Under its collateral 

policy DZ BANK follows a strategy of avoiding establishing new 

concentration risks from trading collateral. DZ BANK regularly 

uses bilateral netting and collateral agreements. One exception 

is cover assets, as the special legal status of the counterparties 

means that only unilateral collateral agreements can usefully be 

enforced. Netting and collateral result in significant mitigation of 

exposure from trading transactions.

Management of collateral

Management of traditional loan collateral

The tasks of collateral management are for the most part per-

formed by specialist units outside the market divisions. Their 

core tasks include providing, reviewing and valuing collateral and 

documenting, managing and advising all divisions on collateral. 

Standardized contracts are mostly used to provide collateral 

and for the declarations associated with this. Where individual 

collateral agreements are to be concluded, specialist offices 

are consulted. Collateral management is done in separate IT 

systems. Collateral valuation is the responsibility of back office 

units. Carrying amounts are reviewed similarly to the monitoring 

dates set by the back office units – generally at least annually, or 

on the agreed dates for submission of the documents relevant 

for valuation. Shorter monitoring intervals can be set for critical 

lending exposures. Independent of this, collateral is tested for 

impairment, if indications evidence exists.

The workout units are responsible for processing collateral for 

delinquent loans including realization of collateral. With these 

lending exposures, collateral is measured on the basis of its likely 

recoverable value and time of recovery, rather than following 

the general valuation guidelines. In the case of restructuring 

commitments, fair value or likely recoverable value can be recog-

nized as the collateral value, rather than following the lending 

principles.

Collateral management

Under the collateral policy, cash or securities with doubtfull rat-

ings are accepted as collateral for trading transactions. Exposure 

and collateral are valued at regular intervals agreed with the 

counterparty. The party with a right to recollateralization posts 

a margin call. Recollateralization can be done by returning col-

lateral or increasing existing collateral.

The unsecured part of the exposure (“threshold amount”) is re-

duced if credit quality deteriorates and increased if it improves. 

This procedure is contractually agreed with counterparties. For 

contracts with a zero threshold, any deterioration in credit qual-

ity is immaterial, as exposure is always fully collateralized.

Management of concentration risks in the credit and col-

lateral portfolios

When measuring the risk resulting from collateral, DZ BANK dis-

tinguishes between collateral in the traditional lending business  

and collateral in the trading business. If there is a significant 
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positive correlation between the value of collateral and the bor-

rower pledging the collateral, the collateral value is disregarded 

for the lending decision. This is the case, for example, where the 

guarantor, garnishee or issuer forms as so-called economic en-

tity or borrower entity with the borrower under Art. 19 para. 2 

of the German Banking Act (KWG). The decision whether a 

transaction can be entered into without realizable collateral is 

covered by the authority rules.

Concentration of collateral in the trading business is limited by 

a restrictive collateral policy which only allows collateral in cash 

or first-class government bonds under the ISDA Master Agree-

ments for OTC derivatives and repos. The predominant part of 

OTC collateral consists of cash and liquid securities. Timely valu-

ation of collateral under the agreed margining periods further 

contributes to limiting risk. Presentation of concentrations in the 

collateral portfolio is part of management reporting.

Management of problem exposure

Management and monitoring of problem exposure

Identified problem loans are transferred to the workout units 

at an early stage of the crisis. By providing focused support 

to critical exposures and applying customized solutions, these 

special units lay the basis for securing and optimizing problem 

risk positions.

In the traditional lending business, DZ BANK has a comprehen-

sive range of tools for early identification, close support and 

high-quality portfolio monitoring for critical exposures. The sub-

portfolio of critical loans is updated quarterly and reported on. If 

required, this is done more frequently. The process has compre-

hensive support from technical systems. A key element in this is 

informative, target-group oriented and timely internal reporting.

Where required, there are comparable processes in place in the 

key subsidiaries, adapted for the risk characteristics of the busi-

ness in question.

Procedures for creating allowances for losses on loans and 

advances

At DZ BANK a transaction is considered “past due” if payments 

of interest and principal or other receivables are more than two 

days in arrears. A borrower is classified as “impaired” if it is 

likely that the borrower will not fully meet payment obligations 

without a requirement to realize any collateral. Independent of 

this, borrowers more than 90 days overdue are classified as in 

default.

If there are objective evidence of impairment of a loan, DZ BANK 

assesses wether the borrower might not fully meet contractual 

obligations and this will result in economic loss. If there is im-

pairment, specific loan loss allowances and advances, provisions 

or liabilities are recognized, depending on the nature of the 

transaction.

For receivables, specific loan loss allowances are recognized for 

the amount of the difference between the carrying amount 

of the receivable and the present value of cash flows, includ-

ing those from foreclosure of collateral. For the financial assets 

without identified objective evidence of impairment (i.e. no spe-

cific loan loss allowance), impairment is assessed on a portfolio 

basis and recognized through portfolio based allowance for loss-

es and loans and advances (portfolio allowance). For financial 

guarantees and loan commitments, provisions are recognized 

for the difference between the present value of the potential 

default amount and the present value of expected cash flows.

The key group companies have implemented comparable 

guidelines for the recognition of allowances for losses on loans 

and advances which are adapted to their specific business 

activities. TeamBank assesses the allowances losses on loans and 

advances wich are not significant (retail) on a portfolio basis. 

This is the case to a lesser extent at DG HYP. The calculation of 

this portfolio-based allowance for loan losses is based on the 

estimation of cash flows from portfolios of loans with the same 

risk characteristics and data from migrations scenarios such as 

default probabilities.
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The strategic planning process at DZ BANK Group includes plan-

ning group-wide specific loan loss allowances.

Analysis of the credit portfolio

Analysis of economic capital requirement for credit risk

The economic capital requirement for credit risks at DZ BANK 

was € 2,724 million at the end of the financial year (Decem-

ber 31, 2006: € 2,609 million). The upper loss limit hereon was  

€ 4,129 million (2006: € 4,585 million). Losses remained within 

this upper limit at all times during 2007. The slight increase 

in the risk capital requirement is primarily due to higher total 

exposure as planned.

Volume-oriented credit portfolio analysis

Basis for volume-oriented credit portfolio analysis

The following data on the credit exposure is based on an 

expanded scope of key companies in the DZ BANK Group. 

Since 2007, the credit insurance of R+V is shown as insurance 

risk instead of credit risk in internal group reporting. Credit 

insurance is accordingly not taken into account in the following 

presentation of the credit portfolio. For the same reason, the 

credit exposure stated in this risk report for December 31, 2006 

differs from the values provided in last year’s risk report.

Credit exposure is determined on the basis of credit risk-bearing 

instruments from the traditional lending business and securi-

ties business as well as from the derivatives and money market 

business. The breakdown into credit risk-bearing instruments 

corresponds to the classes for reporting on risks from financial 

instruments.

The following quantitative data on the entire credit portfolio 

represents the maximum credit risk to which DZ BANK Group 

is exposed. The maximum credit risk is a gross figure, as the 

risk-bearing financial instruments are measured without tak-

ing account of credit risk mitigating techniques and before 

impairment or write-downs. The gross credit volume is based 

on carrying amounts of loans and loan commitments, and pre-

dominantly on fair value for investment and trading securities 

and regarding derivatives on the credit conversion factor. The 

maximum credit risk amount includes all external credit lines.

Reconciliation of the credit exposure to the balance sheet amount

The credit volume which internal group management is based on 

amounted to € 362.6 billion as at December 31, 2007 (2006: 

€ 347.7 billion). This is divided into the traditional lending busi-

ness (€ 187.4 billion, 2006: € 176.9 billion), securities business 

(€ 156.2 billion, 2006: € 152.8 billion), and derivatives and 

money market business (€ 19.0 billion, 2006: € 18.0 billion), 

which in turn is divided into the derivatives business (€ 6.4 

billion, 2006: € 5.7 billion) and money market business (€ 12.6 

billion, 2006: € 12.3 billion).

As at December 31, 2007 the related balance sheet line items 

reflecting internal credit volume totaled € 419.3 billion (2006: 

€ 402.3 billion). They comprise specifically loans and advances 

to customers (€ 104.6 billion, 2006: € 98.0 billion), loans and 

advances to banks (€ 67.4 billion, 2006: € 62.4 billion), bonds 

and other securities (€ 139.4 billion, 2006: € 141.2 billion), in-

vestments in the insurance business (€ 46.3 billion, 2006: € 43.3 

billion), derivative financial instruments (€ 14.6 billion, 2006: 

€ 12.9 billion), and money market transactions (€ 18.4 billion, 

2006: € 18.7 billion). For internal purposes the traditional lend-

ing business includes loan commitments and financial guaran-

tees (€ 28.6 billion, 2006: € 25.8 billion).

Key reasons for differences between the figures used for 

internal management and external accounting are the dif-

ferences in the scope of consolidation (December 31, 2007: 

€ 2.3 billion, 2006: € 1.7 billion), different definitions of credit 

volume (€ 46.3 billion, 2006: € 43.3 billion) and differences in 

measurement procedures and other factors (€ 8.1 billion, 2006: 

€ 9.6 billion). The key group companies are included in credit 

risk management. For internal management, loans and loan 

commitments are measured at carrying amount, investment 

and trading securities predominantly at fair value and derivative 

financial instruments at credit conversion factor.
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Changes in total credit volume over the year

DZ BANK Group loans and advances increased from € 347.7 bil-

lion by around 4 percent on the previous year to € 362.6 billion, 

primarily due to expansion in the traditional lending business. 

The total balance as at December 31, 2007 in the segments of 

traditional lending, securities and derivatives and money market 

instruments are not significantly different from their respective 

averages for 2007. The average is calculated as the arithmetic 

mean of loans and receivables at the end of each quarter in the 

financial year.

Structure of the total credit portfolio

The industry structure of the credit portfolio shown in the table 

on page 98 maintains the same broad diversification in the 

group from the previous year. The key group companies invest 

their free liquid funds for the most part in securities with good 

credit quality. This is the reason for the high share of loans 

and advances to banks. To perform its tasks as central bank to 

the cooperative financial services network, DZ BANK supplies 

refinancing to the companies in the DZ BANK Group and the 

cooperative banks. This is why loans and advances to coopera-

tive banks are the one of the largest items in the group’s credit 

portfolio. DZ BANK also assists the Volksbank and Raiffeisen-

bank financial institutions with major financing for corporate 

clients. The resulting syndicated business, the direct business 

of DZ BANK and DVB with corporate clients in Germany and 

abroad and the mortgage loan business with retail clients 

bundled in BSH and DG HYP, along with the consumer credit 

business of TeamBank determine the industry structure of the 

rest of the portfolio. 

The table in the middle of the next page shows the geographi-

cal distribution of the credit portfolio by country risk groups. As 

at December 31, 2007 loans to Germany and the other western 

industrialized nations made up the bulk of the total credit vol-

ume at 96 percent (2006: 97 percent). 

A review of the credit portfolio by residual maturity shows that 

the emphasis in the group’s exposure in the traditional lending 

business is on medium to long maturities, while the short matu-

rity band of up to one year is most prominent for money market 

activities. The distribution of credit volume across the various 

maturity bands is shown in the table on page 98.

The diagram at the top of page 99 shows consolidated credit 

volume in the group by GRC rating grouping. The “Other” cat-

egory covers business partners for which no rating is required. 

Rating classes I to III (investment grade) represented the largest 

share of total volume as at December 31, 2007 at 82 percent 

(2006: 83 percent), while credit volume in classes IV to VII 

(non-investment grade and in default) was less significant at 

approximately 17 percent (2006: 16 percent). Impaired loans in 

classes VII had a share of under 1 percent in the total DZ BANK 

Group credit portfolio, and remained at the previous year’s low 

level. 

Based on this credit quality structure, the following tables show 

sections of the total credit portfolio. Total credit volume is 

divided into business of impeccable credit quality and the past 

due and impaired part of the portfolio. The presentations are 

broken down by industry and country structure.

Structure of the loans which are neither past due nor impaired

The two tables on page 100 show the credit volume which 

is neither impaired nor past due as part of the total credit 

portfolio. The credit portfolio with impeccable credit quality is 

unchanged from the previous year at 97 percent and is clearly 

dominant in total credit volume. This is due to the continuing 

risk-conscious lending policy in the group in 2007. 

The significant difference between the total and impeccable 

portfolios in the retail business is due to the fact that Team-

Bank forms portfolio-based loan loss allowances at the time the 

transaction is entered into as a standard procedure, irrespec-

tive of delinquency, financial difficulties or impairment trigger 

event or default. However, for methodological purposes in loan 

loss provisioning, these allowances at TeamBank are viewed as 

impairment allowance. The credit volume of TeamBank with 

such allowance, which is actually impeccable is accordingly not 

presented in the columns “Portfolio which is neither impaired 
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Credit risk concentration by industry

Credit volume 

Traditional lending business Securities business 
Derivatives  

and money market business 

in € billion Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006

Financial sector 65.8 56.8 84.1 85.3 15.7 17.1

Public sector 11.7 12.7 34.9 35.4 0.1 0.1

Corporates 67.2 59.8 12.9 8.1 0.9 0.7

Retail 38.4 40.1 16.9 14.0 0.0 0.0

Industry conglomerates 3.1 5.2 7.4 9.5 2.3 0.1

Other 1.2 2.3 0.0 0.5 0.0 0.0

Total 187.4 176.9 156.2 152.8 19.0 18.0

Credit risk concentration by country group      

Credit volume 

Traditional lending business Securities business 
Derivatives  

and money market business 

in € billion Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006

Germany 144.8 143.7 64.9 68.3 7.3 6.4

EMU countries (exc. Germany) 9.7 8.4 56.4 51.2 7.2 6.4

Other EU countries 5.1 3.9 12.3 11.1 2.3 1.9

Other industrialized nations 14.6 11.2 20.3 20.2 1.5 3.0

Non-industrialized nations 13.2 9.7 2.3 2.0 0.7 0.3

Total 187.4 176.9 156.2 152.8 19.0 18.0

Credit volume by residual maturity

Credit volume 

Traditional lending business Securities business 
Derivatives  

and money market business 

in € billion Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006

≤ 1 year 50.2 44.7 63.3 79.7 18.0 11.2

> 1 year to ≤ 5 years 51.6 53.0 33.6 32.5 0.3 2.0

> 5 years 85.6 79.2 59.3 40.6 0.7 4.8

Total 187.4 176.9 156.2 152.8 19.0 18.0



Credit rating structure of the credit portfolio

Credit volume in € million

160

120

80

 40

0

OtherVIIVIVIVIIIIII

200

Dec. 31, 2007

Dec. 31, 2006

GRC rating grouping

99Group Management Report
Risk Report

nor past due” and the “Retail” row in the tables on page 100. 

The credit volume of TeamBank which is treated in this way 

amounted to € 3.5 billion as at December 31, 2007 (2006: 

€ 3.0 billion).

Structure of the past due but not impaired credit portfolio

The two tables on page 101 show the past due but not im-

paired part of the credit volume and the fair value of collateral. 

The figures essentially refer to the traditional lending business. 

Due to the conservative policy of DZ BANK Group companies 

on allowances for losses on loans and advances, the past due 

exposures represents a relatively small part of the total credit 

portfolio. The degree of cover by collateral for the past due 

portfolio is high at 65 percent (2006: 63 percent). The past 

due credit portfolio with a residual maturity of more than three 

months in the amount of € 336 million (2006: € 410 million) 

is predominantly related to real estate financing arrangements 

backed by real physical collateral.

The renegotiated volume constitutes assets which would be 

past due or impaired if the cash flows had not been structured. 

Renegotiation can include agreement of increased limits, pay-

ment moratoria or modified repayment modalities. Due to early 

and focused assistance with problem exposures and consistent 

workout management, renegotiated volume at DZ BANK Group 

is insignificant. 

Structure of the credit portfolio with specific allowances

The tables on page 102 show credit volume with specific loan 

loss allowances and the matching collateral in this part of the 

portfolio. The figures essentially refer to the traditional lending 

business. Credit transactions in the retail segment are shown as 

loans with portfolio-based allowances. Impaired credit volume 

was calculated at € 5,254 million as at December 31, 2007 

(2006: € 4,976 million). Of this, € 3,491 million (2006: € 3,001 

million) represents retail transactions in the TeamBank portfolio 

which is neither past due, in default nor impaired. However, for 

methodological purposes in loan loss provisioning, these allow-

ances at Team Bank are viewed as impairment allowance and 

are stated as such in the item. Deducting the retail business, the 

actual impaired total credit volume of the group at the end of 

the financial year was € 1,763 million (2006: € 1,975 million).

In the tables showing credit volume and collateral in the 

 impaired portfolio by industry or country group, the “Total 

impairment” column contains potential reversals of specific 
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allowance which have not led to an actual reversal in the 

reporting period. As a result, these amounts are not the same 

as the mathematical difference between the specific impairment 

amount and the total impairment.

Obtained collateral 

Assets obtained in workout situations do not play any significant 

role due to the efficient workout processes at the DZ BANK 

Group. 

ABS portfolio structure

The ABS exposure of DZ BANK Group as at December 31, 2007 

was € 26 billion, of which 85 percent came from AAA tranches. 

An additional 9 percent was AA rated. Accordingly, the pre-

dominant part of the group’s ABS exposure was categorized in 

the top internal rating class (GRC rating grouping I). The major-

ity of ABS assets belonged to European and Asian countries, 

with Europe accounting for more than half of the total. As 

at December 31, 2007, 11 percent of the ABS portfolio was 

comprised of US residential mortgage-backed securities belong-

ing to the subprime segment. Less than one percent of the ABS 

Credit volume by industry of the portfolio which is neither impaired nor past due

Credit volume  

Total portfolio
Portfolio which is neither impaired 

nor past due 

in € billion Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006

Financial sector 165.6 159.3 165.6 159.3

Public sector 46.7 48.1 46.6 48.1

Corporates 80.9 68.7 78.1 65.6

Retail 55.3 54.1 50.0 49.1

Industry conglomerates 12.9 14.8 12.9 14.8

Other 1.2 2.7 1.1 2.6

Total 362.6 347.7 354.3 339.5

Credit volume by country group of the portfolio which is neither impaired nor past due

Credit volume  

Total portfolio
Portfolio which is neither impaired 

nor past due 

in € billion Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006

Germany 217.0 218.3 209.5 210.9

EMU countries (exc. Germany) 73.3 66.0 73.2 65.9

Other EU countries 19.7 17.0 19.4 16.7

Other industrialized nations 36.4 34.4 36.2 34.2

Non-industrialized nations 16.2 12.0 16.0 11.8

Total 362.6 347.7 354.3 339.5
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portfolio was comprised of collateralized debt obligations linked 

to ABS receivables related to the US consumer financing market 

segment. 

Analysis of allowances for losses on loans and advances

The tables on pages 103 to 106 show the reconciliation of the 

alowances accounts (whereby specific allowances include the 

portfolio-based allowance (from TeamBank) and provisions for 

liabilities from loan commitments and financial guarantees in 

the financial year and previous year. The presentation is broken 

down by industry and country group, and the various compo-

nents of loan loss provisioning also disclosed in the notes to the 

Past due but not impaired credit volume and collateral by country group

Credit volume
Fair value  

of collateral  
for past due but 

not impaired 
credit volume

Past due but not impaired credit volume

Past due  
< 5 days

Past due  
> 5 days 

to 1 month

Past due  
> 1 month 

to 2 months

Past due  
> 2 months 
to 3 months

Past due  
> 3 months

in € million
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2006
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2006
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2006
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2006
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2006
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2006

Germany 764 733 187 219 168 165 52 41 321 376 984 1,035

EMU countries (exc. Germany) 10 4 52 3 0 0 1 0 9 20 34 16

Other EU countries 29 20 20 8 0 6 0 0 0 1 0 7

Other industrialized nations 3 16 4 17 0 0 0 0 1 7 5 4

Non-industrialized nations 36 3 7 28 3 10 25 28 5 6 13 16

Total 842 776 270 275 171 181 78 69 336 410 1,036 1,078

Past due but not impaired credit volume and collateral by industry  

Credit volume
Fair value  

of collateral  
for past due but 

not impaired 
credit volume

Past due but not impaired credit volume

Past due  
< 5 days

Past due  
> 5 days 

to 1 month

Past due  
> 1 month 

to 2 months

Past due  
> 2 months 
to 3 months

Past due  
> 3 months

in € million
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2006
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2006
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2006
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2006
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2006
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2006

Financial sector 1 21 1 6 3 0 1 1 6 9 8 29

Public sector 89 26 4 6 5 0 21 22 1 0 80 27

Corporates 305 216 240 214 129 155 42 31 192 225 398 386

Retail 447 513 19 30 21 24 11 12 129 172 530 618

Industry conglomerates 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other 0 0 6 19 13 2 3 3 8 4 20 18

Total 842 776 270 275 171 181 78 69 336 410 1,036 1,078
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consolidated financial statements. The differences between the 

figures shown in the risk report and the notes to the consoli-

dated financial statements are essentially due to differences in 

the scope of consolidation. 

In the financial year, specific loan loss allowance at the DZ BANK 

Group were reduced by a triple-million digit figure, due both 

to releases resulting from successful restructuring efforts as 

well as a relatively small number of current of defaults into the 

healthy portfolio. Because of the loan loss allowance methodol-

ogy employed by TeamBank, it accounted for 40 percent of the 

additions to specific loan loss allowance in the form of portfolio-

based loan loss allowances. Apart from DZ BANK, TeamBank 

again had the greater share of utilizations and reversals on 

specific loan loss allowances.

The provisions shown in the risk report differ in presentation 

from the notes to the consolidated financial statements. Where 

the risk report includes provisions for loan commitments and 

liabilities from financial guarantees and loan commitments, pro-

Credit volume and collateral in the portfolio with specific loan loss allowance by country group

Credit volume of the portfolio with specific loan loss allowance
Fair value of collateral  

for credit volume Total before impairment Total impairment Total after impairment

in € million
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2006
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2006
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2006
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2006

Germany 6,009 5,824 1,305 1,459 4,820 4,514 979 1,151

EMU countries (exc. Germany) 74 93 27 25 45 70 43 57

Other EU countries 210 234 58 70 170 182 121 115

Other industrialized nations 197 206 81 91 120 128 104 103

Non-industrialized nations 159 142 40 43 99 82 91 63

Total 6,649 6,499 1,511 1,688 5,254 4,976 1,338 1,489

Credit volume and collateral in the portfolio with specific loan loss allowance by industry

Credit volume of the portfolio with specific loan loss allowance
Fair value of collateral  

for credit volume Total before impairment Total impairment Total after impairment

in € million
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2006
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2006
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2006
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2006

Financial sector 14 22 20 20 4 8 3 9

Public sector 1 1 0 0 1 0 0 0

Corporates 1,917 2,208 960 1,162 1,028 1,180 652 733

Retail 4,700 4,250 507 497 4,211 3,776 672 735

Industry conglomerates 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other 17 18 24 9 10 12 11 12

Total 6,649 6,499 1,511 1,688 5,254 4,976 1,338 1,489
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visions in the balance sheet comprise the line items “Provisions 

for pensions and other post retirement benefit obligations”, 

“Provisions for onerous contracts”, “Provisions for restructuring 

costs”, “Provisions for loan commitments” and “Other provi-

sions”. Liabilities from financial guarantees and loan commit-

ments are presented under the balance sheet line item “Other 

liabilities”. The provisions shown in the risk report come almost 

entirely from DZ BANK.

Allowance by industry – 2006 financial year

Industry Reconciliation of the allowances for losses on loans and advances

in € million
Jan. 1,  
2006 Additions Utilization Reversals

Changes 
not  

affecting 
net income

Dec. 31, 
2006

Direct 
write-downs

Recoveries 
on written-
off receiva-

bles

Specific loan and loss allowance1

Financial sector 170 6 -153 -2 -1 20 -8 0

Public sector 0 0 0 0 0 0 -2 0

Corporates 1,537 204 -358 -222 1 1,162 -25 13

Retail 636 215 -231 -83 -40 497 -66 16

Industry conglomerates 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other 8 8 -2 -5 0 9 -6 5

Total specific loan loss allowance 2,351 433 -744 -312 -40 1,688 -107 34

Portfolio-based loan loss allowance 252 195 -7 -44 -15 381 0 0

Total allowance 2,603 628 -751 -356 -55 2,069 -107 34

1   including aggregated specific loan loss allowance

Allowance by industry – 2007 financial year

Industry Reconciliation of the allowances for losses on loans and advances

in € million
Jan. 1,  
2007 Additions Utilization Reversals

Changes 
not  

affecting 
net income

Dec. 31, 
2007

Direct 
write-downs

Recoveries 
on written-
off receiva-

bles

Specific loan and loss allowance1

Financial sector 20 6 -1 -4 -1 20 0 0

Public sector 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Corporates 1,162 152 -172 -161 -21 960 24 5

Retail 497 279 -123 -149 3 507 50 14

Industry conglomerates 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other 9 22 -1 -4 -2 24 0 1

Total specific loan loss allowance 1,688 459 -297 -318 -21 1,511 74 20

Portfolio-based loan loss allowance 381 101 0 -158 0 324 0 0

Total allowance 2,069 560 -297 -476 -21 1,835 74 20

1   including aggregated specific loan loss allowance
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Provisions for loan commitments and liabilities arising from financial guarantees from loan commitments by industry –  

2006 financial year

Reconciliation of the provisions

in € million
Jan. 1,  
2006 Additions Utilization Reversals

Changes 
not  

affecting 
net income

Dec. 31, 
2006

Financial sector 33 0 -7 -2 -1 23

Public sector 0 0 0 0 0 0

Corporates 124 7 -9 -47 -2 73

Retail 2 0 0 0 -1 1

Industry conglomerates 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other 13 6 0 -6 -1 12

Total 172 13 -16 -55 -5 109

Provisions for loan commitments and liabilities arising from financial guarantees and loan commitments by industry –  

2007 financial year

Reconciliation of the provisions

in € million
Jan. 1,  
2007 Additions Utilization Reversals

Changes 
not  

affecting 
net income

Dec. 31, 
2007

Financial sector 23 0 -5 -2 -1 15

Public sector 0 0 0 0 0 0

Corporates 73 4 -4 -19 19 73

Retail 1 0 0 0 0 1

Industry conglomerates 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other 12 63 0 0 0 75

Total 109 67 -9 -21 18 164

The generally positive trend in loss provisioning was a result of 

the measured risk policy followed over the past several years. 

Over the medium term, it is expected that the net additions to 

specific loan loss allowance will approach the level of standard 

risk costs.
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Allowance by country group – 2007 financial year

Country group Reconciliation of allowances for losses on loans and advances

in € million
Jan. 1,  
2007 Additions Utilization Reversals

Changes 
not  

affecting 
net income

Dec. 31, 
2007

Direct 
write-downs

Recoveries 
on written-
off receiva-

bles

Specific loan loss allowances1

Germany 1,459 394 -282 -259 -7 1,305 61 20

EMU countries (exc. Germany) 25 8 -2 -2 -2 27 2 0

Other EU countries 70 30 -10 -31 -1 58 11 0

Other industrialized nations 91 24 -3 -25 -6 81 0 0

Non-industrialized nations 43 3 0 -1 -5 40 0 0

Total specific allowances 1,688 459 -297 -318 -21 1,511 74 20

Portfolio-based loan loss allowance 381 101 0 -158 0 324 0 0

Total allowances 2,069 560 -297 -476 -21 1,835 74 20

1   including aggregated specific allowances

Allowance by country group – 2006 financial year

Country group Reconciliation of allowances for losses on loans and advances

in € million
Jan. 1,  
2006 Additions Utilization Reversals

Changes 
not  

affecting 
net income

Dec. 31, 
2006

Direct 
write-downs

Recoveries 
on written-
off receiva-

bles

Specific loan loss allowances1

Germany 2,077 379 -711 -265 -21 1,459 95 27

EMU countries (exc. Germany) 36 11 -1 -17 -4 25 0 0

Other EU countries 87 15 -20 -10 -2 70 9 0

Other industrialized nations 107 22 -10 -18 -10 91 1 5

Non-industrialized nations 44 6 -2 -2 -3 43 2 2

Total specific allowances 2,351 433 -744 -312 -40 1,688 107 34

Portfolio-based loan loss allowance 252 195 -7 -44 -15 381 0 0

Total allowances 2,603 628 -751 -356 -55 2,069 107 34

1   including aggregated specific allowances
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Conclusions and outlook

In the reporting period the DZ BANK internal rating system was 

supplemented by a special rating system for acquisition financ-

ing. In addition, the rating system for major clients which had 

been in use for several years was fundamentally revised. The 

focus in 2007 in management of traditional lending collateral 

was again on further improving the quality of data. This par-

ticularly reflects the new requirements for credit risk mitigation 

techniques arising out of the Solvency Ordinance. Integration 

of trading transactions for the purpose of collateralization was 

implemented, as was an option for collateralizing credit transac-

tions through trading transactions.

It is planned to further develop internal rating systems in 2008 

for special segments, e.g. transactions with investment funds 

with default risk, in order to complete DZ BANK’s range of 

internal rating systems. In the retail business, introduction of a 

scorecard is also planned to identify the likelihood of fraud in 

the installment credit business. Rating systems already used in 

Provisions for loan commitments and liabilities arising from financial guarantees and loan commitments by country group – 

2006 financial year

Reconciliation of the provisions

in € million
Jan. 1,  
2006 Additions Utilization Reversals

Changes 
not  

affecting 
net income

Dec 31, 
2006

Germany 148 7 -16 -48 -4 87

EMU countries (exc. Germany) 0 0 0 0 1 1

Other EU countries 1 0 0 -1 0 0

Other industrialized nations 9 0 0 0 -1 8

Non-industrialized nations 14 6 0 -6 -1 13

Total 172 13 -16 -55 -5 109

Provisions for loan commitments and liabilities arising from financial guarantees and loan commitments by country group – 

2007 financial year

Reconciliation of the provisions

in € million
Jan. 1,  
2007 Additions Utilization Reversals

Changes 
not  

affecting 
net income

Dec 31, 
2007

Germany 87 4 -9 -20 19 81

EMU countries (exc. Germany) 1 0 0 -1 0 0

Other EU countries 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other industrialized nations 8 0 0 0 -1 7

Non-industrialized nations 13 63 0 0 0 76

Total 109 67 -9 -21 18 164
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internal management will be integrated into the IRB approval 

process during 2008 so that they can be used in the capital 

adequacy process. It is also intended to carry out further group-

wide standardization in 2008 for common documentation of 

rating migration and default risk based on the mark-to-market 

credit portfolio model. At DZ BANK level these developments 

will lead to the integration of rating migration and default risks 

into the market price risk model which has been recognized for 

regulatory purposes. 

The collateral management system at DZ BANK will be further 

developed in 2008. Further optimization of reporting structures 

is also planned in internal credit risk reporting.

4. Equity risk

Equity risk is the risk of unexpected losses due to a decline 

in the fair value of investments below their carrying amount. 

Equity risks are always calculated for investments not under the 

purview of Board committee management. Equity risks arise out 

of equity investments which, due to their small share in the total 

equity of the companies in question, do not establish rights of 

information and control. Equity risks arise in DZ BANK Group 

primarily at DZ BANK.

The equity investments shown in the banking book are primarily 

held for strategic reasons. The companies in which DZ BANK 

holds strategic investments generally cover markets, market 

segments or parts of the value chain where the Bank itself or 

the Volksbank and Raiffeisenbank financial institutions are not 

active. These investments support the marketing activities of the 

cooperative banks or help reduce costs by bundling functions. 

The investment strategy is continuously aligned with the needs 

of cooperative financial services network policy. 

Decisions on acquiring or disposing of investments are made 

by the Board of Managing Directors in consultation with the 

responsible boards. The staff position is primarily responsible 

for the operational management of companies in which equity 

interests are held. Quantitative measurement and monitoring of 

equity risks is the responsibility of Controlling, which keeps the 

staff department, Board of Managing Directors and Supervisory 

Board informed of the results of quantitative measurement and 

monitoring of equity risks through quarterly reports.

The equity risk is measured as value-at-risk based on a variance-

covariance approach. The economic capital requirement for 

equity risk at DZ BANK was measured at € 881 million as at 

December 31, 2007, down from the previous year’s level of 

€ 548 million. The DZ BANK upper loss limit for the financial 

year was € 918 million (2006: € 689 million). The significant 

increase in risk during the year is primarily due to strategic 

changes in capital as well as a heightened risk level in the wake 

of the current crisis on the financial markets. The volume of 

investments in companies outside the group as at December 31, 

2007 was € 2,671 million (December 31, 2006: € 2,341 million). 

This increase in volume is both a result of strategic changes in 

capital as well as planned growth in the carrying amount of 

equity holdings.

5. Market price risk

Definition and sources 

Market price risk comprises the market price risk in the narrow 

sense of the term and market liquidity risk together.

Market price risk in the narrow sense of the term – described 

below as market price risk – is the risk of loss due to adverse 

movements in market prices or parameters influencing prices. 

Depending on the underlying influences, market price risk is 

subdivided into interest rate risk, credit spread risk, share risk, 

currency risk and commodities price risk. 

At DZ BANK Group, market price risks arise primarily out of 

trading for clients and on own account, out of the credit busi-

ness and out of the real estate business of DZ BANK, BSH and 

DG HYP. The investments of R+V contribute to the group’s mar-
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ket price exposure too. Market price risks also arise out of issues 

of liabilities by group companies. The most significant type of 

market price risk at DZ BANK is credit spread risk.

Market liquidity risk is the risk of loss due to adverse changes in 

market liquidity, such as a reduction in market depth or market 

disruptions. Market liquidity risk was assigned to market price 

risk in the year; until last year, it was managed as part of liquid-

ity risk. 

Market price risk strategy

For DZ BANK, BSH, DG HPY and R+V the principle is that market 

price risks may only be accepted upon consideration of the as-

sociated opportunities and within existing limits. 

The trading activities of the group are primarily bundled at 

DZ BANK. In its trading departments the bank accepts market 

price risks for the most part to assist client business and gener-

ate additional revenue outside the client business. The bank’s 

core competence in trading for clients is its ability to accept and 

manage risks in order to offer a product range aligned with 

client demand. The DZ BANK trading strategy is accordingly 

to seek profits primarily through client and structural margins. 

Open market price risk positions result here primarily from hold-

ings of securities in trading for clients and relate to the credit 

spread risk. In addition, there are credit quality related market 

price risks in trading on own account with securities held in the 

collateral pool. The collateral pool acts as a liquidity reserve, 

supporting the liquidity management function of DZ BANK as a 

central and commercial bank. The bank also uses the collat-

eral pool to generate additional margin revenue outside client 

business.

DZ BANK manages market price risk in the credit business and 

own issues as part of the non-trading portfolio and also accepts 

market price risks from holding issues of the primary banks and 

group subsidiaries. In addition, strategic market price risks are 

established in non-trading portfolios which are managed by the 

Bank’s Treasury Committee. The market price risk of the non-

trading portfolio is primarily determined by the credit spread 

risk.

BSH is subject to specific interest rate risks from home saving 

loan business and savings business, as a binding interest rate 

guarantee is given here for both the deposits and loans, with 

possible utilization in the future. The risk strategy focuses on 

limiting the market price risks resulting from this core business. 

The home loan and savings association does not engage in any 

trading on own account in the sense of generating short-term 

price fluctuations.

DG HYP engages in trading transactions as defined by MaRisk as 

part of the refinancing needs of its lending business, to manage 

covering assets, to manage the income statement under Ger-

man GAAP and IFRS and to manage the overall risk position and 

liquidity situation of DG HYP. This is done within the restrictions 

on the bank as a non-trading book institution.

The market price risk strategy for investments in connection 

with R+V insurance activities is determined by the provisions of 

the Ordinance on the Investment of Restricted Assets of Insur-

ance Undertakings and the principles and regulations applying 

to restricted assets. Under these rules, insurance companies 

are obliged to invest holdings from collateral assets and other 

restricted assets so that maximum security and profitability is 

achieved together with liquidity of the insurance policies at all 

times, with regard to appropriate mix and diversification. In ad-

dition, under asset liability management there is institutionalized 

cooperation between the actuarial and investment departments 

at R+V which ensures that benefit obligations from insurance 

policies are matched with possible investments.

The market price risks entered into by R+V reflect the portfo-

lio structure of investments developed by R+V in the context 

of “strategic asset allocation”, with due regard to specific 

risk-bearing capacity and long term revenue requirements for 

the group companies. These are managed in compliance with 

the group-wide ceilings for losses set in the framework of risk 

management generally.
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Organization and responsibility

For the purposes of group-wide market price risk management, 

market price risks are broken down into banking business, home 

loan and savings and insurance operations on the basis of the 

nature of the underlying transactions. Market price risk from 

banking business comprises items in the trading departments 

and non-trading portfolios of DZ BANK Group where the risk is 

determined mainly by DZ BANK and DG HYP. Market price risks 

from the home loan and savings and insurance business arise at 

BSH and at R+V.

At DZ BANK as the trading book institution, the market price 

risk is managed decentrally by portfolios, where the portfolio 

managers are responsible for risk and performance. Manage-

ment of interest rate risk at BSH is carried out at the level of the 

bank as a whole, and entirely in the framework of the banking 

book. Market price risk at DG HYP is managed centrally by a 

committee which sets guidelines for the bank’s treasury activities 

on the basis of daily reporting on the total portfolio of DG HYP. 

Operational implementation of the decision is handled by the 

Treasury department of DG HYP. R+V manages market price risk 

at the level of the individual companies.

Market price risk reporting

The key figures for market price risk are presented at group level 

to the Group Risk Committee as part of quarterly reporting on 

group risk. Limit overruns by group companies are notified to 

DZ BANK under ad hoc reporting.

Within the credit institutions in the DZ BANK Group, risk con-

trolling keeps the members of senior management responsible 

for risk management and controlling and the portfolio manag-

ers informed of market price risk on a daily, weekly or monthly 

basis as part of management reporting.

At R+V, members of senior management of the individual 

companies receive monthly reports on risk management and 

portfolio management of the investments. In addition, the cen-

tral risk management committee at R+V (the “risk conference”) 

is notified quarterly.

Management of market price risks

Market price risk is determined using the value-at-risk method, 

where the value is calculated for the group as a whole and for 

each consolidated company. DZ BANK uses a process which 

corresponds in principle to the internal risk model. The internal 

model is approved by BaFin for calculating capital requirements 

for general and specific market price risk under the Solvency 

Ordinance. Here, value-at-risk is calculated daily using historical 

simulation with a 99.00 percent confidence level over a one-

year observation period for a holding period of 10 trading days.

In contrast to the provisions of the Solvency Ordinance, value-

at-risk at DZ BANK is calculated for the purpose of market price 

risk management at all levels of the portfolio hierarchy with a 

holding period of one trading day. The banking book items are 

included in the calculation of value-at-risk, again in contrast to 

regulatory reporting.

The value-at-risk of the interest rate risk is calculated globally 

for all portfolios of the companies DZ BANK, BSH, DG HYP, DVB, 

DZ Ireland, DZI and TeamBank. The risk for the companies is 

summarized by simply adding the figures for group value-at-risk. 

At DZ BANK a one-day interest fixing is assumed for balances on 

nostro and loro accounts. Fixed-interest credit transactions are 

included in interest rate risk management with their final matu-

rity. Variable interest credit transactions are shown at the next 

rollover date. At BSH and DG HYP, interest rate risk is calculated 

daily as value-at-risk. BSH is subject to specific interest rate risk 

from collective home loan and savings operations, as a binding 

interest rate guarantee is given for both the deposit and loan, 

with possible utilization in the future. In identifying interest rate 

risk at the home loan and savings lender, a number of different 

scenarios are considered as based on assumptions about cus-



110   DZ BANK Annual Report 2007

tomer behavior and the building and loan business anticipated 

in the future. The assumptions are based on detailed analysis 

of past client behavior. DG HYP does not make any assumptions 

about future unscheduled repayments, as there are no indefinite 

deposits.

To measure the market price risks resulting from investments at 

R+V, the insurer carries out scenario analyses using the follow-

ing assumptions. For shares held directly and through funds, 

the effect of a 20 percent change in price is simulated on the 

fair value of these items. For fixed-interest securities, registered 

bonds, promissory notes and loans, the effects are calculated of 

a one-percent upward shift in the interest rate curve on the fair 

value of the securities and loans. In addition, a duration analysis 

is carried out regularly on holdings of fixed-interest securities 

and loans. The capital requirement for market price risks at 

R+V, which cannot exceed the upper loss limit as part of risk 

capital management, is calculated on the basis of a value-at-risk 

approach, along with a confidence level of 99.90 percent and a 

holding period of one year.

In some companies of the DZ BANK Group, market price risks 

are also calculated using the standard method. This is done 

solely for regulatory purposes, as the standard method is not 

used for internal risk management. The calculation is done for 

the trading books set up using regulatory criteria. The banking 

books of the group financial institutions are also considered in 

calculating currency and commodity position risks, which are 

also measured using the standard method.

Market price risk is managed in the majority of banking sub-

sidiaries through a limit system corresponding to the portfolio 

structure. The limit system restricts not only the risk accepted 

in parts of the group but also any losses arising in the course 

of the financial year. In DZ BANK trading departments, risk 

management based on value-at-risk is supported by limits based 

on sensitivities and scenarios. The market price risks at R+V are 

limited by a system of group-wide upper loss limits.

Market price risk mitigation

Hedging market price risks at DZ BANK and DG HYP is based on 

sensitivities and is done either through internal transactions with 

the trading department responsible for the product’s market 

presence, or through exchange. At R+V, market price risks are 

also hedged through public stock markets.

Market price risk measurement includes the individual items 

subject to market price risk. Monitoring the effectiveness of 

hedge accounting is only required if the individual positions are 

not included. At DZ BANK this is the case with back-to-back and 

repackaging transactions, which exist on a minor scale. Monitor-

ing the effectiveness of hedge accounting is done by the unit in 

risk controlling responsible for the portfolio in question.

At DG HYP the effectiveness of hedging is monitored and 

reported on a daily basis with regard to both risk and perfor-

mance. The report covers the entire DG HYP book. A wide 

range of derivatives in various forms is used to mitigate market 

price risks.

Back testing and stress tests

Back testing is used to check the predictive quality of value-at-

risk approaches. Daily gains and losses are compared with the 

value-at-risk figures calculated using risk modeling. As part of 

an annual appropriateness review, comprehensive statistical 

tests are carried out on the predictive quality of risk modeling.

The stress tests performed at DZ BANK Group allow extreme 

market movements to be taken into account. Crisis scenarios 

include simulating wide fluctuations in risk factors and are used 

to identify potential losses which cannot be captured through 

value-at-risk. In the course of the stress tests, extreme market 

movements from the past are used together with crisis scenarios 

which are seen as having economic relevance, independent 

of market data history. Simulated losses based on stress tests 

are continuously used to check the appropriateness of internal 

limits.
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The procedure described for back testing and stress tests relates 

to both the calculation of capital requirements using the internal 

risk model approved under the Solvency Ordinance as well as to 

the value-at-risk approaches, which are used solely for internal 

market price risk management.

At R+V, the annual stress tests required by BaFin are used to 

check whether the insurance company would be able to meet 

its commitments to policyholders despite a lasting crisis situation 

in the capital market. R+V performs these stress tests on the ba-

sis of the value-at-risk approach which is also used to calculate 

the risk capital requirement.

As part of the Group Risk Quarterly Report, the subsidiaries 

report to the parent company on overruns of bank-specific 

value-at-risk identified in back testing and simulated potential 

losses in stress tests.

Analysis of market price risks

The capital requirement for market price risks stayed within the 

upper loss limit at all times during the year in both the group’s 

banking business and its home loans and savings and insurance 

business. The table below shows the year-end figures for the 

year and previous year. Due to changes in the portfolio struc-

ture, the risk capital requirement shown for December 31, 2006 

is not directly comparable to the figures shown in the previous 

year’s Risk Report.

The increase in the risk capital requirement for the group’s bank-

ing business over the course of the year is primarily attributable 

to the considerable widening in credit spreads, which in turn 

was caused by the crisis on the financial markets which began 

in mid-2007. The rise in the corresponding upper loss limit is 

equally a consequence of the turbulence on the markets. There 

was a slight increase in risk for the investments in the home 

loans and savings and insurance business, which resulted from 

a higher volume of business. Thanks to refinements in risk mea-

surement processes, the upper loss limit for this segment was 

lowered from last year’s level.

The changes in value-at-risk for the various kinds of market 

price risk for the trading departments and non-trading portfolios

of DZ BANK Group during the year are shown in the table on 

page 112. The changes in the total value-at-risk for the trading 

departments are shown in the chart on page 112 as well. Both 

the rise in the measured risk values as well as the associated 

sharp widening in credit spreads are mostly due to the crisis on 

the financial markets.

The rise in the capital requirement for market price risks made it 

necessary to adjust the corresponding upper loss limit in several 

companies. The need for this decision was notified to manage-

ment in part through the ad hoc reporting system. The increased 

limit for market price risks was implemented at the level of the 

individual companies by reallocating it between the types of risk 

in the framework of company-specific upper loss limits. As a re-

sult of these measures, compliance with the limits was ensured 

at all times during the year at the level of group companies.

Upper loss limits and capital requirement for market price risks by business type    

in € million Upper loss limit Risk capital requirement

 Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006

Banking 1,327 742 974 359

Home loan and savings and insurance 1,875 2,030 1,346 1,224

Total 3,202 2,772 2,320 1,583



Value-at-risk in trading operations

Maximum Minimum

in € million; 99.00% confidence level, 1 trading day as holding period

50

40

30

20

10

0

Jan 07 Feb 07 Mar 07 Apr 07 May 07 Jun 07 Jul 07 Aug 07 Sep 07 Oct 07 Nov 07 Dec 07

AverageValue-at-Risk

112   DZ BANK Annual Report 2007

Market liquidity risk

Market liquidity risk is the responsibility of the portfolio manag-

ers in charge of market price risk management. In the DZ BANK 

Group, market liquidity risk arises primarily from securities with 

a correlation to credit quality which are held in the DZ BANK 

and DG HYP collateral pool. The securities which are more 

subject to market liquidity risk are asset-backed securities. In the 

Value-at-risk in the banking business1

in € million
Interest  
rate risk Spread risk Stock risk Currency risk

Commodity 
risk

Diversifica-
tion effect 2 Total

Trading departments

Dec. 31, 2007 4 49 5 2 1 -15 46

Average 4 28 4 1 1 -9 28

Maximum 9 51 7 4 1 -18 47

Minimum 2 19 2 0 0 -3 17

Dec. 31, 2006 5 20 2 0 0 -4 24

Non-trading portfolios

Dec. 31, 2007 22 16 6 3 1 -6 41

Average 22 15 8 3 1 -12 36

Maximum 48 17 11 4 1 -21 57

Minimum 9 13 5 2 1 -2 23

Dec. 31,2006 10 13 6 3 1 -9 24

1  Value-at-risk at a confidence level of 99%, 1 day holding period, 1 year observation interval as well as on the basis of company-specific models. The banking business includes the following  
companies additively: DZ BANK, DG HYP, DVB, DZI, DZ Ireland, TeamBank and Union Asset Management Holding.

2 Total diversification effects among market price risk types of all group companies included      
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course of the financial market crisis, there was also a shortage 

of market liquidity for securities classes which had previously 

been regarded as highly liquid. These are primarily unsecured 

bank bonds and Jumbo Pfandbrief securities from Spanish and 

Anglo-American issuers. These securities are held for the pur-

pose of DZ BANK’s trading for clients to meet client demand as 

well as in the DZ BANK and DG HYP collateral pool.

The investment policy of DG HYP Treasury limits investments in 

securities eligible for ECB rediscount which can be liquidated at 

any time. With regard to using acquired securities as replace-

ment cover, the relevant provisions of the Pfandbrief Act are 

complied with. Certain securities in the ABS portfolio held for 

strategic considerations also contain market liquidity risks.

Conclusions and outlook

In the course of the ongoing crisis on the financial markets 

which began in mid-2007, a general increase in risk factors was 

registered on the capital market which led to greater market 

price risk in both the trading departments and non-traded 

portfolio at the DZ BANK Group. The primary reason for this rise 

in risk were mark-ups on the credit spreads of bank bonds and 

asset-backed securities. This phase of heightened market price 

risk is expected to continue into 2008.

For 2008, the focus of the trading business in DZ BANK will 

be on the customer business. In addition, the strategy of using 

credit rated securities as a liquidity reserve in the collateral pool 

and as a means of achieving additional margins will be contin-

ued. As part of the investment banking growth initiative, there 

will be a risk-controlled and selective expansion of market price 

risk. The DZ BANK Group will continue to follow its market price 

risk strategy of past years, with limits being defined on the basis 

of the group’s risk-bearing capacity.

In 2008, the management system for market price risks will be 

expanded. As part of that effort, it is planned to augment the 

DZ BANK internal risk model by event risk. After this addition, 

abrupt and relatively rare market price changes due to events 

such as rating changes, profit warnings or the insolvency of an 

issuer can be taken into account in risk modeling.

In addition, it is planned for market price risk limitation at 

DZ BANK to also take into account correlation and hedging 

effects in setting limits for the individual sub-portfolios. This 

procedure is used to make even more efficient use of the risk 

capital provided for market price risks. Economic losses will also 

be limited at the level of the overall bank and not at the level of 

the sub-portfolios.

6. Liquidity risk

Definition and sources 

Liquidity risk is the risk that cash and cash equivalents will not 

be available in sufficient amounts to meet payment obligations. 

In the risk management process, a distinction is made between 

“operational” and “structural liquidity”. Operational liquidity in-

volves managing cash flows, while structural liquidity focuses on 

management of the maturity structure and the collateral pool.

Liquidity risks arise out of the mismatch in time and amount 

between investing and obtaining liquidity and the grant of 

liquidity options, for example in the form of irrevocable liquidity 

commitments. The maturity and creditor structure of money and 

capital market refinancing and eligibility for pledging securities 

holdings are the essential factors in liquidity risks.

Group liquidity risk is essentially determined by DZ BANK, BSH 

and DG HYP.

Liquidity risk strategy

The task of liquidity risk management is to ensure the solvency 

of DZ BANK Group overall as well as at the level of group 

companies at all times and in all currencies. This also includes 

the ability to meet all cash outflows in a timely manner which 

arise in a crisis scenario in addition to normal circumstances. The 
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indirect function of liquidity risk management is stabilizing and 

improving the bank’s own ratings and securing its reputation 

with clients and investors.

Liquidity is seen as a type of risk which must be considered 

separately, and is actively managed with the goal of achieving a 

lasting reduction in refinancing costs. At group level, individual 

companies are accordingly supplied by DZ BANK with refinanc-

ing (group refinancing) or exchange funds between themselves 

through DZ BANK (group clearing). The key activities in secured 

and unsecured interbank refinancing are bundled at DZ BANK. 

Local refinancing advantages in terms of currencies and clients 

are utilized by individual group companies and within DZ BANK 

through the Treasury departments of the international branches. 

This approach is taken to avoid price differences which would 

arise out of an independent presence in the market. At the level 

of the individual group companies, liquidity costs are settled 

between the units generating and using liquidity, in order to 

optimize transparency of results through transfer prices.

Organization and responsibility

The strategic guidelines for managing liquidity risk at group 

level are established by the Group Risk Committee. Based 

on this, the group’s liquidity risk management is coordinated 

centrally through the market working group in the DZ BANK 

Treasury department. Liquidity risk management of group 

companies is done decentrally at DZ BANK and in the individual 

group subsidiaries. 

The group risk cost management working group acts as the 

platform for group-wide coordination of liquidity risk con-

trolling. Liquidity risk controlling is done by the controlling 

department independently of the units responsible for liquidity 

risk management, and is handled decentrally at DZ BANK and 

the group subsidiaries. DZ BANK consolidates the results of 

the controlling activities of the individual group companies in a 

group overview.

The strategic guidelines for liquidity risk management are 

established at the level of DZ BANK by the Treasury Committee. 

Liquidity risk management is done decentrally by the head office 

Treasury department in Frankfurt and the Treasury departments 

of the international branches in London, New York, Singapore 

and Hong Kong. Decentralized business activities are handled 

centrally by the head office Treasury department, following the 

“global head” principle. Liquidity risk controlling is performed 

centrally by the head office Risk Controlling department.

Management of liquidity risks

Liquidity up to one year

Monitoring liquidity up to one year is done through the liquidity 

forecast, which is prepared on a daily, weekly or monthly basis. 

At DZ  BANK, daily reporting compares cumulated liquidity flows 

(“forward cash exposure”) with the available liquidity reserves 

(“counterbalancing capacity”). The reports consider a normal 

scenario as well as selected stress scenarios, and cover both ex-

pected and unexpected liquidity figures. The report covers major 

positions of DZ BANK and payment flows from clearing with 

group subsidiaries. Limits are set using the “minimum liquidity” 

surplus ratio. The liquidity surplus is forecast over a 12-month 

period.

Intraday liquidity is ensured through ongoing management of 

accounts at the head office and correspondence banks in Ger-

many and internationally by the units responsible for liquidity 

management in the group companies.

Besides the internal management instruments, short-term liquid-

ity risk is also limited by regulatory requirements. This applies 

to key domestic and foreign subsidiaries, which are subject 

to corresponding national regulatory requirements for liquid-

ity monitoring. Under these, a bank’s liquidity is regarded as 

adequate if the liquidity ratio (to be reported monthly to the 

regulatory authority) does not drop below 1. The liquidity ratio 

is the ratio of the funds available in the first maturity band and 

the payment obligations callable during the period. During the 

financial year the domestic financial institutions in the DZ BANK 
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Group complied at all times with the provisions of Art. 11 of the 

German Banking Act (KWG) in combination with the Liquidity 

Ordinance.

As part of group-wide reporting on liquidity risk, the data 

required by the Liquidity Ordinance for the domestic subsidiaries 

with banking licenses and the comparable values for the foreign 

subsidiaries and non-bank companies in the DZ BANK Group 

are consolidated with the corresponding figures for DZ BANK 

quarterly. Based on this, a liquidity ratio based on the require-

ments of the Liquidity Ordinance is calculated which enables 

identification of any liquidity risks which pose a risk to the group 

as a going concern.

The above table shows the liquidity ratios of the DZ BANK 

Group, calculated based on the requirements of the Liquidity 

Ordinance ratio. Due to liquidity outflows at the end of the 

financial year, the ratios were higher during the year than at 

year end.

Overall liquidity movements

To manage overall liquidity movements, statements of changes 

in liquidity are drawn up by the key subsidiaries at least monthly. 

These reports are sent to the boards responsible for strategic li-

quidity positioning. Strategically undesirable shortages in liquid-

ity are made up by managing issuing and redemption. Liquidity 

management also involves setting internal transaction rates for 

asset and liability transactions which tie up liquidity.

Refinancing

Short and medium-term refinancing is based on an appropriately 

broad diversification in terms of regions, investors, markets, 

products and maturities. The deposits at cooperative banking 

financial institutions are a key source of refinancing. The table 

below shows the breakdown of material unsecured short and 

medium term refinancing, compared to the previous year.

As it is only possible to obtain unsecured liquidity to a limited 

extent on the money market, the Treasury department carries 

out monthly structural analyses of detailed resources on the 

liabilities side. These are used for management information and 

are the basis for active management of the liability profile.

To secure liquidity on an ongoing basis, there are portfolios 

available with securities eligible for central bank rediscounting 

which can be sold quickly or used as collateral for refinancing 

in central bank operations, for bilateral repos or in the tri-party 

repo market (secured refinancing). In the event of a short-term 

Liquidity ratios

Dec. 31, 2007  Sep. 30, 2007 June 30, 2007  Mar. 31, 2007  Dec. 31, 2006

Maturity band up to 1 month 1.11 1.28 1.32 1.30 1.16

Non-collateralized short and medium-term refinancing

in % Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006

Cooperative banks 34 28 

Inter-banks 34 37 

Corporate customers 23 19 

Commercial paper/Certificates of deposit 9 16 
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need for liquidity, securities from the trading departments of 

DZ BANK which are not refinanced through repo activities can 

be used for intraday liquidity management.

Long-term refinancing is secured through structured and un-

structured capital market products which are mainly marketed 

through Depot A and Depot B of the Volksbank and Raiffeisen-

bank financial institutions and through institutional clients in 

Germany and abroad. Both DZ BANK and DG HYP have the 

option of obtaining liquidity through covered issues. This is done 

through DZ BANK BRIEFE and DG HYP Pfandbrief securities. In 

this case, refinancing is primarily through institutional investors.

Liquidity risk mitigation 

Through the structurally matched refinancing and investment 

of the assets and liabilities which are a source of liability, the 

maintenance of collateral pools and the diversification of the 

liability profile in the money market in terms of creditor groups, 

DZ BANK Group has a comprehensive range of instruments to 

mitigate the liquidity risk. There are liquidity emergency plans 

for responding quickly and in a coordinated manner to crisis 

events, which are reviewed annually.

Conclusions and outlook

During the financial year, implementation of regular reporting 

of liquidity data for the group subsidiaries to DZ BANK on the 

basis of uniform group guidelines was substantially completed. 

Liquidity risk management at the level of DZ BANK will be 

further expanded in 2008. Specifically, it is planned to replace 

quarterly group reporting based on the standard procedure set 

down by the Liquidity Ordinance with daily risk measurement 

and monitoring based on the internal liquidity risk model.

Liquidity management at DZ BANK Group followed usual daily 

processes throughout the crisis on the financial markets during 

the second half of 2007. Recourse to liquidity emergency plans 

was not necessary. The liquidity gaps revealed by the statements 

of changes in liquidity do not indicate any mismatches in the 

refinancing structure which would pose a risk to the group as 

a going concern in 2008. The stress tests for liquidity up to one 

year performed at the level of DZ BANK still show surplus liquid-

ity even with very unlikely crisis events. Scenarios used as part of 

the stress tests exceed the effects of the current financial market 

crisis substantially, both in terms of scope and character.

7. Insurance risk

Definition and sources 

Insurance risks represent the possibility of unexpected losses 

from the insurance business. In the DZ BANK Group, insurance 

risks arise out of the business activities of the insurance subsid-

iary R+V. They result mainly from premium and reserve risk, and 

risk from natural hazards, as well as “life” insurance risk and 

default risk for reinsurance.

Strategy for insurance risk

The primary goal of managing actuarial risk at R+V is to ensure 

a broad balance of risk across all lines of business, between 

non-life and personal insurance. This is achieved through a well-

diversified product portfolio, a focus on private clients and the 

agricultural sector as well as SMEs. In personal insurance with 

its sub-segments of life and health insurance, the aim is to grow 

the business with unit-linked insurance policies and products 

that generate risk profits. To make risks arising from the non-life 

segment manageable, R+V uses a broad-based range of tools to 

manage and mitigate risk. Creating and securing an income and 

risk-optimized target portfolio is the main focus in assumed rein-

surance, a goal which can be achieved through growth in profit-

able operations and effective cycle and portfolio management.

Organization, responsibility and reporting

R+V’s Board of Managing Directors sets the business strategy 

and corporate goals and resulting risk strategy for corporate 

planning. Insurance risk is managed by the R+V Board of Manag-

ing Directors, which has set up committees to assist it in its deci-
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sions. The information from the committees is reviewed by the 

Board of Managing Directors. If necessary, appropriate decisions 

are taken on this basis. Every committee has a member of the 

Board of Managing Directors in a senior position. The informa-

tion from the committees is also incorporated in the overall risk 

review by the risk conference.

The risk management process which is organized across compa-

ny boundaries establishes rules for dealing with risks and is the 

basis for a central early warning system. Based on predefined 

binding ratios and thresholds, an updated index is produced 

quarterly for all significant risks at R+V Insurance group. If the 

index exceeds a certain value, appropriate measures are taken. 

The risk conference, which meets regularly, and central risk 

reporting to the Board of Managing Directors together ensure 

that risks are identified, evaluated and controlled in a timely 

manner. Concentration of risks, which arise from different de-

partements are made transparent at the risk conference. Where 

changes in risks pose a threat to the group’s going concern, ad 

hoc reports are submitted in exceptional cases to the responsible 

member of the Board of Managing Directors and the head of 

the risk conference.

Management of Insurance risks

Risk management in direct life and health insurance

The insurance risk situation in life insurance is primarily charac-

terized by the long term nature of the benefits guaranteed for 

the insured event given agreed fixed premiums.

To ensure the capability to meet all benefit obligations under in-

surance policies, provisions are recognized. Calculation of these 

provisions is based on assumptions about the future evolution 

of biometric risks, investment income and costs, allowing for 

lapse risk. These assumptions are quantified in such a way that 

they cover not only the current risk situation but also a possible 

risk of change. The risk that the assumptions will change over 

time is made manageable by careful product development and 

actuarial controlling systems.

The risk that future return investment income will fall short of 

the guaranteed interest on provisions (interest rate guarantee 

risk) is limited by adequate holdings of free capital which can be 

available in adverse capital market situations. With the help of 

stress tests and scenario analyses as part of asset liability man-

agement, the necessary level of collateral required to maintain 

solvency is continuously monitored. Specifically, the effects of 

a long period of low interest rates on the capital markets are 

systematically reviewed. In addition, medium to long term mea-

sures are taken to limit guarantees. 

The policyholder participation declared for 2008 has already 

been determined and secured. Annual determination of the 

policyholder participation is done so that together with the free 

reserve for policyholder participation and the valuation reserves 

in capital investments, there are still enough free assets available 

– allowing for the current interest income expected – to cover 

the interest guarantee risk.

One characteristic of the insurance risk situation in health insur-

ance is a constant rise in expenses, which is caused by changes 

in the structure of the portfolio of insurance contracts and by 

the changes in behavior by the policyholders and healthcare 

service providers. These risks are handled by a risk-conscious 

 acceptance policy involving binding underwriting guidelines, 

careful risk selection and strategic claims and cost management. 

The responsible actuary monitors the adequacy of the assump-

tions used.

Particularly important for the insurance industry and its business 

model is the German reform of the Insurance Policy Act (VVG), 

in effect from January 1, 2008. The resulting risks for the next 

few years are being considered. In addition to the VVG reform, 

the Act Promoting Competition in Statutory Health Insurance is 

particularly important for R+V Krankenversicherung AG. The Act 

has a significant impact on the current business model of private 

health insurers. The resulting risks are being monitored, and any 

necessary measures will be taken in a timely manner.
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Risk management in direct property and casualty insurance

For an property and casualty insurer, the insurance risk situa-

tion is dominated by premium and reserve risk, along with risk 

arising from natural hazards. To make these risks manageable, 

pricing is based on calculation using mathematical and statistical 

modeling. By managing the composition of its business, R+V 

diversifies risks at a regional level as well as across lines of busi-

ness. Outwards reinsurance is used to limit losses on individual 

risks and for cumulative losses. Adequate claims reserves are 

recognized for known and also unknown losses. Changes in 

these provisions are continuously monitored by R+V. Information 

from this process is used in the current estimates. 

Risk management in inwards reinsurance 

Insurance risks for a reinsurer are largely based on a portfolio at 

risk from natural disasters and far-reaching changes in the basic 

trends in the main markets. Risks are assumed within prescribed 

underwriting limits which limit liability for individual loss and 

cumulative losses. Possible charges from catastrophe hazard  

insurance by amount and frequency are constantly documented 

and monitored using an IT-based method recognized by the 

market and our own additional verification. 

Risk management in credit insurance 

Insurance risks from credit insurance arise as a result of the 

inability or refusal to pay by the policyholder’s clients;  in these 

cases, the policyholders have recognized trade receivables 

(delcredere risks) or receivables arising from issued guarantees 

(fidelity insurance). To manage risks from credit insurance, 

actuarial instruments such as deductibles and an annual ceil-

ing on claims are used. The desired risk diversification in the 

portfolio is achieved through a balance of risk arising out of 

the risk structure of the portfolio of insured risks and the term 

structure of the insurance policies. Establishing portfolios with 

homogeneous risk profiles minimizes risks with low probability 

of insured events which also have high potential losses and cu-

mulated losses at the same time. Depending on the policyhold-

ers and products, a selective and security-oriented underwriting 

policy is implemented. Ongoing credit quality monitoring of a 

policyholder’s clients makes a major contribution towards avert-

ing losses.

Mitigating insurance risks

Reinsurance is used to limit losses on individual risks and for 

cumulative losses. Thanks to its capital strength and reserve levels, 

R+V will further increase its retention in a number of line of 

business.

Additional risks from concentration of insurance risks are moni-

tored by regular analyses of the portfolio of insurance policies. 

Using rates of change in the distributed range of sums insured in 

risk zones, policies with natural hazards risk cover are included 

in the risk management process, and are subject to regular 

monitoring using predefined coefficients and thresholds. Portfolio 

management ensures risk balances across regions and lines of 

business.

Analysis of insurance risks

The economic capital requirement for actuarial risk at was 

measured at € 1,196 million as at December 31, 2007, up from 

the previous year’s level of € 1,262 million. Over the course of 

the financial year, the upper loss limit of € 1,400 million (2006: 

€ 1,785 million) was maintained at all times. Compared to the 

previous year, the risk capital requirement declined because of 

refinements in the calculation procedure as well as changes in 

portfolio structures. The significant reduction in the upper loss 

limit is primarily attributable to further optimization of the mod-

els used to quantify insurance risk.

The trend in the claims rate and run of result is displayed in 

the table on page 119. The year was characterized by unusu-

ally high claims from winter storm Kyrill, especially homeowner 

insurance as well as lines of commercial real estate insurance. 

Despite the storm damage, losses were average for the financial 

year as a whole, which together with a disciplined underwriting 

policy meant that good profitability in inwards reinsurance was 

maintained.



119Group Management Report
Risk Report

In credit insurance, there was an increase in amounts insured 

volume from the previous year’s level of € 13.8 billion to € 14.4 

billion. This trend both reflects a gain in new groups of custom-

ers through expansion in the product portfolio as well as the 

improved economic outlook in the construction industry. The 

banks/credit segment at R+V was not affected in its lines of 

business by the current crisis on the financial markets. None of 

the lines provided insurance protection for interest and redemp-

tion payments on bonds, default risks on debt instruments or 

credit risks on commercial or mortgage banks.

Conclusions and outlook

The R+V Group has an integrated system available for iden-

tifying, measuring and managing insurance risks. Currently 

there are no signs of developments which could materially and 

permanently impact net assets, financial positions and results of 

operations of the R+V Group as part of DZ BANK Group. Further 

developments of the risk management system are continually 

being reviewed and implemented, particularly in the context of 

the Solvency II project and the minimum requirements for insur-

ance management for insurance companies.

8. Operational risk

Definition and sources 

In close adherence to the regulatory definition, DZ BANK 

regards operational risk as the possibility of unexpected loss due 

to human behavior, technological failure, weakness in process or 

project management or external events. Legal risk is included in 

this definition. Other key companies within DZ BANK Group also 

use this or a comparable definition.

Besides DZ BANK, BSH, DG HYP, DZI, R+V and Union Asset 

Management Holding are included in the management of 

operational risk. For the most part, these companies use their 

own separately defined catalogue for categorizing operational 

risk events, although this is compatible with the regulatory re-

quirements of BASEL II. These include illegal internal acts, labor 

disputes, loss due to negligence, product development and sale, 

product presentation, project management, legal violations, 

exceeding authority, technology, illegal external acts, negligibly 

or naturally caused events outside the bank, relationships with 

non-clients and changes in court rulings.

Claims rate and run of results (net or reinsurance)       

Year

in % 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998

Run of results (net) in percentage of the claims 
 reserve at the beginning of the respective year.

With major claims/catastrophes 73.7 71.0 71.5 72.0 71.8 80.7 73.2 71.3 68.0 64.2

Without major claims/catastrophes 70.1 69.8 70.4 71.1 71.2 77.7 72.0 71.2 66.6 63.9

Settlement results (net) in percentage on provision 
for incoming claims

Non-life 6.1 7.1 5.7 2.5 4.4 4.5 8.2 9.6 17.0 13.2
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Strategy for operational risk

The central goal is efficient management of operational risks. 

The following sub-strategies determine how to achieve this 

central goal in the sense of marginal conditions to be met: 

–  Enhance risk awareness so it is reflected in a risk culture. 

–  An open and largely penalty-free approach to operational risks 

promotes a mindset of finding solutions to problems. 

–  A balanced relationship between opportunities and risks is 

preferred to a general strategy of risk avoidance. Besides risk 

avoidance, risk mitigation, risk transfer and risk acceptance are 

all part of the central management strategies. 

–  Corresponding tolerance of risk is defined in the form of up-

per loss limit for operational risks and modified for prevailing 

circumstances. 

–  Individual methods for managing operational risk are coordi-

nated so that they provide an accurate and comprehensive 

picture of the risk situation which is integrated logically into 

overall management covering all types of risks. 

– Operational risks are managed decentrally. 

–  Compliance with relevant regulatory requirements must be 

ensured at all times. 

Organization and responsibility

The starting point for all other instruments is the functional 

organization model, which describes in detail the tasks and 

responsibilities of those involved in the process. Group-wide har-

monization of the organizational structures of the group compa-

nies is ensured by a corresponding guideline. Basic responsibility 

for managing operational risks is assigned decentrally to the 

individual group companies. Group-wide coordinated treatment 

of operational risk is directed by a working group on which the 

key group companies are represented, which reports to the 

working group on group risk management.

Management of operational risks

Estimates of potential losses from operational risks are made 

both as part of risk management as well as to determine regula-

tory capital adequacy requirements, using the standard approach 

under the Solvency Ordinance. 

Group-wide collection of loss data makes it possible to identify, 

analyze and evaluate loss events in order to identify trends and 

concentrations of operational risk. This data is also used to 

build up a data history which, when used with the appropriate 

techniques, allows for even more risk-sensitive monitoring of 

operational risk.

To identify and evaluate all material operational risks and create 

maximum possible transparency of the risk position, experts 

from all segments and all parts of DZ BANK Group evaluate 

operational risk through self-assessment processes. Self-assess-

ment generally involves a potential risk assessment to identify 

significant risks, questions on the risk management process and 

questions on specific individual risks.

To supplement the loss database as well as for self-assessment, 

risk indicators allow trends in the evolution of risk to be identi-

fied early on. Based on pre-set thresholds, risk situations are 

indicated by warning lights. Risk indicators are collected system-

atically and regularly on a broad scale within the group.

Finally, regular reports on loss data, self-assessments and risk in-

dicators are sent to the Board of Managing Directors, the Group 

Risk Committee and operational management, ensuring timely 

management of operational risk.

Mitigating operational risks

Operational risk is mitigated and frequency of loss reduced pri-

marily through the ongoing improvement of business processes. 
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Other measures of protection include transferring risk through 

insurance or through outsourcing, including risk transfer under 

liability regulations, and avoiding risky products. Emergency 

plans for critical business processes are implemented in all 

relevant group companies to ensure its continuing existence as a 

going concern.

Analysis of operational risks

As at December 31, the economic capital requirement for 

operational risks at DZ BANK Group was identified as € 590 mil-

lion (December 31, 2006: € 563 million). Over the course of the 

financial year, the upper loss limit of € 745 million (2006: € 779 

million) was maintained at all times. 

Conclusion and outlook

During the financial year, DZ BANK continued to drive the con-

cept for and implementation of sophisticated instruments for 

managing and controlling operational risks. In parallel with this, 

work is proceeding to expand economic capital measurement, 

in order to make capital management of operational risks even 

more risk-sensitive in the long term.

9. Strategic risk

Definition and sources 

Strategic risk is the possibility of losses arising out of manage-

ment decisions on the business policy position of DZ BANK 

Group. Strategic risks also arise out of unexpected changes in 

market and business conditions which adversely affect earnings.

An important element of strategic risk is business risk. This is 

potential loss which arises if declining revenue cannot be offset 

by cost savings or alternative or complementary sources of 

revenue. Strategic risk is also determined by specific features 

related to industries. For the DZ BANK Group, collective risk at 

BSH is particularly important in this context.

Organization and responsibility

Management of strategic risk for the group as a whole is the 

fundamental responsibility of the DZ BANK Board of Managing 

Directors, and is carried out in consultation with the senior man-

agement of group companies. Group management is integrated 

into a system of boards headed by the Group Coordination 

Committee. As the organization’s leading committee, it is sup-

ported by five function-related working groups with represen-

tatives of all functional areas – foreign coordination, product 

and marketing coordination, IT, operations and resources, risk 

management, company and group management. Business seg-

ment management is supported by business segment advisory 

councils comprising representatives of cooperative banks. This 

structure plays a major role in avoiding or limiting strategic 

errors, and makes possible the maximum level of coordination 

while preserving subsidiarity for the benefit of the cooperative 

banks.

Management of strategic risks

Management instruments 

Management of strategic risks is based on advance assessment 

of success factors and targets for the key group companies and 

division of DZ BANK. The basis for this is the Strategic Planning 

Dialogue, with its modules for financial planning, regulatory and 

economic equity planning, planning for fees and commission 

income to credit unions, and strategic initiatives. A management 

information system monitors target compliance.

Collective risks in the home loan and savings 

As a special feature of the building and loan business, BSH 

simulates a portfolio of clients, where performance is affected 

by a large number of parameters which model optional client 

behavior. Negative effects arising out of changes in behavior 

which are not driven by interest rates are described as collec-

tive risk. BSH uses regular analysis of collective trends in the 

course of monthly simulation and additional scenarios and stress 

tests in ongoing monitoring of the stability of the home loan 

and savings portfolio, so that corrective measures can be taken 
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quickly if needed. Management uses a forward-looking rate and 

product policy, together with integrated management of collec-

tive and non-collective business.

Group strategic position and performance 

The DZ BANK Group is a leading provider of financial and 

processing services in Germany, and has a strong capital market 

business for cooperative banks as well as corporate and insti-

tutional clients. The diversified group structure makes a lasting 

contribution to earnings stability. Excellent product quality, 

innovation, a high degree of settlement security and appropriate 

branding ensure that group companies maintain a competitive 

position and lay the basis for lasting earnings growth. By bun-

dling middle and back office functions and processes the group 

has achieved a competitive cost position. 

In 2007 cost synergies were again achieved by optimizing group 

structures and processes. Examples of achieving such efficiency 

advantages in recent years are VR Kreditwerk Hamburg-Schwä-

bisch Hall AG, Hamburg and Schwäbisch Hall in credit process-

ing, Deutsche WertpapierService Bank AG, Frankfurt am Main, 

in securities clearing and Equens Deutschland AG, Frankfurt am 

Main, in payments clearing and settlement. 

The structure of earnings and costs at DZ BANK Group ensures 

that target yields will be achieved, thereby making a decisive 

contribution towards limiting strategic risk. As the parent 

company, DZ BANK manages the group’s activities as a provider 

of financial and processing services and also operates its own 

banking businesses – in the capital market business, DZ BANK is 

the main provider.

Focus initiatives

In close consultation with the business segment advisory coun-

cils, the DZ BANK divisions have formulated business area strate-

gies and strategic initiatives (including “focus initiatives”) with 

the aim of improving the capability of the cooperative banks. 

One of these, for example, is an initiative called “Financial part-

ner for the cooperative financial services network”, which under 

the leadership of DZ BANK is working on improving the retail 

business for the cooperative banking financial institutions. The 

group coordination committee receives regular reports on the 

current status of the business segment strategies and individual 

focus initiatives.

Market and business conditions

The “Outlook” section on page 124 of the management report 

presents the expected developments in the market and business 

conditions, along with the business strategy and its implications  

for earnings performance in financial year 2008. These factors 

are cru cial determinants of the group’s strategic positioning in 

financial year 2008.

Measurement and analysis of strategic risks

The strategic risk is approximated by an aggregate approach 

in which the total undiversified risk capital requirement from 

market price risks, credit risks and operational risks is multiplied 

by a factor based on empirical benchmark analysis. Individual 

group companies use an advanced measurement approach, such 

as value-at-risk, which applies particularly to companies with a 

limited product range.

The economic capital requirement for the strategic risk of 

DZ BANK Group as at December 31, 2007 was € 1,184 million 

(December 31, 2006: € 1,124 million) and was below the upper 

loss limit of € 1,340 million (2006: € 1,361 million) at all times 

during the financial year. 

10. Summary

Effective management and controlling instruments are used in 

all areas of risk at DZ BANK Group, and are being successively 

refined and developed. Development of these instruments is 

in alignment with the regulatory solvency requirements for risk 

management. 
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Group-wide risk capital management ensures consistent and 

comprehensive identification of risk in seven distinct types of 

risk. Risk capital management directly involves all key group 

companies. The other companies are reported under and man-

aged through equity risk. Economic capital adequacy analysis 

is based on both derivation of the risk-bearing capacity and 

calculation of the risk capital requirement using a value-at-risk 

approach oriented to the rating of the DZ BANK Group. This 

is then used to calculate the group’s risk-adjusted profitability. 

Group management based on IFRS performance reporting is 

supplemented by the key ratios EVA and RORAC as integral 

parts of the strategic planning process. Overall, this approach 

ensures the necessary transparency of group risk structure and 

profitability, laying the foundation for group management 

which balances opportunity and risk.

Both DZ BANK Group as a whole and the individual group com-

panies stayed within the limits of their economic risk-bearing 

capacity in the financial year. In addition, the regulatory require-

ments for solvency were met at all times during the financial 

year by both the DZ BANK financial conglomerate, the DZ BANK 

banking group and the R+V insurance group. There was no 

risk to the company’s continued viability as a going concern. 

Economic and regulatory requirements for capital adequacy are 

expected to be met in the 2008 financial year as well. As the 

ratio between risk capital requirement and aggregate cover, 

economic capital adequacy will decline due to the increase in 

the level of confidence in risk measurement from 99.90 percent 

to 99.95 percent.
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III. Outlook

The economy in Germany was slowed in the second half of 

2007 by uncertainty about the effects of the US credit crunch, 

the sharp rise in the price of oil and the appreciation of the 

Euro. Economic growth in financial year 2008 is likely to be 

lower than in financial year 2007, with a shift in emphasis from 

exports to domestic demand. 

Investment spending is likely to be lower than in financial year 

2007 because of the change in tax regulations for corporate 

investment and the foreseeable weakness in real estate building. 

However, the continuing improvement in employment and com-

paratively high level of wage increases are leading to growth 

in household disposable income, with an accompanying rise in 

private consumption. The savings ratio is likely to drop. Retire-

ment provisions will continue to be an important factor and 

business for financial services providers will also be characterized 

in financial year 2008 by restructuring in connection with the 

introduction of the Abgeltungssteuer in Germany (withholding 

tax on capital gains).

The market turbulence triggered by the crisis on the financial 

markets will continue to affect the banking sector throughout 

2008. DZ BANK does not expect a start of normalization in the 

financial markets before the end of 2008.

In the first quarter of 2008, the crisis on the financial markets 

widened even further, not only affecting the share prices of 

companies providing real estate financing and financial institu-

tions in the credit and bond insurance sector but also other 

parts of the US mortgage market and credit card sector, along 

with borrowers who had average to good ratings. Following 

a review of ratings, a number of rating agencies downgraded 

their assessment of numerous ABS securities. This widened the 

global credit spreads of bank bonds further. At the time this 

report was released DZ BANK had no indications that other 

additional defaults or losses need to be realized. However, the 

crisis did give rise to further valuation adjustments – presumed 

to be mostly temporary – on the ABS portfolio in the mid range 

of a three-digit million figure. Nevertheless, it is still anticipated 

that this trend will reverse itself over the medium term. 

In the light of general economic conditions over the next two 

financial years, DZ BANK expects that the existing business op-

portunities will outweigh the risks described in the risk report.

DZ BANK Group expects operating income to rise slightly in 

the next two financial years. TeamBank’s expansion strategy in 

easyCredit, the growth of corporate business through the co-

operative banks and increased marketing for the Group’s direct 

business should all help boost net interest income. In the course 

of expanding domestic and international business over the next 

few financial years, it is expected that it will be necessary to 

increase total loan loss provisions. The expansion in business 

will also require increasing total employment over the next two 

years.

Fees and commission net income of the DZ BANK Group should 

remain stable. Further promotion of the DZ BANK’s certificates 

business by consolidating brand recognition for AKZENT Invest 

and the increased share of PPS by DZI within the financial 

services network together point to growth in fee and commis-

sion income over the next financial years. At the same time, an 

increase in fees and commissions paid to the cooperative banks 

is likely as a result of growth in new business in the home loan 

and savings business and consumer loans. Growth is also ex-

pected in the trading result, as the measures taken by DZ BANK 

in the course of the investment banking growth initiative to 

expand domestic primary market activities in the equities sector 

and business with institutional clients should have their full ef-

fect in the coming financial years.

DZ BANK Group administrative expenses will rise slightly. 

Growth-oriented investments will be offset by expected divest-

ment and increased efficiency from the reorganization of the 

real estate business and private banking.
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A slight increase in operating income is expected in the banking 

segment. The investment banking growth initiative will favorably 

affect trading results. Expansion of joint business with the co-

operative banks by DZ BANK and VR LEASING and an improved 

market position in business with the upper end of the SME 

segment should together result in an increase in operating inter-

est income. Earnings will also benefit from further expansion of 

growth outside Germany. 

The investment involved in the growth-oriented strategies will 

lead to an increase in administrative expenses. An increase in 

loan loss provisions must also be expected in connection with 

the growth in business.

Process management will benefit in the next few years from 

qualitative growth in the card business and additional stimulus 

from the introduction of SEPA. Other factors boosting results 

are further optimization in securities clearing and internal 

consolidation. 

The erosion of margins on standardized products is casting a 

slight shadow on the modestly positive outlook in the banking 

segment. This business is also highly competitive. Uncertainties 

in the financial markets may have a negative impact on results.

 

For the retail segment, DZ BANK expects a positive trend 

through financial year 2009, with opportunities for growth. 

Optimization of private banking activities through DZ Private 

Wealth Management is laying the basis for coordinating the 

activities of group companies and strengthening our market 

image. Given the relatively low market share of the coopera-

tive financial services network in this expanding market, we 

expect corresponding growth in earnings. Despite the moderate 

growth in domestic consumer financing, the expansion of the 

product range and the easyCredit brand from TeamBank as the 

exclusive partner of the cooperative banks both justify expecta-

tions of increased interest income. Continuation of planned 

measures to position Union Asset Management Holding as the 

asset manage ment competence centre in the cooperative finan-

cial services network should have a positive impact on fee and 

commission net income.

Growing competition from foreign competitors with accompa-

nying pressure on prices could have an adverse effect on the 

segment result. In the field of asset management, an additional 

risk is posed by fluctuations in value with a negative impact on 

expected net inflow of funds.

The fundamental realignment in 2007 of the real estate 

segment should result in stable growth in operating income 

through 2009. 

Based on the good market position of BSH, slight growth in 

new business is expected in consumer home building financing. 

DG HYP’s focus on commercial real estate is also expected to 

generate growth in new business in this segment. Allowances 

for losses on loans and advances are expected to remain stable. 

The investment in reorganization will lead to higher administra-

tive expenses, particularly in financial year 2008.

 

The combination of growing competition and erosion of mar-

gins may adversely effect the trend in results in the real estate 

business. In addition, the measures initiated as part of the fun-

damental realignment could fall short of expectations.

Given the difficult environment, high growth cannot be ex-

pected over the next few years in the insurance industry. In the 

insurance segment, the long-term initiatives are expected to 

generate growth in premiums at the market level. Development 

of cooperative marketing channels together with innovative 

products is expected to drive growth in retirement planning.

Reforms in legislation on insurance policies and health care as 

well as unexpected events in the capital market could all affect 

the target earnings.
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Overall, DZ BANK Group again expects stable growth in earn-

ings in the current financial year, as a result of the measures 

described above. Investment and initiatives in financial year 

2008 should make possible a slight improvement in financial 

year 2009 for earnings.

Demands on DZ BANK Group from the regulatory and statutory 

environment and national and international accounting require-

ments will continue to rise. 

On November 8, 2007 the German Federal Ministry of Justice 

submitted a draft act to modernize the German accounting 

rules (BilMoG).

The purposes of BilMoG are to ease the burden on companies 

and improve the quality of information provided by the annual 

financial statements prepared under German Commercial Code 

(HGB) by harmonization with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS). Currently, BilMoG is not expected to result in 

any major relief for DZ BANK as a company which securities are 

admitted to trading on a regulated market in the EU. Implemen-

tation of BilMoG for the annual financial statements prepared 

under HGB and the effects on tax and regulatory provisions will 

occupy the companies in the DZ BANK Group in financial year 

2008 and tie up additional resources. 

With respect to IFRS accounting, as part of the Convergence 

Project with the US Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) 

the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) is about to 

revise specifically the rules for consolidated financial statements 

and business combinations, fair value measurement, presenta-

tion of consolidated financial statements, revenue recognition, 

leasing and income taxes. The IASB is also currently revising 

rules on financial instruments and dealings with related parties 

which are critically important for the DZ BANK Group. The 

IASB has announced that there will be no major new standard 

published with mandatory application before 2009. As a result, 

increased expense on implementing new and binding rules can 

be expected in the 2009 financial year. 

In regulatory terms the DZ BANK Group will also monitor devel-

opments at European level and comply with any resulting new 

requirements. Currently, new rules for large loans and harmo-

nization of the term “hybrid capital” are likely. At the national 

level, a key area will be activities in preparation for the use of 

IFRS consolidated financial statements for regulatory purposes. 

For tax planning purposes the DZ BANK Group has to take into 

account from January 1, 2008 the changes under the 2008 cor-

poration tax reform and 2008 Annual Tax Act. The corporation 

tax reform will reduce the domestic nominal income tax burden 

from its current approx. 40 percent to around 31 percent. De-

spite the accompanying expansion of the assessment base (par-

ticularly by introducing the interest stripping rule, limiting loss 

offsets from acquisitions, abolishing declining balance deprecia-

tion), the amendments will have a positive effect on current tax 

expense in the next two financial years. The introduction of the 

capital gains tax will result in increased administrative expenses 

and changes in the related product activities. The new income 

tax rates have already been incorporated into deferred tax items 

for the DZ BANK Group in the present financial statements. 
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Income Statement  
for the Period January 1 to December 31, 2007

in € million (Note) 2007 2006 change in %

Interest income and current income 10,973 10,791 1.7

Interest expenses -8,270 -8,246 0.3

Interest net income (30) 2,703 2,545 6.2

Impairment losses on loans and advances (31) -209 -335 -37.6

Interest net income after impairment losses  
on loans and advances 2,494 2,210 12.9

Fee and commission income 2,458 2,316 6.1

Fee and commission expenses -1,496 -1,525 -1.9

Fee and commission net income (32) 962 791 21.6

Gains and losses on trading activities (33) -247 699 > 100.0

Gains and losses on investments (34) -103 9 > 100.0

Other gains and losses on valuation of financial instruments (35) -35 17 > 100.0

Premiums earned (36) 8,926 8,637 3.3

Gains and losses on investments of insurer and other gains 
and losses of insurer (37) 2,253 2,128 5.9

Benefit payments (38) -9,271 -8,907 4.1

Operating expenses of insurer (39) -1,438 -1,363 5.5

Administration expense (40) -2,585 -2,444 5.8

Gains and losses on non-current assets classified as held for 
sale and disposal groups (41) – 310 -100.0

Other operating net income (42) 112 -20 > 100.0

Profit before taxes 1,068 2,067 -48.3

Tax expense (43) -171 -208 -17.8

Group net profit 897 1,859 -51.7

attributable to:

Shareholders of DZ BANK 531 1,564 -66.0

Minority interest 366 295 24.1

Distribution of profits

in € million 2007 2006 change in %

Group net profit 897 1,859 -51.7

Minority interest -366 -295 24.1

Transfer to retained earnings -380 -1,413 -73.1

Consolidated profit 151 151 –
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Balance Sheet as at December 31, 2007

Assets

in € million (Note) Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Cash and cash equivalents (45) 1,442 1,385 4.1

Loans and advances to banks (46) 67,531 62,441 8.2

Loans and advances to customers (47) 106,307 100,072 6.2

Allowances for losses on loans and advances (48) -1,822 -2,048 -11.0

Derivatives used for hedging (49) 557 502 11.0

Financial assets held for trading (50) 130,025 132,272 -1.7

Investments (51) 72,957 76,255 -4.3

Investments of insurer (52) 47,376 44,451 6.6

Property, plant and equipment, and investment property (53) 1,712 1,493 14.7

Tax assets (54) 2,029 1,578 28.6

Other assets (55) 3,051 3,167 -3.7

Non-current assets classified as held for sale  
and disposal groups (56) 172 116 48.3

Total assets 431,337 421,684 2.3

 
Equity and liabilities

in € million (Note) Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Deposits from banks (57) 57,935 57,705 0.4

Amounts owed to other depositors (58) 77,595 72,675 6.8

Debt certificates including bonds (59) 62,996 75,887 -17.0

Derivatives used for hedging (60) 622 327 90.2

Financial liabilities held for trading (61) 163,196 147,865 10.4

Provisions (62) 1,717 1,667 3.0

Technical provisions (63) 45,324 42,298 7.2

Tax liabilities (64) 1,088 1,183 -8.0

Other liabilities (65) 5,221 5,750 -9.2

Subordinated capital (66) 4,814 5,443 -11.6

Liabilities included in disposal groups classified as held for sale (67) 16 33 -51.5

Fair value changes of the hedged items in portfolio hedges  
of interest rate risk -190 11 > 100.0

Total equity (68) 11,003 10,840 1.5

Issued share capital 3,028 3,028 –

Share premium 843 843 –

Reserves including retained earnings 3,332 2,952 12.9

Revaluation reserve 156 693 -77.5

Cash flow hedge reserve 8 3 > 100.0

Foreign currency translation reserve 1 -1 > 100.0

Minority interest 3,484 3,171 9.9

Consolidated profit of the current year 151 151 –

Total equity and liabilities 431,337 421,684 2.3
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Statement of Recognized Income and Expense as well as Explanatory Notes  
on Changes in Equity

Statement of Recognized Income and Expense 

in € million 2007 2006 change in %

Available-for-sale financial assets -799 39 > 100.0

Valuation gains and losses taken to equity -776 365 > 100.0

Transferred to profit or loss on sale -208 -376 -44.7

Transferred to profit or loss on impairment 185 50 > 100.0

Cash flow hedges 6 8 -25.0

Gains taken to equity 8 6 33.3

Transferred to group net profit -2 2 > 100.0

Exchange differences on currency translation of foreign operations 1 -2 > 100.0

Other income and expenses taken to equity 14 5 > 100.0

Actuarial gains on defined benefit plans 18 6 > 100.0

Income taken to equity from valuation of joint ventures and  
associates under the equity method 1 2 -50.0

Other expenses taken to equity -5 -3 66.7

Deferred taxes on income and expenses taken to equity 235 46 > 100.0

Income and expenses recognized directly in equity -543 96 > 100.0

Group net profit 897 1,859 -51.7

Total group net profit and income and expenses  
recognized directly in equity 354 1,955 -81.9

attributable to:

Shareholders of DZ BANK 11 1,652 -99.3

Minority interest 343 303 13.2
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Statement of Recognized Income and Expense  

as well as Explanatory Notes on Changes in Equity

Explanatory Notes on Changes in Equity

in € million
Issued  

share capital
Share  

premium

Equity  
earned by 
the group

Revaluation 
reserve

Cash flow 
hedge  

reserve

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Equity  
before  

minority 
interest

Minority 
interest Total equity

Equity as at  
Jan. 1, 2006 2,869 513 1,646 612 -1 – 5,639 2,806 8,445

Income and ex-
penses recognized 
directly in equity – – 4 81 4 -1 88 8 96

Group net profit – – 1,564 – – – 1,564 295 1,859

Total group 
net profit and 
income and 
expenses recog-
nized directly  
in equity – – 1,568 81 4 -1 1,652 303 1,955

Capital increase 149 306 – – – – 455 159 614

Change in scope of 
consolidation – – -1 – – – -1 25 24

Acquisition and 
issue of own shares 10 24 – – – – 34 – 34

Dividends paid – – -110 – – – -110 -122 -232

Equity as at  
Dec. 31, 2006 3,028 843 3,103 693 3 -1 7,669 3,171 10,840

Income and ex-
penses recognized 
directly in equity – – 10 -537 5 2 -520 -23 -543

Group net profit – – 531 – – – 531 366 897

Total group 
net profit and 
income and 
expenses recog-
nized directly  
in equity – – 541 -537 5 2 11 343 354

Capital increase – – – – – – – 76 76

Change in scope of 
consolidation – – -10 – – – -10 37 27

Acquisition and 
issue of own shares – – – – – – – – –

Dividends paid – – -151 – – – -151 -143 -294

Equity as at  
Dec. 31, 2007 3,028 843 3,483 156 8 1 7,519 3,484 11,003
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Group net profit 897 1,859

Non-cash items included in group net profit and reconciliation with 
cash flows from operating activities

Depreciation, impairment and reversal of impairment of assets as well as  
valuation changes on financial assets and liabilities 1,454 75

Non-cash changes in provisions 262 88

Changes in actuarial provisions 2,879 2,866

Other non-cash income and expenses (including insurance-related items) -105 84

Gains and losses on the disposal of assets and liabilities (including insurance-related items) -140 -827

Other adjustments (net) -3,332 -2,012

Subtotal 1,915 2,133

Cash changes in assets and liabilities from operating activities

Loans and advances to banks (net) -5,112 -1,388

Loans and advances to customers (net) -6,506 358

Other assets from operating activities 25 1,431

Derivatives used for hedging -340 -742

Financial assets/liabilities held for trading 16,299 -6,016

Deposits from banks 515 2,178

Amounts owed to other depositors 5,331 2,198

Debt certificates including bonds -12,608 9,691

Other liabilities from operating activities -568 27

Interest and dividends received 12,958 10,015

Interest paid -9,256 -8,585

Taxes paid -177 -257

Cash flows from operating activities 2,476 11,043

Proceeds from the sale of investments 19,434 25,578

Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment, and investment property 275 188

Payments for the acquisition of investments -17,695 -31,682

Payments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment, and investment property -687 -446

Proceeds from the sale of investments of insurer 16,827 16,042

Payments for the acquisition of investments of insurer -19,727 -19,255

Effect of changes in the scope of consolidation -21 –

of which: proceeds from the sale of subsidiaries net of cash divested 1 –

payments for the acquisition of subsidiaries net of cash acquired -22 –

Net change in cash and cash equivalents from other investing activities -84 -19

Cash flows from investing activities -1,678 -9,594

Cash Flow Statement

in € million 2007 2006
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in € million 2007 2006

Proceeds from capital increases 76 668

Dividends paid to shareholders of DZ BANK and minority interest -294 -232

Other payments to shareholders of DZ BANK and minority interest -8 -12

Net change in cash and cash equivalents from other capital (including subordinated capital) -515 -945

Cash flows from financing activities -741 -521

in € million 2007 2006

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 1,385 457

Cash flows from operating activities 2,476 11,043

Cash flows from investing activities -1,678 -9,594

Cash flows from financing activities -741 -521

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 1,442 1,385

The consolidated cash flow statement shows the changes in DZ BANK Group’s cash and cash equi-

valents during the financial year. The holdings of cash and cash equivalents of DZ BANK Group in 

the financial year represent cash on hand and balances with central banks and other state institu-

tions. Cash and cash equivalents do not include investments with a maturity at purchase exceed-

ing three months. Changes in cash and cash equivalents are allocated to operating, investment 

and financing activities.

Cash flows from operating activities arise in connection with the principal revenue-producing 

activities of the group and other activities that cannot be allocated to investing or financing 

activities. Cash flows resulting from the acquisition and disposal of long-term assets are allocated 

to investing activities. Cash flows from financing activities arise out of transactions with equity 

contributors and other borrowing to finance business activities (e.g. capital participation rights 

and subordinated liabilities).

Acquisitions resulted in taking over cash and cash equivalents of € 21 million (2006: € 0 million). 

As in the previous year, no cash or cash equivalents were divested through deconsolidation of 

subsidiaries.

There are no material differences between the cash flow statement prepared in accordance with 

the German Commercial Code (German GAAP) and the statement prepared in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards.
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A. General Information

Pursuant to Regulation (EC) 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and Council of July 19, 2002, 

the consolidated financial statements of DZ BANK AG Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank 

(DZ BANK), Frankfurt am Main are prepared in accordance with the International Financial Report-

ing Standards (IFRS) as adopted in the EU. Besides the IFRS, these also include the International  

Accounting Standards (IAS), as well as the interpretations of the International Financial Reporting 

Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) and the Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC). All standards 

endorsed in EU law at the time of preparation of the financial statements have been taken into 

account.

In addition, the regulations cited in Art. 315a para. 1 of the German Commercial Code (HGB) for 

companies which securities are admitted to trading on a regulated market in the EU have been 

applied in the DZ BANK consolidated financial statements. The financial statements meet the 

requirements of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) and DZ BANK’s Articles of Association.  

In addition, further standards promulgated by the German Accounting Standards Board (GASB) 

were taken into account in principle, provided that they had been published in the Federal 

 Gazette by the Federal Ministry of Justice (BMJ) pursuant to Art. 342 para. 2 HGB and their 

 application is not ruled out by the German Amendment Accounting Standard 3.

Prior to the balance sheet date the IASB published the following standards and interpretations 

which are not yet effective, subject to endorsement by the EU: Amendment to IAS 23, amend-

ments to IAS 1, IFRIC 12, IFRIC 13 and IFRIC 14. Application for the first time of these revised 

standards and new interpretations is not expected to have any material effect on the presentation 

of DZ BANK Group’s assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the group.

The financial statements of the companies included in the consolidation are prepared using 

uniform accounting policies. The consolidated companies in principle prepared their financial 

statements for the period ending December 31, 2007. The financial year is the calendar year. 

Two companies are included in the consolidated financial statements with different balance sheet 

dates. As these differ by less than three months from the reporting date of the consolidated 

financial statements and there is no resulting material effect, preparation of interim financial 

statements was forgone.

The presentation of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the group in the 

consolidated financial statements is dependent on the recognition and measurement methods as 

well as assumptions and estimates required because of the uncertainty of future events. Where 

assumptions and estimates are required for recognition and measurement, these are made in 

accordance with the relevant accounting standards. The assumptions and estimates are based on 

historical experience, planning and expectations or forecasts regarding future events which are 

probable in the light of present judgment. Knowledge of the recognition and valuation methods 

used in the consolidated financial statements and the associated assumptions and estimates is 

Notes

1 |  Basis for preparation of the 

 consolidated financial statements
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Notes

crucial for understanding the risks underlying financial reporting and the effects the assumptions 

and estimates can have on the consolidated financial statements. 

For reasons of clarity, certain items are aggregated in the balance sheet and income statement 

and supplemented by additional information in the notes. Unless otherwise stated, all amounts 

are in millions of euro (€ million). All figures are rounded to the nearest whole number. This may 

result in minimal differences in these consolidated financial statements when calculating totals 

and percentages.

The consolidated financial statements of DZ BANK are released for publication by the Board of 

Managing Directors after approval by the Supervisory Board on April 16, 2008.

In addition to DZ BANK as parent, the consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 

2007, include a further 28 (2006: 27) subsidiaries and 5 subgroups (2006: 5) with a total of 

893 subsidiaries (2006: 918). Subsidiaries are consolidated in principle from the date on which 

DZ BANK obtains control. Control is generally the result of the parent company directly or 

indirectly owning a majority of the voting rights in subsidiaries. The consolidation also includes 

special purpose vehicles in which DZ BANK does not own a majority of the voting rights either 

directly or indirectly. These companies are consolidated due to DZ BANK Group’s economic 

control.

During the financial year the newly-formed DZ Private Wealth Managementgesellschaft S.A., 

Luxembourg-Strassen was added to the scope of consolidated financial statements. There were 

further changes to the scope of consolidated financial statements at subgroup level.

The consolidated financial statements include 3 joint ventures under joint control with at least 

one other company outside the group (2006: 2) and 6 associates (2006: 5) over which the 

DZ BANK Group has significant influence. These companies are measured using the equity 

method. The 25 percent shareholdings in Cassa Centrale Banca - Credito Cooperative del Nord  

Est S.p.A (Cassa Centrale Banca), Trento, acquired during the financial year was allocated to 

investments in associates.

The complete list of investments required by Art. 315a in combination with Art. 313 paras 2, 4 

HGB can be seen on the website of the electronic Federal Gazette and under DZ BANK’s inter-

net address www.reports.dzbank.de.

2 |  Scope of consolidated  

financial statements

Consolidation is done using the purchase method in accordance with IAS 27 in combination 

with IFRS 3 by offsetting the cost of business combination at the acquisition date against the 

3 | Consolidation procedures
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Categories of financial instruments

Financial instruments within the scope of IAS 39 are assigned to one of the categories defined in 

IAS 39 on the basis of their characteristics and intended use at the date of initial recognition. IAS 

39 defines the following categories:

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss

Financial instruments belonging to this category are recognized at fair value through profit and 

loss. This category comprises the two following subcategories:

Financial instruments held for trading

The subcategory “financial instruments held for trading” covers financial assets and liabilities 

acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing them in the near term, 

that are part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments which are managed together, and 

for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking, or a derivative, 

except for a derivative which is a designated and effective hedging instrument.

4 | Financial instruments

group’s interest in the net assets remeasured at fair value. Any positive differences are recognized 

as goodwill in intangible assets in other assets and tested for impairment on an annually basis. 

Amortization is not permitted by IFRS. Any negative difference is recognized in group net profit at 

the time it arises. Minority interest in subsidiaries are presented as such in equity.

Investments in joint ventures and associates are measured using the equity method and recog-

nized in investments. The equity method was not used for 5 joint ventures (2006: 5) and 17 asso-

ciates (2006: 13). With one exception, the financial statements of the companies measured using 

the equity method are prepared with the same balance sheet date as the parent company. 

Intragroup assets and liabilities as well as income and expenses are eliminated in full. Profits and 

losses resulting from intragroup transactions are eliminated in full.

Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates which are not consolidated or measured 

using the equity method are carried at fair value under investments. If the fair value cannot be 

determined reliably, they are measured at cost. 
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Financial instruments designated as at fair value through profit or loss

The subcategory “financial instruments designated as at fair value through profit or loss” may 

include all financial assets and liabilities if the application of the “fair value option” eliminates  

or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency (“accounting mismatch”),  

if they form a portfolio managed on a fair value basis, or include one or more embedded deriva-

tives required to be separated from the host contract. The DZ BANK Group uses this category on 

the basis of all the cited conditions for application.

Held-to-maturity investments

The category of “held-to-maturity investments” consists of non-derivative financial assets with 

fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity that an entity has the positive intention and 

ability to hold to maturity. Exceptions to this are investments which are designated upon initial 

recognition as at fair value through profit or loss, those that the entity designates as available for 

sale and those that meet the definition of “loans and receivables”. As a result, investments can 

only be classified as “held-to-maturity” if they are bearer securities quoted in an active market.

The held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 

method. Premiums and discounts are amortized with a constant effective interest rate over the 

expected life of the instrument. The DZ BANK Group does not use the category of “held-to-

maturity investments”.

Loans and receivables

“Loans and receivables” are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 

that are not quoted in an active market or designated as available-for-sale. Loans and receivables 

are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Premiums and discounts are 

amortized over the expected life of the instrument by using a constant effective interest rate.

Available-for-sale financial assets

“Available-for-sale financial assets” are all financial assets that cannot be classified in any other 

category. Measurement generally is at fair value. Gains and losses in the fair value between two 

balance sheet dates are recognized directly in equity in the revaluation reserve until the financial 

assets are derecognized. If there is a negative revaluation reserve at the balance sheet date for in-

dividual assets in this category, an impairment test is carried out to determine if there is objective 

evidence of impairment for these assets. In this case the cumulated negative revaluation reserve 

must be removed from equity and recognized in profit or loss. Equity instruments in this category 

are measured at cost if the fair value cannot be reliably determined.
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Other financial liabilities

“Other financial liabilities” are all financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 which are not as-

signed to the category “financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss”. Other financial 

liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

Other financial liabilities also include liabilities from financial guarantee contracts within the scope 

of IAS 39. These must be recognized as a liability by the issuer at the time of issue at fair value. 

The fair value generally corresponds to the present value of the premium received for issuing the 

financial guarantee contract. For subsequent measurement the liability is measured at the higher 

of a provision made in accordance with IAS 37 and the amount initially recognized less cumulative 

amortization. DZ BANK Group recognizes financial guarantee contracts using the net method, un-

der which the guarantee commission to be paid by the beneficiary to the DZ BANK Group is offset 

against the liabilities arising from guarantee obligations.

Share capital repayable on demand is also assigned to the category “other financial liabilities”. 

Share capital repayable on demand exists for minority interest in partnerships. In accordance with 

IAS 32, share capital in partnerships is generally classified as a financial liability. Due to its sub-

ordinate status compared with the liabilities of the partnerships in question, minority interest is 

shown as subordinated capital. Non-subordinated minority interest in profit is recognized as other 

liabilities. Share capital repayable on demand is measured at amortized cost using the effective 

interest method.

Other financial liabilities also include liabilities for adjustment payments to minority interest in 

consolidated subsidiaries with which DZ BANK or another company controlled by DZ BANK has 

entered into a profit transfer agreement under Art. 291 para. 1 AktG. These are carried at the 

amount of the obligation discounted to the balance sheet date and are recognized in other 

liabilities.

Other financial assets and liabilities

Besides financial instruments within the scope of IAS 39, the DZ BANK Group recognizes financial 

assets and liabilities outside the scope of IAS 39. These financial assets and liabilities are shown 

below.
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Cash on hand

Cash on hand includes cash in euros and foreign currencies. Cash in euros is measured at its 

nominal amount, cash in foreign currencies is translated at the bid rate for cash in foreign 

 currencies on the balance sheet date. Cash on hand is part of cash and cash equivalents.

Finance lease receivables and finance lease liabilities

Finance lease receivables and finance lease liabilities do not meet the definition of financial instru-

ments. They are recognized and measured on the basis of specific rules for leases. As such, they 

are not categorized in accordance with the regulations of IAS 39. Finance lease receivables are 

recognized under loans and advances to banks and customers and finance lease liabilities under 

deposits from banks and customers.

Financial assets and financial liabilities specific to insurance business

In addition to financial instruments within the scope of IAS 39, the DZ BANK Group recognizes 

financial assets and liabilities arising from insurance business which are required to be recognized 

and measured in accordance with IFRS 4. These are deposits with ceding undertakings and de-

posits received from reinsurers, receivables and liabilities on direct insurance operations, receiv-

ables and liabilities on reinsurance operations, and investments related to unit-linked contracts.

Deposits with ceding undertakings and deposits received from reinsurers, receivables and liabili-

ties on direct insurance operations, and receivables and liabilities on reinsurance operations are 

recognized at nominal value. For doubtful receivables on reinsurance operations, the impair-

ment reduces directly the carrying amount. Any necessary impairment on receivables on direct 

insurance operations is also recognized directly in the carrying amount. Investments related to 

unit-linked contracts are measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Deposits received from reinsurers, receivables and liabilities on direct insurance operations, receiv-

ables and liabilities on reinsurance business are recognized under other assets or other liabilities. 

Deposits with ceding undertakings as well as investments related to unit-linked contracts are 

recognized in the balance sheet under investments of insurer.



140   DZ BANK Annual Report 2007

Initial recognition and derecognition of financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognized on the trade date. Regular way purchases 

or sales of non-derivative financial instruments are recognized using settlement date accounting. 

Changes in the fair value between the trade date and settlement date are recognized in accor-

dance with the category of the financial instrument.

All financial instruments are measured at fair value on initial recognition. In the case of financial 

assets or liabilities not measured at fair value through profit or loss, recognition includes trans-

action costs directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial 

liability.

Differences between transaction prices and fair values determined using measurement models 

are recognized in profit or loss on initial recognition. There are no remaining differences to be 

recognized in future financial years.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are derecognized if the contractual rights to the cash flows  

from the financial asset expire or substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 

financial assets and liabilities are transferred. If the derecognition criteria for financial instruments 

are not met, sale or transfer of financial instruments must be recognized as a secured loan to the 

extent of the remaining risks and rewards of ownership (continuing involvement).

Impairments and reversals of impairments on financial assets

Financial assets must be assessed at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective  

evidence that these financial assets are impaired.

If any such evidence exists, the impairment loss for financial instruments in the category “loans 

and advances” must be determined as the difference between the carrying amount and present 

value of estimated future cash flows. Estimated future cash flows include payments of interest 

and principal and cash flows from the foreclosure of collateral. Specific loan loss allowances for 

impairment loss are created for individual financial assets. Changes in the present value of esti-

mated future cash flows between two balance sheet dates (unwinding) are recognized as interest 

income in accordance with IAS 39.

In addition, financial assets with similar features which are not individually impaired are grouped 

in portfolios and assessed collectively for possible impairment. Impairment losses are calculated 

on the basis of historical loss rates for comparable portfolios. If an impairment is identified, port-

folio loan loss allowances are recognized.
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The carrying amount of uncollectible loans and advances for which there are no specific loan loss 

allowances is reduced directly. Payments from loans and advances which were previously impaired 

completely are recognized as profit. If the actual loss is certain for an impaired financial asset, 

an allowance created for this purpose for the financial asset is derecognized and reported as 

amounts used. 

If there is objective evidence of impairment for available-for-sale financial assets, they must be 

reviewed for any negative revaluation reserve in equity. In this event any cumulative negative 

revaluation reserve must be removed from equity and recognized in profit or loss. 

If an impairment test shows that an impairment recognized in profit and loss to assets in the  

category of loans and advances measured at amortized cost no longer exists, the impairment 

must be reversed. The reversal of impairment is limited to the amount of the amortized cost if the 

impairment had not been recognized. Reversal of impairment for equity instruments in the cate-

gory of “available-for-sale financial assets” measured at fair value is not allowed. Any subsequent 

increase in the fair value is recognized in equity in the revaluation reserve. Impairment losses shall 

not be reversed for equity instruments carried at cost.

Embedded derivatives

Embedded derivatives which are combined with a non-derivative financial instrument (host con-

tract) in a hybrid (combined) instrument must be separated from the host contract and accounted 

for separately if the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely 

related to the economic characteristics and risks of the host contract, a separate instrument with 

the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative, and the 

hybrid (combined) instrument is not measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized 

in profit or loss. If these conditions are not met, the embedded derivative may not be separated 

from the host contract. If an embedded derivative must be separated, the individual compo-

nents of the hybrid instrument are accounted for following the rules for the original financial 

instruments. Non-derivative financial instruments with embedded derivatives are classified in the 

DZ BANK Group predominantly in the category “financial instruments at fair value through profit 

or loss”. As a result, no separation and separate measurement are required for the embedded 

derivatives in these instruments.
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General information about hedge accounting

As part of its risk management strategy, the DZ BANK Group hedges against interest rate and for-

eign exchange risks by entering into contracts for various kinds of derivatives. IAS 39 has specific 

accounting rules for recognizing these hedging relationships in financial statements in line with 

their economic impact. These are intended to eliminate or reduce inconsistencies in recognition 

and measurement between the hedged items on the one hand and the hedging instruments on 

the other hand.

IAS 39 distinguishes between three kinds of hedging relationships: fair value hedges, cash flow 

hedges and hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation. Designation of these hedging 

relationships is dependent on their meeting strict conditions.

Hedged items

The DZ BANK Group designates loans and advances to banks and customers, investments, depos-

its from banks and customers as hedged items covered by fair value hedges against interest rate 

exposure. In addition, financial assets and liabilities as well as interest payments in foreign curren-

cies are hedged against changes in exchange rates.

Designated hedging instruments

For fair value hedges on interest-bearing assets and liabilities, interest rate swaps, swaptions, in-

terest rate floors, interest rate caps, interest rate collars and cross currency swaps are designated 

as hedging instruments. Foreign exchange transactions are primarily used to hedge exchange rate 

exposure on interest payments in foreign currencies.

Fair value hedges

Fair value hedges are intended to compensate variability in the fair value of the hedged item 

through offsetting variability in the fair value of the hedging instrument. For this purpose, 

changes in the fair value of the hedged item and the hedging instrument – where they relate to 

the hedged risk – are recognized in profit or loss. Hedging is done both by designating individual 

hedging relationships and by designating hedging relationships for portfolios.

5 |  Hedge accounting
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Hedged items in the category “loans and receivables” are measured at amortized cost, in line 

with the general principles of measurement for this category, which is adjusted for the change 

in fair value of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk. Hedged items in the category 

of available-for-sale financial assets continue to be measured at fair value, and changes in the 

fair value not attributable to the hedged risk are recognized in the revaluation reserve. Interest 

expense or income from the hedged items and the hedging instruments is recognized in interest 

net income.

If the fair value hedge against interest rate changes is on a portfolio basis, the cumulated changes 

in fair value attributable to the hedged risk of the hedged item in portfolios of financial instru-

ments measured at amortized cost are recognized in the balance sheet line items “Fair value 

changes of hedged items in portfolio hedge of interest rate risk”. In the case of a fair value hedge 

on interest rate risk arising from available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulated changes in fair 

value attributable to the hedged risk are not recognized in a separate balance sheet line item as 

the assets contained in the hedged portfolio are already recognized at fair value.

With fully effective hedging relationships, the changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss 

over the term of the relationship balance out exactly. The changes in fair value recognized in the 

carrying amount of the hedged items must be amortized through profit or loss at the latest after 

the termination of the hedging relationship. 

Cash flow hedges

Cash flow hedges are intended to offset changes in uncertain future cash flows from the hedged 

item by inverse changes in cash flows from the hedging instrument.

Hedging instruments are measured at fair value. Changes in fair value attributable to the effective 

part of the hedging relationship must be recognized in equity in the cash flow hedge reserve. 

Changes in fair value attributable to the ineffective part of the hedging relationship must be 

recognized in profit or loss in gains and losses arising on hedging transactions. Recognition and 

measurement of hedged items follow the general principles for the relevant category. After the 

end of a hedging relationship the changes in value recognized in equity are reclassified to profit 

or loss when the cash flows of the previously hedged items are recognized in profit or loss. 

The DZ BANK Group currently designates cash flow hedges primarily for the foreign exchange 

exposure for interest payments in foreign currencies.
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All monetary assets and liabilities and unsettled spot transactions are translated at the spot 

rate on the balance sheet date into the relevant functional currency of the companies in the 

DZ BANK Group. Cash in foreign currencies is translated using the bid rate for cash in foreign 

currencies on the balance sheet date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated according 

to the applicable measurement criteria. If non-monetary assets are measured at amortized cost, 

translation is at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets measured  

at fair value are translated using the closing rate. Income and expenses are translated at the 

exchange rate on the date of their recognition in profit or loss. The effects on profit or loss of 

foreign currency transactions are reported in gains and losses on trading activities.

Where the functional currency of a subsidiary included in the DZ BANK Group consolidated finan-

cial statements is other than the reporting currency Euro, all assets and liabilities are translated 

at the closing rate on the balance sheet date and equity is translated at historic exchange rates. 

Income and expenses are also translated at the closing rate. Using average rates would have had 

6 | Foreign currency translation

Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation

Hedging relationships for a net investment in a foreign operation are generally designated if in-

vestments in foreign operations are held in foreign currencies and economically hedged by incur-

ring liabilities in foreign currencies or foreign currency derivatives. A hedge of a net investment in 

a foreign operation is accounted for similarly to a cash flow hedge. In the DZ BANK Group there 

are currently no designated hedging relationships for hedges of a net investment in a foreign 

operation.

Assessing hedge effectiveness

Designating a hedging relationship according to IAS 39 requires a retrospective and prospective 

effectiveness. For this, the changes in fair value or of the expected cash flows from hedged items 

and the hedging instruments must be within the range of 80–125 percent specified by IAS 39. 

Effectiveness is assessed and demonstrated on each reporting date. If the hedging relationship 

does no longer meet the effectiveness criteria it must be discontinued retrospectively from the 

reporting date of the last assessment of hedge effectiveness.

Assessing prospective effectiveness is primarily done through simulations and sensitivity analysis 

using the basis point value method. Retrospective effectiveness is generally tested using the dollar 

offset method. For this, the cumulated changes in fair value of the hedged items attributable to 

the hedged risk are compared with the changes in the fair value of the hedging instruments.
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Sale and repurchase agreements (repos) are transactions in which the parties simultaneously 

agree the sale and subsequent repurchase of securities at a fixed price and time. The risks and 

rewards of ownership of the sold securities accordingly remain with the seller.

To the extent that the DZ BANK Group sells securities subject to a commitment to repurchase 

them, the securities sold continue to be recognized in the consolidated balance sheet because 

the derecognition criteria of IAS 39 are not met. A corresponding liability is recognized for the 

proceeds of the sale in the amount of the continuing involvements. Securities purchased under 

reverse repo agreements may not be recognized in the consolidated balance sheet. The consider-

ation paid is recognized as a receivable. 

There are further continuing involvements in connection with securitization of receivables from 

finance leases. The risks associated with these receivables partly remain with the DZ BANK Group 

and are recognized in the balance sheet to the extent of the continuing involvement.

Securities lent in the course of securities lending transactions are retained on the balance sheet  

in accordance with the accounting for collateral. Borrowed securities do not meet the special 

recognition criteria of IAS 39 and may not be recognized. 

Assets transferred as collateral in the form of cash deposits require recognition of receivables. 

Receivables and securities transferred by DZ BANK Group as grantor are retained on the balance 

sheet. If the DZ BANK Group receives cash deposits, liabilities are recognized in the corresponding 

amount. Other financial and non-financial assets that DZ BANK Group obtained, with the excep-

tion of assets obtained in foreclosures, are not recognized.

Trust activities are transactions in which a company acts in its own name but on behalf of third 

parties.

Assets and liabilities held in connection with trust activities do not meet the criteria for recogni-

tion. The amount of assets and liabilities held in connection with trust activities is disclosed in 

note 91.

7 |  Sale and repurchase agreements 

and other continuing involvements

8 |  Securities lending transactions  

and other collateral 

9 | Trust activities

insignificant effect. The resulting difference is recognized in the foreign currency translation re-

serve. The functional currency of the companies included in the consolidated financial statements 

is the euro (the group reporting currency) in most cases.
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The insurance business in the DZ BANK Group is reported in specific insurance items in the  

income statement and balance sheet. Material components of the specific insurance items are  

described below.

Financial assets and liabilities

The financial assets and liabilities included in the investments of insurer and other assets and  

liabilities of insurer are explained in note 4.

Investment property

The investment property included in the investments of insurer is measured at amortized cost  

according to the cost model. 

Technical provisions

In accordance with IFRS 4.13, insurance companies are allowed during a transitional phase to 

continue applying existing accounting policies to insurance liabilities. Pursuant to this, technical 

provisions are recognized and measured in accordance with German GAAP, as permitted by IFRS 

4.25(c). For the German group entities, these are primarily the regulations of Art. 341 et seq. 

HGB, the Insurance Supervision Act (VAG) and the German Federal Regulations on Insurance 

Accounting (RechVersV). In contrast to the HGB, provisions may only be recognized under IFRS 

for possible uncertain liabilities to third parties. This means that the recognition of an equalization  

provision and of similar provisions is not permitted. Liabilities which cannot qualify as insurance 

contracts in the scope of IFRS 4 are reported under other liabilities. Technical provisions are recog-

nized before deducting the share of reinsurers, which is shown as an asset.

Unearned premiums for non-life-insurance in direct insurance are calculated from the gross 

premiums written using the 360 day system. Calculation of non-transferable earned premium 

income is based on the letter of the Federal Ministry of Finance of April 30, 1974. For life 

10 | Insurance

Income and expense from trust activities is recognized as fee and commission income and fee and 

commission expenses respectively. Income and expense from intermediation and administration 

of trustee loans are netted out and included in fee and commission income from credit and trust 

activities.
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 insurance, unearned premiums are calculated taking into account the starting date of each indi-

vidual policy after deduction of non-transferable earned premiums. For participation agreements, 

the prorated unearned premiums are calculated by the lead companies. The share of reinsurers in 

unearned premiums is determined in accordance with the reinsurance contracts.

The mathematical reserve for direct casualty insurance with premium refund is measured in ac-

cordance with the HGB rules. It is calculated for individual policies on the basis of the approved 

business plan and with regard to the regulations of Art. 341f HGB and Art. 65 VAG. The math-

ematical reserve for direct life insurance where the insurer bears the investment risk is calculated 

in accordance with the business plan or the principles established by the German Federal Financial 

Supervisory Authority (BaFin) under Art. 13d para. 6 VAG for individual policies and taking into 

account the starting dates. Except for unit-linked insurance, the prospective method is applied. In 

direct health insurance, the reserve for increasing age is calculated on actuarial principles on the 

basis of the technical parameters for the calculation.

Claims outstanding in non-life-insurance are determined individually for all known claims. 

Receivables from regress, salvages and apportionment are deducted. Based on claims reports in 

previous years, an additional IBNR (incurred but not yet reported) claims reserve is recognized for 

claims which occurred or were caused before the balance sheet date but which have not yet been 

reported at the reporting date. Statistical estimates are used in this measurement. Claims out-

standing in direct life insurance is formed on an individual basis. In direct life insurance, an IBNR 

claims reserve is recognized for claims which have occurred but which have not yet been reported 

at the reporting date; this IBNR claims reserve is measured at the capital at risk, based on current 

estimations. 

Provisions for bonuses and rebates in non-life and life insurance includes amounts allocated to 

policyholders under statutory or contractual provisions for performance-related and non-per-

formance-related surplus participation, as well as amounts from differences for a limited period 

between the financial statements in accordance with IFRS and the local GAAP annual financial 

statements (deferred provisions for bonuses and rebates) which will affect future calculations of 

surplus participation. For measurement differences recognized directly in equity, such as unreal-

ized profit or loss on available-for-sale financial assets, the corresponding provision for deferred 

bonuses and rebates is also recognized in equity.

Other actuarial provisions are formed in the amount of likely need. Cancellation and premium 

deficiency provisions are calculated on the basis of past experience.
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Insurance liabilities are assessed if adequate using a liabilities adequacy test. The appropriateness 

test determines whether the carrying amount of the actuarial provisions has to be increased based 

on a comparison with expected future cash flows. The appropriateness test is carried out using 

the loss recognition test for the life insurance companies and the premium deficiency test for 

property insurance companies. With regard to the actuarial provisions for the health insurance 

companies, the present value of expected future insurance benefits, administration costs are com-

pared with the present value of expected future premium payments. If deficits arise, the insurance 

company has the option to adjust premiums in accordance with the prospective unlocking prin-

ciple. The basis for calculations is regularly reviewed to ensure adequate safety margins,  taking 

into account the recommendations of the actuar’s association (Deutsche Aktuar vereinigung e.V.) 

and BaFin as well as observed trends in the portfolio. 

As a result of the predominant use of national accounting principles in measuring insurance 

 liabilities in accordance with IFRS 4 and the priority given by German commercial law to protecting 

creditors, the principle of prudence is particularly important, so that where there is uncertainty 

about an amount, the amount to be recognized is a conservative figure rather than the most 

probable value or an average. As such, liabilities adequacy tests were carried out regularly in 

the past under national GAAP. The transition to IFRS did not result in any further adjustments to 

insurance liabilities.

Where investment risk is borne by employees, employers and life insurance policyholders, pension 

fund and technical pro visions represent an item corresponding to investments of employees and 

employers as well as for the account and risk of holders of life insurance policies, provided that 

the investments in question arise out of contracts to be reported under IFRS 4. They are measured 

similarly at fair value on the basis of the attributable investments.

A lease is classified as a finance lease if substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to owner-

ship of an asset are transferred to the lessee. If the risks and rewards remain substantially with the 

lessor, the lease is an operating lease.

DZ BANK Group as lessor

If a lease is classified as a finance lease, the asset underlying the lease is derecognized from the 

DZ BANK consolidated financial statements and a receivable recognized against the lessee. The 

receivable is measured at an amount equal to the net investment in the lease. Lease payments  

are apportioned into a payment of interest and principal. The payment of interest based on the 

11 | Leases
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 lessor’s internal discount rate for a constant periodic return is recognized as interest income, while 

the principal payment reduces the carrying amount of the receivable. 

If a lease is classified as an operating lease, the DZ BANK Group retains title. The items leased are 

accordingly presented in the consolidated balance sheet as property, plant and equipment, and 

investment property. The items leased are measured at cost less depreciation and impairments. 

Unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern, lease income is recog-

nized in income on a straight-line basis and presented as current income in interest net income.

DZ BANK Group as lessee 

If a lease is classified as a finance lease, the DZ BANK Group obtains title on the leased item. The 

leased item must accordingly be carried in the financial statements as property, plant and equip-

ment, and investment property. At initial recognition the leased item is measured at fair value 

or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments and a liability is recognized at the 

same amount. Income from leases must be divided into a payment of interest and principal.

Lease payments under an operating lease are recognized as administration expenses and calcu-

lated on a systematic basis representative of the time pattern of the user’s benefit.

Cash and cash equivalents are cash on hand and balances with the central bank and other public 

institutions.

Cash on hand includes cash in Euro and foreign currencies, measured respectively at its nominal 

amount and at the bid rate for cash in foreign currencies. Balances with the central bank and 

other public institutions (e.g. postal giro accounts) are allocated to the category of loans and 

receivables and measured at amortized cost. Interest income on these balances is recognized in 

profit or loss as interest income from lending and money market operations.

Loans and advances are all receivables which are not classified as “financial instruments held 

for trading” and presented as financial assets held for trading. Loans and advances include 

receivables payable on demand or at notice from the credit, leasing and money market business, 

registered bonds and promissory notes.

12 | Cash and cash equivalents

13 |  Loans and advances
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In principal loans and advances are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 

method. In hedge accounting, the carrying amount of hedged items is adjusted for the change 

in fair value attributable to the hedged risk. To avoid accounting mismatches, certain loans and 

advances are designated as at fair value through profit or loss. Finance lease receivables are 

initially recognized in the balance sheet at an amount equal to the net investment in the lease. 

In subsequent measurement, finance income is recognized to reflect a constant periodic rate of 

return on the net investment.

Interest income on loans and advances is presented as interest income from loans and advances.  

This also includes the proceeds of sales of loans and advances categorized as “loans and receiv-

ables” and amortization of adjustments to carrying amounts in fair value hedges.  Adjustments 

to carrying amount in connection with hedging relationships are presented as part of other 

gains and losses on valuation of financial instruments in the gains and losses arising on hedging 

transactions. Results from the valuation of loans and advances designated as at fair value through 

profit or loss are also presented under this heading in other gains and losses on valuation of 

financial instruments.

Impairment of loans and advances allocated to the category of “loans and receivables” are 

recognized using an allowance account as a separate balance sheet item for allowances for losses 

on loans and advances. There are also provisions for loan commitments where corresponding 

provision is required in the event of draw-down, and other provisions for loans and advances. 

 Liabilities are recognized for financial guarantees and certain loan commitments, and presented 

as other liabilities. Additions to these items and amounts reversed are recognized in profit or loss.

This balance sheet item covers derivatives designated as hedging instruments under an effective  

and documented hedging relationship. Derivatives are measured at fair value. In the case of 

derivatives used for fair value hedging, changes in fair value between two balance sheet dates are 

recognized in profit or loss under other gains and losses on valuation of financial instruments. In 

the case of derivatives used for cash flow hedging, the effective portion of the fair value changes 

of the hedging instrument is recognized in equity in the cash flow hedge reserve. Fair value 

changes on the ineffective part of the hedging relationship are recognized in other gains and 

losses on valuation of financial instruments.

14 |  Allowances for losses  

on loans and advances

15 |  Derivatives used for hedging 
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Assets held for trading include exclusively financial assets and financial liabilities classified as 

“financial instruments held-for-trading”.

Besides securities, promissory notes and money market receivables, financial assets held for trad-

ing include derivatives with positive fair value which were either entered into for trading or which 

do not meet the requirements for hedging instruments.

Financial liabilities held for trading include share and market index certificates and money market 

deposits and certificates of deposit, delivery commitments arising from short sales of securities 

and deposits from money market transactions, and derivatives with negative fair value which 

were either entered into for trading or which do not meet the requirements for recognition as 

hedging instruments.

Financial instruments presented as financial assets and liabilities held for trading are always 

 measured at fair value through profit or loss. Results from measurement, interest income and 

expense and dividends from financial assets and liabilities held for trading are recognized in  

gains and losses on trading activities, provided that there is an actual intent to trade.

Valuation results from derivatives entered into for hedging purposes but which do not meet the 

requirements for recognition as hedging instruments are presented in other gains and losses on 

valuation of financial instruments as gains and losses on derivatives held for trading concluded 

without trading purpose. If the hedged items are classified as financial assets and liabilities desig-

nated as at fair value through profit or loss, in order to avoid accounting mismatches, valuation 

results are recognized instead as gains and losses on financial instruments designated as at fair 

value through profit or loss. Interest income and expense arising out of derivatives concluded 

without trading purpose are recognized in interest net income.

Investments are bearer bonds and other fixed-income securities, shares and other non 

fixed-income securities and registered or bearer other shareholdings in companies in which 

DZ BANK Group has no significant influence and which are not held for trading purpose. 

Investments also include shares in unconsolidated subsidiaries and shares in joint ventures and 

associates.

16 |  Financial assets and financial 

liabilities held for trading

17 | Investments
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Initial recognition of investments is at fair value. Shares and other shareholdings, investments in 

subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates of which the fair value cannot be reliably determined 

or which are measured using the equity method are initially recognized at cost on acquisition. 

Subsequent measurement of investments is in accordance with the accounting policies of the 

 category to which they have been allocated or, in the case of shares in joint ventures and associ-

ates, using the equity method.

Investments are assessed regularly for impairment. In the case of investments in the category of 

loans and receivables, the impairment test is similar to that for loans and advances. Debt instru-

ments quoted in an active market, investments in the category available-for-sale are generally 

impaired if the loss exceeds 25 percent of amortized cost at any one time or exceeds 15 percent 

of amortized cost continuously during a six-month period. Equity instruments in this category 

quoted in an active market or measured at fair value using measurement models are impaired 

if the fair value falls below cost at the balance sheet date by more than 20 percent or remains 

below cost continuously for a six-month period. Equity instruments measured at cost (specifically 

investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates) are subject to strict and ongoing moni-

toring. An impairment loss is recognized for these if there is objective evidence of a permanent 

deterioration in future earnings. If the reasons for an impairment loss on investments cease to 

apply and this can be related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized, the 

impairment loss must be reversed for debt instruments in profit or loss. Reversal of impairment 

for equity instruments is not permitted.

Interest income on investments is recognized in interest net income. Premiums and discounts are 

amortized over the expected life of the instrument using the effective interest method and also 

recognized in interest net income. Dividends from shares and other non fixed-income securities, 

subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates measured in accordance with IAS 39 are recognized 

in current income in interest net income. This also applies to gains or losses on investments ac-

counted for using the equity method. Impairment losses and reversals as well as gains and losses 

realized on sales of investments not measured at fair value through profit or loss are reported in 

gains and losses on investments.

Property, plant and equipment includes specifically land and buildings which are expected to be 

used during more than one period. Investment property covers property held exclusively to earn 

rentals.

Property, plant and equipment, and investment property are measured at amortized cost. Borrow-

ing cost are recognized as expense in the period in which they are incurred. If there are indica-

18 |  Property, plant and equipment, 

and investment property
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tions of impairment at the balance sheet date, they are assessed for impairment. If the fair value 

less costs to sell or value in use of an asset is lower than the amortized cost, an impairment loss is 

recognized. If the reasons for a previously recognized impairment loss cease to apply, the loss can 

be reversed but may not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined without 

impairment.

The usual useful life is 25 to 50 years for buildings, 3 to 25 years for plant and equipment, 3 to 

25 years for leased property and 25 to 50 years for investment property.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment, and investment property is presented in adminis-

tration expenses, impairment losses and reversals in other operating net income.

Current and deferred tax assets are recognized in tax assets, current and deferred tax liabilities  

in tax liabilities. Current tax assets and liabilities are carried at the amount of an expected refund 

or future payment. Deferred taxes are recognized for temporary differences between the carry-

ing amount in the IFRS balance sheet and the tax bases of assets and liabilities and for tax loss 

 carry forwards, provided that their realization is sufficiently probable. Deferred taxes are measured 

at the national and company-specific tax rates expected to apply at the time of realization. For 

subsidiaries forming a fiscal group with DZ BANK, a uniform fiscal group tax rate is applied. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted. Where temporary differences relate to items 

that are credited or charged directly to equity, the resulting deferred taxes are recognized in 

 equity. Current and deferred tax income and expenses are recognized in the income statement  

in tax expense. 

Besides other assets of insurers, other assets include intangible assets, other receivables and other 

assets. 

Intangible assets primarily comprise software purchased or internally generated. Intangible assets 

are measured at cost. If their useful life is finite, intangible assets are depreciated over the usual 

useful life. Software is depreciated over a useful life of 3 to 10 years. Depreciation is recognized 

in administration expenses. If there are indications of impairment at the balance sheet date, in-

tangible assets with finite useful life are assessed for impairment. Intangible assets with indefinite 

useful life, intangible assets not ready for use, and goodwill are not depreciated. They must be 

annually assessed for impairment. Impairment losses on intangible assets are recognized in other 

operating net income. 

19 |  Tax assets and liabilities

20 |  Other assets
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The carrying amount for assets or groups of assets and liabilities whose sale is planned will be 

recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than continuing use. If the following con-

ditions are met, they must accordingly be classified as held for sale. 

To be classified as held for sale, the assets or groups of assets and liabilities must be available for 

immediate sale in their present condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary for 

sales of such assets or disposal groups, and the sale must be highly probable. For the sale to be 

highly probable, there must be a commitment to a plan to sell the asset or disposal group, and 

an active program to locate a buyer and complete the plan must have been initiated, the asset 

or disposal group must be actively marketed for sale at a price that is reasonable in relation to its 

current fair value, and the sale should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale 

within one year from the date of classification.

Assets classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less 

costs to sell. Depreciation of assets is discontinued from the time at which they are classified as 

held for sale.

Assets classified as held for sale or disposal groups are recognized separately in the items non-

current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale and liabilities included in disposal 

groups classified as held for sale. The result of measurement at the lower of carrying amount and 

fair value less costs to sell and the amount recovered from the sale of these assets or disposal 

groups are recognized in the income statement as gains and losses on non-current assets classified 

as held for sale. 

Discontinued operations are components of the entity which have either been disposed of, or are 

classified as held for sale, and 

–  represent a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations, 

–  are part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or  

geographical area of operations, or 

–  are a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

There are currently no discontinued operations.

21 |   Non-current assets classified as 

held for sale, disposal groups and 

discontinued operations
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Deposits from banks and amounts owed to other depositors cover all registered liabilities which 

are not classified as “financial instruments held for trading”. Besides liabilities payable on demand 

or at notice from the deposit, building society and money market businesses, in particular issued 

registered bonds and promissory notes are included.

Deposits from banks and amounts owed to other depositors in the category “other financial 

liabilities” are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Where deposits 

from banks and amounts owed to other depositors are designated hedged items in an effective 

hedging relationship, their carrying amount is adjusted for the change in fair value attributable 

to the hedged risk. Deposits from banks and amounts owed to other depositors allocated to the 

category of “financial instruments designated as at fair value through profit or loss” through the 

exercise of the “fair value option” are measured at fair value at the balance sheet date.

Interest expense on deposits from banks and amounts owed to other depositors are recognized 

separately in net interest income. Interest expense also includes the results of premature repay-

ment. Adjustments to carrying amount in connection with fair value hedges are recognized  

as part of other gains and losses on valuation of financial instruments in the gains and losses 

 arising on hedging transactions. If liabilities are measured at fair value by applying the “fair  

value option”, the resulting amounts are recognized in gains and losses on financial instruments 

designated as at fair value through profit or loss, as part of other gains and losses on valuation  

of financial instruments.

Debt certificates cover Pfandbrief securities, other bonds and money market deposits for which 

no registered transferable certificates are issued. Debt certificates and gains and losses are mea-

sured and recognized similarly to deposits from banks and customers. 

Besides provisions for pensions and other post retirement benefit obligations, provisions include 

provisions for onerous contracts, provisions for restructuring cost, loan commitments and other 

uncertain liabilities to third parties.

Provisions for pensions and other post retirement benefit obligations

The company pension plan agreed with the staff of the DZ BANK Group is based on various types 

of pension systems which depend on the legal, economic and tax features of the relevant coun-

tries and include both defined contribution and defined benefit plans.

22 |  Deposits from banks  

and amounts owed to  

other depositors 

23 |  Debt certificates including bonds
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In the case of granted defined contribution plans, agreed contributions are paid to external 

pension plans. The amount of the contributions and the income earned on these determine the 

amount of future pension benefits. No provisions are recognized for these indirect pension com-

mitments. Contributions paid are recognized as expenses for retirement benefits in each period.

Pension obligations for defined benefit plans are measured on the basis of the projected unit 

credit method. Accounting for the obligation requires various actuarial assumptions. Specifically, 

assumptions are made about future salary and benefit levels and average life expectancy. The 

assumptions about future salary and benefit levels are based on trends observed in the past and 

include expectations about the future development of the labor market. Estimates of average life 

expectancy are based on recognized biometric tables (Richttafeln by Prof. Dr. Klaus Heubeck). The 

interest rate used to discount future payment obligations is an adequate market discount rate 

for risk-free long-term monetary investments with a term equivalent to the pension obligations. 

The expected long-term development of existing assets is determined on the basis of the fund 

structure, taking into account historical experience. 

Actuarial gains and losses arising out of changes in the assumptions used for calculations or 

unexpected gains or losses on plan assets are recognized outside profit or loss and offset against 

equity during the financial year in which they occur.

The plan assets in the DZ BANK Group for funded post-employment benefits consist primarily of 

the plan assets of DZ BANK. These consist primarily of shares and other non fixed-income securi-

ties and are administered as a trust fund by DZ BANK Pension Trust e.V. and DZ BANK Mitarbei ter-

Unterstützungseinrichtung GmbH.

For liabilities in connection with termination of employment, provisions are recognized for early-

retirement and partial retirement arrangements.

Other provisions

Provisions for onerous contracts, restructuring costs, loan commitments and other uncertain 

 liabilities to third parties are measured on the basis of the best estimates at the present value 

of the expected use. The increase during the period in the discounted amount of the provision 

 arising from the passage of time is recognized as interest expense in interest net income.



157  Consolidated Financial Statements
Notes

Besides other liabilities of insurers, other liabilities include liabilities from financial guarantee  

contracts and loan commitments, deferred liabilities, other liabilities and deferred items as well  

as other remaining liabilities.

Liabilities from financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments fall within the scope of 

IAS 39. They are recognized at fair value at the time of acquisition. Subsequently financial 

 guarantee contracts are measured at the higher of the amount determined in accordance with 

IAS 37 and the amount initially recognized less cumulative amortization. 

Subordinated capital encompasses all debt instruments which in the event of insolvency or liqui-

dation are repaid only after all unsubordinated liabilities but before distribution of the surplus on 

insolvency or liquidation to shareholders. Subordinated capital specifically includes subordinated 

debt, deposits by silent partners classified as liabilities, issued capital participation rights and other 

subordinated capital. Measurement and recognition is similar to deposits from banks and custom-

ers. Minority interest in partnerships are also included in subordinated capital along with equity 

repayable on demand.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be 

confirmed only by future events not wholly within the control of the DZ BANK Group. 

A contingent liability is a possible liability that arises from past events and whose existence will 

be confirmed only by future events not wholly within the control of the DZ BANK Group. Pres-

ent obligations arising out of past events but not recognized because of the improbability of an 

outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or because the amount cannot be measured 

with sufficient reliability also constitute contingent liabilities. 

Contingent assets and liabilities are not recognized. Contingent assets are shown in the notes if 

the inflow of economic benefits is probable. Contingent liabilities are shown in the notes unless 

the probability of an outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Contingent assets are measured at the best estimate of the future inflow of economic benefits, 

contingent liabilities at the best estimate of the future outflow of economic benefits.

25 |  Other liabilities

26 | Subordinated capital

27 |  Contingent assets and liabilities
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B. First-time Adoption of IFRS

On making the transition from accounting in accordance with German GAAP to IFRS the 

DZ BANK Group is generally required to apply the standards and interpretations effective on  

the balance sheet date of December 31, 2007 retrospectively. The following exceptions to this 

principle offer elections or prohibit retrospective application of individual IFRS regulations.

The elections in IFRS 1 – where relevant to the DZ BANK Group – have been applied as described 

below.

Business combinations

Business combinations before the date of first-time adoption of IFRS at January 1, 2006 were not 

retrospectively adjusted. The classification of business combinations in accordance with German 

GAAP and the offsetting of goodwill with the retained earnings was kept unadjusted. Recogni-

tion of assets and liabilities taken over at January 1, 2006 was in accordance with the regulations 

of the IFRS. 

Fair value or revaluation as deemed cost

Selected assets in property, plant and equipment, and investment property were measured at fair 

value at the time of the transition to IFRS as deemed cost. These are the basis for subsequent 

measurement after the transition to IFRS in accordance with the regulations of IAS 16 and IAS 40.

Pension obligations

The current value of defined benefit obligations, the fair value of plan assets, plan surpluses or 

deficits and experience adjustments to plan liabilities and assets are shown prospectively from the 

date of transition from accounting under German GAAP to IFRS.  

Cumulated foreign currency translation differences

The requirements on translating financial statements in a functional currency other than the Euro 

to the reporting currency were applied prospectively from the time of the transition to IFRS.

28 |  Exceptions to retrospective  

application of IFRSs
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Hybrid (combined) instruments

The accounting effects of compound financial instruments containing both equity and liability 

components which were not outstanding at the date of transition from German GAAP to IFRS 

were not adjusted retrospectively.

Designation of previously recognized financial instruments

At the date of transition to IFRS selected financial instruments were designated as at fair value 

through profit or loss.

Insurance contracts

The transitional regulations of IFRS 4 were applied in accordance with IFRS 1.25D.

The transition to IFRS had the following effects on the consolidated equity of DZ BANK as at 

January 1, 2006 and December 31, 2006.

in € million Dec. 31, 2006 Jan. 1, 2006

Group equity according to German GAAP 9,355 7,594

Effects on equity 1,485 851

Insurance business 2,205 1,833

Contingency reserves under Art. 340f and g HGB and building societies guarantee fund 2,131 2,115

Deposits by silent partners and subordinated capital -1,341 -1,339

Tax assets/liabilities -1,305 -1,083

Other assets/liabilities -747 -357

Recognition and measurement of financial instruments under IAS 39 496 -65

Provisions for pensions -367 -611

Other provisions 252 183

Leases 108 101

Revaluation of property, plant and equipment, and investment property 41 41

Own shares – -24

Other changes 12 57

Group equity according to IFRS 10,840 8,445

29 |  Reconciliations from  

German GAAP to IFRSs
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The transition to IFRS had the following effects on consolidated net income for the last consoli-

dated financial statements according to German GAAP for the 2006 financial year. 

in € million 2006

Group net profit according to German GAAP 1,401

Effects on profit 458

Insurance business 346

Provisions for pensions 220

Recognition and measurement of financial instruments under IAS 39 157

Consolidation of special purpose entities -67

Leases 29

Amortization of interest income and expenses 28

Other provisions 27

Building societies guarantee fund 16

Tax expense -285

Other changes -13

Group net profit according to IFRS 1,859

Notes on the transitional effects

Adjustments in connection with the insurance business are due particularly to the cancellation  

of the equalization provision which cannot be recognized as liabilities under IFRS, and the fair 

value measurement of investments of insurers. These resulted in higher net income for the 2006 

financial year.

The cancellation of the prudential reserves (Art. 340f HGB) and the fund for general banking 

risks (Art. 340g HGB) affected equity and net income. While formation of hidden reserves is 

in compatible with IFRS principles, the fund for general banking risks does not satisfy the IFRS 

definition and recognition criteria for liabilities. The building societies guarantee fund also has to 

be released and posted to equity. 
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In accordance with the regulations of IAS 32, only those financial instruments issued may be 

classified as equity instruments which include no contractual obligation to deliver cash or another 

financial asset. As a result, in the transition from German GAAP to IFRS deposits by silent partners 

and other subordinated capital instruments had to be transferred from equity to liabilities.

Application of the regulations on accounting for financial instruments under IAS 39 led not only 

to a considerably expanded recognition of derivatives but also to comprehensive measurement 

of financial instruments at fair value. This required especially adjustment of the carrying amount 

of financial instruments under German GAAP as well as investments. Other effects on equity 

resulted from the application of hedge accounting.

Adjustments to equity and net income in connection with accounting for provisions for pensions 

resulted primarily from the application of actuarial assumptions which differ from those under 

German GAAP and a change in accounting policy.

Provisions to be shown under German GAAP must not be recognized in financial statements 

 under IFRS if the recognition and definition criteria for a liability in IAS 37 are not met. This 

required adjustment of equity and adjustment of net income for the 2006 financial year in 

 connection with the release of provision for operating expense.

The revaluation of assets and liabilities in accordance with IFRS further led to the recognition of 

deferred taxes, where the differences in valuation compared to the tax balance sheet reverse over 

time.

The German GAAP carrying amounts of financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 

under IFRS 1.25A amounted to € 28,471 million in assets as at December 31, 2005 and  

€ 21,560 million in liabilities in the consolidated financial statements under German GAAP. The 

corresponding fair value figures in the IFRS opening balance sheet as at January 1, 2006 were 

€ 29,815 million and € 21,104 million respectively. Under German GAAP these financial instru-

ments were essentially allocated to bonds and other fixed-income securities and investments of 

insurers. Special purpose entities consolidated for the first time under IFRS were not taken into 

account in this review.
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C. Notes on the Income Statement

in € million 2007 2006 change in %

Interest income and current income 10,973 10,791 1.7

Interest income from 10,708 10,535 1.6

Loans and advances 8,009 8,304 -3.6

of which: relating to mortgage loans 1,248 1,434 -13.0

relating to local authority loans 1,076 1,020 5.5

relating to home savings loans 282 304 -7.2

relating to advance and interim financing 522 527 -0.9

relating to other building loans 46 52 -11.5

relating to finance leases 323 286 12.9

Bonds and other fixed income securities 2,693 2,260 19.2

Portfolio hedges of interest rate risk 6 -29 > 100.0

Current income from 238 207 15.0

Shares and other non-fixed income securities 49 44 11.4

Investments in subsidiaries 4 28 -85.7

Investments in joint ventures 40 34 17.6

Investments in associates 86 44 95.5

Operating leases 59 57 3.5

Income from profit pools and profit transfer or  
profit sharing agreements 27 49 -44.9

Interest expenses for -8,270 -8,246 0.3

Deposits from banks and amounts owed to other depositors -5,256 -4,998 5.2

of which: home savings deposits -735 -779 -5.6

Debt certificates including bonds -2,659 -2,922 -9.0

Subordinated capital -354 -402 -11.9

Portfolio hedges of interest rate risk 11 83 -86.7

Other financial liabilities -12 -7 71.4

Total 2,703 2,545 6.2

Current income from investments in joint ventures and associates includes profit and losses on 

investments accounted for by using the equity method of € 31 million (2006: € 27 million) and 

€ 68 million (2006: € 40 million) respectively.

30 | Interest net income
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Income from the sale of loans and advances to banks and customers categorized as “loans and 

receivables” totaling € 58 million (2006: € 81 million) is recognized as interest income. Income 

from repurchase of deposits from banks and amounts owed to other customers measured at am-

ortized cost, debt certificates including bonds and subordinated capital total € 110 million (2006: 

€ -79 million) and are recognized as interest expense.

Interest income from continued measurement at present value of impaired financial assets under 

IAS 39.AG93 (unwinding) amounts to € 52 million (2006: € 40 million).

The amounts of interest income and interest expenses relating to the categories of IAS 39 are 

shown in the following table:

in € million 2007 2006 change in %

Interest income from 10,385 10,249 1.3

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 975 971 0.4

Loans and receivables 7,587 8,156 -7.0

Available-for-sale financial assets 1,823 1,122 62.5

Interest expenses for -8,258 -8,239 0.2

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss -1,408 -937 50.3

Other financial liabilities -6,850 -7,302 -6.2

Interest income and expense on derivatives used for hedging are included in interest income and 

expense from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss.



164   DZ BANK Annual Report 2007

in € million 2007 2006 change in %

Fee and commission income 2,458 2,316 6.1

Securities business 1,633 1,475 10.7

Asset management 54 57 -5.3

Monetary transactions including credit card business 129 116 11.2

Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments 25 23 8.7

Foreign commercial business 15 14 7.1

Credit and trust activities 160 137 16.8

Building society operations 302 322 -6.2

Other 140 172 -18.6

Fee and commission expenses -1,496 -1,525 -1.9

Securities business -621 -607 2.3

Asset management -19 -27 -29.6

Monetary transactions including credit card business -72 -56 28.6

Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments -4 -3 33.3

Credit activities -170 -175 -2.9

Building society operations -482 -497 -3.0

Other -128 -160 -20.0

Total 962 791 21.6

Fee and commission net income from the securities business and asset management includes in-

come of € 1,687 million (2006: € 1,532 million) and expense of € -594 million (2006: € -589 mil-

lion) on trust or other fiduciary activities. Fee and commission net income from credit and trust 

activities also includes additional income from trust activities of € 4 million (2006: € 5 million).

32 | Fee and commission net income

in € million 2007 2006 change in %

Allocations to allowances for losses on loans and advances -557 -623 -10.6

Reversals of allowances for losses on loans and advances 438 319 37.3

Value adjustments of loans and advances recorded directly  
to the income statement -74 -107 -30.8

Recoveries on loans and advances previously impaired 20 34 -41.2

Changes in provisions for loan commitments, other provisions  
for loans and advances and liabilities from financial guarantee contracts  
and loan commitments -36 42 > 100.0

Total -209 -335 -37.6

31 |  Impairment losses  

on loans and advances
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in € million 2007 2006 change in %

Gains and losses on bonds and other fixed income securities -61 -18 > 100.0

Disposal -57 17 > 100.0

Impairment -4 -35 -88.6

Gains and losses on shares and other non-fixed income securities -37 55 > 100.0

Disposal 16 57 -71.9

Impairment -53 -2 > 100.0

Gains and losses on investments in subsidiaries -4 -19 -78.9

Disposal -4 – –

Impairment – -19 -100.0

Gains and losses on investments in joint ventures -1 -9 -88.9

Impairment -1 -9 -88.9

Total -103 9 > 100.0

Gains and losses on investments include income from the disposal of financial assets categorized 

as “loans and receivables” totaling € 1 million (2006: € 12 million).

In the financial year at cost measured investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries and other invest-

ments in companies without a significant influence with a carrying amount of € 4 million (2006: 

€ 13 million) were sold. This resulted in losses from disposal of € -2 million. In 2006 there were 

gains of € 21 million from disposal.

in € million 2007 2006 change in %

Gains and losses on non-derivative financial instruments -1,492 -98 > 100.0

Gains and losses on derivative financial instruments 1,170 695 68.3

Gains and losses on foreign currencies 75 102 -26.5

Total -247 699 > 100.0

For information on the changes in gains and losses on trading activities, see the comments in the 

consolidated management report.

34 |  Gains and losses  
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in € million 2007 2006 change in %

Gains and losses arising on hedging transactions -2 – –

Gains and losses on derivatives concluded without trading purpose 16 51 -68.6

Gains and losses on financial instruments designated as at fair value  
through profit or loss -49 -34 44.1

Total -35 17 > 100.0

Gains and losses arising on hedging transactions are broken down as follows:

in € million 2007 2006 change in %

Fair value hedges -3 – –

Gains and losses on hedging instruments -411 -467 -12.0

Gains and losses on hedged items 408 467 -12.6

Portfolio fair value hedges – – –

Gains and losses on hedging instruments -69 -135 -48.9

Gains and losses on hedged items 69 135 -48.9

Gains and losses on cash flow hedges 1 – –

Total -2 – –

Gains and losses on financial instruments designated as at fair value through profit or loss  

resulted from the following partial gains and losses:

in € million 2007 2006 change in %

Gains and losses on non-derivative financial instruments 147 20 > 100.0

Gains and losses on derivative financial instruments -196 -54 > 100.0

Total -49 -34 44.1

35 |  Other gains and losses  

on valuation of  

financial instruments
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in € million 2007 2006 change in %

Income on investments of insurer 3,041 2,822 7.8

Interest income and current income 2,080 1,936 7.4

Income from reversal of impairment and unrealized gains 18 36 -50.0

Gains from revaluation 101 141 -28.4

Income from disposals 842 709 18.8

Expenses for investments of insurer -894 -750 19.2

Administration expenses for investments of insurer -79 -80 -1.3

Expenses for depreciation, impairment losses and unrealized losses -459 -298 54.0

Losses from revaluation -163 -208 -21.6

Losses from disposals -193 -164 17.7

Other income of insurer 106 56 89.3

Actuarial gains and losses 159 112 42.0

Other non-actuarial gains and losses -53 -56 -5.4

Total 2,253 2,128 5.9

Gains and losses on investments include losses from the sale of financial assets categorized  

as “loans and receivables” totaling € -20 million (2006: gains of € 3 million). No impairment 

losses were recognized on investments categorized as “loans and receivables” (2006: € -1 million) 

during the financial year.

In the previous year investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries measured at cost were sold with a  

carrying amount of € 22 million. This resulted in gains of € 21 million.

Income and expense on investments and other income include gains and losses on foreign  

currency translation recognized in profit or loss of € -186 million (2006: € -149 million).

in € million 2007 2006 change in %

Net premiums written 8,890 8,630 3.0

Gross premiums written 9,045 8,686 4.1

Reinsurance premiums ceded -155 -56 > 100.0

Change in provision for unearned premiums 36 7 > 100.0

Gross premiums 23 15 53.3

Reinsurers’ share 13 -8 > 100.0

Total 8,926 8,637 3.3

36 |  Premiums earned

37 |  Gains and losses on investments 

of insurer and other gains and 

losses of insurer
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in € million 2007 2006 change in %

Staff expenses -1,320 -1,258 4.9

Wages and salaries -1,085 -1,016 6.8

Social security contributions -139 -136 2.2

Expenses for retirement benefits -96 -106 -9.4

General and administrative expenses -1,130 -1,069 5.7

Expenses for leased staff -23 -22 4.5

Contributions and fees -59 -74 -20.3

Consultancy -185 -165 12.1

Office expense -180 -177 1.7

IT expense -218 -191 14.1

Property and premises expenses -150 -149 0.7

Information procurement -39 -36 8.3

Public relations/marketing -174 -172 1.2

Other general and administrative expenses -97 -78 24.4

Supervisory Board -5 -5 –

Depreciation on -135 -117 15.4

Property, plant and equipment -65 -67 -3.0

Investment property -5 -3 66.7

Intangible assets -65 -47 38.3

Total -2,585 -2,444 5.8

40 | Administration expenses

in € million 2007 2006 change in %

Expenses (gross) -1,477 -1,397 5.7

Reinsurers’ share 39 34 14.7

Total -1,438 -1,363 5.5

39 |  Operating expenses of insurer

in € million 2007 2006 change in %

Claims expenses from insurance business -5,802 -5,361 8.2

Expenses (gross) -5,891 -5,406 9.0

Reinsurers’ share 89 45 97.8

Change in technical provisions -3,469 -3,546 -2.2

Gross provisions -3,468 -3,501 -0.9

Reinsurers’ share -1 -45 -97.8

Total -9,271 -8,907 4.1

38 | Benefit payments
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Expenses for retirement benefits are broken down as follows:

in € million 2007 2006 change in %

Expenses for defined benefit obligations -65 -72 -9.7

Current service cost -38 -40 -5.0

Interest cost -71 -62 14.5

Expected return on plan assets 39 30 30.0

Past service cost 2 – –

Curtailments and settlement payments 3 – –

Expenses for early retirement and partial retirement arrangements -11 -9 22.2

Expenses for early retirement arrangements -3 -4 -25.0

Expenses for partial retirement arrangements -8 -5 60.0

Expenses for defined contribution obligations -15 -16 -6.3

Other expenses for retirement benefits -5 -9 -44.4

Total -96 -106 -9.4

In the financial year there were no material gains and losses on non-current assets classified as 

held for sale and disposal groups. In the previous year the sale of the branch outlets of the former 

norisbank AG, Nuremberg, by the present TeamBank AG Nürnberg (TeamBank), Nuremberg, 

resulted in € 310 million.

in € million 2007 2006 change in %

Other operating income 510 423 20.6

Operating leases 168 176 -4.5

Reversal of impairment and income from the disposal of  
property, plant and equipment, and investment property 6 4 50.0

Amounts reversed of restructuring provisions 6 6 –

Amounts reversed of other provisions and accrued liabilities 79 63 25.4

Other taxes 37 11 > 100.0

Derecognition of consolidated subsidiaries and partial sale of  
investments in consolidated subsidiaries 26 56 -53.6

Other income 188 107 75.7

Other operating expenses -398 -443 -10.2

Operating leases -143 -144 -0.7

Impairments and losses from the disposal of  
property, plant and equipment, and investment property -21 -32 -34.4

Restructuring programs -27 -29 -6.9

Other taxes -11 -33 -66.7

Loss assumptions -18 -24 -25.0

Other expenses -178 -181 -1.7

Total 112 -20 > 100.0

41 |  Gains and losses on non-current 

assets classified as held for sale 

and disposal groups

42 |  Other operating net income
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in € million 2007 2006 change in %

Current tax expenses -214 -75 > 100.0

Deferred tax expenses 43 -133 > 100.0

Total -171 -208 -17.8

Current tax for the previous year includes income of € 277 million for recognition of the dis-

counted claim for refund of the corporation tax. This claim will be paid out in ten even install-

ments starting in the 2008 financial year. The current financial year accordingly includes current 

tax income from the increase during the period in the capitalized claim arising from the passage 

of time.

As part of the 2008 Tax Act, it was decided that potential corporation tax increase liabilities from 

remaining untaxed final balances of equity components under Art. 38 para. 1 of the Corporation 

Tax Act (KStG) are subject to additional tax of 3 percent. Accordingly, liabilities include a current 

tax liability at the balance sheet date of € -7 million (potential corporation tax increase liability in 

the previous year: € -4 million).

43 | Tax expense

Other operating net income includes gains from reversal of impairment on property, plant and 

equipment, and investment property of € 2 million (2006: € 2 million). Partial sales of investments 

in consolidated subsidiaries in the financial year resulted in gains of € 26 million. In the previous 

year derecognition of consolidated subsidiaries resulted in gains of € 56 million.

Other operating expenses include impairment losses on property, plant and equipment, and 

 investment property of € -5 million (2006: € -1 million) and impairment losses on intangible assets 

of € -12 million (2006: € -7 million). Expense from restructuring arose predominantly in connec-

tion with the realignment of the mortgage banking business.
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Based on a corporation tax rate of 25 percent and allowing for the solidarity levy in calculating 

current tax on domestic corporations, an effective corporation tax rate of 26.375 percent was 

used, as in the previous year. Given the deduction of municipal trade tax from the corporation tax 

assessment base, the municipal trade tax rate assumed for DZ BANK and its fiscal group compa-

nies is 13.078 percent (2006: 13.768 percent). The change in the municipal trade tax rate is due 

primarily to a change in the scope of fiscal group of DZ BANK and a reduction in the municipal 

trade tax levy rate.

Calculation of deferred tax is based on the tax rates which are expected to apply to the period 

when the asset is realized or when the liability is settled. For this, the tax rates are used which 

 apply or have been announced for this date at the balance sheet date. The change in the munici-

pal trade tax levy rate of the City of Frankfurt was accordingly taken into account in the previ-

ous year in calculating deferred tax. The reduction in the corporation tax rate as a result of the 

2008 corporation tax reform and the associated changes in calculating municipal trade tax were 

taken into account for the first time at the balance sheet date in calculating deferred tax. The 

two changes together resulted in a tax rate for deferred tax calculation of 30.945 percent (2006: 

39.824 percent).

The following reconciliation shows the link between the expected and the reported tax expense, 

applying the prevailing tax laws in Germany: 

in € million 2007 2006 change in %

Profit before taxes 1,068 2,067 -48.3

Group income tax rate 39.453% 40.143% –

Expected tax expense -421 -830 -49.3

Tax effects 250 622 -59.8

Impact of tax-free income and non-deductible expenses 50 147 -66.0

Deviations due to other types of tax, local business tax rates and  
changes in tax rates 9 4 > 100.0

Tax rate differences on income subject to taxation in other countries 60 74 -18.9

Current and deferred tax income relating to prior periods 123 457 -73.1

Other effects 8 -60 > 100.0

Disclosed tax expense -171 -208 -17.8
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By business segment

2007 financial year

in € million  Bank Retail Real Estate  Insurance 
Consolidation/
reconciliation Total

Interest net income 1,375 430 1,185 – -287 2,703

Impairment losses on loans and advances -4 -90 -115 – – -209

Fee and commission net income 351 905 -198 – -96 962

Gains and losses on trading activities -279 18 14 – – -247

Gains and losses on investments -96 2 -9 – – -103

Other gains and losses on valuation of financial instruments 16 1 -51 – -1 -35

Premiums earned – – – 8,926 – 8,926

Gains and losses on investments of insurer and  
other gains and losses of insurer – – – 2,357 -104 2,253

Benefit payments – – – -9,271 – -9,271

Operating expenses of insurer – – – -1,533 95 -1,438

Administration expenses -1,383 -860 -516 – 174 -2,585

Other operating net income 206 80 -27 -5 -142 112

Profit before taxes 186 486 283 474 -361 1,068

Segment assets 276,307 22,967 120,014 53,015 -40,966 431,337

Segment liabilities 266,636 20,663 115,891 49,708 -32,564 420,334

Cost/income ratio in % 87.9 59.9 56.5 – – 66.9

By region 

2007 financial year

in € million Germany Rest of Europe Rest of World
Consolidation/ 
reconciliation Total

Profit before taxes 709 434 92 -167 1,068

Segment assets 387,327 48,103 25,291 -29,384 431,337

Segment liabilities 378,487 45,820 23,386 -27,359 420,334

44 | Segment reporting
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By business segment

2006 financial year

in € million  Bank Retail Real Estate  Insurance 
Consolidation/
reconciliation Total

Interest net income 1,168 481 1,076 – -180 2,545

Impairment losses on loans and advances -86 -123 -126 – – -335

Fee and commission net income 315 795 -205 – -114 791

Gains and losses on trading activities 662 21 6 – 10 699

Gains and losses on investments 42 -6 -7 – -20 9

Other gains and losses on valuation of financial instruments 15 37 -33 – -2 17

Premiums earned – – – 8,637 – 8,637

Gains and losses on investments of insurer and  
other gains and losses of insurer – – – 2,283 -155 2,128

Benefit payments – – – -8,907 – -8,907

Operating expenses of insurer – – – -1,478 115 -1,363

Administration expenses -1,311 -804 -539 – 210 -2,444

Gains and losses on non-current assets  
classified as held for sale and disposal groups – 310 – – – 310

Other operating net income 180 -83 36 -4 -149 -20

Profit before taxes 985 628 208 531 -285 2,067

Segment assets 269,175 21,367 122,978 49,940 -41,776 421,684

Segment liabilities 258,851 19,822 119,110 46,981 -33,920 410,844

Cost/income ratio in % 55.0 64.6 61.7 – – 53.9

By region 

2006 financial year

in € million Germany Rest of Europe Rest of World
Consolidation/ 
reconciliation Total

Profit before taxes 1,582 388 260 -163 2,067

Segment assets 374,623 45,202 32,619 -30,760 421,684

Segment liabilities 366,302 21,112 52,447 -29,017 410,844
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General information on segment reporting

The segment reporting is presented in accordance with IFRS 8. This standard has to be applied in 

annual financial statements for periods beginning on or after January 1, 2009. Early application is 

permitted. The DZ BANK Group elects to apply the standard before this date.

The regulations of IFRS 8 are based on the management approach. Under this, external reports 

must include information on operating segments which is used internally for managing the 

company and reporting to the company’s chief operating decision makers. The DZ BANK Group’s 

segment reporting is accordingly drawn up on the basis of the internal management reporting 

system. 

Definition of segments

Business and risk management as well as capital allocation of all major companies in 

the DZ BANK Group are carried out by the Group Coordination Committee. Besides 

the DZ BANK Board of Managing Directors this includes the chairmen of the Boards of 

Man aging Directors of R+V Versicherung AG, Wiesbaden, Union Asset Management 

Holding AG, Frankfurt am Main, Bausparkasse Schwäbisch Hall AG (BSH), Schwäbisch 

Hall, Deutsche Genossenschafts-Hypothekenbank AG (DG HYP), Hamburg, TeamBank 

and  VR-LEASING AG, Eschborn. Consultation is based on a coordination model. For the 

 purposes of segment reporting, 4 segments are used.

The Bank segment encompasses all of the DZ BANK Group’s activities in the areas of 

business with local cooperative banks, business with direct corporate customers, business 

with institutional customers and investment banking. The focus generally is on business  

custom ers as a target group. The VR LEASING and DVB Bank (DVB) subgroups are includ ed 

under this heading, as are the companies DZ BANK Ireland plc (DZ BANK Ireland), Dublin, 

VR Kreditwerk Hamburg-Schwäbisch Hall AG, Hamburg and Schwäbisch Hall,  ReiseBank 

AG, Frankfurt am Main, and DZ BANK. It also includes the companies that do not count 

as part of the DZ BANK Group’s core business operations.
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The Retail segment covers the DZ BANK Group’s private banking operations and activities 

relating primarily to asset management, with a focus on private clients as a target group. 

The main companies included are DZ PRIVATBANK (Schweiz) AG, Zurich, DZ BANK Inter-

national S.A. (DZI), Luxembourg-Strassen, and TeamBank along with the subgroup Union 

Asset Management Holding (UMH).

The Real Estate segment takes in the group’s building and loan and mortgage lending 

business. The segment includes the companies BSH and DG HYP. 

The insurance business is covered by the Insurance segment. This contains only the sub-

group R+V Versicherung.

During the financial year, there were no material changes in the organizational structure 

of the DZ BANK Group. The restructuring of DG HYP as a commercial real estate bank 

decided by the DZ BANK Board of Managing Directors and the associated transfer of the 

DG HYP private customer portfolio to BSH affects solely the Real Estate segment, and ac-

cordingly has no material effect on segment reporting.

Presentation of segment reporting

The interest income earned by the segments and associated interest expense are shown as 

interest net income in segment reporting, as management of the segments at group level is 

based exclusively on the net figure. 

The presentation of segment net income, assets and liabilities by region is based on the prin-

ciple of country of domicile of the companies included in the consolidated financial statements.

The segment assets shown include all financial and non-financial assets of the group companies 

included in a given segment. Specific non-current (primarily tangible) assets are not presented 

in segment reporting by region as they are not material for the DZ BANK Group’s business 

model.
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Measurement criteria

Internal reporting to the chief operating decision makers of the DZ BANK Group is primarily based 

on the generally accepted accounting and valuation principles applying to the DZ BANK Group. 

As part of the transition from HGB to IFRS in the external reporting, the internal reporting system 

was also modified.

Intragroup transactions between segments are concluded at arm’s-length conditions. Their pre-

sentation in internal reporting also follows the accounting policies used in external reporting.

The key criteria for assessing the success of segments are profit before taxes and the cost-income 

ratio. The cost-income ratio shows the relation between administration expenses and gross oper-

ating income and reflects the business segments’ cost efficiency.

Consolidation/reconciliation

The adjustments to profit before taxes of the segments shown under consolidation/reconciliation 

to match group profit before taxes follow from the consolidation of intragroup transactions dur-

ing the financial year and previous year. 

Adjustments to interest net income are primarily the result of the consolidation of intragroup 

dividend payments, from distributions to silent partners as well as of the repurchase of bonds and 

money market deposits acquired by companies of the DZ BANK Group other than the issuer.

Consolidations in fee and commission net income relate specifically to the fee and commission 

business of TeamBank and BSH with R+V Versicherung.

The other adjustments are primarily due to consolidation of income and expense, and to a minor 

extent to the profits at group level of derecognition of consolidated subsidiaries and sale of 

investments in consolidated subsidiaries without losing control.
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D. Notes on the Balance Sheet

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

On hand (cash) 50 61 -18.0 

Balances with the central bank and other public institutions 1,392 1,324 5.1 

of which: with the German Central Bank 1,075 1,124 -4.4 

Total 1,442 1,385 4.1

The average target minimum reserve for the financial year was € 1,025 million  

(2006: € 775 million).

Payable on demand Other receivables Total

in € million
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2006
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2006
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2006
change  

in %

Domestic banks 334 1,901 57,030 54,195 57,364 56,096 2.3

Affiliated banks 166 240 39,286 37,430 39,452 37,670 4.7

Other banks 168 1,661 17,744 16,765 17,912 18,426 -2.8

Foreign banks 909 297 9,258 6,048 10,167 6,345 60.2

Total 1,243 2,198 66,288 60,243 67,531 62,441 8.2

The following table shows the breakdown by type of business of loans and advances to banks:

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Local authority loans 4,313 4,401 -2.0

Mortgage loans 159 249 -36.1

Home savings loans 26 11 > 100.0

Finance lease 49 52 -5.8

Money market placements 4,572 2,763 65.5

Other loans and advances 58,412 54,965 6.3

Total 67,531 62,441 8.2

45 | Cash and cash equivalents

46 | Loans and advances to banks
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in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Loans and advances to domestic customers 83,359 82,647 0.9

Loans and advances to foreign customers 22,948 17,425 31.7

Total 106,307 100,072 6.2

The following table shows the breakdown by type of business of loans and advances to 

customers:

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Local authority loans 19,711 19,545 0.8

Mortgage loans 22,397 24,040 -6.8

Building loans advanced by home loan bank 18,100 17,913 1.0

of which: Allocations (home savings loans) 6,403 6,286 1.9

Advance and interim financing 10,872 10,703 1.6

Other building loans 825 924 -10.7

Finance lease 4,676 4,189 11.6

Other loans secured by mortgages 141 144 -2.1

Money market placements 28 29 -3.4

Other loans and advances 41,254 34,212 20.6

Total 106,307 100,072 6.2

Allowances for losses on loans and advances carried as assets changed as follows:

in € million
As at  

Jan. 1, 2006 Allocations
Amounts 

used
Amounts 
reversed

Other 
changes 

taken  
directly  

to equity
As at  

Dec. 31, 2006

Allowances for  
losses on loans and 
advances to banks 178 12 -143 -22 -1 24

Specific loan loss 
allowances 145 2 -141 – – 6

Portfolio loan loss 
allowances 33 10 -2 -22 -1 18

Allowances for  
losses on loans 
and advances to 
customers 2,399 611 -600 -332 -54 2,024

Specific loan loss 
allowances 2,180 426 -595 -310 -40 1,661

Portfolio loan loss 
allowances 219 185 -5 -22 -14 363

Total 2,577 623 -743 -354 -55 2,048

47 | Loans and advances to customers

48 |  Allowances for losses  

on loans and advances
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in € million
As at  

Jan. 1, 2007 Allocations
Amounts 

used
Amounts 
reversed

Other 
changes 

taken  
directly  

to equity
As at  

Dec. 31, 2007

Allowances for 
losses on loans and 
advances to banks 24 70 – -4 – 90

Specific loan loss 
allowances 6 – – -4 – 2

Portfolio loan loss 
allowances 18 70 – – – 88

Allowances for  
losses on loans 
and advances to 
customers 2,024 487 -288 -469 -22 1,732

Specific loan loss 
allowances 1,661 456 -288 -311 -22 1,496

Portfolio loan loss 
allowances 363 31 – -158 – 236

Total 2,048 557 -288 -473 -22 1,822

Besides the allowances for losses on loans and advances, there are provisions for loan com-

mitments and other provisions for loans and advances and liabilities from financial guarantee 

contracts and loan commitments.

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Derivative instruments hedging fair value of 546 498 9.6

Financial assets 34 38 -10.5

Financial liabilities 237 238 -0.4

Portfolios of financial assets and liabilities 275 222 23.9

Derivative instruments hedging cash flows of forecast transactions 11 4 > 100.0

Total 557 502 11.0

49 |  Derivatives used for hedging
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in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Bonds and other fixed-income securities 67,389 65,735 2.5

Money-market instruments 4,314 970 > 100.0

Public-sector issuers 198 279 -29.0

Other issuers 4,116 691 > 100.0

Bonds 63,075 64,765 -2.6

Public-sector issuers 3,059 6,148 -50.2

Other issuers 60,016 58,617 2.4

Shares and other non fixed-income securities 929 759 22.4

Shares 699 686 1.9

Shares in investment funds 83 73 13.7

Other non fixed-income securities 147 – –

Derivatives 16,064 14,112 13.8

Interest-linked contracts 13,076 12,397 5.5

Currency-linked contracts 692 390 77.4

Share/index-linked contracts 1,018 904 12.6

Other contracts 532 233 > 100.0

Credit derivatives 746 188 > 100.0

Promissory notes 2,501 2,684 -6.8

to banks 1,212 1,250 -3.0

to customers 1,289 1,434 -10.1

Loans and receivables from money market placements 43,142 48,982 -11.9

to banks 36,504 40,694 -10.3

to customers 6,638 8,288 -19.9

Total 130,025 132,272 -1.7

The following negotiable securities are included in financial assets held for trading: 

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Bonds and other fixed-income securities 67,389 65,735 2.5

of which: listed on an exchange 63,634 60,664 4.9

Shares and other non fixed-income securities 801 712 12.5

of which: listed on an exchange 781 701 11.4

50 | Financial assets held for trading 
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in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Bonds and other fixed-income securities 69,497 72,767 -4.5

money-market instruments 539 10 > 100.0

public-sector issuers 206 – –

other issuers 333 10 > 100.0

Bonds 68,958 72,757 -5.2

public-sector issuers 22,043 22,152 -0.5

other issuers 46,915 50,605 -7.3

Shares and other non fixed-income securities 1,478 1,774 -16.7

Shares and other shareholdings 546 739 -26.1

Shares in investment funds 922 1,026 -10.1

Other non fixed-income securities 10 9 11.1

Investments in subsidiaries 1,122 1,042 7.7

of which: in banks 78 77 1.3

in financial institutions 10 10 –

Investments in joint ventures 235 166 41.6

of which: in banks 100 90 11.1

Investments in associates 625 506 23.5

of which: in banks 476 385 23.6

Total 72,957 76,255 -4.3

At the balance sheet date the carrying amount of investments in joint ventures and associates 

accounted for by using the equity method is € 229 million (2006: € 160 million) or € 622 million 

respectively (2006: € 503 million). 

Furthermore the investments include shares and other non fixed-income securities, investments in 

subsidiaries and investments in joint ventures and associates with a carrying amount of € 625 mil-

lion (2006: € 522 million) measured at cost. There are no active markets for these investments, 

nor is reliable determination of their fair value possible using a valuation model (based on unob-

servable data). There are no other markets for these instruments. These investments are long-

term strategic investments of the DZ BANK Group.

51 | Investments 
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The following negotiable securities are included in investments:

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Bonds and other fixed-income securities 69,497 72,767 -4.5

of which: listed on an exchange 60,109 63,146 -4.8

Shares and other non fixed-income securities 1,195 1,435 -16.7

of which: listed on an exchange 422 650 -35.1

Investments in subsidiaries 51 50 2.0

of which: listed on an exchange 51 50 2.0

Investments in associates 7 – –

of which: listed on an exchange – – –

Financial data on investments in joint ventures accounted for by using the equity method

The presentation of the cumulated data of joint ventures accounted for by using the equity 

method is based on the actual share in equity of the DZ BANK Group.

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006

Assets 3,787 3,161

Liabilities 3,580 3,025

Income 315 202

Expenses 280 172

Financial data on investments in associates accounted for by using the equity method

The presentation of the cumulated data of associates accounted for by using the equity method 

is independent of the share in equity and shows the items reported by associates.

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006

Assets 70,928 56,145

Liabilities 67,441 53,475

Gross operating income 6,221 3,221

Total profits or losses 246 213
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in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Investment property 956 1,028 -7.0

Investments in subsidiaries 204 255 -20.0

Investments in associates 177 124 42.7

Mortgage loans 3,581 3,560 0.6

Promissory notes and bonds 8,706 7,924 9.9

Registered bonds 8,824 8,031 9.9

Other loans 985 1,123 -12.3

Non fixed-income securities 8,482 7,968 6.5

Fixed-income securities 11,182 11,070 1.0

Money market placements 131 200 -34.5

Derivatives 74 101 -26.7

Deposits with ceding undertakings 167 169 -1.2

Investments related to unit-linked contracts 3,907 2,898 34.8

Total 47,376 44,451 6.6

The fair value of land and buildings recognized as investment property is € 1,037 million (2006: 

€ 1,125 million). The carrying amount at January 1, 2006 of investment property measured at 

fair value at the date of transition from German GAAP to IFRS was € 1,211 million, exceeding by 

€ 317 million the amount shown in the consolidated financial statements according to German 

GAAP of DZ BANK as at December 31, 2005.

In the previous year investments of insurer measured at cost with a carrying amount of € 379 mil-

lion were included.

52 |  Investments of insurer
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in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Land and buildings 378 391 -3.3

Equipment 126 138 -8.7

Leased assets 1,041 818 27.3

Investment property 96 109 -11.9

Advance payments 71 37 91.9

Total 1,712 1,493 14.7

The fair value of investment property at the balance sheet date is € 107 million (2006: € 123 mil-

lion).

The carrying amounts at January 1, 2006 of property, plant and equipment, and investment 

property measured at fair value at the time of the transition from German GAAP to IFRS were 

€ 143 million or € 65 million respectively, exceeding by € 59 million or € 21 million respectively 

the amounts shown in the consolidated financial statements according to German GAAP of 

DZ BANK as at December 31, 2005.

53 |  Property, plant and equipment, 

and investment property

Changes in investment property included in investments 

in € million

Cost of acquisition

As at Jan. 1, 2007 1,054

Additions 2

Reallocations 1

Disposals -23

As at Dec. 31, 2007 1,034

Reversal of impairment

As at Jan. 1, 2007 8

As at Dec. 31, 2007 8

Depreciation and impairments

As at Jan. 1, 2007 -34

Additions from depreciation -33

Additions from impairments -19

As at Dec. 31, 2007 -86

Carrying amount

As at Jan. 1, 2007 1,028

As at Dec. 31, 2007 956
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Changes in property, plant and equipment, and investment property

in € million
Land and 
buildings Equipment

Leased  
assets

Investment 
property

Advance 
payments

Cost of acquisition

As at Jan. 1, 2007 574 607 1,014 154 37

Additions 2 42 588 26 61

Reallocations – 14 -8 – -8

Disposals -3 -64 -309 -40 -19

Changes due to currency translation – -2 -52 – –

Changes in scope of consolidation – 1 6 – –

As at Dec. 31, 2007 573 598 1,239 140 71

Reversal of impairment

As at Jan. 1, 2007 – – – 2 –

Additions – 2 – – –

Reallocations – – – -2 –

As at Dec. 31, 2007 – 2 – – –

Depreciation and impairments

As at Jan. 1, 2007 -183 -469 -196 -47 –

Additions from depreciation -14 -51 -110 -5 –

Additions from impairments – – – -5 –

Reallocations – -5 5 2 –

Disposals 2 50 98 11 –

Changes due to currency translation – 1 5 – –

As at Dec. 31, 2007 -195 -474 -198 -44 –

Carrying amount

As at Jan. 1, 2007 391 138 818 109 37

As at Dec. 31, 2007 378 126 1,041 96 71
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in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Current tax assets 953 582 63.7

Deferred tax assets 1,076 996 8.0

Total 2,029 1,578 28.6

Deferred tax assets are based on temporary differences of the following items:

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Tax loss carryforwards 437 154 > 100.0

Loans and advances to banks and customers, net of allowances for losses 61 95 -35.8

Financial assets and liabilities held for trading and derivatives used for hedging 504 517 -2.5

Investments 388 112 > 100.0

Investments of insurer 17 16 6.3

Property, plant and equipment, and investment property 1 2 -50.0

Deposits from banks and amounts owed to other depositors 565 435 29.9

Debt certificates including bonds 1 4 -75.0

Provisions for pensions and other post retirement benefit obligations 210 255 -17.6

Other provisions 32 63 -49.2

Technical provisions 225 254 -11.4

Other balance sheet items 390 382 2.1

Total (gross) 2,831 2,289 23.7

Offset of deferred tax liabilities -1,755 -1,293 35.7

Total (net) 1,076 996 8.0

Deferred tax assets are potential tax assets due to different carrying amounts of assets and liabili-

ties in the consolidated balance sheet according to IFRS on the one hand and the tax base on the 

other, which reverse over the course of time. Deferred tax assets due to temporary differences and 

tax loss carryforwards are only recognized if their realization in future is sufficiently probable. No 

deferred tax assets were recognized for corporation tax loss carryforwards of € 30 million (2006: 

€ 36 million) or trade tax loss carryforwards of € 10 million (2006: € 21 million). Tax loss carry-

forwards can be carried forward indefinitely in Germany.

Deferred tax assets amounting to € 185 million (2006: € 2 million) were taken directly to equity.

Deferred tax assets expected to be realized after 12 months amount to € 839 million (2006: 

€ 619 million).

54 | Tax assets
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in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Other assets of insurer 2,266 2,117 7.0

Goodwill 32 11 > 100.0

Software and other intangibles 147 159 -7.5

Other financial receivables 247 489 -49.5

Other residual assets 359 391 -8.2

Total 3,051 3,167 -3.7

Other assets of insurers break down as follows:

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Intangible assets 56 37 51.4

Reinsurance assets 327 322 1.6

Unearned premiums 29 16 81.3

Mathematical reserve 81 64 26.6

Claims outstanding 217 242 -10.3

Receivables of insurer 786 664 18.4

Receivables on direct insurance operations 319 337 -5.3

Receivables on reinsurance operations 66 73 -9.6

Other receivables 401 254 57.9

Cash with banks, checks and cash on hand 56 99 -43.4

Other remaining assets of insurer 1,041 995 4.6

Property, plant and equipment 303 320 -5.3

Advance payments and accruals 558 512 9.0

Other assets of insurer 180 163 10.4

Total 2,266 2,117 7.0

The carrying amount at January 1, 2006 of property, plant and equipment measured at fair value 

at the date of transition from German GAAP to IFRS was € 318 million, exceeding by € 68 mil-

lion the amount shown in the consolidated financial statements according to German GAAP of 

DZ BANK as at December 31, 2005.

55 | Other assets

After adjustment to the current assessments and taking into account the addition of accrued 

interest on amounts in the previous year, current tax assets include € 295 million (2006: € 277 mil-

lion) from capitalization of the discounted claim for refund of the corporation tax credit.
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The reconciliation of the carrying amount of intangible assets is as follows:

in € million Goodwill
Software and  

other intangibles

Cost of acquisition

As at Jan. 1, 2007 11 540

Additions – 66

Reallocations – 3

Disposals -3 -72

Changes due to currency translation – -1

Changes in scope of consolidation 24 1

As at Dec. 31, 2007 32 537

Depreciation and impairments

As at Jan. 1, 2007 – -381

Additions from depreciation – -65

Additions from impairments – -12

Disposals – 68

As at Dec. 31, 2007 – -390

Carrying amount

As at Jan. 1, 2007 11 159

As at Dec. 31, 2007 32 147

Additions to goodwill in the financial year are the result from 3 business combinations in 

the financial year and the acquisition of additional shares in a subsidiary which was already 

consolidated. 

In the R+V Versicherung subgroup, all shares in CHEMIE Pensionsfonds AG, Munich, and HVB 

Pensionsfonds AG, Munich, were acquired on December 31, 2007. The purchase price was 

€ 33 million. Goodwill of € 7 million was acquired, which was allocated to the Insurance segment 

as the cash generating unit.

On July 16, 2007 just under 79 percent of the shares in TES Holding Ltd., Cardiff, Great Britain, 

were acquired by the DVB subgroup. Also the acquisition led to obtaining control over the subsid-

iaries of this company. The purchase price was € 16 million. Resulting goodwill of € 9 million was 

allocated to the Bank segment as the cash generating unit.

The acquisition of additional shares in DVB Bank AG of just under 1 percent resulted in a goodwill 

of € 8 million in the financial year. It was also allocated to the Bank segment as the cash generat-

ing unit.
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in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Investments 2 2 –

Investments of insurer 168 109 54.1

Property, plant and equipment, and investment property 2 5 -60.0

Total 172 116 48.3

Investments include shares in companies which are not under significant influence. Investments  

of insurers comprise primarily real estate of a special fund which is being successively sold off with 

the intent of liquidating the fund, and shares in companies. Acquisitions in the course of fore-

closures of land and buildings are recognized in property, plant and equipment, and investment 

property.

Payable on demand
Agreed term or  
notice period Total

in € million
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2006
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2006
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2006 change in %

Domestic 
banks 844 1,793 50,626 49,279 51,470 51,072 0.8

Affiliated banks 168 163 13,115 13,287 13,283 13,450 -1.2

Other banks 676 1,630 37,511 35,992 38,187 37,622 1.5

Foreign banks 286 497 6,179 6,136 6,465 6,633 -2.5

Total 1,130 2,290 56,805 55,415 57,935 57,705 0.4

The following table shows the breakdown of deposits from banks by type of business: 

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Home savings deposits 153 252 -39.3

Money market deposits 7,892 10,333 -23.6

Other deposits 49,890 47,120 5.9

Total 57,935 57,705 0.4

56 |  Non-current assets classified as 

held for sale and disposal groups

57 |  Deposits from banks

The factors leading to recognition of goodwill are essentially synergies expected in future and 

acquired intangible assets which do not meet IFRS criteria for recognition and are accordingly 

attributable to goodwill.
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in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Amounts owed to other domestic depositors 72,335 69,421 4.2

Home savings deposits 31,428 31,526 -0.3

Other amounts owed to other depositors 40,907 37,895 7.9

Payable on demand 4,231 3,341 26.6

Agreed term or notice period 36,676 34,554 6.1

Amounts owed to other foreign depositors 5,260 3,254 61.6

Home savings deposits 252 224 12.5

Other amounts owed to other depositors 5,008 3,030 65.3

Payable on demand 2,197 1,333 64.8

Agreed term or notice period 2,811 1,697 65.6

Total 77,595 72,675 6.8

The following table shows the breakdown of amounts owed to other depositors by type of 

business:

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Home savings deposits 31,680 31,750 -0.2

Money market deposits 8,153 3,472 > 100.0

Other deposits 37,762 37,453 0.8

Total 77,595 72,675 6.8

The other amounts owed to other depositors have the following breakdown by customer group:

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Germany 40,907 37,895 7.9

Retail customers 1,147 1,158 -0.9

Corporate customers 38,822 35,895 8.2

Public sector 938 842 11.4

Abroad 5,008 3,030 65.3

Retail customers 132 124 6.5

Corporate customers 4,831 2,890 67.2

Public sector 45 16 > 100.0

Total 45,915 40,925 12.2

58 |  Amounts owed  

to other depositors
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in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Issued bonds 60,304 62,655 -3.8

Mortgage Pfandbriefe 10,265 10,687 -3.9

Public Pfandbriefe 26,097 29,967 -12.9

Other bonds 23,942 22,001 8.8

Other debt certificates 2,692 13,232 -79.7

Total 62,996 75,887 -17.0

Other debt certificates including bonds comprise money market deposits.

Derivatives used for fair value hedging of financial assets and liabilities show the following break-

down by hedged items:

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Financial assets 55 60 -8.3

Financial liabilities 262 84 > 100.0

Portfolios of financial assets and liabilities 305 183 66.7

Total 622 327 90.2

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Share and market index certificates 14,763 13,425 10.0

Money market deposits and certificates of deposit 6,184 3,593 72.1

Derivatives 17,972 15,633 15.0

Interest-linked contracts 14,819 14,358 3.2

Currency-linked contracts 712 384 85.4

Share/index-linked contracts 1,648 489 > 100.0

Other contracts 383 256 49.6

Credit derivatives 410 146 > 100.0

Delivery commitments arising from short sales of securities 4,169 6,069 -31.3

Money market deposits 120,108 109,145 10.0

from banks 102,188 90,637 12.7

from customers 17,920 18,508 -3.2

Total 163,196 147,865 10.4

59 |  Debt certificates including bonds

60 |  Derivatives used for hedging

61 |  Financial liabilities  

held for trading
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in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Provisions for pensions and other post retirement benefit 
obligations 920 955 -3.7

Provisions for pensions 812 838 -3.1

Provisions for early retirement schemes 53 63 -15.9

Provisions for partial retirement schemes 55 54 1.9

Other provisions 797 712 11.9

Provisions for onerous contracts 18 55 -67.3

Provisions for restructuring costs 67 51 31.4

Provisions for loan commitments 59 5 > 100.0

Other provisions 653 601 8.7

Total 1,717 1,667 3.0

Provisions for pensions

The following table shows the breakdown of provisions for pensions:

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Net present value of pension obligations not financed by plan assets 810 836 -3.1

Net present value of pension obligations financed by plan assets 919 880 4.4

Less fair value of plan assets 925 897 3.1

Pension obligations (net) 804 819 -1.8

Capitalized surplus 8 19 -57.9

Reported provisions for pensions 812 838 -3.1

Reimbursement rights recognized as assets 18 2 > 100.0

The present value of defined benefit obligations changed as follows:

in € million 2007 2006 change in %

Net present value of pension obligations as at Jan. 1 1,716 1,681 2.1

Current service cost 38 40 -5.0

Interest cost 71 62 14.5

Employee contributions 3 5 -40.0

Pension benefits paid -69 -68 1.5

Past service cost -2 – –

Actuarial gains -25 -5 > 100.0

Currency changes -1 – –

Changes in scope of consolidation – -11 -100.0

Transfer payments -2 12 > 100.0

Net present value of pension obligations as at Dec. 31 1,729 1,716 0.8

62 | Provisions
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There is the following funding for pension plans:

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Net present value of pension obligations 1,729 1,716 0.8

Less fair value of plan assets 925 897 3.1

Total 804 819 -1.8

The following experience adjustments were made in measuring pension obligations and plan as-

sets in the financial year:

in € million 2007 2006 change in %

Adjustments to plan liabilities based on experience  
(gains(–)/losses(+)) -1 24 > 100.0

Adjustments to plan assets based on experience  
(gains(+)/losses(–)) -11 3 > 100.0

The recognized reimbursement rights changed as follows:

in € million 2007 2006 change in %

Reimbursement rights recognized as assets as at Jan. 1 2 2 –

Contributions to reimbursement rights 16 – –

of which: employer contributions 16 – –

Reimbursement rights recognized as assets as at Dec. 31 18 2 > 100.0

The following table shows the changes in plan assets:

in € million 2007 2006 change in %

Fair value of plan assets as at Jan. 1 897 855 4.9

Expected return on plan assets 39 30 30.0

Contributions to plan assets 40 43 -7.0

of which: employer contributions 39 42 -7.1

 employee contributions 1 1 –

Pension benefits paid -38 -36 5.6

Actuarial gains(+)/losses(–) -11 4 > 100.0

Currency changes -2 – –

Transfer payments – 1 -100.0

Fair value of plan assets as at Dec. 31 925 897 3.1

Planned contributions to plan assets in next financial year 11 2 > 100.0
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Actual return from plan assets breaks down as follows:

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Actual return on plan assets 28 34 -17.6

Actual return on reimbursement rights recognized as assets 1 – –

The following table shows the breakdown of plan assets:

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Shares and other non fixed-income securities 821 829 -1.0

Land and buildings 14 14 –

Other assets 90 54 66.7

Total 925 897 3.1

The following actuarial assumptions were used in calculating pension provisions at the balance 

sheet date.

in % Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006

Discount rate 4.75 4.25

Expected rates of return on plan assets 4.19 3.54

Expected rates of return on reimbursement rights recognized as assets 4.34 3.84

Salary increases 3.00 – 4.00 2.50 – 4.50

Pension increases 1.00 – 2.00 1.75

Staff turnover 0.00 – 6.00 0.00 – 6.00

Other provisions

The following table shows the changes in other provisions:

in € million
As at  

Jan. 1, 2007 Allocations
Amounts  

used
Amounts  
reversed

Other changes 
taken directly 

to equity
As at  

Dec. 31, 2007

Provisions for  
onerous contracts 55 4 -31 -2 -8 18

Provisions for 
 restructuring costs 51 38 -16 -6 – 67

Provisions for loan 
commitments 5 48 – -8 14 59

Other provisions 601 234 -148 -44 10 653

Total 712 324 -195 -60 16 797
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The expected maturities of other provisions are shown below:

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Provisions for onerous contracts 18 55 -67.3

Up to 3 months 1 21 -95.2

More than 3 months up to 1 year 1 14 -92.9

More than 1 year up to 5 years 2 4 -50.0

More than 5 years 14 16 -12.5

Provisions for restructuring costs 67 51 31.4

Up to 3 months 2 – –

More than 3 months up to 1 year 35 26 34.6

More than 1 year up to 5 years 30 25 20.0

Provisions for loan commitments 59 5 > 100.0

More than 1 year up to 5 years 59 5 > 100.0

Other provisions 653 601 8.7

Up to 3 months 80 105 -23.8

More than 3 months up to 1 year 63 44 43.2

More than 1 year up to 5 years 205 154 33.1

More than 5 years 298 294 1.4

Indeterminate maturity 7 4 75.0

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Unearned premiums 1,039 1,064 -2.3

Mathematical reserve 30,545 28,903 5.7

Claims outstanding 4,651 4,415 5.3

Provisions for bonuses and rebates 5,778 5,593 3.3

Other technical provisions 72 93 -22.6

Reserve for unit-linked insurance contracts 3,239 2,230 45.2

Total 45,324 42,298 7.2

Changes in unearned premiums

in € million 2007

As at Jan. 1 1,064

Allocations 1,120

Removals/releases -1,141

Other measurement changes -4

As at Dec. 31 1,039

63 | Technical provisions
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Changes in mathematical reserve

in € million 2007

As at Jan. 1 28,903

Allocations 3,525

Currency changes -1

Accrued interest 1,049

Removals/releases -3,001

Other movements -7

Changes in scope of consolidation 77

As at Dec. 31 30,545

Changes in claims outstanding

in € million 2007

As at Jan. 1 4,415

Allocations 3,358

Currency changes -14

Removals/releases -3,108

As at Dec. 31 4,651

Changes in provisions for bonuses and rebates

in € million 2007

As at Jan. 1 5,593

Allocations 913

Removals/releases -595

Changes due to unrealized gains and losses on investments -194

Changes due to other revaluations 60

Changes in scope of consolidation 1

As at Dec. 31 5,778

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Current tax liabilities 354 251 41.0

Deferred tax liabilities 734 932 -21.2

Total 1,088 1,183 -8.0

64 | Tax liabilities
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Deferred tax liabilities are based on temporary differences of the following items:

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Loans and advances to banks and customers, net of allowances for losses 632 419 50.8

Financial assets and liabilities held for trading and derivatives used for hedging 27 81 -66.7

Investments 136 310 -56.1

Investments of insurer 255 344 -25.9

Property, plant and equipment, and investment property 25 32 -21.9

Deposits from banks and amounts owed to other depositors 467 315 48.3

Debt certificates including bonds 238 157 51.6

Provisions for pensions and other post retirement benefit obligations 16 2 > 100.0

Other provisions 82 18 > 100.0

Technical provisions 381 453 -15.9

Other balance sheet items 230 94 > 100.0

Total (gross) 2,489 2,225 11.9

Offset of deferred tax assets -1,755 -1,293 35.7

Total (net) 734 932 -21.2

Deferred tax liabilities are potential tax liabilities due to different carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet according to IFRS on the one hand and the tax base 

on the other, which reverse over the course of time.

Deferred tax liabilities amounting to € 83 million (2006: € 135 million) were taken directly to 

equity.

Deferred tax liabilities expected to be realized after 12 months amount to € 712 million (2006:  

€ 921 million).

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Other liabilities of insurer 3,535 3,678 -3.9

Liabilities from financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments 106 104 1.9

Accruals 835 753 10.9

Other financial liabilities 331 890 -62.8

Residual liabilities 414 325 27.4

Total 5,221 5,750 -9.2

Other liabilities include liabilities totaling € 44 million (2006: € 49 million) for compensation to 

minority interest in consolidated subsidiaries with which DZ BANK or another company controlled 

by DZ BANK has entered into a profit transfer agreement. 

65 | Other liabilities
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Other liabilities of insurer break down as follows:

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Other provisions of insurer 223 226 -1.3

Provisions for pensions and other post retirement benefit obligations 164 99 65.7

Residual provisions of insurer 59 127 -53.5

Financial liabilities and residual liabilities of insurer 3,312 3,452 -4.1

Subordinated capital 33 33 –

Deposits received from reinsurers 96 83 15.7

Liabilities from direct insurance operations 1,611 1,917 -16.0

Liabilities from reinsurance operations 139 121 14.9

Debt certificates including bonds 22 21 4.8

Deposits from banks 130 122 6.6

Derivatives 17 24 -29.2

Other financial liabilities of insurer 1,233 1,092 12.9

Residual liabilities of insurer 31 39 -20.5

Total 3,535 3,678 -3.9

Other financial liabilities of insurers comprise primarily liabilities from capitalization transactions 

totaling € 781 million (2006: € 731 million). They also include trade payables, fees and commis-

sions payable, bonuses, and other taxes.

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Subordinated debts 2,117 2,568 -17.6

Deposits by silent partners 806 860 -6.3

Capital participation rights 1,492 1,573 -5.1

Other subordinated capital 340 379 -10.3

Share capital repayable on demand 59 63 -6.3

Total 4,814 5,443 -11.6

Subordinated debts are mainly bearer and registered bonds and promissory notes. Interest rates 

were predominantly variable and during the financial year ranged from 5 to 7 percent. The 

deposits by silent partners recognized in subordinated capital are for typical silent partnerships 

with limited controlling rights (see Art. 233 HGB) and no participation rights to the assets of the 

group. Capital participation rights include issued bearer and registered profit participation certifi-

cates. Other subordinated capital includes issued regulatory Tier 1 equity which does not meet 

the IFRS criteria for equity. Share capital repayable on demand includes minority interest classified 

as subordinate in partnerships controlled by companies in the DZ BANK Group.

66 | Subordinated capital
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At the balance sheet date, liabilities included in disposal groups classified as held for sale are re-

ported as € 16 million (2006: € 33 million). These are associated with real estate of a special fund 

which is being successively sold off with the intent of liquidating the fund.

Breakdown of total equity

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Issued share capital 3,028 3,028 –

Share premium 843 843 –

Reserves including retained earnings 3,332 2,952 12.9

Revaluation reserve 156 693 -77.5

Cash flow hedge reserve 8 3 > 100.0

Foreign currency translation reserve 1 -1 > 100.0

Minority interest 3,484 3,171 9.9

Consolidated income from current year 151 151 –

Total 11,003 10,840 1.5

Issued share capital

The issued share capital (authorized capital) of DZ BANK consists of 1,164,779,707 registered unit 

shares with an arithmetical value of € 2.60 each. At the balance sheet date there are no preferen-

tial rights or restrictions on distribution of dividend. All shares issued and in circulation are paid up 

in full. 

Authorized capital

The Board of Managing Directors is authorized, subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board, 

to increase the share capital by August 31, 2011 on one or more occasions by up to a total of 

€ 50 million by way of issuing new registered non-par value shares in return for cash or non-cash 

contributions. The Board of Managing Directors is authorized, subject to the approval of the 

Supervisory Board, to exclude the subscription right of shareholders both in the case of capital 

increases in return for non-cash contributions and in the case of capital increases in return for cash 

contributions if the capital is increased for the purpose of 

– issuing new shares to employees of the company (employee shares), 

–  issuing new shares to one or more cooperative banks which, measured in terms of their total 

assets, directly and indirectly have a below-average stake in the corporation’s share capital, 

i.e. less than 0.5 percent of their total assets (using the nominal value of € 2.60 per DZ BANK 

share), 

–  acquiring companies, equity investments in companies or for granting equity investments in the 

corporation in order to back strategic partnerships. 

67 |  Liabilities included in disposal 

groups classified as held for sale

68 | Total equity
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The Board of Managing Directors is also authorized, subject to the approval of the Supervisory 

Board, to exclude fractions from the subscription right of shareholders (“Authorized capital I”).

The Board of Managing Directors is authorized, subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board, 

to increase the share capital by August 31, 2011 on one or more occasions by up to a total of 

€ 200 million by issuing new registered non-par value shares in return for cash contributions. The 

Board of Managing Directors is also authorized, subject to the approval of the Super visory Board, 

to exclude fractions from the subscription right of shareholders (“Authorized capital II”).

The Board of Managing Directors of DZ BANK did not exercise any of these powers in the report-

ing period.

The share of cooperative companies in the capital at the end of the financial year was around 

95.4 percent. The cooperative companies include cooperatives, cooperative central banks and 

other legal entities and trading companies associated with the cooperative system or cooperative 

housing sector.

Share premium

The share premium contains the amounts from issue of DZ BANK shares in excess of the arith-

metical value of the shares. 

Reserves including retained earnings

The reserves including retained earnings include earned and undistributed profit of the group and 

actuarial gains and losses from defined benefit obligations and plan assets after allowing for de-

ferred taxes. The total value of retained earnings carried at the balance sheet date is € 3,332 mil-

lion (2006: € 2,952 million). Differences arising on initial consolidation of acquisitions before 

January 1, 2006, set off against retained earnings.

Other changes in retained earnings and minority interest recognized to equity in accordance with 

IAS 28 and IAS 31 are prorated changes in equity of joint ventures and associates totaling € 1 mil-

lion (2006: € 2 million).

Revaluation reserve

The revaluation reserve shows changes in the fair value of financial assets available for sale, net of 

deferred taxes. Gains or losses are only recognized in profit or loss if an asset is sold or impaired.
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In the financial year € -776 million (2006: € 365 million) from changes in the fair value of 

financial assets available for sale was recognized directly in the revaluation reserve and minority 

interest. 

Due to sale of financial assets available for sale, an amount of € 208 million (before deferred tax) 

was taken from equity in the financial year and recognized in profit or loss (2006: € 376 million).

Impairment losses on financial assets available for sale led to a removal of losses from equity and 

recognition in profit or loss and therefore to an increase in the revaluation reserve and minority 

interest in the financial year (before deferred taxes) of € 185 million (2006: € 50 million).

Cash flow hedge reserve

The cash flow hedge reserve comprises the effective part of gains and losses on hedging instru-

ments net of deferred taxes. The cash flows hedged in the hedging relationship will be mostly 

received in the following financial year.

In the financial year € 6 million (2006: € 3 million) after deferred taxes was recognized in the 

reserve. An amount of € 1 million (2006: € -1 million) which had previously increased equity 

including deferred taxes was withdrawn from the reserve. The corresponding amounts are rec-

ognized in profit or loss as interest income and tax.

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve recognizes foreign currency effects arising from the trans-

lation of financial statements of group companies in foreign currencies into Euro as the group 

reporting currency. In the financial year € 2 million (2006: € -1 million) was transferred to the 

reserve after deferred tax expense.

Minority interest

Minority interest contain the shares in equity of subsidiaries not attributable to DZ BANK. 
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E. Information on Financial Instruments

The financial assets held by the DZ BANK Group are assigned to the following categories as at the 

reporting date:

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 161,343 163,735 -1.5

Held for trading 130,230 132,573 -1.8

Financial assets held for trading 130,025 132,272 -1.7

Investments of insurer 205 301 -31.9

Designated as at fair value through profit or loss 31,113 31,162 -0.2

Loans and advances to banks 4,553 3,665 24.2

Loans and advances to customers 4,177 3,967 5.3

Investments 21,578 22,565 -4.4

Investments of insurer 805 965 -16.6

Loans and receivables 192,253 181,738 5.8

Cash and cash equivalents 1,392 1,324 5.1

Loans and advances to banks 62,929 58,724 7.2

Loans and advances to customers 97,454 91,916 6.0

Investments 8,368 9,120 -8.2

Investments of insurer 21,406 19,812 8.0

Other assets 704 842 -16.4

Available-for-sale financial assets 62,090 63,185 -1.7

Investments 42,160 43,907 -4.0

Investments of insurer 19,930 19,278 3.4

Derivatives used for hedging 557 502 11.0

Total 416,243 409,160 1.7

69 |  Categorization of financial 

 instruments
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The financial liabilities held by the DZ BANK Group are assigned to the following categories as at 

the reporting date:

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 196,523 176,986 11.0

Held for trading 163,213 147,889 10.4

Financial liabilities held for trading 163,196 147,865 10.4

Other liabilities 17 24 -29.2

Designated as at fair value through profit or loss 33,310 29,097 14.5

Deposits from banks 11,287 12,145 -7.1

Amounts owed to other depositors 12,348 9,832 25.6

Debt certificates including bonds 9,421 7,072 33.2

Subordinated capital 254 48 > 100.0

Other financial liabilities 171,659 184,849 -7.1

Deposits from banks 46,648 45,560 2.4

Amounts owed to other depositors 65,247 62,843 3.8

Debt certificates including bonds 53,575 68,815 -22.1

Other liabilities 1,819 2,225 -18.2

Subordinated capital 4,560 5,395 -15.5

Fair value changes of the hedged items in portfolio hedge of interest rate risk -190 11 > 100.0

Derivatives used for hedging 622 327 90.2

Total 368,804 362,162 1.8

Loans and receivables in the following amounts are measured at fair value by applying the “fair 

value option”:

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Loans and advances to banks 4,553 3,665 24.2

Loans and advances to customers 4,177 3,967 5.3

Investments 117 182 -35.7

Investments of insurer 692 825 -16.1

Total 9,539 8,639 10.4

The fair value of the loans and receivables equals the carrying amount and the maximum default 

risk with which these financial assets were exposed to as at the reporting date.

70 |  Financial instruments designated 

as at fair value through profit 

or loss 
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As at the balance sheet date the credit risk of the loans and receivables designated as at fair value 

through profit or loss was reduced through credit derivatives by € 63 million (2006: € 74 million) 

and through other credit enhancements by € 7,158 million (2006: € 6,631 million). Other credit 

enhancements are financial guarantees provided by affiliated banks of the DZ BANK Group. The 

financial guarantees received are not recognized on the balance sheet.

In the financial year, changes in profit or loss from credit derivatives are entered as in come in the 

amount of € 3 million (2006: € 14 million). The cumulative changes in profit or loss from credit 

derivatives entered as income in connection with loans and receivables designated as at fair value 

through profit or loss amounted to € 10 million as at the balance sheet date (2006: € 7 million).

The following overview shows the fair values of the liabilities designated as at fair value through 

profit or loss in comparison with the amounts which are required to pay at maturity:

Fair value Amount repayable

in € million
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31,  

2006
Dec. 31,   

2007
Dec. 31,  

2006

Deposits from banks 11,287 12,145 11,492 12,265

Amounts owed to other depositors 12,348 9,832 12,397 9,497

Debt certificates including bonds 9,421 7,072 9,776 7,083

Subordinated capital 254 48 244 45

Total 33,310 29,097 33,909 28,890

In the financial year, valuation gains attributable to changes in the credit risk in the amount of 

€ 24 million resulted from liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss. Cumulative 

valuation gains from liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss also amount to 

€ 24 million. In 2006 there were no significant changes in income from changes in credit risk nor 

any significant cumulative changes.

The credit risk changes are determined as changes in fair values which are not a result of market 

price changes.



205  Consolidated Financial Statements
Notes

As part of the bank’s role of acting as a seller in sale and repurchase agreements (repo transac-

tions), bonds and other fixed-income securities, presented as financial assets held for trading and 

investments, were sold under sale and repurchase agreements. As at the reporting date the carry-

ing amounts of the securities sold under sale and repurchase agreements were as follows:

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Financial assets held for trading 30,187 38,177 -20.9

Investments 8,435 2,288 > 100.0

Total 38,622 40,465 -4.6

The carrying amounts of the liabilities from acting as a seller in sale and repurchase agreements 

were:

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Deposits from banks 8,089 2,994 > 100.0

Amounts owed to other depositors 453 – –

Financial liabilities held for trading 30,012 37,459 -19.9

Total 38,554 40,453 -4.7

The liabilities from acting as a seller in sale and repurchase agreements which are entered in the 

financial liabilities held for trading are liabilities from money-market transactions.

The fair value of bonds and other fixed-income securities from acting as a buyer in sale and repur-

chase agreements (reverse repo transactions) amounted to € 22,980 million (2006: € 30,204 mil-

lion) as of the balance sheet date. The receivables from repo transactions totaled € 22,980 million 

(2006: € 30,204 million) and are presented under the financial assets held for trading as receiv-

ables from money-market transactions.

As at the balance sheet date, loans and advances to customers in the amount of € 574 million 

(2006: € 646 million) were transferred for which the derecognition criteria of IAS 39 were not 

fulfilled. The loans and advances to customers represent finance lease receivables. Significant 

risks were retained in the form of credit risks from leasing commitments. As a result the finance 

lease receivables are continued to be recognized in their full amount on the balance sheet. Debt 

certificates including bonds of € 557 million (2006: € 628 million) are linked to these continuing 

involvements.

71 | Sale and repurchase agreements

72 | Other continuing involvements
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The carrying amount of the securities lent under securities lending agreements is as follows:

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Bonds and other fixed-income securities 70 77 -9.1

Shares and other non fixed-income securities 156 104 50.0

Total 226 181 24.9

The securities lent are the securities presented in financial assets held for trading under the cat-

egory of “financial instruments held for trading”.

The fair value of the securities borrowed in securities lending was as follows:

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Bonds and other fixed-income securities 1,197 1,040 15.1

Shares and other non fixed-income securities 8 8 –

Total 1,205 1,048 15.0

Collateral provided by the group

The assets provided as collateral are broken down as at the balance sheet date as follows:

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Loans and advances to banks 23,802 21,876 8.8

Financial assets held for trading 3,961 3,232 22.6

Investments 22,007 15,996 37.6

Total 49,770 41,104 21.1

The loans and advances to banks provided as collateral are essentially pass-through loans to affili-

ated banks as part of development program scheme loans of the Kreditanstalt für Wiederaufbau. 

Securities presented as financial assets held for trading and receivables from money market trans-

actions are used as collateral for exchange-traded forward transactions and non-exchange traded 

derivative financial instruments. Open-market transactions with central banks in Germany and 

abroad are collateralized with securities of financial assets in the amount mentioned above.

73 | Securities lending

74 | Other collateral
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In the following balance sheet items, subordinated financial assets are held in the amounts 

shown:

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Loans and advances to banks 106 148 -28.4

Loans and advances to customers 18 10 80.0

Financial assets held for trading 791 1,201 -34.1

Investments 181 276 -34.4

Total 1,096 1,635 -33.0

If financial assets and financial liabilities are quoted on an active market, the corresponding 

stock market prices on the balance sheet date represents fair value. This applies in particular to 

exchange-traded options and futures and to a majority of the listed shares, shares in investment 

funds, government, bank and corporate bonds and Pfandbriefe held by the DZ BANK Group. For 

shares in investment funds presented as financial assets held for trading or investments, the fair 

value equals the redemption price published by the investment company.

The fair value of unlisted receivables, securities and liabilities as well as unlisted derivative financial 

instruments is determined based on valuation techniques commonly used. Combined (hybrid) 

instruments are broken down into their components for valuation purposes. The measurement 

model usually used for non-derivative financial instruments is the discounted cash flow method. 

Credit risks are taken into account by adjusting the discount rates individually. Options are meas-

ured based on commonly used option price models. The measurement parameters used in valu-

ation techniques are primarily determined based on public price quotations. This does not apply 

to selected individual transactions which are not yet fully integrated into the standard valuation 

process due to new product launches, nor to what are known as packaging transactions which 

are completely hedged against changes in the fair value through an offsetting transaction of 

identical design. The carrying amount of the financial instruments not measured based on models 

with parameters mainly available on the market was € 4 million as at the balance sheet date. The 

valuation result from these financial instruments recognized in gains and losses on trading activi-

ties during the financial year is € 1 million.

For financial instruments payable on demand the fair value equals the carrying amount. This ap-

plies in particular to current account balances and demand deposits.

75 | Subordinated financial assets

76 |  Fair values of financial 

 instruments

Collateral provided to the group

Foreign mortgage rights for collateralizing loans and advances to customers in the amount of 

€ 34 million (2006: € 15 million) were held, which may be sold even if the borrower does not 

default.
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As at the balance sheet date the following fair values were determined:

Fair value Carrying amount

in € million
Dec. 31,  

2007
Dec. 31,  

2006
Dec. 31,  

2007
Dec. 31,  

2006

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents1 1,392 1,324 1,392 1,324

Loans and advances to banks2 66,323 61,919 67,441 62,417

Loans and advances to customers2 105,722 100,215 104,575 98,048

Derivatives used for hedging 557 502 557 502

Financial assets held for trading 130,025 132,272 130,025 132,272

Investments3 71,939 75,723 72,106 75,592

Investments of insurer1 3 4 42,186 40,393 42,346 40,356

Other assets1 4 704 842 704 842

Liabilities

Deposits from banks 56,369 56,919 57,935 57,705

Amounts owed to other depositors 77,795 73,528 77,595 72,675

Debt certificates including bonds 62,544 75,386 62,996 75,887

Derivatives used for hedging 622 327 622 327

Financial liabilities held for trading 163,196 147,865 163,196 147,865

Other liabilities1 4 1,872 2,286 1,872 2,286

Subordinated capital 5,089 5,873 4,814 5,443

1 Fair value and carrying amount only include financial instruments in the scope of IAS 39.
2 Fair values net of allowances for losses
3 Without investments of joint ventures and associates accounted for by using the equity method
4 Without insurance-related financial assets and financial liabilities

The fair values provided do not include the assets and liabilities from the home savings loan busi-

ness. These cannot be determined reliably due to the complex structure of home savings loan 

agreements, neither with the help of comparative market values nor by applying appropriate 

option price models. The models developed in practice for managing home loan and savings as-

sociations apply exclusively to overall bank management and do not provide a sufficient founda-

tion for fair value measurement as defined in the IFRS. Based on the overall bank management 

models of home loan and savings associations, the home savings loan business posted a positive 

performance during the financial year.

The low fair values shown under the investments of insurer result from fixed-income securities 

which are held as part of the insurance business for congruent coverage of long-term insurance-

related obligations. These papers are usually held to maturity such that changes in the fair value 

due to changes in interest rates have no impact on profit or loss. The fair values shown account 

for potential tax effects and the creation of deferred provisions for bonuses and rebates.
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The DZ BANK Group uses derivative financial instruments primarily for hedging interest rate, 

exchange rate and market price changes as well as for trading purposes. As at the balance sheet 

date, holdings of derivative financial instruments are broken down as follows:

77 | Derivative financial instruments

Nominal amount Fair value

Time to maturity Total amount Positive Negative

in € million ≤ 1 year > 1–5 years > 5 years
Dec. 31,  

2007
Dec. 31,  

2006
Dec. 31,  

2007
Dec. 31,  

2006
Dec. 31,  

2007
Dec. 31,  

2006

Interest-related transactions 292,553 415,403 427,644 1,135,600 1,078,125 13,633 12,899 15,440 14,622

OTC products

FRAs 18,400 375 – 18,775 18,991 2 5 4 4

Interest rate swaps 217,727 355,555 383,314 956,596 936,956 12,819 12,061 13,444 12,385

Interest rate options – call 11,847 23,828 17,235 52,910 39,943 810 830 – –

Interest rate options – put 22,169 33,112 27,095 82,376 58,718 – 3 1,987 2,229

Other interest rate contracts 277 416 – 693 121 1 – 4 4

Exchange-traded products

Interest rate futures 21,405 2,117 – 23,522 23,396 – – – –

Interest rate options 728 – – 728 – 1 – 1 –

Currency-related transactions 66,664 4,137 9 70,810 49,747 737 391 716 390

OTC products

Forward forex transactions 51,874 3,135 9 55,018 40,290 566 314 505 307

Forex options – call 7,598 592 – 8,190 5,088 171 77 – –

Forex options – put 7,173 410 – 7,583 4,359 – – 211 83

Exchange-traded products

Forex futures 18 – – 18 10 – – – –

Forex options 1 – – 1 – – – – –

Share/index-related transactions 8,619 21,891 666 31,176 18,561 1,025 925 1,649 491

OTC products

Share/index options – call 1,491 3,549 18 5,058 1,622 237 309 – –

Share/index options – put 1,198 3,152 – 4,350 1,030 – – 134 83

Other share/index contracts 1,708 10,602 648 12,958 12,151 642 566 879 310

Exchange-traded products

Share/index futures 471 – – 471 9 – – – –

Share/index options 3,751 4,588 – 8,339 3,749 146 50 636 98

Other transactions 4,456 11,083 3,776 19,315 16,293 547 296 395 284

OTC products

Cross-currency swaps 4,230 10,648 3,770 18,648 15,995 483 279 358 274

Precious metal transactions 41 10 – 51 12 5 3 – –

Commodities transactions 14 414 6 434 181 48 12 16 8

Other contracts 6 – – 6 – 2 – 2 –

Exchange-traded products

Futures 47 5 – 52 20 – – – –

Options 118 6 – 124 85 9 2 19 2

Credit derivatives 9,312 47,581 15,959 72,852 35,702 753 204 411 197

Holder

Credit default swaps 4,780 24,195 8,366 37,341 20,279 648 19 63 168

Issuer

Credit default swaps 4,532 23,386 7,253 35,171 15,043 55 143 348 1

Total return swaps – – 340 340 380 50 42 – 28

Total 381,604 500,095 448,054 1,329,753 1,198,428 16,695 14,715 18,611 15,984
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The financial instruments held in the DZ BANK Group as at the balance sheet date were agreed 

upon with the following counterparties:

Fair value

Positive Negative

in € million
Dec. 31,  

2007
Dec. 31,  

2006
Dec. 31,  

2007
Dec. 31,  

2006

OECD central governments 11 4 25 26

OECD banks 15,742 14,231 17,801 15,339

OECD financial service institutions 388 19 22 16

Other companies, private individuals 535 458 751 595

Non-OECD banks 19 3 12 8

Total 16,695 14,715 18,611 15,984

The disclosure on the type and extent of risks resulting from financial instruments (IFRS 7.31-42) 

is provided in the Risk Report of the Management Report except for the contractual maturity 

analysis in accordance with IFRS 7.39(a). The contractual maturity analysis can be found in the 

notes to the consolidated financial statements (note 79).

78 |  Disclosure on type and extent 

of risks resulting from financial 

instruments

79 | Contractual maturity analysis

As at December 31, 2007

in € million ≤ 1 month 
> 1 month  

– 3 months 
> 3 months  

– 1 year
> 1 year 

– 5 years > 5 years
Indefinite 
maturity Total

Financial assets 50,832 26,617 51,855 171,250 160,073 13,198 473,825

Cash and cash equivalents 1,392 – – – – – 1,392

Loans and advances to banks 4,266 3,810 10,590 27,048 27,528 – 73,242

Loans and advances to customers 13,389 7,338 15,410 54,657 34,772 210 125,776

Derivatives used for hedging -1 17 24 301 233 – 574

Financial assets held for trading 28,654 11,686 16,459 43,485 29,350 1,237 130,871

Investments 1,809 2,583 6,902 31,073 38,078 2,656 83,101

Investments of insurer 883 855 2,447 14,474 30,100 9,021 57,780

Other assets 440 328 23 212 12 74 1,089

Financial liabilities -104,037 -38,869 -46,689 -87,745 -78,127 -33,051 -388,518

Deposits from banks -17,431 -5,551 -7,297 -12,935 -15,205 -158 -58,577

Amounts owed to other depositors -10,658 -2,291 -2,948 -11,845 -27,035 -31,680 -86,457

Debt certificates including bonds -2,569 -4,196 -14,149 -32,203 -17,096 – -70,213

Derivatives used for hedging -1 -17 -89 -177 -395 – -679

Financial liabilities held for trading -71,692 -26,629 -21,233 -27,241 -16,631 -531 -163,957

Other liabilities -1,038 -143 -274 -1,061 -801 -309 -3,626

Subordinated capital -648 -42 -699 -2,283 -964 -373 -5,009

Financial guarantee contracts  
and loan  commitments -28,537 -4 -11 -50 -18 – -28,620
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As at December 31, 2006

in € million ≤ 1 month 
> 1 month  

– 3 months 
> 3 months  

– 1 year
> 1 year 

– 5 years > 5 years
Indefinite 
maturity Total

Financial assets 56,299 25,443 44,001 173,938 151,650 12,519 463,850

Cash and cash equivalents 1,324 – – – – – 1,324

Loans and advances to banks 5,067 2,370 6,467 30,005 23,313 21 67,243

Loans and advances to customers 11,063 6,421 15,039 52,067 33,649 203 118,442

Derivatives used for hedging 7 30 55 383 248 – 723

Financial assets held for trading 35,237 13,858 12,643 37,123 32,168 1,032 132,061

Investments 1,874 1,981 7,272 39,842 33,440 2,863 87,272

Investments of insurer 840 710 2,416 14,387 28,822 8,358 55,533

Other assets 887 73 109 131 10 42 1,252

Financial liabilities -112,124 -33,373 -32,206 -98,839 -77,423 -33,595 -387,560

Deposits from banks -16,538 -7,539 -3,922 -18,090 -15,617 -260 -61,966

Amounts owed to other depositors -9,236 -1,130 -1,858 -12,429 -23,302 -31,750 -79,705

Debt certificates including bonds -8,775 -5,057 -9,327 -42,345 -18,511 -452 -84,467

Derivatives used for hedging 13 -1 -67 -186 -208 – -449

Financial liabilities held for trading -76,349 -19,377 -15,346 -20,575 -18,418 -931 -150,996

Other liabilities -1,170 -227 -843 -1,010 -867 -202 -4,319

Subordinated capital -69 -42 -843 -4,204 -500 – -5,658

Financial guarantee contracts  
and loan  commitments -25,360 -2 -9 -42 -8 -3 -25,424

In the contractual maturity analysis, contractually agreed upon cash inflows are represented with a positive sign and contractually 

agreed upon cash outflows are shown with a negative sign. For financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments the potential 

cash outflow is shown.

The contractually agreed upon maturity dates are not the same as the actual expected cash inflows and outflows – especially in the 

case of financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments. The liquidity risk management of the DZ BANK Group is described in 

the Risk Report of the Management Report.
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F. Other Information

At the reporting date, there are no significant contingent assets within DZ BANK Group. In the 

previous year, the group’s contingent assets from litigations against clients totaled € 1 million. 

At the reporting date, the group’s contingent liabilities totaled € 13 million (2006: € 28 million). 

Of the previous-year total, € 15 million were attributable to contingent liabilities from capital 

commitments and joint liability obligations, for which the probability of a draw-down or payment 

obligation is insignificant at the balance sheet date. At the balance sheet date, reimbursements 

are not expected with respect to the contingent liabilities.

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Financial guarantee contracts 6,740 6,874 -1.9

Credit guarantees 3,439 2,914 18.0

Letters of credit 547 428 27.8

Other guarantees and warranties 2,754 3,532 -22.0

Loan commitments 21,880 18,550 18.0

Book credits to banks 2,428 2,301 5.5

Book credits to customers 6,593 5,002 31.8

Guarantee credits 54 40 35.0

Letters of credit 158 90 75.6

Global limits 12,647 11,117 13.8

Total 28,620 25,424 12.6

Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments are recognized at the nominal values of the 

relevant exposures.

80 | Contingent assets

81 | Contingent liabilities

82 |  Financial guarantee contracts  

and loan commitments

Volume of asset under management

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Fund assets 158,972 139,236 14.2

Volumes in other forms 18,702 15,849 18.0

Fund-linked asset management 2,673 3,077 -13.1

Institutional asset management 3,971 2,619 51.6

Third-party advisory mandates 9,279 7,024 32.1

Private banking 2,779 3,129 -11.2

Accounts managed by third parties -3,167 -2,430 30.3

Total 174,507 152,655 14.3

83 |  Asset management by Union 

Investment Group
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Through Union Asset Management Holding AG, Union Investment Group has assets under man-

agement (AuM) totaling € 174,507 million at the reporting date (2006: € 152,655 million). The 

fund assets are equity funds, fixed-income funds, money market funds, balanced funds, other 

equity or fixed-income funds, capital protected funds, single hedge funds, real estate funds and 

funds of funds issued by Union Investment Group.

Union Investment Group also manages assets as part of fund-linked mandates, institutional asset 

management, advisory mandates and accounts managed by third parties as well as private bank-

ing. The volumes of funds issued by Union Investment Group whose portfolio management has 

been outsourced to third parties are stated as a deduction. AuM is defined in accordance with 

the aggregate statistics of the Investment and Asset Management Association (Bundesverband 

Investment und Asset Management e.V. – BVI).

It should be noted that the BVI began including funds of funds in AuM at the beginning of 2007. 

The volume of assets under management and net sales depicted in the tables in the previous year 

were stated without funds of funds. Based on the current BVI system, the previous year’s AuM 

volume was € 158,924 million. 

Assets under management for group companies are contained in the statements. Some of these 

have been consolidated in accordance with SIC-12. Additionally, in order to prevent deviations 

from the BVI aggregate statistics, the fund volumes of the non-consolidated company IPConcept 

Fund Management S.A., Luxembourg-Strassen, have been included in the figures.

In the financial year, the joint venture BEA Union Investment Management Limited, Hong Kong, is 

included for the first time.

Net sales in asset under management 

in € million 2007 2006 change in %

Fund sales 10,115 3,562 > 100.0

Sales in other forms 2,736 2,270 20.5

Fund-linked asset management -428 343 > 100.0

Institutional asset management 828 -388 > 100.0

Third-party advisory mandates 2,368 2,094 13.1

Private banking -32 221 > 100.0

Accounts managed by third parties -607 -83 > 100.0

Total 12,244 5,749 > 100.0

Net sales in AuM are calculated as the sum of fund in and outflows in the relevant product forms. 



214   DZ BANK Annual Report 2007

Finance lease

Group as lessor

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Gross investment in leases 5,391 4,880 10.5

up to 1 year 1,786 1,542 15.8

more than 1 up to 5 years 3,221 2,979 8.1

more than 5 years 384 359 7.0

Less unearned finance income 666 639 4.2

Net investment in leases 4,725 4,241 11.4

Deduction for present value of unguaranteed residual values 42 32 31.3

Present value of receivables from minimum lease payments 4,683 4,209 11.3

up to 1 year 1,532 1,334 14.8

more than 1 up to 5 years 2,828 2,615 8.1

more than 5 years 323 260 24.2

The cumulated impairments for outstanding minimum lease payments at lessor companies 

 totaled € 7 million at the balance sheet date (2006: € 12 million).

Within DZ BANK Group, the DVB and VR LEASING subgroups are active lessors. The companies of 

the DVB subgroup focus primarily on finance lease for ships, ship containers, aircraft and aircraft 

engines. The lease terms are between 5 and 12 years at the balance sheet date (2006: between 5 

and 14 years). The companies of the VR LEASING subgroup mostly conclude non-full payout and 

full-payout leases, cancelable contracts or hire purchase contracts with customers.

Group as lessee

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Total of future minimum lease payments 70 74 -5.4

up to 1 year 4 4 –

more than 1 up to 5 years 14 14 –

more than 5 years 52 56 -7.1

Deduction for discount 29 32 -9.4

Present value of future minimum lease payments 41 42 -2.4

up to 1 year 3 4 -25.0

more than 1 up to 5 years 12 12 –

more than 5 years 26 26 –

84 | Information on leases
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At the balance sheet date, there are no future minimum lease payments expected to be received 

under non-cancelable subleases (2006: € 2 million).

The leasing arrangements sometimes contain arrangements relating to purchase of the leased 

item at the end of the lease term (purchase option). The lease rates of specific leases are also 

recalculated at a specified point in time based on the then-prevailing conditions on the capital 

market. No other price adjustment provisions have been agreed.

The other assets of insurer contain net carrying amount of leased property, plant and equip-

ment. These are distributed among owner-occupied property in the amount of € 34 million 

(2006: € 36 million) as well as equipment in the amount of € 1 million (2006: € 5 million). Under 

other liabilities of insurer, there are finance lease liabilities in the amount of € 36 million (2006: 

€ 37 million).

Operating lease

Group as lessor

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Total of future minimum lease payments under  
non-cancelable leases 980 785 24.8

up to 1 year 186 193 -3.6

more than 1 up to 5 years 462 449 2.9

more than 5 years 332 143 > 100.0

In the financial year, income from contingent minimum lease payments totaled € 6 million (2006: 

€ 0 million).

The companies of the DVB subgroup conclude operating leases as lessor for ships, aircraft, aircraft 

engines and ship containers. At the reporting date, the lease terms for ships are between 6 and 

10 years (2006: between 5 and 10 years), for aircraft between 3 and 21 years (2006: between 

4 and 7 years), for aircraft engines between 1 and 7 years (2006: 7 years) and for ship containers 

11 years (2006: 11 years). The companies of the VR LEASING subgroup mostly conclude non-full 

payout and full-payout leases, cancelable contracts or hire purchase contracts with customers. 

R+V Versicherung’s lease contracts relate to payments from standard commercial leases.
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Group as lessee

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Total of future minimum lease payments under  
non-cancelable leases 500 503 -0.6

up to 1 year 84 89 -5.6

more than 1 up to 5 years 302 276 9.4

more than 5 years 114 138 -17.4

The sum of future minimum payments expected to be received under non-cancelable subleases 

totaled € 42 million at the balance sheet date (2006: € 40 million).

In the financial year, minimum lease payments totaling € -84 million (2006: € -91 million) and 

contingent rents totaling € -11 million (2006: € -1 million) were recognized as expenses. There 

were no payments from subleases.

The operating leases within DZ BANK Group relate essentially to the leasing of properties 

and business premises. A small proportion relates to standard leases for vehicles and office 

equipment.

Sale and leaseback transactions

Within DZ BANK Group, particularly within individual companies of the VR LEASING subgroup, 

sale and leaseback transactions are concluded. These are classified according to their contractual 

terms as finance or operating leases.
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Non-allocated Allocated Total

Home savings sum in € million

Number 
of con-

tracts

Home 
savings 

sum

Number 
of con-

tracts

Home 
savings 

sum

Number 
of con-

tracts

Home 
savings 

sum

Portfolio volume at end of previous year 5,788,666 161,447 1,271,992 29,397 7,060,658 190,844

Additions in reporting year, as

New business (activated contracts)1 852,362 26,495 – – 852,362 26,495

Transfers 22,574 561 4,545 146 27,119 707

Allocation waivers and canceled allocation 6,837 199 – – 6,837 199

Splitting 164,467 – 763 – 165,230 –

Acceptance of allocation or splitting – – 514,040 11,052 514,040 11,052

Other 217,827 6,317 92 8 217,919 6,325

Total 1,264,067 33,572 519,440 11,206 1,783,507 44,778

Disposal in reporting year, as

Acceptance of allocation or splitting 514,040 11,052 – – 514,040 11,052

Reductions – 1,127 – – – 1,127

Termination 355,173 7,319 358,623 6,496 713,796 13,815

Transfers 22,574 561 4,545 146 27,119 707

Combinations1 167,680 – 44 – 167,724 –

Expiration – – 211,030 4,450 211,030 4,450

Allocation waivers and canceled allocation – – 6,837 199 6,837 199

Other 217,827 6,317 92 8 217,919 6,325

Total 1,277,294 26,376 581,171 11,299 1,858,465 37,675

Net addition/disposal -13,227 7,196 -61,731 -93 -74,958 7,103

Portfolio volume at end of previous year 5,775,439 168,643 1,210,261 29,304 6,985,700 197,947

1 Including increases

Volume of non-activated contracts

Home savings sum in € million
Number of 

contracts
Home  

savings sum

Contracts concluded prior to January 1, 2007 40,711 1,800

Contracts concluded in the reporting year 212,290 7,779

For information on the changes in individual tariffs, please refer to the BSH annual report.
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in € million 2007

Additions

Carryover from the previous year (surplus)

Unpaid sums 26,457

Additions in the reporting year

Savings deposits (including credited residential construction bonuses) 6,500

Repayment amount (including credited residential construction bonuses)1 1,892

Interest paid on home savings deposits 700

Building societies guarantee fund2 93

Total 35,642

Withdrawals

Withdrawals in the reporting year

Allocated sums, if paid

      Home savings deposits 6,376

      Building loans 2,016

Repayment of deposits on non-allocated home savings contracts 992

Equalization of lower principal payment due to loan rescheduling (redemption amount) –

Surplus of additions

(Non-paid amounts) at the end of the reporting year3 26,258

Total 35,642

1 Repayment amounts refer to the proportion of loan payments attributable solely to redemption of the principal amount.
2  Pursuant to Art. 6 of the German Act on Building and Loan Associations (BSpkG) gains from investment of allocation pool assets that temporarily 

cannot be allocated must be recognized under the special item “Building societies guarantee fund” in order to protect the interests of savers. 
Under IFRS, this fund is recognized within equity under retained earnings. 

3  Items under surplus of additions include the following: 
non-paid home savings deposits of allocated savers € 121 million 
non-paid home savings loans from allocations € 2.898 milion

86 |  Changes in the allocation assets 
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Mortgage Pfandbriefe Public-sector Pfandbriefe

in € million
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31,  

2006 
change 

in %
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31,  

2006 
change 

in %

Ordinary cover 16,982 18,286 -7.1 42,856 47,429 -9.6

Loans and advances to banks – 108 -100.0 4,0131 5,1281 -21.7

of which: Mortgage loans – 108 -100.0 10 848 -98.8

 Local authority loans – – – 4,003 4,280 -6.5

Loans and advances to customers 16,982 18,178 -6.6 18,027 16,528 9.1

of which: Mortgage loans 16,982 18,178 -6.6 1,640 293 > 100.0

 Local authority loans – – – 16,387 16,235 0.9

Bonds and other fixed-income securities held as 
investments – – – 20,816 25,773 -19.2

Extended cover 1,201 394 > 100.0 3,325 1,661 > 100.0

Loans and advances to banks – – – 2,299 600 > 100.0

of which: Bank deposits – – – 2,299 600 > 100.0

Bonds and other fixed-income securities held as 
investments 1,201 394 > 100.0 978 1,011 -3.3

Derivative financial instruments held as cover 
assets – – – 48 50 -4.0

Total cover 18,183 18,680 -2.7 46,181 49,090 -5.9

Coverable Pfandbriefe -15,542 -16,999 -8.6 -43,326 -46,896 -7.6

Nominal excess cover 2,641 1,681 57.1 2,855 2,194 30.1

Present value of excess cover 2,730 2,007 36.0 3,487 2,910 19.8

Risk-weighted present value of excess 
cover 2,360 1,675 40.9 3,453 2,783 24.1

1 Guaranteed by municipal authorities

The present value calculation of cover results in higher amounts of excess cover than of nominal 

excess cover, due to the inclusion of interest shares. Money market and swap rates at the balance 

sheet date are applied for discounting to present value.

Maturity structure of outstanding mortgage and public-sector Pfandbriefe

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Mortgage Pfandbriefe 15,542 16,999 -8.6

up to 1 year 4,439 2,373 87.1

more than 1 up to 5 years 7,554 10,844 -30.3

more than 5 up to 10 years 3,485 3,459 0.8

more than 10 years 64 323 -80.2

Public-sector Pfandbriefe 43,326 46,896 -7.6

up to 1 year 5,752 6,829 -15.8

more than 1 up to 5 years 16,188 17,938 -9.8

more than 5 up to 10 years 14,221 15,119 -5.9

more than 10 years 7,165 7,010 2.2

87 |  Cover statement for mortgage 
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Fixed-interest period of cover assets

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Mortgage Pfandbriefe 18,183 18,680 -2.7

up to 1 year 2,485 2,313 7.4

more than 1 up to 5 years 6,440 7,252 -11.2

more than 5 up to 10 years 7,988 7,808 2.3

more than 10 years 1,270 1,307 -2.8

Public-sector Pfandbriefe 46,181 49,090 -5.9

up to 1 year 6,635 6,475 2.5

more than 1 up to 5 years 18,431 18,848 -2.2

more than 5 up to 10 years 13,635 16,292 -16.3

more than 10 years 7,480 7,475 0.1

At the balance sheet date 575 properties were in forced administration (2006: 731). Among the 

mortgage loans held as cover, there is a total delinquency of € 66 million (2006: € 103 million).

As last year, 97 percent of the mortgages held as cover are in Germany and 3 percent outside 

Germany.

The following cover is calculated for the total volume of outstanding bonds of DZ BANK (includ-

ing registered bonds):

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Sum of cover assets 31,346 33,392 -6.1

Ordinary cover 31,344 32,300 -3.0

Loans and advances to banks 13,410 12,799 4.8

Loans and advances to customers 348 293 18.8

Bonds and other fixed-income securities 17,586 19,208 -8.4

Substitute cover – 1,092 –

Loans and advances to banks – 1,092 –

Derivatives held as cover 2 – –

Cover requirement -26,764 -28,440 -5.9

Outstanding, covered bearer bonds -7,449 -8,241 -9.6

Outstanding, covered registered bonds -19,313 -20,199 -4.4

Derivatives -2 – –

Excess cover 4,582 4,952 -7.5

88 | Cover statement of DZ BANK
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The trustees are appointed by BaFin, and have the duty under law to ensure that the issuance, 

administration and coverage of DZ BANK covered bonds comply with statutory requirements and 

those under the articles of association, as well as with the terms and conditions of the individual 

bonds.

Trustee: Deputy trustee:

Dr. Dieter Eschke Klaus Schlitz

Presiding Judge at the Vice President of the 

Frankfurt am Main Higher Regional Court (retd.) Frankfurt am Main Regional Court (retd.)

(until January 31, 2008) (until January 31, 2008)

Klaus Schlitz Klaus Schmitz

Vice President of the Presiding Judge at the

Frankfurt am Main Regional Court (retd.) Frankfurt am Main Regional Court

(since February 1, 2008) (since February 1, 2008)

The companies of DZ BANK Group fulfill different functions for securitizations in which they 

participate as part of their business activities.

ABCP conduits

ABCP conduits are special purpose entities (SPE) used for the securitization of portfolios compris-

ing receivables from customers and securities. The funding of these SPEs is achieved through 

the issue of money market instruments in the form of ABCP (asset backed commercial paper) 

securities.

DZ BANK Group is involved with the ABCP conduits “Autobahn” and “CORAL”. The primary pur-

pose of the Autobahn conduit is securitization of customer transactions from the US market. The 

CORAL conduit performs securitizations of customer transactions from the European market – 

including customer transactions from DZ BANK Group companies – as well as high-quality ABS 

securities. The volume of financial assets available for securitizations at the reporting date totaled 

€ 1.3 billion (2006: € 0.9 billion) for the Autobahn conduit and € 2.5 billion (2006: € 3.0 billion) 

for the CORAL conduit. The acquisition of the assets held by the ABCP conduits is performed by 

SPEs created for the purpose of such acquisitions, whose shares (in the case of the Autobahn 

conduit) are generally held directly and solely owned by the seller of the assets. These SPEs are 

financed by the special purpose entity Autobahn Funding Company LLC (Autobahn Funding), 

State of Delaware, USA, and CORAL Capital Limited, Dublin, Ireland. These, in turn, are funded 

through the issuance of ABCP securities with maturities of 1 day up to 364 days.

89 | Cover trustees
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Due to the economic control of Autobahn Funding and CORAL Capital Limited as well as the ac-

quisition SPEs of the CORAL conduit by DZ BANK Group, these companies are included within the 

scope of consolidation in accordance with the provisions of IAS 27 in conjunction with SIC-12. 

The majority of risks and rewards in relation to the acquisition SPEs of the Autobahn conduit are 

with the originators. DZ BANK provides both ABCP conduits with funding instruments in various 

forms. In particular, these include liquidity facilities and credit enhancement instruments, as well 

as instruments for hedging interest and currency risks and, to a limited degree, credit guarantees. 

The main default risks relating to the securitization transactions concluded by the ABCP conduits 

are carried by the individual sellers of the assets and, in certain cases, additionally by third parties 

with exceptional credit rating. The ABS securities financed by the CORAL acquisition SPEs are 

almost exclusively top-grade securities hedged against default risks through credit default swaps 

with quality counterparties. Through consolidation of the above-mentioned SPEs for acquisition 

and issuance, all significant assets, liabilities as well as income and expense items of the ABCP 

conduits are included in the DZ BANK consolidated financial statements.

As a result of the financial market difficulties prevailing since mid-2007, the ABCP conduits have, 

in some cases, had to make temporary use of liquidity facilities from DZ BANK instead of funding 

via ABCP securities. At the balance sheet date, € 3.0 billion (2006: 0.0 billion) of the € 5.7 billion 

(2006: € 5.1 billion) liquidity facilities for the above ABCP conduits were drawn down.

Other securitizations

The companies of DZ BANK Group conclude other securitization transactions, serving the pur-

poses of regulatory capital relief and active portfolio and credit risk management relating to the 

assets of the DZ BANK Group companies. Additionally, securitization transactions are concluded 

as a service for the companies of the cooperative financial services network.

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Trust assets 2,927 2,576 13.6

Loans and advances to banks 1,037 466 > 100.0

Loans and advances to customers 725 842 -13.9

Other assets 1,165 1,268 -8.1

Trust liabilities 2,927 2,576 13.6

Deposits from banks 886 1,055 -16.0

Amounts owed to other depositors 2,041 1,521 34.2

The trust assets and liabilities include trust loans totaling € 1,033 million (2006: € 1,183 million).

91 | Trust activities
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For two banks included within the consolidated financial statements – DZI and DZ BANK  Ireland – as 

well as one non-consolidated bank – DZ BANK International Singapore Ltd., Singa pore – DZ BANK 

ensures, proportional to its share in the companies, the ability to fulfill their contractual obligations, 

excluding political risk. Obligations arising from letters of comfort are valid only as long as DZ BANK 

holds a direct or indirect equity interest in the companies covered by the letter of comfort. Addition-

ally, subordinated support undertakings have been issued on behalf of DZ BANK Capital Funding LLC 

I, DZ BANK Capital Funding LLC II and DZ BANK Capital Funding LLC III, each in Wilming ton, State of 

Delaware, USA. Further, DZ BANK has issued six subordinated support undertakings in respect

of DZ BANK Perpetual Funding (Jersey) Limited, St. Helier, Jersey, Channel Islands, each relating to

different classes of preferred shares.

The fee for the auditor of the consolidated financial statements, Ernst & Young AG Wirtschafts-

prüfungsgesellschaft, Steuerberatungsgesellschaft, comprises the following components, differ-

entiated by type of service:

in € million 2007 2006 change in %

Auditing 6.4 4.9 30.6

Other opinions and valuation services 1.2 3.6 -66.7

Tax advice 0.1 0.1 –

Other services 0.4 0.3 33.3

Total 8.1 8.9 -9.0

92 | Letters of comfort
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2007 2006 change in %

Female staff 11,178 11,082 0.9

Full-time employees 8,021 7,992 0.4

Part-time employees 3,157 3,090 2.2

Male staff 13,032 12,973 0.5

Full-time employees 12,699 12,621 0.6

Part-time employees 333 352 -5.4

Total employees 24,210 24,055 0.6

2007 2006 change in %

Female junior staff 342 357 -4.2

Male junior staff 342 362 -5.5

Total junior staff 684 719 -4.9

93 | Employees
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The fees for auditing comprise expenditures for auditing the consolidated financial statements 

and consolidated Management Report of DZ BANK, as well as the statutory audits of the annual 

financial statements and Management Reports of DZ BANK and of subsidiaries included within 

the scope of consolidation and audited by the group auditor. The fees for other opinions and 

valuation services in the financial year comprise mainly fees for services in connection with audit 

pursuant to Art. 36 German Securities Act (WpHG) as well as the review by the auditor of the 

semi-annual financial report and the semi-annual IFRS financial figures. Fees for tax advisory 

services relate to compensation of domestic group companies for services in accordance with 

Art. 1 StBerG. The fees for other services result mainly from consulting services.

Compensations for the Board of Managing Directors of DZ BANK in the group totaled € 10.9 mil-

lion in the financial year (2006: € 8.1 million) as defined by IAS 24.16. These amounts can be bro-

ken down into short-term benefits totaling € 7.2 million (2006: € 7.0 million), post-employment 

benefits of € 1.1 million (2006: € 1.1 million) and termination benefits amounting to € 2.6 million 

(2006: € 0.0 million). The remuneration for the Supervisory Board totaled € 0.9 million  

(2006: € 0.8 million) and comprised short-term benefits. 

The Board of Managing Directors’ remuneration contains € 0.1 million in defined contribution 

pension plans (2006: € 0 million). Defined benefit obligations to members of the Board of Man-

aging Directors total € 7.2 million (2006: € 8.6 million).

In accordance with Art. 314 para. 1 no. 6a HGB, the total remuneration in the financial year 

paid to the DZ BANK Board of Managing Directors for performance of their duties in DZ BANK 

amounted to € 7.2 million (2006: € 7.0 million) and that paid to the Supervisory Board € 0.9 mil-

lion (2006: € 0.8 million). The total remuneration paid to former members of the Board of  

Managing Directors and their surviving dependents in accordance with Art. 314 para. 1  

no. 6b HGB amounted to € 10.8 million (2006: € 7.8 million). There were no advances, loans  

or liability commitments according to Art. 314 para. 1 no. 6c HGB in the financial year.
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Within the scope of ordinary business activities, transactions are concluded with related parties. 

These transactions relate primarily to typical banking products and financial services, all of which 

were concluded on an arm’s-length basis.

The following table shows the relationships with non-consolidated subsidiaries, joint ventures and 

associates:

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Loans and advances to banks (including receivables from insurer) 311 168 85.1

to subsidiaries 1 – –

to joint ventures and associates 310 168 84.5

Loans and advances to customers 67 – –

to subsidiaries 67 – –

Deposits from banks (including liabilities from insurer) 200 213 -6.1

from subsidiaries 166 127 30.7

from joint ventures and associates 34 86 -60.5

Amounts owed to other depositors 479 524 -8.6

to subsidiaries 478 523 -8.6

to joint ventures and associates 1 1 –

Financial guarantee contracts 64 17 > 100.0

to subsidiaries – 17 -100.0

to joint ventures and associates 64 – –

 

The items loans and advances to banks and deposits from banks include amounts to cooperative 

central banks as follows:

in € million Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 change in %

Loans and advances to cooperative central banks 269 253 6.3

Deposits from cooperative central banks 215 44 > 100.0

The declaration of conformity with the German Corporate Governance Code pursuant to 

Art. 161 AktG was submitted by the Board of Managing Directors and Supervisory Board of DVB, 

which is a listed company, and made permanently available to shareholders on the website of the 

company.

96 | Related party transactions
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Wolfgang Kirsch

(Chief Executive Officer)

Heinz Hilgert

(until October 15, 2007,  

Deputy Chief Executive Officer  

from February 13, 2007 to October 15, 2007)

Dr. Thomas Duhnkrack

Lars Hille 

(since October 15, 2007)

Wolfgang Köhler 

(since October 15, 2007)

Albrecht Merz

Dietrich Voigtländer

Frank Westhoff 
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Dr. Christopher Pleister

(Chairman)

President

Bundesverband der Deutschen Volksbanken

und Raiffeisenbanken e.V.

Wolfgang Apitzsch Rolf Hildner

(Deputy Chairman  

since November 1, 2007)

(Deputy Chairman)

Chairman of the Board of Managing Directors

Attorney Wiesbadener Volksbank eG

Helga Preußer

(Deputy Chairwoman)

Employee

DZ BANK AG

Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank

(until November 1, 2007)
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Rüdiger Beins Ulrich Birkenstock

Employee Employee

DZ BANK AG R+V Allgemeine Versicherung AG

Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank

(since November 1, 2007)

Werner Böhnke Henning Deneke-Jöhrens

Chairman of the Board of Managing Directors Spokesman of the Board of Managing Directors

WGZ-Bank AG Volksbank eG Lehrte-Springe-Pattensen-Ronnenberg

Westdeutsche Genossenschafts-Zentralbank

Carl-Christian Ehlers Karl Eichele

Chairman of the Board of Managing Directors Employee

Kieler Volksbank eG VR Kreditwerk Hamburg - Schwäbisch Hall AG

Helmut Gottschalk Hans-Josef Hoffmann

Spokesman of the Board of Managing Directors Chairman of the Board of Managing Directors

Volksbank Herrenberg-Rottenburg eG Bank 1 Saar eG

Rita Jakli Sigmar Kleinert

Management employee Employee

R+V Versicherung AG DZ BANK AG

(since February 1, 2007) Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank

Willy Köhler Rainer Mangels

Chairman of the Board of Managing Directors Employee

VR Bank Rhein-Neckar eG R+V Rechtsschutzversicherung AG

Walter Müller Siegfried Reiner

Chairman of the Board of Managing Directors Management employee

Volksbank Raiffeisenbank Fürstenfeldbruck eG R+V Allgemeine Versicherung AG

(until February 1, 2007)

Mark Roach Gudrun Schmidt

Secretary Regional Group Director

Vereinte Dienstleistungsgewerkschaft Vereinte Dienstleistungsgewerkschaft

ver.di Bundesverwaltung ver.di Landesbezirk Hessen

Winfried Willer Dr. h.c. Uwe Zimpelmann

Employee Spokesman of the Board of Managing Directors

VR Kreditwerk Hamburg - Schwäbisch Hall AG Landwirtschaftliche Rentenbank
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Within DZ BANK:

As at the balance sheet date, Board of Managing Directors members and employees executed 

mandates within statutory supervisory bodies of large companies. These as well as other signifi-

cant mandates are listed below. Mandates in companies included within the scope of consolida-

tion are marked (*).

Members of the Board of Managing Directors members

Wolfgang Kirsch Banco Cooperativo Español S.A., Madrid,

(Chief Executive Officer) Vice Chairman, Board of Directors

Bausparkasse Schwäbisch Hall AG, Schwäbisch Hall,

Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

Österreichische Volksbanken-AG, Vienna,

Member of the Supervisory Board

R+V Versicherung AG, Wiesbaden,

Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

Südzucker AG, Mannheim,

Member of the Supervisory Board

Union Asset Management Holding AG, 

Frankfurt am Main,

Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

100 |  Supervisory mandates of mem-
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Dr. Thomas Duhnkrack

 

Cassa Centrale Banca - Credito Cooperativo 

del Nord Est S.p.A., Trento,

Member of the Board of Directors

Deutsche Genossenschafts-Hypothekenbank AG, 

Hamburg,

Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

DVB Bank AG, Frankfurt am Main,

Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

DZ BANK Polska S.A., Warsaw,

Chairman of the Supervisory Board

EDEKABANK AG, Hamburg,

Member of the Supervisory Board

Österreichische Volksbanken-AG, Vienna,

Member of the Supervisory Board

VR-LEASING AG, Eschborn,

Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

Lars Hille DZ BANK International S.A., Luxembourg-Strassen,

Member of the Board of Directors (*)

DZ PRIVATBANK (Schweiz) AG, Zurich,

Chairman of the Board of Directors (*)

R+V Lebensversicherung AG, Wiesbaden,

Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

Union Asset Management Holding AG,  

Frankfurt am Main,

Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

(since January 30, 2008)

Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH, 

Frankfurt am Main,

Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

(until January 8, 2008)
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Wolfgang Köhler Deutsche WertpapierService Bank AG,  

Frankfurt am Main,

Member of the Supervisory Board

DZ BANK International S.A., Luxembourg-Strassen,

Chairman of the Board of Directors (*)

DZ Private Wealth Managementgesellschaft S.A., 

Luxembourg-Strassen,

Member of the Board of Directors (*)

Albrecht Merz Bausparkasse Schwäbisch Hall AG, Schwäbisch Hall,

Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

BayWa AG, Munich,

Member of the Supervisory Board 

R+V Allgemeine Versicherung AG, Wiesbaden,

Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

R+V Lebensversicherung AG, Wiesbaden,

Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

TeamBank AG Nürnberg, Nuremberg,

Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

VR-LEASING AG, Eschborn,

Member of the Supervisory Board (*)
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Dietrich Voigtländer Deutsche Genossenschafts-Hypothekenbank AG, 

Hamburg,

Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

Deutsche WertpapierService Bank AG, 

Frankfurt am Main,

Member of the Supervisory Board

Equens Deutschland AG, Frankfurt am Main,

Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Equens Nederland B.V., Utrecht,

Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Equens N.V., Utrecht,

Chairman of the Supervisory Board

FIDUCIA IT AG, Karlsruhe,

Member of the Supervisory Board

TeamBank AG Nürnberg, Nuremberg,

Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

VR Kreditwerk Hamburg - Schwäbisch Hall AG,  

Hamburg and Schwäbisch Hall,

Second Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

Frank Westhoff BAG Bankaktiengesellschaft, Hamm,

Member of the Supervisory Board

Deutsche Genossenschafts-Hypothekenbank AG, 

Hamburg,

Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

Deutsche WertpapierService Bank AG, 

Frankfurt am Main,

Member of the Supervisory Board

DVB Bank AG, Frankfurt am Main,

Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

DZ BANK Ireland plc, Dublin,

Chairman of the Board of Directors (*)

Volksbank International AG, Vienna,

Second Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board
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DZ BANK employees

Dr. Luis-Esteban Chalmovsky Banco Cooperativo Español S.A., Madrid,

Member of the Board of Directors

Thomas Kaltwasser DZ BANK Ireland plc, Dublin,

Director of the Board of Directors (*)

Andreas Kutsch ReiseBank AG, Frankfurt am Main,

Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

Karl-Heinz von Oppenkowski DZ BANK Polska S.A., Warsaw,

Vice Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Dr. Tobias Popovic Banco Cooperativo Español S.A., Madrid,

Member of the Board of Directors

Niccolo Ravano Cassa Centrale Banca - Credito Cooperativo 

del Nord Est S.p.A., Trento,

Member of the Board of Directors

Gregor Roth ReiseBank AG, Frankfurt am Main,

Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)



233  Consolidated Financial Statements
Notes

Within the group:

As at the balance sheet date, Board of Managing Directors members and employees executed 

mandates within statutory supervisory bodies of large companies in Germany. Mandates of com-

panies included within the scope of consolidation are marked (*).

Board of Managing Directors members/employees

Dr. Matthias Metz VR Kreditwerk Hamburg - Schwäbisch Hall AG,

Chairman of the Board of Managing Directors Hamburg and Schwäbisch Hall,

(Bausparkasse Schwäbisch Hall AG) Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

WL BANK AG Westfälische Landschaft  

Bodenkreditbank, Münster,

Member of the Supervisory Board

Gerhard Hinterberger VR Kreditwerk Hamburg - Schwäbisch Hall AG,

Member of the Board of Managing Directors Hamburg and Schwäbisch Hall,

(Bausparkasse Schwäbisch Hall AG) Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

Hans-Theo Macke Bausparkasse Schwäbisch Hall AG, Schwäbisch Hall,

Chairman of the Board of Managing Directors Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

(Deutsche Genossenschafts- 

Hypothekenbank AG) VR Kreditwerk Hamburg - Schwäbisch Hall AG,

Hamburg and Schwäbisch Hall,

Member of the Supervisory Board (*)
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Dr. Friedrich Caspers KRAVAG-ALLGEMEINE Versicherungs-AG, Hamburg,

Chairman of the Board of Managing Directors Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

(R+V Versicherung AG)

KRAVAG-LOGISTIC Versicherungs-AG, Hamburg,

Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

Raiffeisendruckerei GmbH, Neuwied,

Member of the Supervisory Board 

R+V Allgemeine Versicherung AG, Wiesbaden,

Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

R+V Krankenversicherung AG, Wiesbaden,

Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

R+V Lebensversicherung AG, Wiesbaden,

Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

R+V Pensionskasse AG, Wiesbaden,

Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

R+V Rechtsschutzversicherung AG, Wiesbaden,

Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

Union Asset Management Holding AG,  

Frankfurt am Main,

Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

Heinz-Jürgen Kallerhoff R+V Krankenversicherung AG, Wiesbaden,

Member of the Board of Managing Directors Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

(R+V Versicherung AG)

Dr. Christoph Lamby KRAVAG-ALLGEMEINE Versicherungs-AG, Hamburg,

Member of the Board of Managing Directors Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

(R+V Versicherung AG)

R+V Pensionskasse AG, Wiesbaden,

Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

Hans-Christian Marschler KRAVAG-ALLGEMEINE Versicherungs-AG, Hamburg,

Member of the Board of Managing Directors Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

(R+V Versicherung AG)

KRAVAG-LOGISTIC Versicherungs-AG, Hamburg,

Member of the Supervisory Board (*)
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Rainer Neumann CHEMIE Pensionsfonds AG, Munich,

Member of the Board of Managing Directors Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

(R+V Versicherung AG)

GWG Gesellschaft für Wohnungs- und Gewerbebau 

Baden-Württemberg AG, Stuttgart,

Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

KRAVAG-ALLGEMEINE Versicherungs-AG, Hamburg,

Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

KRAVAG-LOGISTIC Versicherungs-AG, Hamburg,

Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

Paul Hartmann AG, Heidenheim,

Member of the Supervisory Board

Protektor Lebensversicherungs-AG, Berlin,

Chairman of the Supervisory Board 

Rainer Sauerwein CHEMIE Pensionsfonds AG, Munich,

Member of the Board of Managing Directors Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

(R+V Versicherung AG)

GWG Gesellschaft für Wohnungs- und Gewerbebau 

Baden-Württemberg AG, Stuttgart,

Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

TeamBank AG Nürnberg, Nuremberg,

Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

Peter Weiler KRAVAG-ALLGEMEINE Versicherungs-AG, Hamburg,

Member of the Board of Managing Directors Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

(R+V Versicherung AG)

KRAVAG-LOGISTIC Versicherungs-AG, Hamburg,

Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

R+V Pensionskasse AG, Wiesbaden,

Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

Theophil Graband SCHUFA Holding AG, Wiesbaden,

Chairman of the Board of Managing Directors Member of the Supervisory Board

(TeamBank AG Nürnberg)
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Dr. Rüdiger Ginsberg Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH, Frankfurt am Main,

Chairman of the Board of Managing Directors Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

(Union Asset Management Holding AG)

Union Investment Real Estate AG, Hamburg,

Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

Ulrich Köhne Union Investment Service Bank AG, Frankfurt am Main,

Member of the Board of Managing Directors Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

(Union Asset Management Holding AG)

Dr. Wolfgang Mansfeld Union Investment Institutional GmbH, Frankfurt am Main, 

Member of the Board of Managing Directors Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

(Union Asset Management Holding AG)

Union Investment Real Estate AG, Hamburg,

Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

Hans Joachim Reinke Union Investment Institutional GmbH, Frankfurt am Main,

Member of the Board of Managing Directors Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

(Union Asset Management Holding AG)

Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH, Frankfurt am Main,

Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

Union Investment Service Bank AG, Frankfurt am Main,

Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

Alexander Schindler Union Investment Institutional GmbH, Frankfurt am Main,

Member of the Board of Managing Directors Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

(Union Asset Management Holding AG)

Oliver Best Union Investment Service Bank AG, Frankfurt am Main,

Employee Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

(Union Asset Management Holding AG)

Reinhard Gödel Eintracht Frankfurt Fußball AG, Frankfurt am Main,

Chairman of the Board of Managing Directors Member of the Supervisory Board

(VR-LEASING AG)
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To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable reporting principles, the consolidated financial statements give 

a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the group, and the group management report in-

cludes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position of the group, together with a description 

of the principal opportunities and risks associated with the expected development of the group.

Frankfurt am Main, March 18, 2008

DZ BANK AG

Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank

Board of Managing Directors

Kirsch

Dr. Duhnkrack Hille Köhler

Merz Voigtländer Westhoff

Responsibility Statement by Management
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We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by DZ BANK AG Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank, Frankfurt 

am Main, comprising the income statement, the balance sheet, statement of recognized income and expense, cash flow statement 

and the notes to the consolidated financial statements, together with the group management report for the financial year from 

January 1, 2007 to December 31, 2007. The preparation of the consolidated financial statements and the group management report 

in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU, and the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to Art. 315a 

para. 1 HGB (“Handelsgesetzbuch”: “German Commercial Code”) and supplementary provisions of the articles of incorporation 

are the responsibility of the parent company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 

statements and on the group management report based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Art. 317 HGB and German generally accepted 

standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (Institute of Public Auditors in Ger-

many) (IDW). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit such that misstatements materially affecting the presenta-

tion of the net assets, financial position and results of operations in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the 

applicable financial reporting framework and in the group management report are detected with reasonable assurance. Knowledge 

of the business activities and the economic and legal environment of the Group and expectations as to possible misstatements are 

taken into account in the determination of audit procedures. The effectiveness of the accounting-related internal control system and 

the evidence supporting the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and the group management report are examined 

primarily on a test basis within the framework of the audit. The audit includes assessing the annual financial statements of those 

entities included in consolidation, the determination of entities to be included in consolidation, the accounting and consolidation 

principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated 

financial statements and the group management report. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Our audit has not led to any reservations.

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the consolidated financial statements comply with IFRSs as adopted by the EU, 

the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to Art. 315a para. 1 HGB and supplementary articles of incorpora-

tion and give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and results of operations of the Group in accordance with these 

requirements. The group management report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and as a whole provides a suit-

able view of the Group’s position and suitably presents the opportunities and risks of future development.

Eschborn/Frankfurt am Main, March 20, 2008

Ernst & Young AG

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Steuerberatungsgesellschaft

Müller-Tronnier Wagner

Wirtschaftsprüfer Wirtschaftsprüfer

(German Public Auditor)  (German Public Auditor)

Audit Opinion (Translation)
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Report of the Supervisory Board 

Cooperation with the Board of Managing Directors

The Board of Managing Directors provided the Supervisory 

Board with regular and comprehensive written and verbal 

reports in good time on the performance of the bank and the 

Group and the general course of business. The Board of Manag-

ing Directors also provided the Supervisory Board with regular 

reports on ongoing operations and future business policy includ-

ing the bank‘s strategic and organizational direction. 

The Supervisory Board reviewed the Bank‘s and the Group‘s risk 

situation along with the development of systems and proce-

dures to control market, default and operational risks as well as 

other key banking risks.

Supervisory Board Meetings

Seven Supervisory Board meetings were held in the year under 

review. The Supervisory Board received regular, comprehensive 

rotational reports on DZ BANK‘s current situation and the work 

of the committees. The Supervisory Board also gave  approval 

to major credit and equity commitments and real estate 

transactions.

At the extraordinary meeting of October 15, 2007, the Supervi-

sory Board appointed Lars Hille and Wolfgang Köhler as regular 

members of the Board of Managing Directors of DZ BANK with 

effect from October 15, 2007 in view of Mr. Heinz Hilgert’s 

departure.

Other key items dealt with at the Supervisory Board meetings 

were annual planning, the reorganization of the private banking 

activities of the DZ BANK Group and the reorganization of real 

estate financing in the cooperative financial services network.

The Board of Managing Directors kept the Supervisory Board 

informed of important events in writing between Supervisory 

Board meetings. The Supervisory Board approved significant 

transactions by means of the written resolution procedure in 

cases of urgency between meetings.

Supervisory Board and its Committees

The Supervisory Board and its committees monitored the man-

agement activities of the Board of Managing Directors during 

the 2007 financial year in accordance with applicable legal 

 provisions and the Articles of Association and decided upon 

items of business presented to it which required approval.

The Supervisory Board set up, in accordance with the applicable 

legal provisions, a Personnel Committee, an Audit Committee, 

a Risk and Holdings Committee and a Mediation Committee, in 

accordance with Art. 27 para. 3 of the Co-Determination Act, in 

order to carry out its duties. The first three committees men-

tioned above met several times in 2007. The Supervisory Board 

received regular reports on their activities.

Mr. Siegfried Reiner left the Supervisory Board on February 1, 

2007. Mr. Reiner was replaced by Ms. Rita Jakli who joined the 

Supervisory Board with effect from February 1, 2007. Ms. Helga 

Preußer, the Deputy Chair of the Supervisory Board, also left 

the Board on November 1, 2007. Ms. Preußer was replaced 

by Mr. Rüdiger Beins who joined the Supervisory Board with 

effect from November 1, 2007. The Supervisory Board elected 

Wolfgang Apitzsch as Deputy Chair of the Supervisory Board  to 

replace Ms. Preußer with effect from November 1, 2007 until 

the end of his current term of office. 

Dr. ChriStopher pleiSter  

(Chairman of the Supervisory Board of DZ BANK AG)
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The Chairman of the Supervisory Board and the Chairs of the 

Audit Committee and the Risk and Holding Committee also 

discussed key decisions and important transactions with the 

Chairman of the Board of Managing Directors outside of the 

meetings in regular sessions.

Cooperation with auditors

Ernst & Young AG, Eschborn/Frankfurt am Main, who submit-

ted a statement of independence to the Supervisory Board, 

confirmed, as auditor, that the annual consolidated financial 

statements of DZ BANK presented by the Board of Managing 

Directors including the accounts, the management report, the 

Group consolidated financial statements and Group manage-

ment report for the 2007 financial year complied with the 

applicable legal provisions. The audits led in each case to an 

unqualified opinion. The audit reports were distributed to the 

members of the Supervisory Board and were reviewed in detail. 

The Supervisory Board agreed with the audit results.

Adoption of the financial statements

Representatives of the auditor attended the Supervisory Board 

meeting for the adoption of the consolidated financial state-

ments and the preparatory meetings of the Audit Committee 

and the Risk and Holding Committee in order to report fully on 

the key results. They also made themselves available to answer 

questions from members of the Supervisory Board.

The Supervisory Board and the Audit Committee, as chaired by 

Mr. Rolf Hildner, thoroughly reviewed the annual consolidated 

financial statements of DZ BANK, the Group consolidated 

financial statements, the DZ BANK management report and the 

Group management report at its meetings. No reservations  

were raised.

The Supervisory Board approved the annual consolidated finan-

cial statements of DZ BANK and the DZ BANK Group, presented 

by the Board of Managing Directors as at December 31, 2007, 

in its meeting of April 16, 2008. The annual consolidated finan-

cial statements have therefore been adopted. The Supervisory 

Board also approved the Board of Managing Directors‘ motion 

on the distribution of net profit.

The Supervisory Board wishes to thank the Board of Manag-

ing Directors and all employees for the work they have done in 

2007.

Frankfurt am Main, April 16, 2008

DZ BANK AG

Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank AG, 

Frankfurt am Main

Dr. Christopher Pleister

Chairman of the Supervisory Board
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Members of the local bank advisory 
councils of the DZ BANK Group

Corporate Banking

Dr. Thomas Duhnkrack (coordinator)

Member of the Board of Managing Directors

DZ BANK AG

Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank

Frankfurt am Main

Reinhard Gödel (deputy coordinator)

Chief Executive Officer

VR-LEASING AG

Eschborn

Dr. Konrad Baumüller

Spokesperson of the Management Board

Raiffeisenbank-Volksbank Erlangen-Höchstadt eG

Erlangen

Holger Franz

Member of the Management Board

Ostfriesische Volksbank eG

Leer

Wolfgang Müller

Chief Executive Officer

Volksbank Chemnitz eG

Chemnitz

Fritz Schäfer

Member of the Management Board

Volksbank Pforzheim eG

Pforzheim

Reinhold Schreck

Chief Executive Officer

VR Bank Südpfalz eG

Landau

Jürgen Timmermann

Member of the Management Board

Grafschafter Volksbank eG

Nordhorn

(since 04/2007)

Advisory Councils of DZ BANK

investment Banking

Wolfgang Köhler (coordinator)

Member of the Board of Managing Directors

DZ BANK AG

Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank

Frankfurt am Main

(since 10/2007)

Walter Alt

Chief Executive Officer

LIGA Bank eG

Regensburg

Ulf Brothuhn

Member of the Management Board

Volksbank Helmstedt eG

Helmstedt

Dr. Peter Hanker

Spokesperson of the Management Board

Volksbank Mittelhessen eG

Gießen

(until 02/2007)

Jörg Lindemann

Member of the Management Board

Groß-Gerauer Volksbank eG

Groß-Gerau

(since 03/2007)

Bernhard Link

Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Münchner Bank eG

Munich

Reinhard Schlottbom

Chief Executive Officer

PSD Bank Westfalen-Lippe eG

Münster

Ralf Schmitt

Member of the Management Board

Volksbank eG Villingen

Villingen-Schwenningen
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process Management

Dietrich Voigtländer (coordinator)

Member of the Board of Managing Directors

DZ BANK AG

Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank

Frankfurt am Main

Erwin Deuser

Member of the Management Board

Wiesbadener Volksbank eG

Wiesbaden

Erhardt Fellmin

Chief Executive Officer

PSD Bank Rhein-Ruhr eG

Düsseldorf

Uwe Fröhlich

Member of the Management Board

Berliner Volksbank

Berlin

(until 12/2007)

Hermann Mehrens 

Spokesperson of the Management Board

Hannoversche Volksbank eG

Hanover

(until 05/2007)

Gerhard J. Rastetter

Chief Executive Officer

Volksbank Karlsruhe eG

Karlsruhe

Ralph Zollenkopf

Chief Executive Officer

Raiffeisenbank-Volksbank Varel-Nordenham eG

Varel

Asset Management

Dr. Rüdiger Ginsberg (coordinator)

Chief Executive Officer

Union Asset Management Holding AG

Frankfurt am Main

Werner Albers

Chief Executive Officer

Volksbank Nordheide eG

Buchholz

Claus Jäger

Member of the Management Board

Raiffeisenbank Aschaffenburg eG

Aschaffenburg

Karlheinz Löbl

Member of the Management Board

VR-Bank Bayreuth eG

Bayreuth

Alfred Meßmer

Chief Executive Officer

Fellbacher Bank eG

Fellbach

Stefan Schindler

Member of the Management Board

Sparda-Bank Nürnberg eG

Nuremberg

(since 02/2007)

Jürgen Wache

Member of the Management Board

Hannoversche Volksbank eG

Hanover
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retail & private Banking

Lars Hille (coordinator)

Member of the Board of Managing Directors

DZ BANK AG

Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank

Frankfurt am Main

(since 10/2007)

Theophil Graband (deputy coordinator)

Chief Executive Officer

TeamBank AG Nürnberg

Nuremberg

Dr. Klaus Eberhardt

Member of the Management Board

Sparda-Bank Berlin eG

Berlin

Andreas Haag

Member of the Management Board

BBBank eG

Karlsruhe

Jürgen Kikker

Member of the Management Board

Volksbank Ganderkesee-Hude eG

Hude

Manfred Rockenfeller

Chief Executive Officer

Genossenschaftsbank Unterallgäu eG

Bad Wörishofen

Karlheinz Sanwald 

Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Vereinigte Volksbank AG

Sindelfingen

Dr. Wolfgang Thomasberger

Deputy Chief Executive Officer

VR BANK Rhein-Neckar eG

Mannheim

real estate

Dr. Matthias Metz (coordinator) 

Chief Executive Officer

Bausparkasse Schwäbisch Hall AG

Schwäbisch Hall

Eberhard Heim

Member of the Management Board

Volksbank Tübingen eG

Tübingen

Peter Herbst

Member of the Management Board

Nordthüringer Volksbank eG

Nordhausen

Peter Knust

Chief Executive Officer

Volksbank Raiffeisenbank Eichstätt eG

Eichstätt

Walter Konrad

Member of the Management Board

Volksbank Kreis Bergstraße eG

Lampertheim

(since 04/2007)

Hans-Theo Macke

Spokesperson of the Management Board

Deutsche Genossenschafts-Hypothekenbank AG

Hamburg

Hans-Werner Reuter

Member of the Management Board

Dithmarscher Volks- und Raiffeisenbank eG

Heide

Fritz-Ludwig Schmidt

Chief Executive Officer

Volksbank Kreis Bergstraße eG

Lampertheim

(until 02/2007)
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Manfred Stevermann

Member of the Management Board

Sparda-Bank West eG

Düsseldorf

(since 01/2007)

insurance

Dr. Friedrich Caspers

Chief Executive Officer

R+V Versicherung AG

Wiesbaden

Dr. Rolf Flechsig

Member of the Management Board

Berliner Volksbank eG

Berlin

Klaus Frey

Member of the Management Board

Volksbank Pforzheim eG

Pforzheim

Uwe Gutzmann

Chief Executive Officer

Volks- und Raiffeisenbank eG, Wismar

Wismar

Andreas Hof

Chief Executive Officer

VR Bank Main-Kinzig eG

Langenselbold

Gerhard L. Ruf

Spokesperson of the Management Board

VR Bank Rosenheim-Chiemsee eG

Rosenheim
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Members of the Banking Advisory 
Council of DZ BANK AG for  
Baden-Württemberg 

Chairman:

Richard Bruder

Chief Executive Officer

Volksbank Offenburg eG

Offenburg

Deputy Chairman:

Claus Hepp

Member of the Management Board

Volksbank Allgäu-West eG

Isny im Allgäu

Dr. Peter Aubin

Spokesperson of the Management Board

Volksbank Göppingen eG

Göppingen

Manfred Basler

Chief Executive Officer

Volksbank Lahr eG

Lahr

(until 11/2007)

Ralph Blankenberg

Member of the Management Board

Volksbank Heilbronn eG

Heilbronn

Klemens Bogenrieder

Chief Executive Officer

Federseebank eG

Bad Buchau

Elmar Braunstein

Chief Executive Officer

Volksbank Strohgäu eG

Korntal-Münchingen

Wolfgang Burger

Chief Executive Officer

Volksbank Bruhrain-Kraich Hardt eG

Oberhausen-Rheinhausen

Andreas Eckl

Member of the Management Board

Volksbank Heuberg eG

Meßstetten

Andreas Feinauer

Member of the Management Board

VR-Bank Weinstadt eG

Weinstadt-Endersbach

Heinz Frankenhauser

Spokesperson of the Management Board

Volksbank Nagoldtal eG

Nagold

Horst Gauggel

Spokesperson of the Management Board

Raiffeisenbank Donau-Iller eG

Erbach

Dr. Roman Glaser

Chief Executive Officer

Volksbank Baden-Baden · Rastatt eG

Baden-Baden

Jens Gomille

Member of the Management Board

Heidelberger Volksbank eG

Heidelberg

Michael Häcker 

Member of the Management Board

Heidenheimer Volksbank eG

Heidenheim

Martin Heinzmann

Member of the Management Board

Volksbank Kinzigtal eG

Wolfach
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Horst Heller

Chief Executive Officer

Volksbank Hochrhein eG

Waldshut-Tiengen

Matthias Hillenbrand

Member of the Management Board

Raiffeisenbank Rosenstein eG

Heubach

Klaus Holderbach

Chief Executive Officer

Volksbank Franken eG

Buchen

Hans Kircher

Chief Executive Officer

Raiffeisenbank Bretzfeld-Neuenstein eG

Bretzfeld

Harald Kuhn

Member of the Management Board

Volksbank Kirchheim-Nürtingen eG

Nürtingen

Dr. Rainer Kunadt

Chief Executive Officer

Volksbank Pforzheim eG

Pforzheim

Manfred Kuner

Chief Executive Officer

Volksbank Triberg eG

Triberg

Fritz Lehmann

Chief Executive Officer

Raiffeisenbank Ehingen eG

Ehingen

Guntram Leibinger

Member of the Management Board

Volksbank Donau-Neckar eG

Tuttlingen

Dr. Franz G. Leitner

Chief Executive Officer

Volksbank Freiburg eG

Freiburg 

(until 06/2007)

Hans Georg Leute

Chief Executive Officer

Volksbank Tübingen eG

Tübingen

Werner Luz

Chief Executive Officer

Volksbank Region Leonberg eG

Leonberg

Walter Mauch

Chief Executive Officer

Volksbank eG

Überlingen

Dr. Wolfgang Müller

Chief Executive Officer

BBBank eG

Karlsruhe

Dieter Nitzsche †

Spokesperson of the Management Board

Volksbank-Raiffeisenbank Riedlingen eG

Riedlingen 

(until 07/2007)

Gerhard J. Rastetter 

Chief Executive Officer

Volksbank Karlsruhe eG

Karlsruhe

Martin Reichenbach

Member of the Management Board

Volksbank Breisgau Nord eG

Emmendingen

Bernd-Dieter Reusch

Chief Executive Officer

Volksbank Metzingen-Bad Urach eG

Metzingen
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Wolfgang Riedlinger

Member of the Management Board

Volksbank Baiersbronn eG

Baiersbronn

Paul Erich Schaaf

Chief Executive Officer

Untertürkheimer Volksbank eG

Stuttgart

Werner Schmidgall

Chief Executive Officer

Volksbank Backnang eG

Backnang

Dr. Stefan Schwab

Chief Executive Officer

Volksbank Wiesloch eG

Wiesloch

Karlheinz Unger 

Chief Executive Officer

Volksbank Ludwigsburg eG

Ludwigsburg

Edmund Wahl

Chief Executive Officer

Volksbank Hohenlohe eG

Öhringen

Helmut Widmann

Spokesperson of the Management Board

Raiffeisenbank Ravensburg eG

Horgenzell

Ulrike Winterbauer

Chief Executive Officer

Volksbank Schwarzbachtal eG

Waibstadt

Alfred Wormser

Spokesperson of the Management Board

Volksbank-Raiffeisenbank Riedlingen eG

Riedlingen     

Members of the Banking Advisory 
Council of DZ BANK AG for Bavaria 

Chairman:

Dietmar Küsters

Chief Executive Officer

Volksbank Straubing eG

Straubing

Deputy Chairman:

Konrad Irtel

Spokesperson of the Management Board

VR Bank Rosenheim-Chiemsee eG

Rosenheim

Alois Atzinger

Chief Executive Officer

Raiffeisenbank Am Goldenen Steig eG

Waldkirchen

Bernd Bindrum 

Member of the Management Board

Raiffeisenbank Hammelburg eG

Hammelburg

Alfred Foistner

Chief Executive Officer

Raiffeisenbank Oberschleißheim eG

Oberschleißheim

Josef Frauenlob

Spokesperson of the Management Board

Volksbank Raiffeisenbank Oberbayern Südost eG

Bad Reichenhall

Wilfried Gerling

Chief Executive Officer

Hallertauer Volksbank eG

Pfaffenhofen a. d. Ilm

Manfred Göhring 

Chief Executive Officer

Raiffeisenbank Altdorf-Feucht eG

Feucht
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Michael Haas

Chief Executive Officer

Volksbank-Raiffeisenbank Dachau eG

Dachau

Dirk Helmbrecht

Chief Executive Officer

Volksbank Raiffeisenbank Nürnberg eG

Nuremburg

Friedrich Hertle

Member of the Management Board

Raiffeisen-Volksbank Donauwörth eG

Donauwörth

Hubert Kamml

Chief Executive Officer

Volksbank Raiffeisenbank Mangfalltal-Rosenheim eG

Rosenheim

Karlheinz Kipke

Chief Executive Officer

VR-Bank Coburg eG

Coburg

Manfred Klaar

Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Raiffeisenbank im Oberland eG

Miesbach

Josef Murr

Chief Executive Officer

Raiffeisenbank Parkstetten eG

Parkstetten

Reinhold Nastvogel

Member of the Management Board

Raiffeisen-Volksbank Haßberge eG

Haßfurt

Hermann Ott

Member of the Management Board

Raiffeisenbank Weiden eG

Weiden i. d. Opf.

Peter Pollich

Member of the Management Board

Raiffeisenbank Gaimersheim-Buxheim eG

Gaimersheim

Erich Pröpster

Chief Executive Officer

Raiffeisenbank Neumarkt i. d. Opf. eG

Neumarkt i. d. Opf.

Friedrich Reiser 

Chief Executive Officer

Raiffeisen-Volksbank Isen-Sempt eG

Isen

Josef Riedlberger

Chief Executive Officer

Raiffeisenbank Rehling eG

Rehling

Rainer Schaidnagel

Member of the Management Board

Raiffeisenbank Kempten eG

Kempten

Erich Schaller 

Chief Executive Officer

VR Bank Hof eG

Hof

(until 07/2007)

Roland Scheer 

Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Raiffeisenbank Bad Windsheim eG

Bad Windsheim

Gregor Scheller

Chief Executive Officer

Volksbank Forchheim

Forchheim

(since 07/2007)
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Wolfgang Schreier

Member of the Management Board

VR-Bank Lech-Zusam eG

Gersthofen

Claudius Seidl

Chief Executive Officer

VR-Bank Rottal-Inn eG

Pfarrkirchen

Elmar Staab

Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Raiffeisenbank Aschaffenburg eG

Aschaffenburg

Rudolf Veitz

Member of the Management Board

Raiffeisenbank Holzheim eG

Holzheim

Johann Weigele

Chief Executive Officer

Raiffeisenbank Pfaffenhausen eG

Pfaffenhausen

Rainer Wiederer

Spokesperson of the Management Board

Volksbank Raiffeisenbank Würzburg eG

Würzburg

Helmut Wölfel

Chief Executive Officer

Raiffeisen-Volksbank Kronach-Ludwigsstadt eG

Kronach

Günther Zollner

Chief Executive Officer

Raiffeisenbank Cham-Roding-Furth im Wald eG

Cham

Members of the Banking Advisory 
Council of DZ BANK AG for Central 
Germany 

Chairman:

Paul-Heinz Schmidt

Chief Executive Officer

VR Bank HessenLand eG

Alsfeld

Deputy Chairman:

Peter Herbst

Member of the Management Board

Nordthüringer Volksbank eG

Nordhausen

Uwe Abel

Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Mainzer Volksbank eG

Mainz

Günther Arndt

Member of the Management Board

Volksbank Daaden eG

Daaden

Dr. Dr. Claus Becker

Chief Executive Officer

Volksbank Darmstadt eG

Darmstadt

Wolfgang Behr

Member of the Management Board

Volksbank Schupbach eG

Beselich

Matthias Berkessel

Member of the Management Board

Volksbank Rhein-Lahn eG

Diez
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Manfred Bernhart

Chief Executive Officer

Volksbank Montabaur-Höhr-Grenzhausen eG

Montabaur

Kurt Bletzer

Spokesperson of the Management Board

Raiffeisenbank Ried eG

Bürstadt

Hans-Peter Born

Chief Executive Officer

Groß-Gerauer Volksbank eG

Groß-Gerau

Gerhard Braun 

Spokesperson of the Management Board

Volksbank Kur- und Rheinpfalz eG

Speyer

Andreas Dill

Member of the Management Board

Sparda-Bank Hannover eG

Hanover

Erwin Failing

Chief Executive Officer

Volksbank Heuchelheim eG

Heuchelheim

Manfred Gerhard

Spokesperson of the Management Board

VR Genossenschaftsbank Fulda eG

Fulda

Peter Haffelt

Member of the Management Board

Dresdner Volksbank Raiffeisenbank eG

Dresden

Othmar Heck

Member of the Management Board

Volksbank Gräfenhausen eG

Weiterstadt

Ulrich Jakobi 

Spokesperson of the Management Board

Volksbank Wetzlar-Weilburg eG

Wetzlar

Günter Jesswein

Member of the Management Board

Raiffeisenbank Trendelburg eG

Trendelburg

Dieter Jurgeit

Chief Executive Officer

PSD Bank Nord eG

Hamburg

Hans-Josef Kreis

Chief Executive Officer

Volksbank Saarlouis eG

Saarlouis

Günther Lambrecht

Member of the Management Board

Volksbank Glan-Münchweiler eG

Glan-Münchweiler

Eckhard Lenz

Member of the Management Board

Raiffeisenbank eG Wolfhagen

Wolfhagen

Heiner Löhl

Member of the Management Board

Bank 1 Saar eG

Saarbrücken

Ralf Marquis

Member of the Management Board

Volksbank Dudweiler eG

Saarbrücken

Michael Mengler

Spokesperson of the Management Board

VVB Vereinigte Volksbank Maingau eG

Obertshausen
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Paul Meuer

Chief Executive Officer

Rheingauer Volksbank eG

Geisenheim

Harro Meurer

Chief Executive Officer

Volksbank Riesa eG

Riesa

Dieter Rembde

Member of the Management Board

VR-Bank Schwalm-Eder Volksbank Raiffeisenbank eG

Homberg

Tilman Römpp

Member of the Management Board

Volksbank Bautzen eG

Bautzen

Manfred Roth 

Member of the Management Board

VR Bank Weimar eG

Weimar

Jürgen Schlesier

Member of the Management Board

Raiffeisenbank Vogelsberg eG

Birstein

Peter Schmitt

Chief Executive Officer

Raiffeisenbank eG Großenlüder

Großenlüder

Ernst-Konrad Schneider

Chief Executive Officer

Volksbank Wißmar eG

Wettenberg

Reinhold Schreck

Chief Executive Officer

VR Bank Südpfalz eG

Landau

Bernhard Slavetinsky

Chief Executive Officer

PSD Bank Karlsruhe-Neustadt eG

Karlsruhe

Dieter Steffan

Member of the Management Board

Volksbank Rhein-Selz eG

Nierstein

Jürgen Weber

Chief Executive Officer

Sparda-Bank Hessen eG

Frankfurt

Horst Weyand

Chief Executive Officer

Volksbank Nahetal eG

Bad Kreuznach     
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Members of the Banking Advisory 
Council of DZ BANK AG for North/
East Germany 

Chairman:

Reinhard Schoon

Chief Executive Officer

Raiffeisen-Volksbank eG

Aurich

Deputy Chairman:

Detlef Kentler

Spokesperson of the Management Board

Volksbank eG

Seesen

Hans-Nissen Andersen

Chief Executive Officer

Evangelische Darlehensgenossenschaft eG Kiel

Kiel

Martin Brödder

Member of the Management Board

Volks- und Raiffeisenbank Prignitz eG

Perleberg

Dr. Reiner Brüggestrat

Spokesperson of the Management Board

Hamburger Volksbank eG

Hamburg

Johannes Bruns 

Member of the Management Board

Ostfriesische Volksbank eG

Leer

Lübbo Creutzenberg 

Member of the Management Board

Raiffeisen-Volksbank Fresena eG

Norden

Josef Dahl

Spokesperson of the Management Board

Ostharzer Volksbank eG

Quedlinburg

Dr. Paul Albert Deimel

Chief Executive Officer

Volksbank Helmstedt eG

Helmstedt

Helmut Dommel

Member of the Management Board

Raiffeisenbank Mecklenburger Seenplatte eG

Waren

Ludger Ellert

Member of the Management Board

Volksbank Vechta eG

Vechta

Berthold Engelke

Chief Executive Officer

Volksbank eG, Steyerberg

Steyerberg

Heiko Ernst

Member of the Management Board

Volksbank Lüneburg eG

Lüneburg

Heinrich Fenne

Member of the Management Board

Volksbank Osnabrück eG

Osnabrück

Alfons Fennen

Chief Executive Officer

Volksbank Bösel eG

Bösel
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Dr. Rolf Flechsig

Member of the Management Board

Berliner Volksbank eG

Berlin

Uwe Heinemann

Member of the Management Board

Raiffeisen-Volksbank Varel Nordenham eG

Varel

Johann Heins

Member of the Management Board

Zevener Volksbank eG

Zeven

Michael Hietkamp

Member of the Management Board

Volksbank Raiffeisenbank eG Greifswald

Greifswald

Klaus Hinsch

Member of the Management Board

Raiffeisenbank eG

Hagenow

Hermann Isensee

Spokesperson of the Management Board

Volksbank Wolfenbüttel-Salzgitter eG

Wolfenbüttel

Walter Jaeger

Member of the Management Board

Volksbank Wittenberg eG

Lutherstadt Wittenberg

Uli Jelinski

Member of the Management Board

Raiffeisenbank Kalbe-Bismark eG

Kalbe

Gerd Köhn

Member of the Management Board

Volksbank Jever eG

Jever

Johann Landsberg

Member of the Management Board

Volksbank Lübeck Landbank von 1902 eG

Lübeck

Norbert Lohmann

Chief Executive Officer

Volksbank Spelle-Freren eG

Spelle 

Hans-Joachim Lohskamp

Member of the Management Board

Volksbank Uelzen-Salzwedel eG

Uelzen

Harald Lott

Member of the Management Board

Volksbank eG Westrhauderfehn

Rhauderfehn

Hermann Mehrens

Spokesperson of the Management Board

Hannoversche Volksbank eG

Hanover

(until 05/2007)

Klaus Mehrens

Member of the Management Board

Raiffeisenbank eG Todenbüttel

Hanerau-Hademarsch

Gerhard Oppermann

Member of the Management Board

Hannoversche Volksbank eG

Hanover

(since 06/2007)

Gerd Pott 

Member of the Management Board

Spar- und Kreditbank eG Hammah

Hammah
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Eckhard Rave

Member of the Management Board

Volksbank-Raiffeisenbank eG Husum-Eiderstedt-Viöl

Husum

Günter Scheffczyk

Member of the Management Board

Hümmlinger Volksbank eG

Werlte

Christian Scheinert

Member of the Management Board

Volksbank eG

Elmshorn

Jürgen von Seggern

Member of the Management Board

Volksbank Ganderkesee-Hude eG

Hude

Michael Siegers

Chief Executive Officer

Volksbank Hildesheim eG

Hildesheim

Jürgen Timmermann

Member of the Management Board

Grafschafter Volksbank eG

Nordhorn

Rolf Wagner

Member of the Management Board

Volksbank Raiffeisenbank eG

Neumünster

Heinz-Walter Wiedbrauck

Chief Executive Officer

Volksbank Hameln-Stadthagen eG

Hameln

Holger Willuhn

Spokesperson of the Management Board

Volksbank Eichsfeld-Northeim eG

Duderstadt

Advisory Council of DZ BANK AG 

Chairman:

Dr. Dr. h.c. Ulrich Brixner

Chairman of the Board of Directors

DZ BANK Foundation

Karlsruhe

Deputy Chairman:

Dr. Wilhelm Bender

Chief Executive Officer

Fraport AG

Frankfurt am Main

Deputy Chairman: 

Prof. Dr. Wolfgang König

Johann Wolfgang Goethe University

Institute for Business Information Technology

Frankfurt am Main

Carl Fritz Bardusch

General Manager

Bardusch GmbH & Co.

Ettlingen

Dr. Wolfgang Baur

Member of the Management Board

Schuler AG

Göppingen

Dr. Werner Brandt

Member of the Management Board

SAP AG

Walldorf

Gerhard Erwin Bruckermann

Chairman CEO

DEPFA BANK plc

Dublin

Hans-Jürgen Burkert

Member of the Management Board

Hymer AG

Bad Waldsee
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Stephan Götzl

Association President

Chief Executive Officer

Genossenschaftsverband Bayern e.V.

Munich

Rüdiger A. Günther

Chief Financial Officer

Infineon Technologies AG

Munich

(until 07/2007)

Dr. Jochen Gutbrod

Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Georg von Holtzbrinck GmbH Publishing Group

Stuttgart

Dr. Reiner Hagemann 

Chairman of the Advisory Board

Cerberus Deutschland Beteiligungs-

beratung GmbH

Frankfurt am Main

Dr. Jürgen Heraeus

Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Heraeus Holding GmbH

Hanau

Wilfried Hollmann

President

Zentralverband Gewerblicher Verbundgruppen e.V.

Berlin

(since 10/2007)

Wolfgang Jeblonski

Member of the Management Board

STADA ARZNEIMITTEL AG

Bad Vilbel

Fred Kogel

Chief Executive Officer

Constantin Film AG

Munich

(since 08/2007)

Wolfgang Deml

Chief Executive Officer

BayWa AG

Munich

Prof. Dr. Hans Heinrich Driftmann

Managing Director

Peter Kölln KGaA

Elmshorn

(until 03/2007)

Stefan Durach

General Manager

Develey Senf + Feinkost GmbH

Unterhaching

Konsul Anton-Wolfgang

Graf von Faber-Castell

Chief Executive Officer

Faber-Castell AG

Stein

Manfred Finger

Member of the Management Board

Villeroy & Boch AG

Mettlach

Uwe E. Flach

Former Member of the Board of Managing Directors

DZ BANK AG 

Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank

Frankfurt am Main

Alfons Frenk

Chief Executive Officer

EDEKA AG & Co. KG

Hamburg

Dr. Hans-Jörg Gebhard

Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Südzucker AG

Mannheim/Ochsenfurt
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Dr. Dagobert Kotzur

Chief Executive Officer

Schunk GmbH

Thale

(until 06/2007)

Prof. Dr. Jan Pieter Krahnen

Johann Wolfgang Goethe University

Chair for Banking and Finance

Frankfurt am Main

Andreas Lapp

Chief Executive Officer

LAPP HOLDING AG

Stuttgart

Johann C. Lindenberg 

Former Chief Executive Officer 

and National Chairman 

Unilever Deutschland GmbH

Hamburg

Roland Mack

Managing Director

EUROPA-PARK Freizeit- und 

Familienpark Mack KG

Rust

Wladimir P. Matwejew

Envoy of the Embassy of Russia,

Berlin

(since 08/2007)

Ludwig Merckle

Chief Executive Officer

Merckle/ratiopharm Arzneimittel GmbH

Ulm

Stefan Müller

Member of the German Parliament

Berlin

Manfred Nüssel

President

Deutscher Raiffeisenverband e.V.

Berlin

Prof. Dr. Rolf Peffekoven

Johannes Gutenberg- University Mainz

Chair for Business Administration and Finance

Mainz

Franz Pinkl 

Chief Executive Officer

Österreichische Volksbanken-AG

Wien

Günter Preuß

Spokesperson of the Management Board

Deutsche Apotheker- und Ärztebank eG

Düsseldorf

Manfred Renner

Chief Executive Officer

Sanacorp Pharmahandel AG

Planegg

Jürgen Rudolph

Managing Director

Rudolph Logistik Gruppe/ 

Rudolph Holding GmbH

Baunatal

Prof. Dr. Christian Schlag

Johann Wolfgang Goethe University

Professor of Derivatives and Financial Engineering

Frankfurt am Main

(until 03/2008)

Dr. Wolf Schumacher

Chief Executive Officer

Aareal Bank AG

Wiesbaden

Dr. Eric Schweitzer

Member of the Management Board

ALBA AG

Velten near Berlin
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Joachim Siebert

Chief Executive Officer

anwr Ariston-Nord-West-Ring eG

Mainhausen

(until 05/2007)

Gerd Sonnleitner

President

Deutscher Bauernverband e.V.

Berlin

Dr. Theo Spettmann

Spokesperson of the Management Board

Südzucker AG 

Mannheim/Ochsenfurt

Dr. Thomas Strüngmann

Managing Director

ATHOS Service GmbH

Munich

(until 01/2008)

Stephan Sturm

Member of the Management Board

Fresenius AG

Bad Homburg

Hans Wall

Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Wall AG

Berlin

Paul-Heinz Wesjohann

Chief Executive Officer

PHW-Gruppe

Visbek

Alexander von Witzleben

Chief Executive Officer

Jenoptik AG

Jena

(until 06/2007)
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Key Subsidiaries and Affiliates of DZ BANK

Banks

Name/head office Consolidated1

equity holding in 
 percentage

Bausparkasse Schwäbisch hall AG, Schwäbisch hall (indirectly) • 81.8

Ceskomoravská stavebni sporitelna a.s., Prague 45.0

Fundamenta-Lakáskassza Zrt., Budapest 51.2

Prvá stavebná sporitel‘na, a.s., Bratislava 32.5

Raiffeisen Banca Pentru Locuinte S. A., Bucharest 33.3

Sino-German-Bausparkasse Ltd., Tianjin 24.9

VR Kreditwerk Hamburg - Schwäbisch Hall AG, Hamburg and Schwäbisch Hall2 • 100.0

Cassa Centrale Banca - Credito Cooperativo del Nord est S.p.A., 
trento

 
25.0

DZ priVAtBANK (Schweiz) AG, Zurich (indirectly) • 80.0

Deutsche Genossenschafts-hypothekenbank AG, hamburg • 100.0

Deutsche WertpapierService Bank AG, Frankfurt am Main 40.0

DVB Bank AG, Frankfurt am Main • 93.3

DVB Bank N.V., Rotterdam • 100.0

DZ BANK polska S.A., Warsaw 99.9

DZ BANK international S.A., luxembourg-Strassen (indirectly)3 • 89.7

DZ BANK ireland plc, Dublin3 • 100.0

Magyar takarékszövetkezeti Bank Zártkörüen Müködö 
 részvénytársaság, Budapest

 
36.2

teamBank AG Nürnberg, Nuremberg • 90.0

Österreichische Volksbanken-AG, Vienna (indirectly) 25.0014

Volksbank international AG, Vienna (indirectly) 16.44

1 Consolidated in accordance with IAS 27 and total equity holding of DZ BANK AG or the respective parent company
2 thereof 40% held directly by DZ BANK AG  
3  Subject of letter of comfort from DZ BANK AG 
4 Share of voting rights

other specialized service providers

Name/head office Consolidated1

equity holding in 
 percentage

DZ equity partner Gmbh, Frankfurt am Main 100.0

eUro Kartensysteme Gmbh, Frankfurt am Main 19.6

GVA GeNo-Vermögens-Anlage-Gesellschaft mbh, Frankfurt am Main 66.7

equens N.V., Utrecht 33.5

Vr-leASiNG AG, eschborn • 83.5

BFL Leasing GmbH, Eschborn • 72.8

VR BAUREGIE GmbH, Eschborn • 100.0

VR DISKONTBANK GmbH, Eschborn • 100.0

VR-FACTOREM GmbH, Eschborn 49.0

VR-IMMOBILIEN-LEASING GmbH, Eschborn • 100.0

VR-medico LEASING GmbH, Eschborn • 100.0

1 Consolidated in accordance with IAS 27 and total equity holding of DZ BANK AG or the respective parent company
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investment trusts

Name/head office Consolidated1

equity holding in 
 percentage

Union Asset Management holding AG, Frankfurt am Main • 73.4

DEFO Deutsche Fonds für Immobilienvermögen GmbH, Frankfurt am Main • 90.0

Union Investment Real Estate Aktiengesellschaft, Hamburg • 94.5

Union Investment Institutional GmbH, Frankfurt am Main • 100.0

Union Investment Luxembourg, Luxembourg-Strassen • 100.0

Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH, Frankfurt am Main • 100.0

1  Consolidated in accordance with IAS 27 and total equity holding of DZ BANK AG or the respective parent company 

insurance companies

Name/head office Consolidated1

equity holding in 
 percentage

r+V Versicherung AG, Wiesbaden • 74.0

KRAVAG-Allgemeine Versicherungs-AG, Hamburg • 76.0

KRAVAG-LOGISTIC Versicherungs-AG, Hamburg • 51.0

R+V Allgemeine Versicherung AG, Wiesbaden • 95.0

R+V Krankenversicherung AG, Wiesbaden • 100.0

R+V Lebensversicherung AG, Wiesbaden • 100.0

R+V Pensionsfonds AG, Wiesbaden 
(jointly with mit Union Asset Management Holding)

•
 

51.0

R+V Rechtsschutzversicherung AG, Wiesbaden • 100.0

1 Consolidated in accordance with IAS 27 and total equity holding of DZ BANK AG or the respective parent company
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Accounting mismatch An accounting mismatch occurs when economically linked financial instruments having inverse 

risk positions that offset each other are recognized and valued differently in the IFRS statement 

based on the obligatory methods to be used. Accounting mismatches can be eliminated or 

at least reduced by hedge accounting or by applying the “fair value option”. It is usually not 

 possible to eliminate accounting mismatches completely.

Amortized cost The amortized cost is the amount at which a financial asset or financial liability is measured at 

initial recognition minus repayments, plus or minus amortization using the effective interest 

method and minus any applicable impairments.

Arranger An arranger structures a transaction and supports the originator in conducting a securitiza-

tion. It brings the participants in a transaction together, informs all parties of the criteria for the 

securitization (for example conditions of financing, the type and value of collateral provided, 

credit rating requirements and the structure of the portfolio to which the individual financing 

participants are contributing) and ensures compliance with the criteria.

Asset-backed commercial paper 

program (ABCP)

Money-market securities program covered by receivables for which a special purpose entity 

(conduit) issues commercial papers. As part of the program, regularly revolving receivables are 

sold to the conduit which in turn issues new commercial papers on an ongoing basis.

Asset-Backed Securities  

(ABS)

Bonds whose interest and payments are usually determined from a portfolio of reference 

receivables, which at the same time are available to investors as securities directly or in the form 

of cash equivalents (“asset-backed”). The cash flows thus generated are either directly provided 

to investors (true sale securitization) or synthetically recreated from collateral portfolios for 

investors (synthetic securitization).

Assets held for trading Assets held for trading are financial assets categorized as being held for trading purposes. This 

category includes assets which are acquired for the purpose of selling them in the near term 

and derivatives which are not hedging instruments in an effective hedging relationship. In the 

DZ BANK Group assets held for trading also include receivables from money-market transactions 

which can be assigned to trading operations.

Available-for-sale financial 

assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are the non-derivative financial assets that are not classified as 

falling under any of the other categories of IAS 39. Changes to the fair value of the assets of 

this category are generally taken directly to equity. Only impairment losses are recognized in 

profit or loss.

Back-to-back transaction An item resulting from hedged items and hedging intruments concluded for reasons of market 

price risk.

Basis adjustment /  

hedge adjustment

By adjusting the carrying amount of hedged items, the fair value changes of the hedged items 

attributable to the hedged risk are recognized on the balance sheet and in profit or loss as gains 

and losses on financial assets and liabilities held for trading.

Biometric risk Term from insurance practice. Biometric risk is the exposure that insured risks such as longevity, 

mortality or disability will occur to a greater extent than anticipated.

Glossary
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Cancellation risk Term from insurance practice. Cancellation risk is the risk of an accumulation of terminations to 

contracts by policy holders while the interest rate level is increasing, during which investments 

are liquidated as a result of the contract terminations and can only be reinvested under less 

favorable market conditions.

Cash flow Cash flows are inflows and outflows of cash and cash equivalents.

Cash flow hedge A hedging relationship is recorded as a cash flow hedge when the risk of the change in the 

hedged item’s cash flows (e.g. for securities with a non fixed-interest rate) are hedged using a 

derivative financial instrument with inverse cash flows. The hedged items can be recognized 

as assets or liabilities or as off-balance sheet business (e.g. planned transactions). During the 

maturity of the hedging relationship the change in fair value of the hedging derivative is taken 

directly to equity in a separate reserve. The reserve is released and transferred to profit or loss 

when the hedged item is recognized in profit or loss.

Certificates of deposit Money-market instruments issued by banks in the form of bearer shares.

Commercial paper Short-dated bonds not listed on the stock exchange with a maturity from 1 to 364 days.

Conduit A special purpose entity which buys receivables and securities from companies for the purpose 

of short-term bridge financing through a capital market on a revolving basis and refinances 

itself by issuing commercial paper.

Cost-income ratio The cost/income ratio is a figure for measuring and assessing a company’s efficiency. The 

company’s administration costs are divided by its operating income for the year. The result helps 

evaluate what portion of the income was spent on covering administration costs. 

Counterbalancing capacity Continued future liquidity reserves consisting of nostro accounts, securities and money market 

capacity options.

Credit enhancement Contractual agreement in which the bank retains or takes over a securitized position and 

through which it offers additional protection against losses to the other participants in the 

transaction.

Credit spread risk Risk of a loss which can result from the change in the difference between a credit-risk-related 

yield curve compared to a credit-risk-free yield curve.

Credit value-at-risk Criteria for the amount by which the potential loss from transactions involving default risk could 

exceed the expected loss. The credit value-at-risk is calculated using mathematical-statistical 

methods.

Cumulative damage Term from insurance practice. Accumulation of damage in the insurance portfolio of an insurer 

arising from an insured event (e.g. an elementary event).

Deferred taxes Deferred taxes refer to income taxes to be paid or received in the future resulting from  valuation 

differences between the IFRS balance sheet and income tax return and which at the time of 

 accounting do not yet involve any actual tax obligations or tax liabilities toward the tax authori-

ties. Deferred taxes are reported for temporary differences, and when certain prerequisites are in 

place, also for tax losses carried forward.
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Derivatives and derivative 

financial instruments

Derivatives and derivative financial instruments are financial instruments whose value changes 

depending on a defined underlying instrument (equity, currency, interest, etc.). They usually re-

quire a low or no initial investment and will be fulfilled in the future through a cash settlement 

or the delivery of the underlying instrument.

economic Value Added  

(EVA)

Adjusted earnings minus the calculated capital costs based on the upper loss limit or the risk 

capital requirement. The adjusted earnings are the pre-tax annual net profit adjusted for effects 

on the balance sheet affecting net income. 

effective interest method The effective interest method is a way of determining the effective interest income or expense 

of interest-bearing financial instruments. By applying the effective interest method, premiums 

or discounts and capitalized transaction costs are distributed over the maturity of the financial 

instrument according to the input involved.

elementary risk Term from insurance practice. Elementary risk is the risk that natural events will cause 

( cumulative) damage of an unexpected magnitude.

embedded derivatives An embedded derivative is a derivative financial instrument which is combined with a non-deriva-

tive host contract to create a structured product. Under certain conditions, embedded derivatives 

must be separated from the host contract and accounted for separately.

equity method The equity method is a way of measuring the company’s share in associates and joint ventures. 

The value of these shares is reported in the financial statements of the investee at its recognized 

proportion of the equity capital. Changes in the share of equity capital are recognized by adjust-

ing the value of the share in the investee’s financial statement.

Fair value Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between 

knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s-length transaction under usual market conditions.

Fair value hedge An economic hedging relationship is considered a fair value hedge when it mitigates the 

exposure to a change in fair value of an underlying transaction through a derivative financial 

instrument with inverse risks. In accounting for the hedging relationship on the balance sheet, 

changes in the fair value of the hedged item are entered as income and offset by inverse 

changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument.

Fair value hedge of the interest 

rate exposure of a portfolio

A fair value hedge of the interest rate exposure of a portfolio is a special form of fair value 

hedges which is only permitted for interest rate risks. The underlying transaction designated for 

hedging is a portfolio of interest-bearing financial instruments with the same or comparable risk 

exposures. As a result, no hedging relationships need to be designated for individual financial 

instruments.

Finance lease A type of lease that essentially transfers all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of 

the leased object to the lessee. The lessee must recognize the asset as economic property and 

account for a liability in making leasing payments to the lessor. The lessor records the cash value 

of the leasing payments to be made by the lessee as a receivable. 
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Financial instrument A financial instrument is an agreement that simultaneously leads to a financial asset for one 

contracting party and to a financial liability or equity instrument for the other contracting party. 

Financial instruments 

 designated as at fair value 

through profit or loss

According to IAS 39 there is an option of irrevocably designating every financial asset or liability 

as at fair value through profit or loss (“fair value option”). Exercising this option depends on 

fulfilling additional requirements and generally results in reduced accounting mismatches.

Financial instruments  

held for trading

Financial instruments held for trading is the classification for financial assets and financial 

liabilities which are primarily acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or 

 repurchasing them in the near term. In addition, this category applies to derivatives which are 

not designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedging relationship. 

Forward cash exposure Cumulative stream of future cash payments coming from expected and unexpected 

components.

Goodwill Goodwill is the positive difference between the costs of a merger or acquisition and the pro-

portional fair value of the acquired assets and liabilities. It embodies future economic benefits 

which are not capable of being individually identified and separately recognized. 

hedge accounting In accounting for hedged items, one or more economic hedging instruments (e.g. interest rate 

swaps) along the same lines are designated to an underlying transaction (e.g. a loan) such that 

the change of the fair value or the cash flows of the hedging instruments lead to a complete or 

partial balance of the change in the fair value or cash flows of the hedged item.

hedged item Hedged items are recognized assets or liabilities, off balance sheet firm commitments, highly 

probable anticipated future transactions (forecasted transactions) or net investments in foreign 

entities which are designated to an effective hedging relationship and whose risks are offset or 

reduced by inverse risk positions.

hedging instrument Hedging instruments are derivatives or (for hedging currency risks) non-derivative financial 

instru ments whose changes in fair value or cash flows are expected to compensate for the 

inverse changes in the fair value or cash flows of the hedged item. 

held for sale Held for sale describes long-term non-financial assets or sales groups for which the realization 

of the book value largely occurs through a sales transaction and not through continued use.

held-to-maturity investments Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets quoted on an active market 

with fixed or determinable payments and a fixed term which the company has the positive 

intention and ability to hold to maturity. The regulations of IAS 39 specify a separate category 

for these financial instruments, which the DZ BANK Group does not use.

impairment of assets An impairment of assets occurs when the recoverable amount for the asset is below its book 

value. The method for determining the amount of the impairment depends on the circum-

stances under evaluation and the applicable IFRS regulations.

interest guarantee risk Term from insurance practice. Interest guarantee risk refers to the risk that current or anticipated 

capital income will not be sufficient to cover the interest payments to the policy holder.
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international Financial 

 reporting Standards   

(IFRSs)

The International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) are the accounting guidelines adopted by 

the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). In addition to the IFRSs adopted in 2003, 

they include the International Accounting Standards (IASs) which were published up to that 

point and the interpretations of the former Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC) and the 

International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC).

investment property Investment property is real estate held as financial investments. Investment property indicates 

land or buildings which are held solely for the purpose of earning rental income or for capital 

appreciation.

investments in associates An associate is a company on which the investor has significant influence in regard to its busi-

ness or financial policy. In the consolidated financial statements associates are generally meas-

ured by using the equity method.

investor (for securitizations) An investor holds at least one securitization position or guarantees or hedges securitization 

positions held by others. They are neither the originator nor the sponsor for this securitiza-

tion transaction. As a guarantee the investors have the payment claims from the underlying 

receivables portfolio and if necessary other collateral from the securitization transaction. As part 

of the contract conditions, investors generally have a claim to interest and repayments from the 

underlying assets but not direct access to the receivables in the receivables pool.

irBA, internal ratings-based 

approach

Regulatory procedure for calculating risk-weighted position values as part of determining capital 

adequacy for credit risk. This procedure is based on the availability of risk parameters which are 

identified using ratings systems officially recognized by the supervisory authorities. Methods 

include the basic IRB approach (use of internally assessed probabilities of default), the advanced 

IRB approach (use of internally assessed probabilities of default, conversion factors and loss 

rates) and the IRB approach for volume business (also called retail IRBA).

Joint Venture A joint venture is a contractual arrangement between two or more parties who undertake an 

economic activity that is subject to joint control.

liabilities held for trading Liabilities held for trading are financial liabilities categorized as being held for trading purposes. 

This category includes liabilities which are assumed with the intention of generating short-term 

profit and derivative financial instruments which are not the hedging instrument in an effective 

hedging relationship. In the DZ BANK Group liabilities held for trading also include liabilities 

from money-market transactions which can be assigned to trading operations.

loans and receivables Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 

that are not quoted on an active market. They include especially loans and advances as well as 

parts of investments.

Margin call A margin call results from a revaluation of an OTC derivative position which was collateralized 

as part of a standardized framework agreement regarding the provision of collateral in the OTC 

transaction. The margin call to the counterparty becomes necessary if the collateral valued is 

no longer sufficient (taking the threshold into account) to cover the market values of the OTC 

derivative transaction.
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Minimum requirements in risk 

management (MaRisk)

MaRisk is based on Art. 25a para. 1 of the German Banking Act (KWG) and is provided as BaFin 

circular 5/2007 of October 30, 2007. The objective of MaRisk is the regulatory provision of mini-

mum standards for planning risk management and internal audit of financial institutions. They 

apply to the requirements made of the organizations in the lending and trading business and 

the handling of credit risk, market price risk, liquidity risk and operational risk.

operating lease An operating lease is any leasing relationship which does not fulfill the prerequisites of a financ-

ing lease. The economic ownership of the leasing object remains with the lessor who recognizes 

and measures the asset in its financial statements.

originator If a securitization transaction involves receivables of an institution or receivables of a company 

of the regulatory institution group to which the institution also belongs, or if the receivables 

 being transferred in a first securitization transaction for the purpose of further securitization 

make up more than 50 percent of the securitized portfolio of the additional securitization trans-

action, then the institution is considered to be the originator of the securitization transaction in 

accordance with the Solvency Regulation.

other financial liabilities Other financial liabilities indicate all financial liabilities which are held for non-trading purposes 

or which are not assessed at the fair value on the income statement by exercising the fair value 

option. Other financial liabilities are valued at amortized cost.

placement agent The placement agent distributes the securities issued as part of a securitization transaction to 

the investors. Depending on the contractual arrangement of the placement agreement, the 

placement agent takes the unplaced units onto its own books or transfers them back to the 

originator.

premium risk Term from insurance practice. Premium risk refers to the risk that the claim rate for the  current 

year will exceed its expected value. One reason could be that premium income is too low 

because of market trends. Unexpectedly high claim expenses resulting from process risks, para-

meter risks and prognosis risks as part of the premium prices for major claims and cumulative 

risks may also be the cause of higher claim rates.

purchase method The purchase method is a method of accounting for business combinations in the consolidated 

financial statements under IFRS. The purchase method is based on the assumption that not 

the shares of a company are acquired but all of the assets and liabilities held by the company 

 measured at their respective fair value. Hidden reserves or losses in the statement of the com-

pany acquired therefore are laid open in the consolidated financial statements.

purchase price allocation As part of purchase price allocation, the costs of merger and acquisition activity are assigned to 

the assets and liabilities acquired. 

repackaging transactions Securities positions whose income and expenses are passed on to customers.

reserve risk Term from insurance practice. Reserve risk refers to the risk that the actual payouts for claims 

of previous years are larger than the average settlement which had been expected. The reasons 

could be random deviations in the actual payouts from the expected value or underprovisioning.
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return on risk-adjusted capital  

(RORAC)

Ratio of risk-adjusted return to the upper loss limit or the risk capital requirement. The adjusted 

earnings are the pre-tax annual net profit adjusted for effects on the balance sheet affecting 

income. 

revaluation reserve A revaluation reserve is a separate line item in total equity in which changes to the fair value of 

securities in the category available-for-sale financial assets are recognized directly in equity.

risk capital requirement or 

economic capital

The risk capital requirement is the amount of risk capital a company requires to cover its risks. 

The risk capital requirement is determined separately for the different risk categories with a 

fixed probability (degree of confidence) at a time horizon of one year.

risk cover assets The risk cover assets serve to cover risks and are made up of equity capital and mezzanine 

capital. It includes the capital which can be used to offset unexpected losses without requiring 

lenders.

Servicer The servicer can take on both the administration and monitoring or utilization of securitized 

loan claims. In most cases the originator acts as the servicer in a securitization transaction.

Solvency regulation

(SolvV)

The regulation concerning the capital adequacy of institutions, groups of institutions and finan-

cial holding groups (Solvency Regulation) of December 2006 was published in the German Fed-

eral Law Gazette (2006, Part I, No. 61, p. 2926 et seq.) on December 20, 2006, and went into 

effect on January 1, 2007. It transposes the European minimum capital standards prescribed in 

the Banking Directive (2006/48/EC) and the Capital Adequacy Directive (2006/49/EC) and the 

corresponding equivalent requirements of the Basel Capital Accord (“BASEL II”) into national 

law. SolvV describes the requirements for the capital adequacy and equity position of institu-

tions in accordance with Art. 10 and 10a of the German Banking Act.

Special purpose entity Special purpose entities are companies whose business activity is focused on accomplishing a 

narrow and specifically defined objective. Special purpose entities are used for example in con-

nection with special funds, leasing transactions or for conducting securitization transactions.

Sponsor Sponsors are banks which create and manage a securitization program but are not the origina-

tor of the program. As part of securitization transactions, sponsors take part in ABCP programs 

or other securitization programs.

Standard method for market 

price risk

Regulatory method for determining the add-on amount for market price risk positions as part of 

capital adequacy. Included are the interest and equity positions of the trading register and the 

foreign currency and commodities positions of the investment and trading register. For these 

positions a net position in accordance with the regulatory methods is created which is then 

taken into account using various weighting ratios.
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Standardized approach for 

operational risk

Regulatory procedure for determining the risk-weighted assets for operational risks based on 

risk factors which are differentiated according to business segment.

Synthetic securitization Receivables securitization in which the originator hedges the credit risk of a receivables portfolio 

but – in contrast to a true sale securitization – without transferring ownership of the underlying 

receivables.

threshold amount In a standardized framework agreement on the provision of collateral in the OTC trading trans-

action, a threshold amount can be agreed upon. This amount designates the accepted upper 

limit up to which no collateralization takes place. The threshold amount must be covered by a 

credit line.

true sale securitization Receivables securitization in which – in contrast to a synthetic securitization – ownership of the 

receivables portfolio underlying the transaction, including the collateral provided, is transferred 

to the special purpose entity. With the transfer of the receivables, the special purpose entity 

takes on all the risks associated with the receivables.

Upper loss limit Upper loss limits represent economic risk capital limits for the business activities of the manage-

ment units. They limit the claimable risk capital of the group and in turn the amount of the 

entire risk capital requirement of a management unit. The upper loss limits are derived from the 

risk cover assets; this process is known as risk capital allocation. The total of the upper loss limits 

for all management units may not exceed the available risk cover assets.

Value-at-risk Absolute loss of value that will not be exceeded with a fixed probability (degree of confidence) 

within a fixed period of time (holding period).
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   Successful together.
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Member of the cooperative financial services networkMember of the cooperative financial services network

in € million 2007 2006

Financial performance

Operating income1 1,277 2,092

Impairment losses on loans and advances -209 -335

Profit before taxes 1,068 2,067

Group net profit 897 1,859

Cost-income ratio2 (in percent) 53,6 52,3

Asset position

Assets

Loans and advances to banks 67,531 62,441

Loans and advances to customers 106,307 100,072

Financial assets held for trading 130,025 132,272

Investments 72,957 76,255

Investments of insurer 47,376 44,451

Other assets 7,141 6,193

Liabilities

Deposits from banks 57,935 57,705

Amounts owed to other depositors 77,595 72,675

Debt certificates including bonds 62,996 75,887

Financial liabilities held for trading 163,196 147,865

Technical provisions 45,324 42,298

Other liabilities 13,288 14,414

Total equity 11,003 10,840

Total assets 431,337 421,684

Regulatory capital ratios3

By  
SolvV

By 
 Principle I

Total capital ratio (in percent) 10.2 12.6

Tier 1 capital ratio (in percent) 7.7 9.7

Derivative financial instruments

Nominal volume 1,329,753 1,198,428

Positive fair values 16,695 14,715

Average number of employees 24,210 24,055

Key Figures

DZ BANK Group

¹   Gross operating income (net interest + fee and commission net income + gains and losses on financial assets + gains 
and losses on investments + gains and losses on measurement of financial instruments + income from insurer + other 
operating income) less administrative expenses

²   Adjusted for special items in 2007 (write-downs to securities portfolios as a result of the financial market crisis 
amount ing to € -957 million) and in 2006 (impact on earnings due to disposal of branches of the former norisbank AG 
by TeamBank amounting to € -132 million)

³   With the introduction of the Solvency Ordinance on January 1, 2007, the German supervisory authority no longer 
requires the calculation of BIS ratios under the new BASEL II framework. Comparative figures shown are therefore the 
details as at Dec. 31, 2006 on the basis of Principle I (KWG).

DZ BANK Group:
Partner to the cooperative banking group

The DZ BANK Group is part of the German cooperative finan-

cial services network, which comprises around 1,230 local co-

operative banks and is one of Germany’s largest private-sector 

financial services organizations as measured by consolidated 

assets. Within the cooperative financial services network, DZ 

BANK AG functions as a central institution for around 1,000 

cooperative banks and their 12,000 branch offices and as a 

corporate bank with an increasingly international focus, espe-

cially on Europe.

The DZ BANK Group includes Bausparkasse Schwäbisch 

Hall, DG HYP (Deutsche Genossenschafts-Hypothekenbank), 

DZ BANK International, DZ PRIVATBANK Schweiz, R+V Ver-

sicherung, TeamBank, Union Investment Group, VR LEASING 

and various other specialized service providers. With their 

strong brands, the companies of the DZ BANK Group are 

central pillars of the cooperative financial services network’s 

financial products and services. Cooperation among the 

DZ BANK Group companies makes it possible to optimize the 

network’s market offerings for the benefit of the cooperative 

banks and their base of around 30 million customers.

This combination of banking, insurance, and asset manage-

ment services has a long and successful tradition in the coop-

erative financial services network. All the DZ BANK Group’s 

specialized service providers offer highly competitive, first-

class products at reasonable prices within their specific areas 

of expertise. As a result, cooperative banks in Germany are 

able to offer their customers a complete range of outstanding 

financial services.
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